
REVISED JANUARY  2016 

 
 

 

 

A TANGLED WEB  
 

 

Polish-Jewish Relations 

in Wartime Northeastern Poland 

and the Aftermath 
 

 

(PART TWO)  

 
 

 
 

Mark Paul 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PEFINA Press 

Toronto 2016 



 2 

 

 

É Mark Paul and Polish Educational Foundation in North America (Toronto), 2016 

 

A Tangled Web is a revised and expanded version of an article that appeared in 
The Story of Two Shtetls, BraŒsk and Ejszyszki, Part Two 

published by The Polish Educational Foundation in North America, 1998 
 

 

 

 

Table of Contents 

 

Part Two: Partisan Relations and Warfare 

 

Polish Partisans, Jewish Partisans, Soviet Partisans                    é3 

 

An Overview of Polish-Soviet Wartime Relations     é20 

 

Soviet Designs          é60 

 

The Spiral Begins         é64 

 

Acting on Orders to Eliminate the Polish Partisans     é84 

 

Jewish Historiography         ..102 

 

Jewish Partisans Join in Soviet Operations Against Polish Partisans   ..126 

 

German Raids, the Soviet Peril, and Inhospitable Jews     ..160 

 

Local Help, Food Forays and Pillaging       ..206 

 

Procuring Arms and Armed Raids       ..248 

 

Villagers Defend Themselves Against Raids      ..272 

 

The Raids Intensify         ..282 

 

 
 



 3 

 

 

 

 

Part Two: Partisan Relations and Warfare 
 

ñOne should not close oneôs eyes to the 

fact that Home Army units in the Wilno area 

were fighting against the Soviet partisans 

for the liberation of Poland. And that is why 

the Jews who found themselves on the opposing 

 side perished at the hands of Home Army soldiers 

ðas enemies of Poland, and not as Jews.ò 

Yisrael Gutman 

Historian, Yad Vashem Institute 

 

 

Polish Partisans, Jewish Partisans, Soviet Partisans 

   According to Holocaust historians, the Jews who escaped the Nazi ghettos in northeastern Poland had to 

turn to the Soviet partisans for their salvation from both the Germans and the hostile local population.
1
 The 

Polish partisans of the Home Army (Armia KrajowaðAK)ðor ñWhite Polesò as they are called in the 

language of Soviet propaganda
2
ðare portrayed as a ñFascistò formation who were collaborating with the 

                                                           
1
 For a Jewish nationalist perspective on the organization of the Jewish partisan movement in northeastern Poland and 

its relationship with the Soviet partisans see Ainsztein, Jewish Resistance in Nazi-Occupied Europe, 302ï25. The 

author relies exclusively on Jewish anecdotal sources and his pro-Soviet and anti-Polish bias is all too evident. 

 
2
 The designation ñWhite Polesò (belopoliaki in Russian), which has a distinctively pejorative connotation, originated 

in Bolshevik propaganda during the Polish-Soviet War of 1919ï1920. See Norman Davies, White Eagle, Red Star: The 

Polish Soviet War, 1919ï20 (London: Macdonald, 1972), 89. It was intended to suggestðfalselyðthat the Poles were 

allied with the White Russian forces and foreign imperialists in the Russian Civil War. The use of the term ñWhite 

Polesò in a World War II context is anachronistic. It came into vogue after the Germans uncovered, in April 1943, mass 

graves of Polish officers and officials murdered by the Soviets in Katyn forest in the early part of 1940. When the Poles 

called for an investigation by the International Red Cross, the Soviet Union formally severed diplomatic relations with 

the Polish government in exile in London on April 25, 1943, a step it had been planning for months. Molotov, the very 

person who had signed a non-aggression pact with Nazi Germany to facilitate the invasion and partition of Poland in 

September 1939, issued an outrageous note stating that there was ñno doubt that between the Alliesô enemies, Hitler 

and the Polish Government, contact and collusion exist.ò The Soviets accused the Poles of acting ñto please Hitlerôs 

tyrannyò and iterated that they were acting in ñcollusion with the Hitlerite government.ò For the full text of the note see 

<http://web.archive.org/web/20080616072448/http://www.electronicmuseum.ca/Poland-

WW2/katyn_memorial_wall/kmw_note.html>. That gave the cue as to how the Polish undeground was to be regarded. 

From that point, the term ñWhite Polesò was used by the Soviets to smear the Polesðagain falselyðas reactionary 

fascists. The Polish leader, General Wğadysğaw Sikorski, was accused of being a fascist who was collaborating with 

Nazi Germany (the Soviet Unionôs erstwhile ally), and the Polish partisans became ñWhite Poles,ò ñWhite bandits,ò 

ñagents of Sikorski,ò or simply ñPolish fascists.ò Soon after the Soviet partisan command in Moscow ordered the 

liquidation of the Polish underground loyal to the London government. See Tadeusz Gasztold, ñSowietyzacja i 

rusyfikacja WileŒszczyzny i Nowogr·dczyzny w dziağalnoŜci partyzantki sowieckiej w latach 1941ï1944,ò in Adam 

Sudoğ, ed., Sowietyzacja Kres·w Wschodnich II Rzeczypospolitej po 17 wrzeŜnia 1939 (Bydgoszcz: WyŨsza Szkoğa 

Pedagogiczna w Bydgoszczy, 1998), 279; Krajewski, Na Ziemi Nowogr·dzkiej, 143; Zygmunt Boradyn, Niemenïrzeka 

niezgody: Polsko-sowiecka wojna partyzancka na Nowogr·dczyŦnie 1943ï1944 (Warsaw: Rytm, 1999), 114. Israeli 

historian Leonid Smilovitsky notes that these as well as other epithets such as ñnational fascistsò and ñPolish-Hitlerite 

unitsò were used to describe the Home Army in Soviet documents from that era. See Leonid Smilovitskii, Katastrofa 

evreev v Belorussii 1941ï1944 gg. (Tel Aviv: Biblioteka Matveia Chernogo, 2000), 141. This book is available online 

in English translation as Leonid Smilovitsky, Holocaust in Belorussia, 1941ï1944, Internet: 

<http://www.jewishgen.org/Yizkor/belarus/Belarus.html#TOC102>. Stalin did not shy away from making such charges 
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Germans and engaged in a war directed primarily against the Jews and Soviets. Soviet historiography 

paints a remarkably similar picture with the focus, of course, being on the Soviet partisans. 

   Typical of Jewish ethno-nationalist historians, Yaffa Eliach repeatedly accuses the Home Army of 

hunting down and killing Jews hiding in the forest as well as those who were active in partisan groups. 

Another example is Howard L Adelson, who charges that 

 

The Polish Home Army, the Armja Krajova [sic], which was supposedly struggling against the 

Nazis, pursued the slaughter of the Jews with greater vigor than the war against the German 

conquerors.3 

 

   Many Jewish historians share these views. Yitzhak Arad provides the following synopsis: 

 

In Poland, the Home Army (A.K.ðArmia Krajowa), the general Polish Partisan Movement, was 

not open to Jews. Moreover, thousands of Jews were murdered by the rightist factions of the 

official Polish underground. In eastern Poland, in Byelorussia, and sometimes in other areas as 

well, groups of Polish rightist guerillas took an active role in the killing of many Jewish families 

and partisans in the forest.
4
 

                                                                                                                                                                             
openly in his dealings with Western leaders. In an outburst at the Tehran Conference in 1943, the man who approved 

the Katyn massacre hurled accusation after accusation at the London Poles, calling them cowards, Hitlerôs accomplices, 

and murderers. See Lynne Olson and Stanley Cloud, A Question of Honor. The KoŜciuszko Squadron: Forgotten 

Heroes of World War II (New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 2003), 296. Curiously, the term ñWhite Polesò was also 

borrowed by Nazi German propaganda. The relentless repetition of this hateful propaganda doubtless had a 

considerable effect on how Soviet-Jewsh partisans came to view Polish partisans. Today, the term ñWhite Polesò 

retains currency only in Holocaust historiography. The anti-Polish propaganda renewed in 1943 was in fact a 

continuation of the anti-Polish campaign that became widespread at the time of the Soviet invasion of Poland in 

September 1939. For a description of that campaign, see Ewa M. Thompson, Imperial Knowledge: Russian Literature 

and Colonialism (Westport, Connecticut and London: Greenpoint Press, 2000), 163ï81; Ewa M. Thompson, 

ñNationalist Propaganda in the Soviet Russian Press, 1939ï1941,ò Slavic Review, vol. 50, no. 2 (Summer 1991): 385ï

99. In spite of all this Soviet agitation, intensive efforts on the part of the Germans, starting in 1943, to win over the 

Poles to the ñanti-Bolshevik frontò met with a complete fiasco. See Czesğaw Brzoza and Andrzej Sowa, Historia Polski 

1918ï1945 (Krak·w: Wydawnictwo Literackie, 2006), 609ï10, 639ï40. 

 
3 Actually, this is part of a long litany of charges often hurled at Poles. In his introduction to a Holocaust memoir cited 

in this book, Howard L. Adelson, professor of history at the City University of New York, writes: ñIt was not by 

chance that the inhuman Nazi murderers chose Poland as the charnel house for European Jewry. With forethought they 

recognized that within Poland the neighbors of the Jews would assist in the slaughter é Even the Home Army, the 

Armja Krajova [sic], which was supposedly struggling against the Nazis, pursued the slaughter of the Jews with greater 

vigor than the war against the German conquerors. The local peasantry displayed an atavistic savagery that is 

unequalled in the annals of human history. Jews died while their neighbors exulted in their suffering.ò See Samuel 

Gruber, as told to Gertrude Hirschler, I Chose Life (New York: Shengold, 1978), 6. 

 
4
 Yitzhak Arad, ñJewish Armed Resistance in Eastern Europe,ò in Yisrael Gutman and Livia Rothkirchen, eds., The 

Catastrophe of European Jews: Antecedents, History, Reflections: Selected Papers (Jerusalem: Yad Vashem, 1976), 

509. The charge that the Home Army did not accept Jews into its ranks was dealt with earlier in this essay. Arad also 

refers to a group Jewish ghetto fighters from Warsaw who made it to the forest and were allegedly killed by the Home 

Army. The events in Wyszk·w forest are dealt with in Part Three of this book. Moshe Kahanowitz has made even 

stronger accusations, alleging that ñthe majorityò of Polandôs Christian population ñwillingly collaborated with the 

Germans in the extermination of the Jews. Many of them indeed, exceeded even the Germans in their bloodlust and 

their insensate hatred of Jews. é The ógood friendsô, who for a time agreed to help the Jews to hide, sooner or later 

murdered them in cold blood after first robbing them of whatever possessions they had. é The óA.K.ô refused to accept 

Jews in its ranks. Moreover one of its objectives was to exterminate the Jewish survivors who had sought refuge in the 
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In 1943, armed anti-Soviet groups belonging to é the Polish AK began operating in the forests of 

western Byelorussia é They were diehard anti-Semites, identifying the Jews with the hated Soviet 

rule. They prevented Jews from finding refuge or establishing partisan bases in the areas they 

controlled and murdered many of them.5 

 

   But the charges do not stop there, especially in popular writings. A few examples (of many) from that 

repertoire of crude propaganda accusing Poles of outright collaboration with the Germansða charge that 

the Soviets, once themselves steadfast allies of the Nazis (1939ï1941), started to disseminate during the 

warðwill suffice. 

 

The pro-Nazi bands included the White Poles é These Polish fascists murdered Byelorussians, 

Red Partisans, andðfirst and foremostðJews.
6
 

 

One group of partisans é sometimes fought on the side of the Germans. They were Polish farmers 

by day and partisans by night who carried out the orders of the exiled Polish government in 

London. These orders specifically stated that é all Poles were to see to it that no Jews remained in 

Poland after the war. Their slogan was ñPolska Bez Zydow [ŧyd·w]ò or ñPoland Without Jews.ò 

These were the men of the Armia Krajowa or ñHome Armyò, known to us as the A.K. At the 

beginning, they had a special status with the Germans because they carried on the work of 

exterminating the Jews and Communists.7 

 

Various rumors were circulating concerning the relations between these Poles [ñWhiteò bands] and 

the Germans. It was said that the Germans themselves were organizing the bands and arming them 

                                                                                                                                                                             
forests, in the villages and in other hideouts. é The hatred of the Poles for the Jews by far exceeded that of any other 

Eastern European nation. Most Poles welcomed Hitlerôs anti-Jewish campaign é In that region of the forests in which 

the óA.K.ô operated not a single Jewish fugitive from the Ghettoes [sic] remained alive.ò See Moshe Kahanowitz, ñWhy 

no Separate Jewish Partisan Movement Was Established During World War II,ò Yad Vashem Studies, vol. 1 (1957): 

153ï67, here at pp. 153ï54, 165. The views of Shmuel Krakowski in Krakowski, The War of the Doomed and Yisrael 

Gutman and Shmuel Krakowski, Unequal Victims: Poles and Jews During World War Two (New York: Holocaust 

Library, 1986) will be addressed later. 

 
5
 Yitzhak Arad, In the Shadow of the Red Banner: Soviet Jews in the War against Nazi Germany (Jerusalem and New 

York: Gefen, in association with Yad Vashem, The International Institute for Holocaust Reseach, 2010), 342. See also 

p. 193, to the same effect: ñThe AK viewed the Jews as a pro-Soviet element and did not accept them into their ranks, 

murdering many of those hiding in the forests and villages.ò 

 
6
 Lester Eckman and Chaim Lazar, The Jewish Resistance: The History of the Jewish Partisans in Lithuania and White 

Russia during the Nazi Occupation 1949ï1945 (New York: Shengold Publishers, 1977), 10. The authors fail to notice 

that the major thrust of the Home Armyôs activitiesðsuch as the 63-day Warsaw Uprising of August 1944 in which 

200,000 Poles perishedðwas directed against the Germans, and that many Belorussians (and some Jews) joined the 

ranks of the same Home Army that was allegedly murdering them off. These authorsô opinion about Poles in general 

conforms wholly to their view of the Home Army: ñthe Poles who lived in White Russia é ambushed every Jew who 

remained alive.ò Ibid., 84. 

 
7
 Kahn, No Time To Mourn, 119. What ñspecial statusò the Home Army enjoyed with the Germans is nowhere 

explained. 
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so that they could fight against the ñRedò partisans and annihilate the last of the Jews who were still 

in hiding. 

   The rank and file in the bands knew nothing about the agreement with the Germans. They thought 

that they were fighting to free Poland. However, their leaders had accepted the authority of the 

enemy and were collaborating with it. They carried out their task faithfully, at least concerning the 

annihilation of the Jews. Thirsting for blood, they were hunting down the last remnants of Jews in 

the forests and destroying them.8 

 

   These various writings share certain common characteristics: they are analytically deficient, generally 

lack context, causation, and even chronolgy, and make use of Jewish anecdotal materials to the exclusion of 

archival sources of non-Jewish origin. Implicit in them is the premise that no amount of concrete deeds on 

the part of the Jews could had an impact on the conduct of the Polish underground, but rather its behaviour 

was conditioned by an endemic brand of anti-Semitism with a murderous streak. That thesis will be tested 

empirically in this study, drawing on a broad array of archival and other sources. The claim of Polish 

collaboration with the Nazis is simply a ploy to draw attention away from the whole-hearted Jewish 

collaboration with the Soviets. It is also a projection of their own relationship with the Soviets onto the 

Poles. 

   The notion that the Polish Home Army allegedly ñdid not want to fight against the Germansò and reached 

a political agreement or entered into a secret military alliance with the Germans
9
 is not substantiated by 

Polish or German archival sources. In fact, it has been amply debunked by historians. The matter of 

contacts between the Home Army and the German military in the Wilno and Nowogr·dek regions has an 

extensive scholarly literature,
10

 and is discussed again later in context and in more depth. While local 

                                                           
8
 Chaim Lazar, Destruction and Resistance (New York: Shengold Publishers, 1985), 166. 

 
9
 See, for example, Eliach, There Once Was a World, 629, 746 n.1. A careful examination of the documents found in 

Bundesarchiv Koblenz file R 6/369, fol. 1ï25, especially the memorandum of SS-Sturmbannf¿hrer (Dr.) Horst Wulff, 

the Gebietskommissar of the Wilno region, dated January 18, 1944, contradicts Eliachôs claims and her interpretation 

of that document. In fact, Wulff complains of incessant Polish attacks on German and Lithuanian outposts and states 

that ñnothing concrete was agreed to with the Polish bands.ò He also makes it abundantly clear that, even for the 

Germans, an agreement of a political nature was never contemplated. This was a purely tactical and temporary 

arrangement at best. 

 
10

 Zdzisğaw A. Siemaszko, ñRozmowy z Wehrmachtem w Wilnie: Luty 1944,ò Zeszyty Historyczne (Paris), no. 69 

(1984): 81ï121; J·zef świda, ñWyjaŜnienia dotyczŃce okresu 1943/1944 roku,ò Zeszyty Historyczne, no. 73 (1985): 

74ï80; Zygmunt Szczňsny Brzozowski, LitwaïWilno, 1910ï1945 (Paris: Spotkania, 1987), 150ï55; Krzysztof Tarka, 

Komendant Wilk: Z dziej·w WileŒskiej Armii Krajowej (Warsaw: Volumen, 1990), 66ï70; Jerzy Turonek, BiağoruŜ pod 

okupacjŃ niemieckŃ (Warsaw: KsiŃŨka i Wiedza, 1993), 203ï208; Michael Foedrowitz, ñW poszukiwaniu ómodus 

vivendiô: Kontakty i rozmowy pomiňdzy okupantami a okupowanymi dotyczŃce porozumienia niemiecko-polskiego w 

czasie II wojny Ŝwiatowej,ò Mars: Problematyka i historia wojskowoŜci, vol. 2 (1994): 165ï80; Jarosğaw 

Woğkonowski, ñWileŒskie rozmowy niemiecko-polskie w lutym 1944 roku,ò Mars, vol. 2 (1994): 181ï202; Zdzisğaw 

A. Siemaszko, ñWileŒska AK a Niemcy,ò Zeszyty Historyczne (Paris), no. 110 (1994): 198ï222; J. Zdzisğaw Szyğejko, 

ñWsp·ğpraca wileŒskiej AK z NiemcamiðrzeczywistoŜĺ czy fikcja?ò Zeszyty Historyczne, no. 112 (1995): 233ï36; 

Jarosğaw Woğkonowski, ñRozmowy niemiecko-polskie w Ŝwietle nowych dokument·w niemieckich,ò and Henryk 

Piskunowicz, ñDziağalnoŜĺ zbrojna Armii Krajowej w pierwszej poğowie 1944 roku na WileŒszczyŦnie,ò in 

Woğkonowski, Sympozjum historyczne ñRok 1944 na WileŒszczyŦnie,ò 95ï122, 156ï57; Jarosğaw Woğkonowski, 

Okrňg WileŒski ZwiŃzku Walki Zbrojnej Armii Krajowej w latach 1939ï1945 (Warsaw: Adiutor, 1996), 160ï61, 171ï

84, 250; Kazimierz Krajewski, Na Ziemi Nowogr·dzkiej: ñNčWòðNowogr·dzki Okrňg Armii Krajowej (Warsaw: 
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commanders of two units of the Home Army in the Nowogr·dek DistrictðLieutenant J·zef świda (code 

name ñLechò) and Lieutenant Adolf Pilch (code name ñG·raò)ðdid, for a brief period in the early part of 

1944, enter into temporary ceasefires in exchange for weapons and ammunition from the Germans, they did 

so in order to defend themselves against relentless attacks by well-armed Soviet partisans. Overtures from 

high-ranking German military officials to enter into a strategic alliance against the Soviets, which were 

intensified in February 1944, were not taken up by the command of the Wilno District of the Home Army 

and no formal agreements were ever concluded with the Germans.
11

 Indeed, both the Polish government in 

                                                                                                                                                                             
Pax, 1997), 173ï89; Banasikowski, Na zew Ziemi WileŒskiej, 102ï114; Zygmunt Boradyn, Niemenïrzeka niezgody: 

Polsko-sowiecka wojna partyzancka na Nowogr·dczyŦnie 1943ï1944 (Warsaw: Rytm, 1999), 173ï82; Longin 

Tomaszewski, WileŒszczyzna lat wojny i okupacji 1939ï1945 (Warsaw: Rytm, 1999), 321ï23; Tomasz Strzembosz, 

Rzeczpospolita podziemna: SpoğeczeŒstwo polskie a paŒstwo podziemne 1939ï1945 (Warsaw: Krupski i S-ka, 2000), 

100ï103; Kazimierz Krajewski, comp. and ed., Nowogr·dzki Okrňg AK w dokumentach (Warsaw: Instytut Pamiňci 

Narodowej and Rytm, 2009), 48ï51, 247ï52. See also Bernhard Chiari, Alltag hinter der Front: Besatzung, 

Kollaboration und Widerstand in WeiÇruÇland 1941ï1944 (D¿sseldorf: Droste Verlag, Schriften des Bundesarchivs 

53, 1998), 285ï86; Bernhard Chiari, ñReichsf¿hrer-SSðKein Pakt mit Slaven: Deutsch-polnische Kontakte im Wilna-

Gebiet 1944,ò Osteuropa-Archiv, vol. 50, no. 4 (April 2000): A133ï53; Bernhard Chiari, ñKriegslist oder B¿ndnis mit 

dem Feind?: Deutsch-polnische Kontakte 1943/44,ò in Bernhard Chiari, ed., with Jerzy Kochanowski, Die polnische 

Heimatarmee: Geschichte und Mythos der Armia Krajowa seit dem Zweiten Weltkrieg (M¿nchen: R. Oldenbourg, 

2003), 497ï527. Chiari, however, completely ignores the Soviet factor in his assessment of Polish contacts with the 

Germans; he does not appreciate that the Soviets repeatedly rejected Polish overtures for cooperation and then turned 

on the Polish partisans. For a critique of Chiariôs treatment of this topic see Stanisğawa Lewandowska, ñWileŒskie 

rozmowy niemiecko-polskie w lutym 1944 r.,ò Dzieje Najnowsze, no. 2 (2002): 101ï45. Some of the discussion on this 

topic is summarized in Piotrowski, Polandôs Holocaust, 88ï90. 

   Remarkably, despite this existence of this extensive body of literature, writing in 2011, Jewish historian Leonid Rein 

claims that ñPolish historians, quite understandably, prefer to remain silent about the contact at the end of the German 

occupation in Byelorussia between some AK units and Germans. Only Yerzy Turonak [sicðJerzy Turonek] dedicates 

a few pages to the topic in his study on the German occupation of Byelorussia.ò See Leonid Rein, The Kings and the 

Pawns: Collaboration in Byelorussia during World War II (New York and Oxford: Berghahn Books, 2011), 358ï59. 

Even more remarkably, that author is unfamiliar with keys studies on Soviet partisans by historian Bogdan Musiağ, his 

knowledge of Polish scholarship is limited to a few articles translated into German, and his knowledge of Soviet 

literature is also extremely sparse. This is especially evident in his treatment of the Soviet invasion of Eastern Poland in 

September 1939, where he denies Jewish collaboration with the Soviets directed at Poles that even Israeli historians 

like Dov Levin and Ben-Cion Pinchuk document (pp. 69ï72); in his assessment of Polish-Belorussian relations, where 

he refers to alleged ñfull-scale ethnic cleansingsò (p. 98); and in his treatment of relations between Soviet and Polish 

partisans, where he ignores important Soviet anti-Polish pronouncements and massacres of Polish partisans (e.g., 

Naliboki and Lake Narocz), writing instead of ñmutual attacksò that ñintensifiedò in the summer of 1943 (p. 359). Rein 

claimsðcontrary to all evidenceðthat the Home Army fought on the side of the Germans in the July 1944 battle for 

Wilno (p. 364). Interestingly, Rein does not acknowledge Polish names for interwar Eastern Poland, and Polish names, 

cities and even Armia Krajowa (Home Army) are consistently misspelled. This is a consistent pattern on his part. 

Bizarrely, Rein latches on to the writings of the notoriously pro-German Wğadysğaw Studnicki, who did not formally 

represent any political organization and forged his own peculiar political agenda in opposition to the mainstream, as an 

alleged ñindication of their [the Polesô] expectations from the Germans and the basis for their cooperation.ò Ibid., 130. 

Official Polish underground reports make it abundantly clear that Studnicki was a ñblack sheepò who had no following 

or influence and was not even taken seriously by the Germans themselves. So much for Reinôs insights into the Polish 

political landscape and inclinations of the Poles. See Tadeusz PeğczyŒski, Halina Czarnocka, J·zef GarliŒski, 

Kazimierz Iranek-Osmecki, and Wğodzimierz Otocki, eds., Armia Krajowa w dokumentach 1939ï1945, vol. 1: 

WrzesieŒ 1939ïczerwiec 1941 (London: Studium Polski Podziemnej, 1970), 62, 199.  

 
11 In the wake of treacherous assaults by Soviet partisans, the German military leadership made overtures to both 

individual unit commanders of the Nowogr·dek District of the Home Army, about which there is more later, and the 

command of the Wilno District of the Home Army. After meeting secretly with the Germans in February 1944 under a 

false identity, Lieutenant-Colonel Aleksander KrzyŨanowski (ñWilkò), the head of the Wilno District of the Home 

Army, relayed information about the discussions to the Home Army supreme command in Warsaw which forbade any 

further dealings with the Germans. German proposals for joint actions against the Soviet partisans were rejected. 

Internal German reports about those negotiations, however, did not accurately reflect their content, though they 

certainly did not indicate, as Soviet and Jewish sources suggest, that the Germans actually reached any formal 
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agreement with the Poles. See, for example, Zdzisğaw Siemaszko, ñRozmowy z Wehrmachtem w Wilnie: Luty 1944,ò 

Zeszyty Historyczne (Paris), no. 69 (1984): 81ï121; Lewandowska, ñWileŒskie rozmowy niemiecko-polskie w lutym 

1944 r.,ò Dzieje Najnowsze, no. 2 (2002): 101ï45, especially 122 ff; Zdzisğaw Siemaszko, ñWileŒska AK a Niemcy.ò 

Zeszyty Historyczne (Paris), no. 110 (1994): 198ï222. (It is noteworthy that a Volksdeutsch who was captured by a 

Polish partisan unit, from which he later managed to escape, reported that their activities were directed at both the 

Germans and Soviets, with no mention of Jews. See Lewandowska, ñWileŒskie rozmowy niemiecko-polskie w lutym 

1944 r.,ò Dzieje Najnowsze, no. 2 (2002): 117.) After being rebuffed by the Poles, the Germans in retaliation deployed 

collaborationist Lithuanian ñdefence forcesò under the command of General Povilas Plechaviļius in an unsuccessful 

attempt to rid the Wilno area of Home Army units. See Siemaszko, ñRozmowy z Wehrmachtem w Wilnie: Luty 1944,ò 

Zeszyty Historyczne (Paris), no. 69 (1984): 108ï11; Lewandowska, ñWileŒskie rozmowy niemiecko-polskie w lutym 

1944 r.,ò Dzieje Najnowsze, no. 2 (2002): 136ï38. Notwithstanding those reservations, Israeli historian Yitzhak Arad 

relies on German documents for ñthe details of the agreement,ò and accepts that German version as an undertaking by 

the Home Army to fight against ñBolshevist-Jewish gangsò and an effective ñarmisticeò. See Arad, In the Shadow of 

the Red Banner, 292. 

   As Timothy Snyder points out, ñPolish commanders were in contact with both the Soviets and the Germans at various 

points, but could make a true alliance with neither: the Polish goal, after all, was to restore an independent Poland 

within its prewar boundaries.ò See Snyder, Bloodlands, 247. Jewish historians have problems in getting the facts 

straight. Historian Alexander Prusin advances the following unsupportable claims about the aforementioned talks: ñIn 

February 1944 the AK commander of the Vilnius [Wilno] district met with the German representatives and agreed to 

take actions against the Soviets, if the Germans promised to refrain from anti-Polish actions. Having received arms and 

munitions, in the first half of 1944 a number of Polish units joined the Germans in the fight against Soviet partisans.ò 

See Alexander V. Prusin, The Lands Between: Conflict in the East European Borderlands, 1870ï1992 (Oxford and 

New York: Oxford University Press, 2010), 189. As noted earlier, no agreement was entered into and no joint military 

actions undertaken with the Germans against the Soviet partisans. Prusinôs treatment of Polish issues in general is 

rather uneven and his information is often incomplete or inaccurate as the following examples illustrate. He is silent 

about the massacres in Naliboki and Koniuchy, the latter massacre being especially problematic for the assessment of 

Jewish partisans. When dealing with the treatment of the Lithuanian minority in interwar Poland, Prusin fails to notice 

that the Polish authorities were often simply retaliating for measures taken by the Lithuanian authorities against the 

Polish minority in Lithuania, about whose fate he is silent, that the Lithuanian minority engaged in anti-Polish 

insurgency (as did the Belorussian minority), and that the Lithuanian government financed the subversive and terrorist 

activities of the Organization of Ukrainian Nationalists. (Prusin states, at p. 104, that the Baltic governments granted 

their ethnic minorities extensive political and civil rights, although that simply did not apply to the Poles in Lithuania; 

furthermore, the rights of other minorities soon suffered serious erosion.) The latter topic has an extensive literature 

including Krzysztof Buchowski, Polacy w niepodlegğym paŒstwie litewskim 1918ï1940 (Biağystok: Instytut Historii 

Uniwersytetu w Biağymstoku, 1999); Joanna Januszewska-Jurkiewicz, Stosunki narodowoŜciowe na WileŒszczyŦnie w 

latach 1920ï1939, 2nd edition (Katowice: Wydawnictwo Uniwersytetu ślŃskiego, 2011), especially at pp. 361ï66 

(Lithuanian insurgency), 405ï6 (Belarussian insurgency), 564ï68 (Lithuanian clerical agitation), 571ï72 (cause of 

Polish retaliation). Prusin also accuses interwar Poland of oppressing the Ukrainian minority, a charge that was 

dismissed by the League of Nations in 1932, after careful investigation of the so-called 1930 pacification by the Polish 

authorities of Ukrainian insurgency. See Piotrowski, Polandôs Holocaust, 194. (Notwithstanding these measures, terror 

and violence directed against Polish institutions, officials and civilians continued unabated throughout the 1930s. See, 

for example, Wğadysğaw Ğabiak, ñGdzie miejsce narodu?,ò Na RubieŨy: Czasopismo historyczno-publicystyczne 

(Wrocğaw), no. 130 (2013): 54.) Prusin also glosses over (at p. 107) the extent of Ukrainian (and to a lesser extent 

Belorussian) interwar terrorist activities, both nationalist and Communist inspired, directed against Polish authorities, 

institutions, and civilians, as well as moderate Ukrainians, and the fact that Polish reprisals resulted from such activities 

since no government would have tolerated them. It was opposition to Polish rule that triggered murders and sabotage 

and not, as Prusin suggests, the activities of the Polish authorities. (The Polish minority in Germany and Lithuania was 

even more oppressed but did not resort to terrorism; the situation in Eastern Galicia was more akin to that in postwar 

Northern Ireland.) This topic has been examined in depth in Lucyna KuliŒska, DziağalnoŜĺ terrorystyczna i sabataŨowa 

nacjonalistycznych organizacji ukraiŒskich w Polsce w latach 1922ï1939 (Krak·w: Fundacja Centrum Dokumentacji 

Czynu NiepodlegğoŜciowego and Ksiňgarnia Akademicka, 2009), especially chapters 3, 4, and 5. Regarding Eastern 

Poland, Prusin alleges that random ñpre-emptiveò arrests of 15,000 Ukrainians in August 1939, many of them innocent, 

played ña crucial role in their subsequent behaviour.ò See Prusin, The Lands Between, 128. In fact, only several 

thousand Ukrainians associated with radical and terrorist organizations were detained at the beginning of September, 

and most of them were released within a few days. See Gregorz Hryciuk, Przemiany narodowoŜciowe i ludnoŜciowe w 

Galicji Wschodniej i na Woğyniu w latach 1931ï1948 (ToruŒ: Adam Marszağek, 2005), 163; Grzegorz Motyka, Od 

rzezi woğyŒskiej do Akcji ñWisğaò: Konflikt polsko-ukraiŒski 1943ï1947 (Krak·w: Wydawnictwo Literackie, 2011), 

42. That the Polish authorities were justified in taking precautionary measures is fully borne out by the data of the 

German authorities and that of the Organization of Ukrainian Nationalists (OUN) itself: on the eve of the war, there 

were 4,000 Ukrainian nationalist agents trained in sabotage and diversion by the Abwehr (the German intelligence 

organization); from August 29 until September 23, 1939, 7,729 OUN supporters took part in armed subversive 
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activities directed at the Polish authorities in 183 localities, capturing 3,610 Poles, killing 796, and wounding 37. See 

Andrzej Szefer, ñDywersyjno-sabataŨowa dziağalnoŜĺ wrocğawskiej Abwehry na ziemiach polskich w pzededniu 

agresji hitlerowskiej w 1939 r.,ò Biuletyn Gğ·wnej Komisji Badania Zbrodni Hitlerowskich w Polsce, vol. 32 (1987): 

274, 281ï82; Grzegorz Motyka, UkraiŒska partyzantka 1942ï1960: DziağalnoŜĺ Organizacji UkraiŒskich 

Nacjonalist·w i UkraiŒskiej PowstaŒczej Armii (Warsaw: Instytut Studi·w Politycznych PAN and Rytm, 2006), 72ï73. 

Prusin says virtually nothing about the conduct of the Jews, but writes about Polish ñpunitive expeditionsò without 

providing any background to the events in question. ñThe reprisals acquired a definite ethnic connotation and were 

based on the actual behaviour of the culprits as much as on anticipation of their disloyalty. In Volkovyska 

(Woğkowyska) [sic] in the Hrodna [Grodno] district the troops killed six Jews for their alleged hostile behaviour toward 

Poles.ò See Prusin, The Lands Between, 128. In fact, an armed group of diversionaries, for the most part Jews (and 

some Belosussians), attacked the Polish army barracks in Woğkowysk, burned part of them down, and looted their 

contents. They seized rifles and distributed them among local pro-Communist elements who formed a militia and took 

control the town. Understandably, Polish forces retaliated. See Marek Wierzbicki, Polacy i Biağorusini w zaborze 

sowieckim: Stosunki polsko-biağoruskie na ziemiach p·ğnocno-wschodnich II Rzeczypospolitej pod okupacjŃ sowieckŃ 

1939ï1941 (Warsaw: Volumen, 2000), 148; Marek Wierzbicki, Polacy i ŧydzi w zaborze sowieckim: Stosunki polsko-

Ũydowskie na ziemiach p·ğnocno-wschodnich II RP pod okupacjŃ sowieckŃ (1939ï1941) (Warsaw: Fronda, 2001), 80. 

For additional confirmation see Eliyahu Rutchik, ñThe Russian Occupation at the Beginning of the War,ò in Katriel 

Lashowitz, ed., Volkovysk: The Story of a Jewish-Zionist Community (Tel-Aviv, 1988), 119ï20, Part III of The 

Volkovysk Memorial Book (Mahwah, New Jersey: Jacob Solomon Berger, 2002). Prusinôs displays a pattern that is 

rather transparent: The Polish authorities and army committed many real crimes by randomly targeting and victimizing 

the minorities, thereby provoking retaliation on their part (except by the Jews, who are incapable of violent acts). 

Basing himself on a bald claim by Ukrainian nationalist historian Lev Shankovskyi, which was repeated without any 

verification by Grzegorz Motyka (who subsequently backed away from that claim in the works cited below), Prusin 

alleges that Polish policemen, and not the Germans (whom he does not mention at all in this context), murdered 624 

Czechs and 116 Ukrainians in June 1943 in a village in Volhynia he does not actually name. See Prusin, The Lands 

Between, 196. The village in question is Malin near Dubno. In fact, Ukrainian policemen assisted the Germans in the 

pacification of the Czech colony of Malin, and the victims included 378 Czechs and 26 Poles. See Wiktor Poliszczuk, 

Dowody zbrodni OUN i UPA: Integralny nacjonalizm ukraiŒski jako odmiana faszyzmu, vol. 2: DziağalnoŜĺ 

ukraiŒskich struktur nacjonalistycznych w latach 1920ï1999 (Toronto: n.p., 2000), 255ï57, 472; Wğadysğaw 

Siemaszko and Ewa Siemaszko, Ludob·jstwo dokonane przez nacjonalist·w ukraiŒskich na ludnoŜci polskiej Woğynia, 

1939ï1945 (Warsaw: von borowiecky, 2000), vol. 1, 78ï79; Grzegorz Motyka, ñPostawy wobec konfliktu polsko-

ukraiŒskiego w latach 1939ï1953 w zaleŨnoŜci od przynaleŨnoŜci etnicznej, paŒstwowej i religijnej,ò in Krzysztof 

Jasiewicz, ed., Tygiel narod·w: Stosunki spoğeczne i etniczne na dawnych ziemiach wschodnich Rzeczypospolitej 1939ï

1953 (Warsaw: Instytut Studi·w Politycznych PAN, Rytm, and Polonia Aid Foundation Trust, 2002), 387ï88; 

Grzegorz Motyka, UkraiŒska partyzantka 1942ï1960: DziağalnoŜĺ Organizacji UkraiŒskich Nacjonalist·w i 

UkraiŒskiej PowstaŒczej Armii (Warsaw: Instytut Studi·w Politycznych PAN and Rytm, 2006), 285ï86. Examples of 

other fanciful claims found in Prusinôs book: only 20,000 ethnic Poles ñdiedò (sic) in the German-occupied zone in 

1939ï1941, whereas that number was far surpassed in 1939 alone; ñmany Poles literally begged the German authorities 

for permission to cross over the borderò from the Soviet occupation zone, whereas it is a well-documented fact that it 

was primarily Jewish refugees who besieged German ñrepatriationò offices for permission to return. Ibid., 147. Prusin 

refers (at p. 173) to a report of Home Army commander General Stefan Rowecki (ñGrotò) to the Polish government 

exiled in London, which he cites selectively and mistranslates, as supposed proof of the Polesô tacit approval of the 

Holocaust. However, the Holocaust had not yet gotten underway when the report was written in September 1941, and 

news of the widespread murders of Jews in the Eastern Borderlands was not widely known in central Poland. This 

particular canard has remarkable longevity. As pointed out by British historian Norman Davies in an exchange with 

Abraham Brumberg (ñPoles and Jews: An Exchange,ò The New York Review of Books, April 9, 1987),  

 

Mr. Brumberg is fond of quoting a Home Army Report of September 1941, signed by the 

commanding office of the AK, General [Stefan] Grot-Rowecki, and containing the famous sentence, 

ñPlease accept it as an established fact that the overwhelming majority of people in the country are 

anti-Semitically disposedò (PrzygniatajŃca wiňkszoŜĺ kraju jest nastawiona antysemicko). 

Mistranslated by Mr. Brumberg [as ñThe overwhelming majority of the country is anti-Semitic,ò and 

similarly mistranslated by Prusin], the quotation takes on a new slant, and might seem to imply either 

that Polish attitudes were based on fixed prejudice, or even that the Poles approved of the Nazisô 

genocidal policies. [As Davies points out, the phrase ñnastawiona antysemicko,ò implies an 

ñattitude,ò ñadjustment,ò ñdisposition,ò or ñinclinationò that can change according to circumstances.] 

Significantly, and very conveniently, Mr. Brumberg [like Alexander Prusin] keeps quiet about the 

second half of the quotation. The original text of the report, in describing the factors influencing 

Polish opinion at the time, goes on to say three things: firstly, that virtually nobody approved of 

German actions; secondly, that Nazi persecution of the Jews was causing a backlash of sympathy; and 
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exile and Home Army supreme command strictly forbade such contacts and agreements. (During his 

internment after the collapse of the Warsaw Uprsing of August 1944, the most formidable anti-Nazi 

uprising in occupied Europe by far, Home Army Commander General Tadeusz B·r-Komorowski was 

repeatedly approached by German officials intent on creating a collaborationist amy. He steadfastly 

refused.
12

) The unauthorized dealings with the Germans of two beleaguered Home Army local commanders 

were a temporary and purely tactical expedient, undertaken for their very survival, after the Soviet partisans 

had turned on them from mid-1943 and were intent on destroying them. This strategy occurred at a time 

when the tied was turning against the Germans and was not intended to bolster the German war effort 

(which it hardly accomplished), since the Home Army continued to attack the Germans vigorously in both 

the Nowogr·dek and Wilno Districts. Rather, it was a desperate act of self-defence against the treacherous 

policies of the Soviets, the Nazisô erstwhile allies. It would be as malicious to read into this strategy alleged 

Polish support for the Nazi regime, just as it would be to accuse the Western Alli es of supporting 

totalitarianism and the Gulag for having accepted the Soviet Union into their ranks, after Hitler turned on 

Stalin in June 1941. Moreover, as we shall see, Polish partisans continued to attack German garrisons and 

other positions throughout this period,
13

 such that the Germans questioned the wisdom of having entered 

into these arrangements.
14

 In fact, German reports rated the Home Army as a more disciplined and effective 

                                                                                                                                                                             
thirdly, that pro-Jewish sympathies were inhibited by knowledge of Jewish activities in the Soviet 

zone. 

 

The text of Grot-Roweckiôs radio telegram dated September 25, 1941, is reproduced in Andrzej Krzysztof Kunert, ed. 

Polacyïŧydzi, PolenïJuden, PolesïJews, 1939ï1945: Wyb·r ťr·değ, Quellenauswahl, Selection of Documents 

(Warsaw: Rada Ochrony Pamiňci Walk i MňczeŒstwa, Instytut Dziedzictwa Narodowego, and Rytm, 2001), 197, and 
Krzysztof Jasiewicz, Pierwsi po diable: Elity sowieckie w okupowanej Polsce 1939ï1941 (Biağostocczyzna, 

Nowogr·dczyzna, Polesie, WileŒszczyzna) (Warsaw: Instytut Studi·w Politycznych PAN and Rytm, 2001), 41ï42, with 

one variation in wording which in no way undermines Norman Daviesô analysis: ñMeldujň, Ũe wszystkie posuniňcia i 

oŜwiadczenia RzŃdu i czğonk·w Rady Narodowej, dotyczŃce Ũyd·w w Polsce wywoğujŃ w kraju jak najgorsze 

wraŨenie i znakomicie uğatwiajŃ propagandň RzŃdowi nieprzychylnŃ lub wrogŃ. é Proszň przyjŃĺ jako fakt zupeğnie 

realny, Ũe przygniatajŃca wiňkszoŜĺ kraju jest nastrojona [as opposed to ñnastawionaò] antysemicko. Nawet socjaliŜci 

nie sŃ tu wyjŃtkiem. R·Ũnice dotyczŃ tylko taktyki postňpowania. ZalecajŃcych naŜladowanie metod niemieckich 

prawie nie ma. Metody te wywoğağy odruchy wsp·ğczucia, ale zmalağo ono po zlaniu siň obu okupacji i zaznajomieniu 

siň przez og·ğ z zachowaniem siň Ũyd·w na wschodzie.ò Like ñnastawionaò, ñnastrojonaò connotes a ñmoodò or 

ñdispositionò that can change according to circumstances. 

 
12

 T. [Tadeusz] Bor-Komorowski, The Secret Army, 1st U.S. ed. (Nashville: Battery Press, 1984), 374ï75, 380ï81, 383, 

386ï87. This first English edition of this book was: Tadeusz Komorowski, The Secret Army (London: Gollancz, 1951). 

 
13

 Krajewski, Na Ziemi Nowogr·dzkiej, 180, 187. See also Bojomir TworzyaŒski, As I Remember: Polish Home Army 

in the Konecki and Nowogr·dek Regions, 1939ï1945 (Markham, Ontario: n.p. 2009), 63ï104; translated from the 

Polish: Tak jak pamiňtam: AKïZiemia Konecka i Nowogr·dzka 1939ï1945 (Ğ·dŦ: n.p., 1995). TworzyaŒski, a Home 

Army commander in the Szczuczyn area of the Nowogr·dek District, describes the elimination of Soviet spies and 

German collaborators, as well as numerous assaults on German trains, gendarmes, SS, and their Belorussian 

collaborators throughout the entire period. Assaults on German outposts and troops allowed the Poles to replenish their 

arms. Captured Germans were routinely released after being disarmed and questioned or exchanged for captured Polish 

partisans, so as to prevent retaliations against the civilian population, a strategy that was not followed by the Soviet 

partisans.  

 
14

 Krajewski, Na Ziemi Nowogr·dzkiej, 187ï88. A German military report of April 26, 1944 concluded that the 

arrangement was used by the Home Army to their advantage and had caused the Wehrmacht more harm than good. 
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combat adversary than the Soviet partisans.
15

 As Soviet field reports confirm, the Polish population 

continued to be firmly opposed to German rule.
16

 Furthermore, there is credible information that the Soviet 

partisans were more inclined to target Polish partisans than Germans. A Home Army plant in the Lipiczany 

forest (Puszcza LipiczaŒska), who brought back information on the spy network established in the area by 

the Soviet partisans to gather information about the Home Army, discerned that ñthe main goal of the 

Soviet partisans was to neutralize the Home Army óactivistsô when the Soviet Army advanced. Fighting the 

Germans was secondary for Soviet partisans.ò
17

 An order to eliminate Polish partisans was found in the 

possession of a leader of the Chapayev detachment of the Stalin Brigade on December 2, 1943.
18

 Tellingly, 

Soviet partisans did not attack the Nazi concentration camp in Koğdyczewo, even though it was situated in 

the area where their largest forces were concentrated.
19

 More importantly, Soviet partisans were also known 

to have entered into local ceasefires with the Germans, some of which are described in Jewish sources.
20

 

                                                           
15

 Krajewski, Na Ziemi Nowogr·dzkiej, 188. 

 
16

 Boradyn, Niemenïrzeka niezgody, 28. 

 
17

 TworzyaŒski, As I Remember, 60. 

 
18

 Krajewski, Na Ziemi Nowogr·dzkiej, 533. 

 
19

 Michağ Woğğejko, ñOb·z zagğady Koğdyczewo i antypolska dziağalnoŜĺ biağoruskich nacjonalist·w w latach 1941ï

1944: Rekonensans badawczy,ò Glaukopis: Pismo spoğeczno-kulturalne, no. 31 (2014): 83ï94.  

 
20

 Isaac Kowalski describes an agreement that Soviet-Jewish partisans in Rudniki forest entered into with the Germans: 

ñOne day one of our contact men gave us the message that a German post é authorized him to ask the partisans if the 

latter wanted to live in peace with the German post. The answer wasðYes. The result was a gentlemenôs agreement: 

that the Germans would not obstruct our passage through the village and we would not burn down their bunkers in the 

night. The agreement was honored by both sides éò See Kowalski, A Secret Press in Nazi Europe, 334; also 

reproduced in Isaac Kowalski, comp. and ed., Anthology on Armed Jewish Resistance, 1939ï1945 (Brooklyn, New 

York: Jewish Combatants Publishers House, 1984ï1991), vol. 4 (1991), 391. Sulia Wolozhinski Rubin, who was a 

member of the Bielski partisan group, recalls similar arrangements in Naliboki forest: ñWe settled our tents on one side 

of Lake Kroman [KromaŒ] é On the other side of the river the Germans settled their posts. é As time progressed, our 

men would talk to the Germans. They werenôt interested in getting killed either; and so it went on.ò See Rubin, Against 

the Tide, 134. It would be as misguided to assume that the beleaguered Poles were pro-German or even pro-Nazi, as it 

would be to conclude that all the Jewish partisans who aligned themselves with the Soviets were Communists or 

supported the Soviet regime for ideological reasons. Moreover, these local Polish Home Army dealings with the 

Germans cannot be compared to the serious flirting that Zionist factions in Palestine under Abraham Stern and Yitzhak 

Shamir underook in the early 1940s, when the German army was still victorious. The Palestnian Zionists contemplated 

joint military actions with the Germans against the British and a long-term alliance with Nazi Germany in exchange for 

assistance in transferring Jews from Europe to Palestine. They were thus predicated on full support for the Nazi war 

effort against the Allies. See Yehuda Bauer, Jews For Sale: Nazi-Jewish Negotiations, 1933ï1945 (New Haven and 

London: Yale University Press, 1994) and Edwin Black, The Transfer Agreement: The Dramatic Story of the Pact 

between the Third Reich and Jewish Palestine, Revised edition (Cambridge, Massachusetts: Brookline Books, 1999). 

Another point of reference is the case of 300 Jewish soldiers who served in the Finnish army and found themselves in 

league with Nazi Germany when Finland, who had a mutual enemy in the Soviet Union, joined the war in June 1941. 

Their alibi is: ñWe did not help the Germans. We had a common enemy which was the Russians and that was it.ò Their 

exoneration goes like this: ñWhat were they supposed to do? That is the question nobody can answer.ò The Finnish 

government rejected Germanyôs request to hand over its Jews, and the thwarted the Finnish State Police efforts to do 

so. However, the Germans did not press the issue, as they were afraid to lose Finish cooperation against the Soviets. 

Finland did hand over to the Germans Soviet soldiers taken prisoner during the winter was in 1940 as part of a scheme 

to exchange prisoners. Among them were Jews who perished in German custody. See Paul Kendall, ñThe Jews Who 

Fought for Hitler: óWe did not help the Germans. We had a common enemyô,ò The Telegraph (London), March 9, 

2014. 
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According to historian Kenneth Slepyan, ñlocal partisans occasionally negotiated informal truces with 

nearby German garrisons, ensuring quiet for the enemy while safeguarding their familiesô homes.ò
21

 

   Before the Soviet partisans turned on their Polish counterparts in the latter part of 1943, the Poles had 

undertaken many joint operations with the Soviets against the Germans (e.g., Nowogr·dek on July 11, 

1942, ŧoğudek in May 1943,
22

 Woğma in July 1943). Cooperation resumed with the arrival of the Red 

Army, but was short-lived. The city of Wilno (Vilnius in Lithuania, Vilna in Russian) was liberated in July 

1944 by a joint assault of the Red Army and the Home Army, with the Poles initiating the attack.
23

 

Afterwards, the Soviets promptly disarmed the Polish forces by stealth.
24

 This pattern of treachery 

characterized Soviet-Polish relations before, during and after the war. The best known example was the 

Warsaw Uprising of 1944, the largest anti-German armed insurrection in occupied Europe: after 

encouraging the Poles to take up arms, the Soviet Army stood by idly on the east bank of the Vistula during 

                                                                                                                                                                             
 
21

 Kenneth Slepyan, Stalinôs Guerrillas: Soviet Partisans in World War II (Lawrence, Kansas: University Press of 

Kansas, 2006), 160. 

 
22

 Krajewski, Na Ziemi Nowogr·dzkiej, 204. 

 
23

 Home Army forces initiated the attack on Wilno on the night of July 6ï7, 1944, but had to retreat in the face of 

overwhelming German forces. The Soviet Army launched another assault later that day (July 7), supported by the 

Home Army underground in the city, and the Germans were driven from the city by July 13, after heavy fighting. Some 

500 Poles fell in battle. Tadeusz Piotrowski is mistaken when he suggests that it was for some hidden motives that only 

a third of the available AK forces fought with the Soviets to liberate Wilno. See Piotrowski, Polandôs Holocaust, 89ï

90. Rather, it was because the attack was advanced by one day (from July 7 to July 6, 1944), that almost half of the 

Polish forces did not arrive in time. See Roman Korab-ŧebryk, Operacja wileŒska AK (Warsaw: PaŒstwowe 

Wydawnictwo Naukowe, 1985), 202. On the battle for Wilno see Tomaszewski, WileŒszczyzna lat wojny i okupacji 

1939ï1945, 476ï95; Woğkonowski, Okrňg WileŒski ZwiŃzku Walki Zbrojnej Armii Krajowej w latach 1939ï1945, 267; 

Strzembosz, Rzeczpospolita podziemna, 272; Stanisğawa Lewandowska, ŧycie codzienne Wilna w latach II wojny 

Ŝwiatowej, Second revised and expanded edition (Warsaw: Neriton and Bellona, 2001), 322ï25. The editor of the 

official anthology of the Jewish partisans, however, presents an entirely different (and skewed) version of these events: 

ñthe city was recaptured by the combined efforts of the Jewish partisans and the Soviet armyò (sic, in that order). See 

Kowalski, Anthology on Armed Jewish Resistance, 1939ï1945, vol. 4 (1991), 434. Yitzhak Arad provides a somewhat 

different assessment: ñThe great offensive by the Soviet armed forces began on June 23, 1944, and within weeks, they 

covered 220 miles and reached the entrance to Vilna [Wilno]. The Vilna partisans joined the Soviet army units. Soviet 

forces cut off Vilna on July 7 and 8, 1944. é Jewish partisans from Rudniki forests followed the Soviet Army into the 

city.ò See Arad, Ghetto in Flames, 460. (Afterwards, Yitzhak Arad joined the NKVD and was active in combattinng 

the anti-Communist Lithuanian underground. He was dismissed from its ranks for his undisciplined behaviour. See 

Piotr Zychowicz, ñWybory Icchaka Arada,ò Rzeczpospolita, July 12, 2008.) Kowalski is also perplexed that, after the 

liberation of Wilno, ñPolish partisans within the city still went around with guns on their shoulders. Nothing was done 

about them. Like the others, they were shortly after ordered to demobilize and the majority obeyed.ò See Kowalski, A 

Secret Press in Nazi Europe, 349. Because of the intervention of a Jew who worked for the Soviet supreme command, 

Jewish partisans were excused from serving in the Red Army on its perilous advance into East Prussia. They were 

allowed to remain in Wilno where they were presented with Medals of Valour, the highest honour in the Red Army. 

See Rich Cohen, The Avengers (New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 2000), 154. According to Isaac Kowalski, the partisans of 

the almost exclusively Jewish ñNekamahò (ñVengeanceò of ñRevengeò) unit were appointed to various important 

economic posts in the city. See Kowalski, A Secret Press in Nazi Europe, 386. Astoundingly, writing in 2011, Jewish 

historian Leonid Rein claims that the ñGermans used the AK forces in the defense of Vilnius [Wilno] against the Soviet 

Army.ò See Rein, The Kings and the Pawns, 364. 

 
24

 The Soviets apprehended 6,800 Polish Home Army fighters by stealth and disarmed them, executing hundreds. See 

Jarosğaw Woğkonowski, Okrňg WileŒski ZwiŃzku Walki Zbrojnej Armii Krajowej w latach 1939ï1945 (Warsaw: 

Adiutor, 1996), 266ï83; Henryk Piskunowicz, ñDziağalnoŜĺ zbrojna Armii Krajowej na WileŒszczyŦnie w latach 1942ï

1944,ò in Zygmunt Boradyn, Andrzej Chmielarz, and Henryk Piskunowicz, eds., Armia Krajowa na Nowogr·dczyŦnie i 

WileŒszczyŦnie (1941ï1945) (Warsaw: Instytut Studi·w Politycznych PAN, 1997), 70. 
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the 63-day heroic struggle and watched the Germans massacre Polish resistance fighters and some 150,000 

civilians.
25

 

   The evolution of writings on the relations between the Poles and the Soviet and Jewish partisans is well 

worth tracing. Soviet reports from December 1942 attest to a rather favourable attitude toward the Soviet 

partisans on the part of the Polish population, including Polish self-defence and partisan groups.
26

 However, 

in a report filed on September 16, 1944, concerning the ñHistory and Formation of the M. I. Kalinin 

Partisan Detachment,ò Tuvia Bielski (or Belsky, known as Anatolii Belskii in Soviet sources), the 

legendary Jewish partisan leader in Naliboki forest (Puszcza Nalibocka), wrote about ñPoles who joined the 

White Polish legions fighting alongside Germans against Soviet authorities.ò
27

 Why the dramatic change? 

                                                                                                                                                                             
 
25

 The story has been retold brilliantly in Norman Davies, Rising ô44: óThe Battle for Warsawô (London: Macmillan, 

2003). 

 
26

 Boradyn, ed., Armia Krajowa na Nowogr·dczyŦnie i WileŒszczyŦnie (1942ï1944) w Ŝwietle dokument·w sowieckich, 

15 (information from the chief of the intelligence department of the Belorussian Central Staff of the Partisan 

Movement, dated December 21, 1942). 

 
27

 ñJewish Units in the Soviet Partisan Movement: Selected Documents,ò Yad Vashem Studies, vol. 23 (1993): 400ï11, 

here at p. 408. According to that document, which was co-authored by Tuvia Bielski, the detachment commissar and its 

chief-of-staff Malbin, read in conjunction with Bielskiôs postwar memoir reproduced, in part, in Albert Nirenstein, A 

Tower from the Enemy: Contributions to a History of Jewish Resistance in Poland (New York: The Orion Press, 1959), 

352ï72, and in Meyer Barkai, The Fighting Ghettos (Philadelphia and New York: Lippincott, 1962), 241ï64, the 

following chronologyðwhich is at times unclearðemerges. The Bielski brothers quickly adapted to the Soviet 

takeover in 1939 and took up positions in the regimeôs local apparatus. After the German invasion in the summer of 

1941, they lived as fugitives in villages and in the forest, with the help of friendly Polish and Belorussian peasants. 

Their forest group grew to twenty or thirty by the summer of 1942, and Tuvia, as the eldest brother, was chosen to be 

the leader. It was only in the late summer that they became a real partisan detachment and began growing rapidly in 

numbers. They called themselves the Zhukov otriad, after Marshal Georgii Zhukov. Fearing annihilation, they 

ñaffiliatedò with the Soviet partisans in the fall of 1942, and were soon subordinated to Viktor Panchenkov, a local 

Soviet partisan commander. Tuviaôs brother Asael was second in command, and his brother Zus was in charge of 

reconnaissance (or ñrazvedkaò in Russian). In mid-1943, about 50 young men were transferred to Russian detachments. 

Around September (or possibly June) 1943, Bielskiôs group became part of the Kirov Brigade. The armed partisans 

formed the Ordzhonikidze unit or detachment (otriad) and were placed under a Russian commander and a Russian 

commissar, with Zus Bielski remaining as head of reconnaissance. Tuvia Bielski was appointed commander of the 

family group, which officially became the Kalinin detachment and included armed defenders as well, but the groupôs 

primary task was to provide specialty services for Soviet partisan groups in the forest. Asael Bielski joined the Kirov 

Brigade, but laterðtogether with some other Jewish partisansðreturned to the Bielski group. Asael was reappointed as 

assistant to the commander and commander of the fighting forces. See also Nechama Tec, Defiance: The Bielski 

Partisans (New York: Oxford University Press, 1993), 43, 106, 126ï27, 131; Yehuda Bauer, ñNowogr·dekðThe 

Story of a Shtetl,ò Yad Vashem Studies, vol., 35, no. 2 (2007): 54ï59. According to the sequence established by Peter 

Duffy and Yehuda Bauer, based largely on Tecôs biography Defiance, around January 1943, the Bielski group became 

part of the Lenin Brigade, which was subordinate to the leadership of the Baranowicze Branch of the Central Staff of 

the Partisan Movement, headed by Vasilii Chernyshev, whose nom de guerre was Major General Platon. The group 

was then known as the Second Company of the October detachment (previously Unit 96), under the command of 

Panchenkov. In June 1943, the detachment received a new name, Ordzhonikidze, and the Lenin Brigade, which was 

headed by Fedor (Fiodor) Sinichkin and included Bielskiôs group, was transformed into the Kirov Brigade. Sinichkin 

was succeeded by Sergei Vasiliev as brigade commander in August 1943, and the Bielski non-combatant detachment, 

which was severed from the much smaller combatant group, became the Kalinin detachment. This was a large family 

camp that provided for its own needs and provided services (such as sewing, shoemaking, baking and medical care) to 

the Soviet partisans in the area. About half the combatants (around 100 partisans), however, left the combatant group 

and made their way to the non-combatant group. Early in 1944 the Kalinin detachment was removed from the brigade 

structure and made an ñindependentò detachment that reported directly to General Sokolov (i.e., Efim Gapeev), the 

commander of the Lida Concentration of the Soviet partisans. The combatant group, Ordzhonikidzeðformally under 

the command of Captain Lushenko, but in fact led by Zus Bielskiðcounted 117 partisans (including 9 Gentiles) on the 

eve of 1943. The combatant group engaged mostly in ñeconomic missionsò (i.e., raids on peasants) rather than than 
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   In memoirs published shortly after the war, Bielski paints an entirely amicable portrait of early relations 

between Jewish and Polish partisans.
28

 According to Nechama Tec, the author of a monograph about the 

Bielski partisans, Bielski maintained a friendship with the local Home Army commander Lieutenant 

Kacper (or Kasper) Miğaszewski as late as August 1943.
29

 (Miğaszewskiôs unit was orginally known as the 

Polish Partisan Detachment (Polski Oddziağ Partyzancki) or the KoŜciuszko detachment, and was later 

transformed into the Stoğpce battalion (Batalion Stoğpecki) of the Home Army.) Anatol Wertheim, who 

served as aide-de-camp for Semen (Semion, Shimon, Shalom) Zorin, a Soviet-Jewish partisan leader in the 

same area, also describes relations with the Polish partisans until midï1943 as ñfriendly.ò
30

 This should not 

                                                                                                                                                                             
ñface-to-face confrontations with the Germans or local police.ò See Peter Duffy, The Bielski Brothers: The True Story 

of Three Men Who Defied the Nazis, Saved 1,200 Jews, and Built a Village in the Forest (New York: HarperCollins, 

2003), 91, 126ï28, 169, 188ï89, 190ï91, 209ï210, 227ï28. From the fall of 1943 to 1944, the Ordzhonikidze unit is 

said to have participated in 37 combat missions (most of them jointly with other Soviet units) and mined railway lines 

west and northwest of Nowogr·dek. (There was only one railway line running close to this area.) Ibid., 208, 265. 

Soviet sources culled by Polish historians give the following, somewhat different, sequence: Bielskiôs family group was 

removed from the Ordzhonikidze detachment of the Kirov Brigade in November 1943. As of January 3, 1944, the 

Bielski detachment was removed from the Kirov Brigade and reported directly to Sokolov, who was Platonôs second in 

command; however, the Ordzhonikidze detachment remained in the Kirov Brigade. On May 6, 1944, the Bielski 

detachment became the Kalinin detachment. The Baranowicze Concentration had two Jewish ñfamilyò units: Bielskiôs 

(Ordzhonikidze, later Kalinin) and Zorinôs (Unit 106). At the end of April 1944, the former consisted of 941 persons 

(of whom 162 were armed), and the latter had 562 persons (of whom 73 were armed). Thus the vast majority of the 

membership of these two ñfamilyò groups was made up of non-fighters. See Boradyn, Niemenïrzeka niezgody, 84. By 

July 1944, the final tally for Bielskiôs group was 991, with the Ordzhonikidze detachment accounting for 149 members. 

See Duffy, The Bielski Brothers, 259. Only a very small number of the armed partisans fell in combat with the 

Germans. After the arrival of the Red Army, Tuvia Bielski hastily disbanded his force to make it difficult for his 

fighters to be conscripted into the army and soon left for central Poland with his brother Zus. He then moved on to 

Palestine before emigrating to the United States. Ibid., 264, 266. The youngest Bielski brother, Aharon Bielski, who 

was only about 11 or 12 when he escaped to Naliboki forest. His participation and impact on the life of the Bielski 

group was, in the assessment of Nechama Tec, ñminimal, almost nonexistent.ò See Tec, Defiance, 217. Aharon also 

settled in the United States after the war and changed his name to Aron Bell. He became the vice president of a 

synagogue in Palm Beach, Florida. In October 2007, Aron Bell, along with his wife, was charged with kidnapping and 

scheming to defraud their Polish Catholic neighbour Janina Zaniewska, a 93-year-old Polish woman who herself had 

survived Nazi imprisonment during the war, of about $250,000 in life savings. After emptying her bank account, they 

allegedly secreted the woman in a nursing home in Poland. See David Rogers, ñOut on Bail in Kidnap Case, Bells 

Attend New Synagogue of Palm Beach Service,ò Palm Beach Daily News, October 20, 2007. In a plea deal, the Bells 

agreed to repay the money in exchange for having the charges dropped, on the condition they not violate any laws 

within 18 months and have no contact with the victim. See Michael Kaiser, ñAron, Henryka Bell Make Deal in Palm 

Beach Case: To Pay Restitution to Janina Zaniewska,ò Palm Beach Daily News, February 2, 2008. Polish journalists 

Piotr Gğuchowski and Marcin Kowalski recently wrote a book about the Bielski brothers entitled Odwet: Prawdziwa 

historia braci Bielskich (Warsaw: Biblioteka Gazety Wyborczej, 2009), however, it met with severe criticism from a 

broad spectrum of scholars. See, for example, Leszek ŧebrowski, ñóOp·rô: (Nie)prawdziwa historia braci Bielskich,ò 

Nasz Dziennik, January 23, 2009; Krzysztof Jasiewicz, ñOp·r przed rzeczywistoŜciŃ,ò Rzeczpospolita, January 24, 

2009; Dariusz Libionka and Monika Adamczyk-Garbowska, ñRecenzja ksiŃŨki óOdwetô: Prawdziwa historia braci 

Bielskich,ò Gazeta Wyborcza, January 31, 2009; Kazimierz Krajewski and Leszek ŧebrowski, ñNieprawdziwa historia 

braci Bielskich,ò Glaukopis: Pismo spoğeczno historyczne (Warsaw), no. 15ï16 (2009): 107ï26. 
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 Anatol Wertheim, ñŧydowska partyzantka na Biağorusi,ò Zeszyty Historyczne (Paris), no. 86 (1988): 150. Wertheim, 

who hailed from Warsaw, wrote in glowing terms about the warm and hospitable reception he and two other Jews 

received at the Polish partisan base in Derewno (Derewna) under Lieutenant Miğaszewskiôs command. Ibid., 137ï40. 
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ghetto. In late 1941, he escaped to the forests in the Staroe Selo area, about 30 kilometres southwest of Minsk, where 
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be surprising given the attitude of Lieutenant Miğaszewski (nom de guerre ñLewaldò), as described by one 

of his own fighters: 

  

In 1941 Lieutenant Kacper Milaszewski [Miğaszewski], known by the pseudonym Lewald, began to 

organize the Union for Armed Struggle (later the Home Army) in the county of Stolpce [Stoğpce] 

(strictly speaking, the communities in the region included Derewno [or Derewna], Naliboki, 

RubieŨewicz [RubieŨewicze], and part of Iwieniec). He selected me as his adjutant, in which 

capacity I served during the organization and early operations of partisan units under his command 

in the Nalibocki [Naliboki] Forest (the Seventy-eighth Infantry Regiment and the Twenty-Seventh 

Cavalry Regiment). 

   When we had our framework ready, we began to penetrate German offices and place our own 

people there, with the aim of gathering and transmitting news about German actions. The most 

valuable information was transmitted by Hipolit Samson and J. [Jan] Borysewicz [nom de guerre 

ñKrysiaò], both of whom the Germans later put to death. They told us which ghettos would be 

exterminated and when it would occur. 

   In the spring of 1942, we learned that the Germans planned to liquidate the RubieŨewicz ghetto in 

June. Lieutenant Milaszewski immediately sent me to RubieŨewicz to relay this information to the 

Jews. The RubieŨewicz ghetto was not enclosed by a wall or barbed wire, allowing the Jews to 

walk freely around the town. They depended on the generosity of the Polish people for their food; 

the Germans did not give them any means of living. My first conversation was with Rabbi 

Pentelnik from Derewno and his daughter, Nieszka, a former schoolmate. The rabbi advised me to 

talk with Bratkowski, the former commander of a unit, called Talbot [Tarbut?], from Derewno. 

Upon my return, Lieutenant Milaszewski was clearly pleased with my trip to RubieŨewicz. 

   After some time, we received information about a plan to liquidate the ghetto in Stolpce. The 

ghetto was wired and well guarded. We knew that the Germans used ghetto labor for slaking lime 

and working in the sawmill in Nowe Swierznie [świerŨeŒ Nowy], two and one-half kilometers 

beyond Stolpce. I was sent to the quarry under the pretext of buying lime. I met Jewish 

acquaintances and relayed the news of what awaited them. 

   As they filled the bags with lime, three Jewish women asked me if I could take them along with 

the lime and carry them to the woods. I replied that we would try it and asked them [to] sit in the 

wagon. At the gate, the German police stopped us and sharply asked me where I was taking the 

women. I replied through an interpreter that the Jews had asked me to carry them to Stolpce, where 

they would pick up certain items from their abandoned houses and then return to work. The 

                                                                                                                                                                             
he joined up with a newly formed group of Communist partisans. Because of constant clashes between the Jewish and 

non-Jewish members, Zorin formed a detachment made up of Jewish escapees from the ghettos (Unit 106 of the 

Iwieniec Regional Central Command), commonly known as the Zorin unit. After successive attacks by the Germans 

and Belorussian police, the unit transferred its base to Naliboki forest, in proximity to the bases of many Soviet partisan 

groups. Anatol, the leader of a Jewish partisan unit which also maintained a Jewish civilian or ñfamilyò camp housing 

up to 800 persons. About 100 men served in the combat unit whose principal activity was foraging for food and other 

provisions among the local population. In January 1944, the partisan command allotted them four villages in which to 

carry out ñeconomic actions,ò but they often went to raid other villages. See Shalom Cholawski, ñZorin, Shalom,ò in 

Israel Gutman, ed., Encyclopedia of the Holocaust (New York: Macmillan; London: Collier Macmillan, 1990), vol. 4: 

1739ï40; Arad, In the Shadow of the Red Banner, 299ï305. It is not clear whether members of the Zorin unit took part 

in the massacre of some 130 Poles in the village of Naliboki in May 1943. 
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Germans conferred with each other. Eventually a German sergeant approached me. He expressed 

agreement, on condition that I hand over my German identity card, which would be returned to me 

after I brought the Jews back to work. é I readily handed over my identity card because that was 

not my real name on it anyway. We moved away as the Germans waved us on. é 

   After I crossed the railroad track, I did not travel over the bridge by way of Stolpce. I chose a 

longer road on the left side of the Niemen. After one kilometer, I threw the bags of lime into the 

ditch, and away I went with my Jewish charges. (This incident would be confirmed by a former 

resident of the Stolpce ghetto Mrs. R.N., who now lives in Manchester, England.) 

   In July and August 1943, action against the partisans began in the Nalibocki Forest. Several 

German divisions, aided by thousands of police, participated in the operation, code-named Herman 

[Hermann]. At this time our detachment numbered about 650 men under the command of 

Lieutenants Milaszewski and W. [Walenty] Parchimowicz. For several days we did not fight due to 

the overwhelming strength of the Germans, who drove us deeper into the forest. In the forest, we 

happened upon a Jewish partisan camp that the Germans had not yet reached. We had a cordial 

meeting. We had no provisions, but they had spare food. é They shared what they had with us. é 

We learned that their detachment numbered a few hundred, primarily from the ghettos in 

RubieŨewicz and Stolpce. I recognized many of my colleagues among them.31 

 

   Wiktor Noskowski, who hails from Ejszyszki, also recounts some of the forms of assistance that Jews 

received from Poles and the Home Army in this area: 

 

During the German occupation I was a soldier of the Home Army and in its ranks I came into 

contact with partisans of Jewish origin: a medic whose nom de guerre was ñRochò (I donôt 

remember his surname) and Aleksander Lewin (LewiŒski), whose nom de guerre was ñWrzos.ò 

(After the war, LewiŒski was a professor of medicine and rector of the Medical Academy in 

GdaŒsk.) é 

   Of the examples of assistance to Jews in hiding known to me, the greatest helpfulness was shown 

by the Korkuĺ, Swieczko, MyŜlicki, Woğyniec, Misiuro, Tumielewicz, Sakowicz and Kiersnowski 

families, not to mention Rev. Gedymin [Giedymin] Pilecki and even the commander of the local 

Home Army battalion, Captain Stanisğaw Truszkowski, who sheltered a girl of the same age as his 

daughter, passing her off as his own child.  

   é My schoolmate Estera Bielicka spent the entire [German] occupation with the MyŜlicki family 

in Matejkany [also spelled Motejkany] in plain sight of all of the residents of this village. Not only 

did the villagers know about her, but she was also seen at church services in town [i.e., Ejszyszki] 

and no one from among the parishioners betrayed her. 

   Rev. Gedymin Pilecki, the head chaplain of the Nowogr·dek district of the Home Army, 

sheltered two Jewish women from Wilno in his rectory in Hermaniszki]. He also administered the 
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sacrament of baptism to Dawid Lipnicki, changing his name to Andrzej, and placed him with his 

sexton Wacğaw Misiuro. (When the Red Army arrived in July 1944, Dawid Lipnicki left his 

hideout with the Tumielewicz family and joined the Soviet army. Two years later, Misiuro met him 

in Biağystok. Lipnicki was riding in a convoy of automobiles dressed in Soviet uniform. He 

recognized Misiuro, his first protector, and immediately denounced him to the NKVD as a Home 

Army member.) Rev. Pilecki also helped the Wilno ghetto with shipments of food. Jews from 

Wilno, who travelled in trucks accompanied by authentic German gendarmes who had been bribed 

to act as camouflage for the convoy, were brought by Misiuro to the rectory in Hermaniszki. There, 

they picked up tons of food procured by Rev. Pilecki. 

   The Kiersnowskis, owners of an estate in Podweryszki, helped the Jews in the small neighbouring 

town of Bieniakonie. During the harvest of the crops they snuck loaded wagons into the town 

where starving Jews descended on them. The Jews appreciated this help as was shown a year later 

when one of the Jews from Bieniakonie who survived, now a Soviet partisan, successfully stood up 

for Kiersnowski when he was seized from his home by the Soviet partisans, though he was unable 

to prevent them from taking Kiersnowskiôs boots. 

   The mayor of RaduŒ, Bolesğaw Kuligowski, issued fictitious identity documents 

(Personalausweis) to Jewish refugees, thus enabling them to remain legally in their chosen place 

and to obtain employment. I personally met two such Jews: Wirszubski, an interpreter in the local 

Kreisverwaltung [district administration], and Artur Rozental, a mechanic in the estate of 

Horodenka. é  

   After the independent state of Lithuania was incorporated into the Soviet Union and the 

diplomatic posts of the neutral countries were shut down in Kaunas, the Polish underground 

extended a helping hand to those Jews who did not manage to leave for countries outside Europe 

and found themselves entrapped. In the underground certification workshops of the command of 

the Wilno district of the Home Army, a factory producing false passports and imitation visa stamps 

was established under the direction of Michağ and Romuald Warakomski and Stanisğaw Kiağka. 

These documents helped thousands of Jews to leave for Japan and Cura­ao. 

   One should also note the marriages, albeit infrequent, between Poles and Jews. é For example, 

Franciszek Kudelski32 married a Jewess by the name of Kazia and both of them held responsible 

positions in the Home Army in the Baranowicze district. é 

   Chaim Dğugin, the leader of the Judenrat in Weren·w [also called Woron·w], ignored the 

proposal put forward by the local command of the Home Army, represented by Wacğaw DomaŒski 

(ñKorwetaò) and Bronisğaw Hajdul (ñWyrwaò), to seize the poorly guarded storehouse of Soviet 

arms and eventually to undertake joint partisan warfare. é Dğugin decided to reject this plan 

because, as he stated, he was afraid it would provoke the Germans to take unanticipated repressive 
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measures. In view of his stance, the prospect of organizing armed resistance was impossible against 

the will of the Jews. It was agreed only that contacts would be maintained and information 

exchanged through a designated liaison, the elegant Chana Abramicka. é 

   It is worth recalling the burning of the farm and the shooting of the five-member Woğyniec family 

in the village of RomaszkaŒce near Weren·w, together with the three fugitives from the ghetto 

whom they sheltered. Two Jewish women from Wilno were found on the property of the Sakowicz 

family in the remote settlement of Wğadysğaw·w. The owner of the farm, who was the mayor of 

Weren·w, managed to escape death because he was absent. He was unable to return to his home 

until the end of the war. In RaduŒ, the cover of the interpreter Wirszubski, a Jew, was found out. 

Fortunately, he was rescued by the Home Army.33 

 

   Jewish sources also confirm that relations with the Polish underground in this region were generally 

favourable in the early period. 

 

At a certain stage, contacts were also established between some ghettos and the Polish 

underground. Such a link was formed in Wiszniewo [Wiszniew]. Members of the Polish 

underground sent information, received over the radio, to the ghetto; they also sent in underground 

newspapers and leaflets. There was talk of bringing explosives and arms into the ghetto, but there is 

no proof that this ever happened.34 

 

It was December 16 [1941]. é Late that night the local Chief of Police, a [Pole] friendly to the 

Jews, had warned the Judenrat [in Jody, a small town near Brasğaw] of impending doom. é 

   A Polish forester took a group of Jody Jews, twelve families in all, to a secluded swamp area 

where there was a well-concealed sandy hill. This is where they set up their camp. é 

   Dave and I decided to find more weapons and by chance we stumbled upon the perfect contact. 

His name was Vanka [WaŒka?] and he was a Polish ultra-nationalist from Mlynarovo 

[Mğynarowo]. We did not know it at the time, but he was also the commander of the local Polish 
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underground and in charge of a large collection of weapons. Vanka was an important source of 

information and shelter. He had a concealed shortwave radio which gave us news through the BBC. 

é His house was also very close to Jody and we always knew that in emergencies he would 

provide a secure hiding place é He also had friends among the local police who worked with the 

Germans. Through them, Vanka knew much about German activities in our area. 

   We were soon able to purchase our first weapon from Vanka é Vanka still supplied us with 

weapons and with information he received from his friends in the Polish and Belorussian Police.35 

 

   Likewise, at least in the initial stages, the presence of the Home Army was viewed as beneficial by many 

Jews in hiding in various parts of Poland. A Jew from the Siedlce area attests to this: 

 

That the Jews succeeded in surviving in the forest was also in some measure due to the Polish 

underground. This organization became progressively more active, and, by the summer of 1943, it 

had developed into a full-fledged, partisan outfit. é 

   As a result of the AK [Armia Krajowa] activities, the Germans, if they could, avoided venturing 

into the countryside. Gone were the days when a few of them would take off into the villages to 

have extracurricular fun with requisitions and casual killings. The underground was systematically 

assassinating all their collaborators and spies, except those who also served the underground. They 

had killed the Arbeitsamt in Losice [Ğosice] as well as the Commandant of the Polish police. Since 

all collaborators and German agents were inevitably Jewbaiters, these assassinations often seemed 

to the peasants an admonition not to harm Jews. This impression was strengthened by the illegal 

pamphlets distributed throughout the country in which the official position of the AK was to help 

the remaining Jews by all possible means. So the underground protected us to some degree, not 

only from the Germans but also from the Poles. And, indeed, this was the quietest and safest period 

in our clandestine life.36 

 

   Obviously, something other than ñendemicò Polish anti-Semitism played an important part in the 

subsequent deterioration of relations with the Soviet and Jewish partisans. What went wrong? 

Understanding the complexities of the situation in northeastern Poland is a key to a proper assessment of 

relations between the Polish underground and the Jews throughout the country. This book is not intended to 

be an exhaustive treatment of the topic of Polish-Jewish relations, nor is its primary focus the Polish Home 

Army. Rather our intention is to dispel the popular, but undeserved, image of bloodthirsty Polish partisans, 
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who were allegedly eager to collaborate with Germans against the heroic Soviet and Jewish partisans and 

were preoccupied with hunting down Jews. Although no one can deny that Jews in hiding were in a 

difficult, precarious and, indeed, desperate situation, and that their fate did not always elicit the sympathy 

of the local population, the simplistic and distorted picture pushed in Holocaust literature of Polish 

partisans waging a war against the Jews is far from accurate. Nor is it borne out by a careful reading of 

Jewish writings and recently revealed Communist documents. 

 

An Overview of Polish-Soviet Wartime Relations 

   As historian Norman Davies points out, Poles and other peoples in East-Central Europe were in a 

hopeless predicament, caught in the same double bind, overtaken not just by one occupation, but by two: 

 

Eastern Europe lay astride the battleground of the two greatest tyrannies which the world has yet 

seen; and the full horror of its fate can never be comprehended unless events on either side of the 

dividing line are related to each other.37 

 

   Conditions throughout occupied Poland varied greatly. In some areas, especially in northeastern Poland, 

the situation was particularly volatile. The Soviet Union invaded and annexed the region in September 

1939, in violation of a treaty it had signed with Poland in Riga in 1921 and the Polish-Soviet Non-

Aggression Pact of 1932. The Soviet occupation, which lasted until July 1941, targeted first and foremost 

the Polish populationðofficials, officers and soldiers, as well as the nascent underground, but also 

consumed tens of thousands of Polish civilians especially the elites.
38

 Polish-Belorussian relations had also 

taken a turn for the worse with the murder of about two thousand Poles by radical and especially 

Communist-inspired factions among the Belorussian (or Byelorussian, sometimes referred to as White 

Russian) population in September 1939.
39

 As could be expected, resentment over the Soviet occupation of 

1939ï1941 lingered after the arrival of the German occupiers, and engendered suspicion about all 
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 Norman Davies, ñPoles and Jews: An Exchange,ò New York Review of Books, April 9, 1987. 
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 As mentioned earlier, according to Soviet statistics, between October 1939 and June 1941, the Soviets had deported 

more than 120,000 people from prewar Polish territories incorporated into the Belorussian SSR, of whom around 

90,000 were ethnic Poles and 23,000 Jews. The vast majority of the Jewish deportees, however, were non-natives who 

had fled to this area in 1939 in advance of the invading German army; the reason for their deportation was their 

reluctance to accept Soviet citizenship after being offered the possibility of returning to their homes in the German zone 

in the early part of 1940. It appears that about half of the Jews who had taken refuge in the Soviet zone did accept 

Soviet citizenship and thus avoided deportation; the remainder were, much to their surprise, rounded up for deportation 

as unsure elements. See Eugeniusz Mironowicz, ñZmiany struktury narodowoŜciowej w zachodnich obwodach 

Biağorusi w latach 1939ï1941,ò Biağoruskie Zeszyty Historyczne, vol. 20 (Biağystok: Biağoruskie Towarzystwo 

Historyczne, 2003): 194ï202. 
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 These abuses targeted primarily Polish authorities, the military, and landlords on the eve of and during the early 

weeks of the Soviet invasion of Poland in midïSeptember and early October 1939. Some 2,000 Poles were killed by 

their Belorusian neighbours, who were inspired to a large degree by Communist agitators and whose misdeeds were 

applauded by the Soviet authorities (such as General Ponomarenko). See Michağ Gnatowski, W radzieckich okowach: 

Studium o agresji 17 wrzeŜnia 1939 r. i o radzieckiej polityce w regionie ğomŨyŒskim w latach 1939ï1941 (ĞomŨa: 

ĞomŨyŒskie Towarzystwo Naukowe im. Wag·w, 1997), 69; Wierzbicki, Polacy i Biağorusini w zaborze sowieckim. 
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subsequent Soviet actions and designs. The central staff of the Soviet partisan movement was established 

on May 30, 1942. Headed by Panteleimon Ponomarenko, it gradually took command of the separate 

partisan units that had sprung up in the area. The partisan movement was subordinated to the Communist 

Central Committee and not to the Soviet army. Its leadership was dominated by NKVD officers. The Soviet 

army and NKVD had their own intelligence units in the forests. An increasingly formidable and dense 

network of Soviet partisans, which became heavily infiltrated by NKVD agents, was viewed as a vehicle 

for the furtherance of Soviet interests and reincorporation of Polandôs Eastern Borderlands into the Soviet 

Union.
40

 It was apparent to most Poles that another clash with the Soviets was inevitable. These fears 

would prove to be correct. 

   The only non-Soviet underground military organization operating in this area was the Polish Home 

Army, who answered to the Polish government in exile in London. Northeastern Poland, comprising the 

prewar provinces (wojew·dztwa) of Wilno, Nowogr·dek, Biağystok and Polesie, formed the nucleus of the 

Obszar Biağystok (Obszar II) (Biağystok Area) of the Home Army, which was comprised of four districts 

(okrňgi)ðWilno, headed by Lieutenant-Colonel Aleksander KrzyŨanowski (ñWilkò); Nowogr·dek, headed 

by by Lieutenant-Colonel Janusz Szlaski (ñPrawdzicò); Biağystok, headed by Lieutenant-Colonel 

Wğadysğaw Liniarski (ñMŜcisğawò); and Polesieðcorresponding to the boundaries of the prewar provinces. 

The Home Army districts were under orders to cooperate with the Soviet underground and not to engage in 

combat with Soviet partisans.
41

 Contrary to claims found in Holocaust literature, there were no other Polish 
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 According to Soviet sources, in July 1944, in the combined districts of Baranowicze, Biağystok, BrzeŜĺ, PiŒsk and 

Wilejka, there were 8 partisan groupings or concentrations, 69 brigades and 171 independent detachments with more 

than 63,500 partisans. In addition, they were supported by 226 NKVD groups and units, counting more than 3,100 

persons, which were involved in diversionary and intelligence operations directed at the ñenemiesò of Soviet authority. 

See Michağ Gnatowski, ñKontrowersje i konflikty miňdzy ZWZïAK i radzieckim podziemiem na p·ğnocno-

wschodnich ziemiach Polski w latach 1941ï1944,ò in Marzena Liedke, Joanna Sadowska and Jan Tyrkowski, eds., 

Granice i pogranicza: Historia codziennoŜci i doŜwiadczeŒ (Biağystok: Instytut Historii Uniwersytetu w Biağymstoku, 

1999), vol. 2, 180ï81. The largest concentration of Soviet partisans was located in the Baranowicze district and was 

under the command of Vasilii Chernyshev (or Chernyshov), who was known as Platon. It was divided into four zones 

or regions (Iwieniec, Szczuczyn, Lida and Stoğpce) and, at its peak, consisted of 22 brigades and five independent 

detachments totalling about 17,500 people. There was also a partisan concentration in the southern zone of that same 

district (Baranowicze) consisting of three brigades and four independent detachments and counting 2,400 people. In the 

Wilejka district, to the north, there was an operational military division headed by Colonel Fedor Markov, which 

consisted of 18 brigades and five independent detachments. Their combined strength was 12,000 people. In addition, it 

had two reconnaissance and diversionary detachments counting 600 people. The weakest district was Biağystok, where 

there were five brigades and seven independent detachments, totalling 7,000 people. These were located mainly in the 

Lipiczany and R·Ũana forests. See Boradyn, ed., Armia Krajowa na Nowogr·dczyŦnie i WileŒszczyŦnie (1942ï1944) w 

Ŝwietle dokument·w sowieckich, 11. Historian Michağ Gnatowski points out that Soviet efforts to penetrate the Polish 

underground were largely unsuccessful because of a lack of support for the Soviets on the local Polish population. See 

Gnatowski, ñKontrowersje i konflikty miňdzy ZWZïAK i radzieckim podziemiem na p·ğnocno-wschodnich ziemiach 

Polski w latach 1941ï1944,ò in Liedke, Sadowska and Tyrkowski, Granice i pogranicza, vol. 2, 188. 
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 In the summer of 1943 the leadership of the Wilno and Nowogr·dek districts of the Home Army received 

instructions from the Home Army supreme command to conduct discussions and to cooperate with Soviet partisans 

based on principles of mutual respect including respect for Polandôs territorial integrity. (In international law, Polandôs 

Eastern territories continued to be an integral part of the Polish state.) See Tadeusz PeğczyŒski, Halina Czarnocka, J·zef 

GarliŒski, Kazimierz Iranek-Osmecki, and Wğodzimierz Otocki, eds., Armia Krajowa w dokumentach 1939ï1945, vol. 

3: KwiecieŒ 1943ïlipiec 1944 (London: Studium Polski Podziemnej, 1976), 94; Woğkonowski, Okrňg WileŒski 

ZwiŃzku Walki Zbrojnej Armii Krajowej w latach 1939ï1945, 156; Gnatowski, ñKontrowersje i konflikty miňdzy 

ZWZïAK i radzieckim podziemiem na p·ğnocno-wschodnich ziemiach Polski w latach 1941ï1944,ò in Liedke, 

Sadowska and Tyrkowski, Granice i pogranicza, vol. 2, 186. 
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partisan formations in this area such as the right-wing National Armed Forces (Narodowe Siğy Zbrojneð

NSZ),
42

 nor was there any significant Belorussian national resistance movement to German or Soviet rule.
43

 

There were, however, various Belorussian and Lithuanian formations, both military and police, in the 

service of the Germans.
44

 In April 1943, some 30,000 members of the Belorussian auxiliary police were 
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 Israeli historian Leonid Smilovitsky, for example, claims baselessly that ñthe Armia Krajowa and the Narodowy [sic] 

Sily Zbrojne é In the summer and spring of 1943 [sic], they victimized Jews in the forests of Lipichany [Lipiczany], 

Naliboki, Rudensk, Naroch [Narocz] and Bryansk.ò The Home Army was just becoming active in the spring and 

summer of 1943, though certainly not in Rudensk and Bryansk (areas located in Soviet Belorussia), and was still on 

good terms with the Soviet partisans. Smilovitsky is correct in saying that the Home Army came to view the Jews as 

ñpro-Soviet elements,ò which they by and large were, but that came later, after the Jews joined in Soviet assaults on 

Polish civilians (e.g., Naliboki in May 1943) and partisans (e.g., Lake Narocz in August 1943). See Smilovitskii, 

Katastrofa evreev v Belorussii 1941ï1944 gg., 22 (also 14), 138. Smilovitskyôs treatment of Polish-Jewish relations, 

found at pp. 129ï46, is very selective in its use of facts, poorly researched in terms of Polish sources, and decidedly 

pro-Jewish and even pro-Soviet. The NSZ did not field partisan units in this region, though, beginning in 1943, it 

briefly maintained a skeletal district command. Its activities were most likely limited to Wilno and perhaps a few other 

towns. However, as early as fall 1939, the National Party (Stronnictwo Narodowe) organized its clandestine structures 

in the area, including the Narodowa Organizacja Wojskowa (National Military Organization). The NOW organized no 

permanent guerrilla units, although occasionally it sent out its special task forces, mobilized for the occasion, to carry 

out various anti-German, anti-Soviet, and anti-bandit operations. The NOW suffered incredible losses during the great 

German pacification in the vicinity of Naliboki forest in summer 1943 and it members were later co-opted into the AK. 

See Kazimierz Krajewski, Uderzeniowe Bataliony Kadrowe 1942ï1943 (Warsaw: Pax, 1993), 380. An exceptional 

case was the Uderzeniowe Bataliony Kadrowe (Shock Cadre Battalions) of the Konfederacja Narodu (National 

Confederation), a small unit of about 80 men headed by the radical ONR-Falanga leader Bolesğaw Piasecki, which 

moved into the Lida areaðin the vicinity of the town of Iwie (Iwje)ðfrom Biağystok in October 1943, and was 

incorporated into the Home Army. Piaseckiôs group left the Nowogr·dek area and joined up with the Wilno District of 

the Home Army in protest of the decision of some commanders of beleaguered AK units to accept weapons from the 

Germans after the Soviet assault in December 1943. See Jan Erdman, Droga do Ostrej Bramy (London: Odnowa, 

1984), 240ï41; Krajewski, Uderzeniowe Bataliony Kadrowe 1942ï1943, passim; Krajewski, Na Ziemi Nowgr·dzkiej, 

120; Boradyn, Niemenïrzeka niezgody, 39ï40; Wojciech Jerzy MuszyŒski, ñKonfederacja Narodu,ò in Encyklopedia 

ñBiağych Plamò (Radom: Polskie Wydawnictwo Encyklopedyczne, 2002), vol. 9, 311ï12. The Shock Cadre Battalions 

were accused of killing one of their officers allegedly because of his Jewish origin. It has been established, however, 

that the officer in question turned betrayer after being blackmailed by the Germans, who had arrested his wife; he was 

thus liquidated as a Gestapo collaborator. See Krajewski, Uderzeniowe Bataliony Kadrowe 1942ï1943, 351. According 

to an unverified and undocumented account, Piaseckiôs unit was also accused of executing some Jews who allegedly 

confessed to being sent by the Germans to ferret out partisans. Piasecki put the blame for that deed on his chief of staff, 

Wojciech KňtrzyŒski ñWoğkowyskiò, whose mother was of Jewish origin. See Jacek Wilamowski, Pňtla zdrady: 

Konspiracjaïwr·gïpolityka: Za kulisami Polski Podziemnej 1939ï1945 (Warsaw: Agencja Wydawnicza CB Andrzej 

Zasieczny, 2003), 73. After the war, Piaseckiôs 16-year-old son was kidnapped and murdered in Warsaw by Jewish 

avengers; the circumstances of that event are described later on. 
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 Historian Leonid Rein, relying on a Belorussian sourceðAleh Dziarnovich, ed., Antysavetskiia rukhi u Belarusi 

1944 ï1945: Davednik (Minsk, Arkhiu Nainoushae Historyi, 1999), 120, states that there was a network of Belorussian 

national partisan detachments, united with the Belorussian Peopleôs Partisan Movement (Belaruskaia Narodnaia 

Partyzantka, BNP), that fought primarily against Soviet and Polish partisans. However, no details of their strength and 

activities are provided. See Rein, The Kings and the Pawns, 280. Belorussian historian Zakhar Shybeka also mentions 

an underground organization, perhaps the same oneðthe Belorussian Nationalist Partyðwhich was allegedly opposed 

to both the Nazis and Soviets. See Zachar Szybieka [Zakhar Shybeka], Historia Biağorusi 1795ï2000 (Lublin: Instytut 

Europy środkowo-Wschodniej, 2002). However, as historian Eugeniusz Mironowicz points out, that claim has not been 

substantiated. See Eugeniusz Mironowicz, ñRuch partyzancki na Biağorusi w historiografii biağoruskiej i polskiej,ò in 

Krzysztof Buchowski and Wojciech śleszyŒski, eds., Historycy polscy, litewscy i biağoruscy wobec problem·w XX 

wieku: Historiografia polska, litewska i biağoruska po 1989 roku (Biağystok: Instytut Historii Uniwersytetu w 

Biağymstoku, Katedra Ekonomii i Nauk Spoğecznych Politechniki Biağostockiej, Archiwum PaŒstwowe w 

Biağymstoku, Sekcja Dziej·w Ziem P·ğnocno-Wschodnich Dawnej Rzeczyspospolitej Polskiego Towarzystwa 

Historycznego, and Prymat, 2003), 66. 
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 On the topic of Belorussian collaboration see Antonio Mu¶oz and Oleg Romanko, Hitlerôs White Russians: 

Collaboration, Extermination and Anti-Partisan Warfare in Byelorussia, 1941ï1944 (Bayside, New York: Europa 
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pitted against some 75,000 Soviet partisans, engaged in open warfare.
45

 Many Belorussian nationalists had 

sided with the Germans in the vain hope that they might one day allow the Belorussians to establish their 

own state or protectorate. The Soviets executed pro-German Belorussian administrative officials and social 

and political activists by the hundreds, as well as thousands of peasants who put up ñresistance.ò
46

 While 

many Belorussians fought in the ranks of the Soviet partisans, that force could hardly be regarded as a 

national Belorussian underground, as it answered only to the Soviet government. To round out this picture 

we should mention other lesser players on the scene: Cossacks in the German army,
47

 the so-called Russian 

National Liberation Army (RONA), and Ukrainian and Latvian police and SS divisions. A Lithuanian anti-

partisan known as the Litauische Sonderverbªnde (Lietuvos Vietinǟ Rinktinǟ), under the command of 

General Povilas Plechaviļius, which was entirely under German control, was also active in the Wilno 

region in 1944 and targeted both the Polish underground and its supporters.
48

 There was no armed 

                                                                                                                                                                             
Books, 2003). The following ñnativeò units were stationed in Belorussia in January 1944: 46th White Russian Battalion 

(Minsk), 47th White Russian Battalion (Minsk), 48th White Russian Battalion (Sğonim), 49th White Russian Battalion 

(Minsk), 60th White Russian Battalion (Minsk), 64th White Russian Battalion (Gğňbokie), 65th White Russian Battalion 

(Nowogr·dek), 66th White Russian Battalion (Slutsk or Sğuck in Polish), 67th White Russian Battalion (Wilejka), 69th 

White Russian Battalion. For a description of the activities of the pro-German Belorussian forces under the command 

of Boris Ragula (Borys Rahula), see Duffy, The Bielski Brothers, 233ï34. Ragula (Rahula) was the Nowogr·dek 

district leader of the so-called Belorussian Free Defence Corps. See Turonek, BiağoruŜ pod okupacjŃ niemieckŃ, 143. 

Ragula (Rahula) also directed actions against Polish activists in his capacity as the local leader of the Belorussian 

National Self-Help and adviser of the Gebietskommissar in Nowogr·dek. See Krajewski, Na Ziemi Nowogr·dzkiej, 25, 

40, 295. There were also many Russian, Ukrainian, Estonian, Muslim, Cossack, and Caucasian formations active in this 

area, but no Polish ones. See Leonid Rein, ñUntermenschen in SS Uniforms: 30th Waffen-Grenadier Division of 

Waffen SS,ò The Journal of Slavic Military Studies, vol. 20, no. 2 (April 2007): 329ï45; Rein, The Kings and the 

Pawns, 364ï77. On Lithuanian formations in this area, see Martin Dean, ñLithuanian Participation in the Mass Murder 

of Jews in Belarus and Ukraine, 1941ï44,ò in Alvydas Nikģentaitis, Stefan Schreiner, and Darius StaliȊnas, eds., The 

Vanished World of Lithuanian Jews (Amsterdam and New York: Rodopi, 2004), 285ï96. On Lithuanian collaboration 

generally see Knut Stang, Kollaboration und Massenmord: Die litauische Hilfspolizei, das Rollkommando Hamann 

und die Ermordung der litauischen Juden (Frankfurt am Main: Peter Lang, 1996), 156ï71; Christoph Dieckmann, ñThe 

Role of the Lithuanians in the Holocaust,ò in Beate Kosmala and Feliks Tych, eds., Facing the Nazi Genocide: Non-

Jews and Jews in Europe (Berlin: Metropol, 2004), 149ï68; Nikģentaitis, et al., The Vanished World of Lithuanian 

Jews, 175ï203, 205ï21. 
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 Samuel J. Newland, Cossacks in the German Army, 1941ï1945 (London and Portland, Oregon: Frank Cass, 1991), 
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 The most dramatic confrontation between the Polish underground and the pro-German Lithuanian forces ensued after 

a series of pacifications undertaken by General Plechaviļiusôs formation in Gudeğki (Gudele), Pawğowo, 

Adamowszczyzna, and SieŒkowszczyzna, in which dozens of Polish civilians were killed. In retaliation for murdering 

38 Poles in Glinciszki on June 20, 1944, the Home Army decided to strike at the Lithuanian garrison in Podbrzezie 

which was responsible for the massacre. Since the 258th Lithuanian Self-Defence Battalion had been removed from the 

garrison, a Home Army unit instead attacked the Lithuanian village of Dubingiai (Dubinki in Polish), which was 

believed to have had provided recruits for the German-sponsored formations, and executed 27 inhabitants on June 21, 

1941. However, a few of the victims turned out to be ethnic Poles. This harsh reprisal was contrary to instructions from 

the regional command of the Home Army but had the desired effect of curtailing further Lithuanian pacifications. See 

Woğkonowski, Okrňg WileŒski ZwiŃzku Walki Zbrojnej Armii Krajowej w latach 1939ï1945, 193, 196, 235ï36, 241ï

42, 246ï47; Jarosğaw Woğkonowski, ñStarcie polsko-litewskie,ò Karta, no. 32 (2001): 64ï89; Robert Daniğowicz, 

ñWojna domowa,ò Rzeczpospolita (Warsaw), October 13, 2007; Paweğ Rokicki, Glinciszki i Dubinki: Zbrodnie 

wojenne na WileŒszczyŦnie w poğowie 1944 roku i ich konsekwencje we wsp·ğczesnych relacjach polsko-litewskich 

(Warsaw: Instytut Pamiňci Narodowej and Instytut Studi·w Politycznych PAN, 2015). The Germans eventually 
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Lithuanian resistance to the Germans, and therefore German retaliations rarely targeted Lithuanians.
49

 The 

Lithuanian partisan movement, whose base of operation did not extend east of Wilno, did not emerge until 

the arrival of the Red Army in the summer of 1944 and fought the Soviets.
50

 

   Relations between the Polish underground and the Belorussian population became increasingly strained 

largely because of the support the Germans encouraged and received from Belorussian nationalists. Due to 

a lack of qualified Belorussians, in areas where there was a large Polish population the Germans drew on 

the Poles to occupy positions in the local administration and police during the early stages of the 

occupation. This did not sit well with Belorussian nationalists. From 1942 Poles were largely removed from 

the police and administrative positions they initially occupied. In any event, denunciations of Poles, and 

also of Belorussian Catholics who were regarded as pro-Polish, took on massive proportions.51 While this 

                                                                                                                                                                             
demobilized Plechaviļiusôs formation for reportedly, among other charges, terrorizing, robbing and plundering the 

local population. See Rimantas Zizas, Persecution of Non-Jewish Citizens of Lithuania, Murder of Civilian Populations 

(1941ï1944), Report submitted to the International Commission for the Evaluation of the Crimes of the Nazi and 

Soviet Occupation in Lithuania (Vilnius, 2003), 64, 92ï93, also published in Christoph Dieckmann, Vytautas Toleikis; 

and Rimantas Zizas, Karo belaisviȎ ir civiliȎ gyventojȎ ģudynǟs Lietuvoje 1941 ï1944 / Murders of Prisoners of War 

and of Civilian Population in Lithuania, 1941ï1944 (Vilnius: Margi raġtai, 2005). (Zizas confuses the chronology of 

ñreprisalsò and the dates of the assaults on Glinciszki and Dubingiai.) In 1945, the Home Army and Lithuanain 

partisans reached an agreement in Olkieniki to cease mutual fighting and to provide information to one another about 

the activities of the Soviet forces. See Paweğ Kalisz, ñLitewskie podziemie na SuwalszczyŦnie do 1950 r.,ò in Jarosğaw 

Syrnyk, ed., Aparat bezpieczeŒstwa Polski Ludowej wobec mniejszoŜci narodowych i etnicznych oraz cudzoziemc·w 

(Warsaw: Instytut Pamiňci Narodowej, 2009). 
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 As pointed out by Lithuanian historian Rimantas Zizas, proportionately Lithuanians suffered fewer casualties than 

any other national group under German occupation. Only a few thousand ethnic Lithuanians, out of a population of 

almost two million, were killed, a toll that includes 500 men who had enlisted for German-sponsored battalions. At 

least ten of those battalions took part in operations directed against Jews. On the other hand, 

 

Massive repressions and various attacks were executed against the Polish anti-Nazi underground and 

its members é In general, the policy of the Nazi occupiers (and of the local Lithuanian autonomous 

administration) toward the Poles was incomparably harsher than toward Lithuanians. Over the entire 

course of the Nazi occupation of Lithuania, the Polish intelligentsia, clerics, military and others were 

terrorised and annihilated. As seen from data presented by Polish historian M. Wardzynska [Maria 

WardzyŒska, Sytuacja ludnoŜci polskiej w Generalnym Komisariacie Litwy, czerwiec 1941ïlipiec 

1944 (Warsaw: Mako, 1993)], more than 1000 Poles may have been killed during various massive 

punitive operations and about 7000 Poles were deported from the Vilnius [Wilno] area for slave 

labour in Germany. 

  

See Zizas, Persecution of Non-Jewish Citizens of Lithuania, Murder of Civilian Populations (1941ï1944), 65, 70ï71, 

121ï23, also published in Dieckmann, et al., Karo belaisviȎ ir civiliȎ gyventojȎ ģudynǟs Lietuvoje 1941ï1944 / 

Murders of Prisoners of War and of Civilian Population in Lithuania, 1941ï1944. According to Polish sources, 

approximately 15,000 Poles perished at the hands of the Germans and their Lithuanian auxiliaries in the interwar 

territory of Poland incorporated into the German-occupied Lithuanian state. See Grzegorz Hryciuk, ñRepresje 

niemieckie na Kresach II Rzeczypospolitej 1941ï1944, Pamiňĺ i SprawiedliwoŜĺ, no. 12 (2008): 85. 
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 ArȊnas Bubnys, Nazi Resistance Movement in Lithuania, 1941ï1944 (Vilnius: VAGA, 2003). The so-called 

Supreme Committee for the Liberation of Lithuania (Vyriausias Lietuvos iġlaisvinimo komitetasïVLIK) had little 

popular support and influence and was entirely destroyed by the Germans in May 1944. 

 
51 The best treatment of this topic is found in Jerzy Grzybowskiôs article ñBiağoruski ruch niepodlegğoŜciowy wobec 

Polski i Polak·w na ziemiach p·ğnocno-wschodnich II Rzeczypospolitej pod okupacjŃ niemieckŃ (1941ï1944),ò Dzieje 

Najnowsze, vol. 43, no. 1 (2011): 76ï105. See also Jerzy Grzybowski, PogoŒ miňdzy Orğem Biağym, SwastykŃ i 

CzerwonŃ GwiazdŃ: Biağoruski ruch niepodlegğoŜciowy w latach 1939ï1956 (Warsaw: Bel Studio, 2011). Although 

denunciations went both ways, Poles suffered the brunt of the fall-out, especially with the implementation of the 

Polenaktion in the summer of 1942 directed against the Polish educated classes, in which Belorussians played a 
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resulted in hostilities between German-aligned Belorussian nationalist factions and the Polish underground 

on the political level, which is sometimes inflatedly referred to as a ñfull-fledged war,ò it did notðcontrary 

to the view expressed by some historiansðresult in ñfull-scale ethnic cleansings,ò such as those 

                                                                                                                                                                             
prominent role both as informers and executioners. See Michağ Woğğejko, ñOb·z zagğady Koğdyczewo i antypolska 

dziağalnoŜĺ biağoruskich nacjonalist·w w latach 1941ï1944: Rekonensans badawczy,ò Glaukopis: Posmo spoğeczno-

kulturalne, no. 31 (2014): 83ï94. The following citations from Rein, The Kings and the Pawns, 138, 200, 303ï5, are 

based on German sources: 

 

At the beginning of the Nazi occupation, phenomena such as denunciations by Byelorussian 

nationalists against Catholics in general, and against their priests in particular (both Poles and 

Catholic Byelorussians), were quite widespread. These accusations resulted in the execution of a 

number of priests, such as Gliebovicz [Henryk Hlebowicz], who had been entrusted with missionary 

activities in the Minsk area by the Archbishop of Vilna (Vilnius) [Wilno]. Two Byelorussian Catholic 

priests, Stanislav Glyakovski [Stanisğaw Glakowski] and Dionysius [Dionizy] Malec, were also 

executed in Minsk after denunciations accusing them of pro-Polish activities. The flow of such 

denouncements did not cease during the entire period of occupation. The head of the local 

propagandists in the Baranaviļi [Baranowicze] area, Bedricky, accused the Catholic Byelorussians of 

sympathizing with the Poles in hopes of restoring a Polish state, and thought that they ñd[id] not 

deserve to be taken into our political confidence.ò 

 

Byelorussian functionaries accused Polish officials of intending to create a Greater Poland, 

sabotaging German orders, and discriminating against the Byelorussian population. Often even the 

deportation of Poles was demanded. In some places, Polish inhabitants were expelled by sending 

them to Germany as forced labor. 

 

The Byelorussian legal mass media were allowed to wage anti-Polish propaganda, so one finds that 

the Byelorussian-language Novaja Daroha (The New Road), published in Bialystok [Biağystok], 

wrote in May 1942 about the ñdominationò of Poles in various collaborationist bodies: ñé Anyplace 

where there are active Byelorussians these relations are very quickly corrected and justly settled by 

the German authorities.ò é 

   In mid-1942 the Germans began an open anti-Polish campaign. A particularly tough position was 

adopted by Slonim [Sğonim] Gebietskommissar Erren. In June 1942, a special fine was introduced in 

the Slonim district, imposed as a penalty for the use of ñanother language,ò that is, other than 

Byelorussian or German. As early as the autumn of 1942, eighty-four members of the Polish 

intelligentsia were shot by the occupation authorities, and one thousand Poles were ejected from their 

workplaces and replaced by Byelorussians. In April 1943, the Gebietskommissar of Vilejka [Wilejka] 

Haase thought that ñthe removal of the Poles from Byelorussia is necessary.ò The various 

Byelorussian collaborationist bodies did not hide behind the German authorities in inciting the 

population against the Poles and in carrying out various anti-Polish measures. An especially active 

role in this respect was played by bodies such as the BNS [Belaruskaia Narodnaia Samapomachð 

Belorussian Popular Self-Aid Organization], the BCR [Belaruskaia Tsentralnia RadaðBelorussian 

Central Council], and the local self-administration. According to Polish historian Kazimierz 

Krajewski, the functionaries of the ñByelorussian Popular Self-Aid Organizationò compiled lists of 

the Poles who were to be arrested or executed. The Byelorussian auxiliary police units also 

participated in the repressive measures against the Poles in various areas of Western Byelorussia. é 

Poles were also the first ñcandidatesò for deportation to work in Germany. It was, in fact, one of the 

most ñpopularò methods implemented by the officials of local self-administration in Byelorussia for 

eliminating Polish influence. 

 

Rein notes, at p. 148, that the work of the collaborationist Belorussian Popular Self-Aid Organization (Belaruskaia 

Narodnaia Samapomach), where denunciations prevailed among the ranks, ñencountered open hostility from the Polish 

as well as the Byelorussian Catholic population.ò On the activities of Belorussian Catholic priests in Minsk see 

Zygmunt ZieliŒski, ed., ŧycie religijne w Polsce pod okupacjŃ 1939ï1945: Metropolie wileŒska i lwowska, zakony 

(Katowice: Unia, 1992), 40. In fact, they were not pro-Polish and hampered the activities of Polish priests. One of the 

Belorussian priests, Vintsent Hadleuski (Wincenty Godlewski), who was a member of the Belorussian Popular Self-Aid 

Organization and became a school inspector in Minsk, was executed by the Germans on December 24, 1942. 

 



 26 

experienced by the Polish population in Volhynia and Eastern Galicia at the hands of the Ukrainian 

Insurgent Army.
52

 

   Unfortunately, there are few objective overviews of this entire complex topic. One worth mentioning is 

by Polish historian Teresa Prekerowa, who was awarded by Yad Vashem for her rescue activities on behalf 

of ŧegota, the Polish Council for Aid to Jews.
53

 Prekerowa notes that when the Jews first started to escape 

from the ghettos in northeastern Poland (in the latter part of 1941), they encountered only small groups of 

Soviets, as regular Soviet and Polish partisan units formed only later. Most of the Jewish fugitives would 

never be accepted by the Soviets, however, because they lacked weaponsða standard precondition for 

joining any partisan unit.
54

 They banded together and eventually, as more Jewsðespecially womenð
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 Rein, The Kings and the Pawns, 98, 306. At p. 305, Rein mentions attacks by Home Army units on Belorussian 

villages without providing any background information, but does not refer to any of the numerous attacks by Soviet 

partisans on Polish villages, described later in the text, that occurred in that same area (Lida) around that same time 

which targeted Polish civilians suspected of supporting the Home Army. The number of Belorussians killed by Poles 

has been grossly exaggerated in Soviet and Belorussian sources. It was certainly considerably smaller than the number 

of Belorussians killed by Soviet partisans, not to mention those killed by the Germans. This topic is canvassed 

extensively in Boradyn, Niemenïrzeka niezgody, 204ï9. See also Mağgorzata Ruchniewicz, ñStosunki narodowoŜciowe 

w latach 1939ï1948 na obszarze tzw. Zachodniej Biağorusi,ò in Ciesielski, Przemiany narodowoŜciowe na Kresach 

Wschodnich II Rzeczypospolitej 1931ï1948, 292. Ignoring these findings, Alexander Prusin and Leonid Rein cite 

Belorussian sources that claim that some 1,200 Belorussians were killed by Home Army units in the Lida area. The 

former historian at least acknowledges that the attacks targeted pro-German nationalists and their social organizations, 

whereas the latter historian simply speaks of attacks on villagers. See Prusin, The Lands Between, 184; Rein, The Kings 

and the Pawns, 305. These retaliations and counter-relations were not grounded in ethnicity per se, as were the killings 

of Poles by Ukrainain nationalists, which one Jewish eyewitness describes as follows: ñSeveral times, we entered small 

Polish cottages in Ukrainian territory to find their owners nailed to the wall, spikes through their wrists and feet, throats 

cut in the most brutal kind of sabagery.ò See Jack Pomerantz and Lyric Wallwork Winik, Run East: Flight from the 

Holocaust (Urbana and Chicago: University of Illinois Press, 1997), 127. The issue of ñethnic cleansingò has become 

politicized when it is applied to relations between Poles, Belorussians and Lithuanians, as its extent was rather limited 

compared to the intensity of inter-ethnic killings in places such as Vojvodina (involving Croatians, Germans, 

Hungarians and Serbs), Istria (involving Italians, Croatians and Slovenians), and Greece/Chameria (involving Greeks 

and Cham Albanians), which took the lives of tens of thousands of people. On conditions in those territories see the 

following entries in Wikipedia: ñIstrian Exodus,ò ñFoibe Killings,ò ñItalianization,ò ñOccupation of Vojvodina, 1941ï

1944,ò ñHungarian occupation of Baļka and Baranja, 1941ï1944,ò ñCommunist Purges in Serbia 1944ï1945,ò 

ñChameria,ò ñExpulsion of Cham Albanians,ò and ñParamythia Executions.ò  
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 Teresa Prekerowaôs essay, ñWojna i okupacja,ò appears in Jerzy Tomaszewski, ed., Najnowsze dzieje ŧyd·w w 

Polsceðw zarysie (do 1950 roku) (Warsaw: Wydawnictwo Naukowe PWN, 1993), 364ï70. 
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 There are many accounts attesting to this practice among Soviet partisans. Shalom Yoran who escaped from the 

ghetto in Kurzeniec recalled: ñWe asked to be accepted into their unit. We were strong young men ready to fight. They 

replied that they only accepted men with weapons. é Their answer was clear-cut. No one would be accepted without 

weapons.ò See Shalom Yoran, The Defiant: A True Story (New York: St. Martinôs Press, 1996), 124. And later: ñThe 

angry commissar replied that he made no exceptions. He refused to take anyone without arms éò Ibid., 158. A Jew 

who escaped from the ghetto in Lachowicze along with seven others recalled: ñWe began looking for partisans, after 

four weeks we found the first group of partisans made up of 25 Russians, they did not want to take us, because we did 

not have any weapons, they told us to get ourselves weapons, then they would take us in.ò See the testimony of Mendel 

Szczupak, Archive of the Jewish Historical Institute (Warsaw), no. 301/49. Abram Bobrow, who was part of group of 

Jews who had fled from Pohost Zahorodny, recollects: ñOnce more, we approached a partisan leader with the hope of 

being able to fight with his group. Once more, we were turned away for the same reasonðno weapons.ò See Abram 

Bobrow and Julia Bobrow, as told to Stephen Edward Paper, Voices from the Forest: The True Story of Abram and 

Julia Bobrow (Bloomington, Indiana: 1st Books, 2004), 98. Another Jew recalls a typical reception by a Soviet partisan 

leader: ñWell, do you have a gun? Why didnôt you Jews prepare for this beforehand? Why did you let them take you to 

that mass grave without fighting back? Why didnôt you come to us earlier to help fight the Germans?ò A Jew in that 

same detachment, who concealed his identity, counselled him: ñThey donôt know Iôm Jewish; itôs better this way. They 

all hate us. You canôt trust any of them. Youôve got to find yourself a gun. If you donôt have one, they wonôt want you. 

Theyôll send you packing. é When a goy asks to join they donôt care; they find a rifle for him somehow. But if youôre 
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joined them, they established camps. Reluctant to part with what little money and valuables they had 

brought with them, in order to survive the Jews had to beg for food or simply took it by force. Initially, 

farmers were quite willing to share their food with those who asked for it, which is confirmed in many 

accounts referred to later on. However, as the number of Jews in the forests grew and their demands for 

food became more aggressive, the attitude of the impoverished villagers began to change. Given the 

concurrent demands for food quotas imposed by the Germans and the confiscations carried out by Soviet 

partisans,
55

 these onerous burdens from all factions became unbearable. It is not surprising therefore, that 

those who faced violent robberies turned to the local authorities for protection. By any objective standard, 

such persons were neither ñdenouncersò nor ñcollaborators.ò  

   Soviet historiography paints a rather rosy picture of the relationship between the Soviet partisans and the 

local populationðone characterized by mutual friendship and assistance. According to German historian 

Alexander Brakel, who undertook a detailed study of the predominantly Belorussian Baranowicze region, 

both German and Polish sources, as well as Soviet field reports, are consistent in painting a picture of a 

successively radicalizing partisan movement which secured its supplies from the rural population by force 

of arms. While the central leadership of the Soviet underground attempted, from 1942, to prevent the 

accompanying violence (assaults, rapes, killings), Soviet partisans could not do without the procurement of 

provisions and, as their numbers increased, so did the procurement operations. These operations had a 

devastating impact on the local population. Peasants lived in fear of the partisans, who could burn their 

houses, brutalize them or even kill them and rape their wives and daughters. The comparatively high food 

rations of the underground fighters, as compared to that of the impoverished countryside, suggest that 

considerations for the welfare of the local population were not a high priority for the Soviet leadership. On 

the ideological front, the Soviet partisans also conducted a violent campaign to surpress non-compliant 

elements of the civilian population and to eradicate any forms of opposition to future Soviet hegemony in 

this area. They also provoked German counter-attacks and reprisals, from which the civilian population 

suffered greatly and which resulted in huge numbers of deaths.
56

 

                                                                                                                                                                             
a Jew, they wonôt take you without a gun. Some Jews came to them from the ghettoes only the other day, but the chief 

told them to shove off.ò See Isaac Aron, Fallen Leaves: Stories of the Holocaust and the Partisans (New York: 

Shengold Publishers, 1981), 40ï41. That same account acknowledges that it was also the practice of Soviet partisans to 

murder and steal weapons from stragglers, especially Jews, encountered in the forests. Ibid., 162. The nascent Polish 

partisan units in that area generally only accepted those who had weapons. See Pilch, Partyzanci trzech puszcz, 288ï89. 
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 Soviet partisans became rapacious and violent plunderers who took food, clothing and personal objects of all sorts, 

leaving many villages with just a few head of livestock. Assaults and rapes were frequent occurrences during their 

provision-gathering expeditions known as ñbombiozhki.ò Once organized, Soviet partisans were very well fed and their 

allotment of food was on par with those of regular soldiers. In addition to supplying the needs of the partisans, 

including many from prewar Soviet territories, provisions confiscated from villagers (such as foodstuffs, livestock, and 

equipment) were ñredistributedò to local residents who supported the Soviet underground and even flown to Russia. 

Among the worst hoarders of stolen goods were the two large Jewish family camps (Bielskiôs and Zorinôs) in Naliboki 

forest, and the smaller groups in the forests in the vicinity of Nacza, Lipiczany and ByteŒ. See Gnatowski, 

ñKontrowersje i konflikty miňdzy ZWZïAK i radzieckim podziemiem na p·ğnocno-wschodnich ziemiach Polski w 

latach 1941ï1944,ò in Liedke, Sadowska and Tyrkowski, Granice i pogranicza, vol. 2, 186; Boradyn, Niemenïrzeka 

niezgody, 81ï87. 
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 Alexander Brakel, ñóDas allergefªhrlichste ist die Wut der Bauernô: Die Versorgung der Partisanen und ihr 
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é nothing had a worse impact on relations between civilians and partisans than the procurement 

policy  of the Soviet underground. é 

   In the beginning, when partisan groups were small, providing them with food was relatively 

straightforward. And even the Germans acknowledged that, at this stage, most villagers were giving 

food to the partisans voluntarily. And even if they did not, the amount of food the partisans needed 

was still tolerable for the affected peasants. é But as the underground movement expanded, due to 

German reprisals, procurement and, probably most importantly, the Germansô forced labour policy, 

supplying itself with food became increasingly difficult. Procurement operations became regular 

events and from August 1942 they became almost daily phenomena. Although the Germans tried 

very hard to protect the villages and state farms in order to secure their own food supply, their 

forces were much too weal to cope with this challenge. Additionally, as the partisan groups 

increased in size, so too did their looting. In late July 1942 a detachment of some 50 men took away 

all the peasantsô carriages and eight tons of grain at a village near Turets [Turzec]; on 15 August 

about 30 partisans forced the inhabitants of the village of Kolki [Koğki] to hand over 20 horses with 

carriages; and on 3 September 1000 kilograms of rye and 500 kilograms of wheat were stolen from 

the mill near Obryna. On top of the effects of German procurement policy, peasants were often left 

without any food at all. 

   Food procurement was of crucial importance for one other reason too. In order to obtain food, 

partisans had to enter the villages. Thus, procurement operations brought them into close contact 

with civilians. Very often procurement was accompanied by robbery and brutal violence against 

villagers. Apart from their desperate need for food, many partisans forced peasants to give them 

everything they wanted. Alcohol was, unsurprisingly, in particularly high demand, but they also 

stole goods of no use to them, including lingerie. When peasants refused to surrender their 

belongings, they were threatened, beaten up or even shot. Rape was especially widespread. Drunken 

partisans were particularly dangerous for the peasants and violence regularly became an end in 

itself. 

   One Polish girl remembered how the partisans targeted her village nearly every night. One day 

they demanded vodka, and when her uncle told them that they did not have any, he was shot in the 

head. The offender commented that there was no sense in a human being without vodka. At another 

estate a partisan tried to rape a maidservant. When the farmerôs son dared to help her, a bystanding 

partisan killed him. 

   The chief of staff of the detachment óSuvorovô organized collective drinking bouts with his fellow 

commanders. Completely drunk, one of them tried to rape two female partisans. é The search for 

                                                                                                                                                                             
Verhªltnis zur Zivilbervºlkerung. Eine Fallstudie zum Gebiet Baranowicze 1941ï1944,ò Vierteljahrshefte f¿r 

Zetgeschichte, vol. 55, no. 3 (2007): 393ï424; Alexander Brakel, Unter Rotem Stern und Hakenkreuz: Baranowicze 

1939 bis 1944. Das westliche WeiÇrussland unter sowjetischer und deutscher Besatzung (Paderborn: Ferdinand 

Schºningh, 2009); Alexander Brakel, ñThe Relationship between Soviet Partisans and the Civilian Population in 

Belorussia under German Occupation, 1941ï4,ò in Ben Shepherd and Juliette Pattinson, eds., War in a Twilight World: 

Partisan and Anti-Partisan Warfare in Eastern Europe, 1939ï45 (Houndmills, Basingstoke, Hampshire: Palgrave 

Macmillan, 2010), 80ï101. Brakel points out that, in its negotiations with the Soviet partisans, the Home Army insisted 

on three conditions: (1) that German-seized estates not be set on fire because this would also have an impact on food 

provisions for the local population; (2) that only selected persons be sent on requisitions to the villages and that they 

behave properly; and (3) that each side be free to deal with ñbandsò who were found robbing. 
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alcohol turned some procurement operations into veritable óvodka expeditionsô: partisans of the 

óStalinô brigade used most of the groceries obtained from the peasants in one village to exchange 

them from vodka in the next. According to a commander é he could give several hundred 

examples of partisans beating, hanging or shooting peasants for only half a litre of alcohol.  é 

   A report sent to the Central Staff of the Partisan Movement in June 1943 described the situation 

with the partisan brigade ñFrunzeô that operated in the Baranovichi [Baranowice] region: 

 

The brigade consisted of 650 armed fighters [é], most of them former soldiers of 

the Red Army. The leaders of the brigade did not order them to fight, did not train 

them and did not try to close links with other brigades and detachments. There was 

no discipline at all. Drinking, marauding and illegal executions were widespread. 

The population called the óFrunzeô brigade looters and bandits. 

 

The situation in other brigades was similar, even though ñFrunzeô may well have been the most 

extreme. Already the chronic lack of ammunition constrained the partisansô ability to fight the 

Germans. Instead, most of them were idle and roaming the forests. This, of course, impacted 

negatively upon their discipline and further encouraged their misuse of alcohol. In August 1943 a 

special correspondent of the Central Staff of the Partisan Movement drew a disastrous picture of the 

situation in the Baranovichi region: 

 

Peasants ceased seeing any difference between bandits and proper partisans. Bandits 

mingle with partisans, thus plundering the local population. Many partisan 

detachments take part in this. Gambling, drunkenness, robbery, lack of discipline, 

disobedience of orders can be encountered within all detachments. This brings 

discredit on the partisan movement. é 

 

Party plenipotentiaries tried vigorously to stop such behaviour. They imposed a ban and prosecuted 

those who violated it. Some especially brutal partisans were even sentenced to death. However, the 

permanent lack of qualified fighters made it difficult to execute them. Condemned men were 

usually reprimanded and given the chance to atone. Very telling is the case of one company 

commander who was three times sentenced to death for looting, rape and other forms of violence 

against the civilian population. On each occasion, he pledged to change his behaviour and was 

granted amnesty. However, when he failed for the fourth time, he was eventually shot. é 

   In essence, then, Communist partisan leaders could combat lack of discipline and senseless 

violence on the part of their units, but food procurement was inevitable for military and economic 

reasons. And the only way to get food was to take it from the peasants. é the determining 

consideration for the partisan nutrition was how much partisans could obtain from their operational 

area, rather than the well-being of the population within it. é 

   Partisan violence was not restricted to food procurement. It was also a means of imposing 

ideological discipline on the local inhabitants of Belorussia. According to Soviet doctrine, the entire 
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Belorussian territory belonged to the Soviet Union. Every single person there was subject to Soviet 

orders. All men could be drafted into the Red Army or its partisan representative on occupied soil. 

And many were indeed drafted. For example, 16 per cent of members of the Stalin Brigade were 

drafted from the local population. Young men were chosen and ordered to join the nearest partisan 

unit immediately.  Those who did not agree were executed. 

   Even worse was the treatment of locals whom partisans suspected of collaborating with the 

Germans. Partisans not only shot suspects, but often their families as well and burnt down their 

houses. é 

   Frequently, partisans terrorized other personnel of the occupation system such as mayors and even 

teachers. é Members and sympathisers of the Polish underground, the Armia Krajowa were 

another group of victims. é After the German attack on the Soviet Union [in June 1941] the Polish 

Government-in-Exile resumed diplomatic relations with Moscow. Thus, in the first period of the 

war, the two resistance movements supported each other against the Germans, or at least avoided 

significant conflict. However, the leaders of both movements were under no illusions about the 

extent of their ideological antagonism. The Soviet partisans tried to re-establish Soviet power in the 

German occupicd territories and thus also incorporate the eastern parts of pre-war Poland into the 

Soviet Union. The Home Army, on the contrary, dreamt of resurrecting the Polish state within its 

pre-September 1939 borders. For this purpose they tried to cooperate with the Soviet partisans and 

hoped for a general uprising against the occupier. 

   After the German defeats at Stalingrad and Kursk, when it became clear that Soviet victory was 

only a matter of time, Soviet partisan officials lost interest in further cooperation and stopped 

negotiations. They now regarded their main duty as the cleansing of the occupied territories of 

óhostile elementsô. With the Red Army dealing effectively with the Germans, the main opponent 

was now the Polish underground; in November 1943 [Pantaleimon] Chernyshev [the chief of the 

Central Partisan staff] ordered the disarming of the Polish units. 

   This was the beginning of guerilla warfare between the two underground movements. [This 

pertains to the Home Armyôs Nowgr·dek District, as Polish partisans had already been murderously 

ñdisarmedò by the Soviet partisans in the Wilno District in August 1943. M.P.] é Anyone who 

gave food or shelter, voluntarily or not, to the Polish partisans risked mass reprisals against their 

village. This might take the form of verbal threats, physical beatings or death by shooting. 

Occasionally, the partisans burned down barns and crofts, depriving families of their livelihood. 

Within the Baranovichi region, more than 500 alleged followers of the Armia Krajowa lost their 

lives. An additional 4000 were registered in membership lists. When the Red Army reoccupied the 

territory in the summer of 1944, partisan leaders handed these lists over to the NKVD, which dealt 

with the registered persons in its own special way.57 
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 Alexander Brakel, ñThe Relationship between Soviet Partisans and the Civilian Population in Belorussia under 

German Occupation, 1941ï4,ò in Shepherd and Pattinson, War in a Twilight World, 87ï93. In a companion study in 

that same volume (pp. 102ï27), ñThe German Gendarmerie and Partisans in Belorussia, 1941ï4,ò Erich Haberer argues 

that, in spite of the Soviet partisansô superior numbers in administrative commissariat (Gebietskommissariat) of 

Baranowicze, the German Gendarmerie, which numbered some 70ï80 German gendarmes, remained more or less in 

control of the countryside well into 1943, thanks to the recruitment of reliable local policeman (Schutzmªnner), who 

were mostly Belorussians. Their numbers increased from 816 in November 1942 to 1,065 the following March, and 

2,363 by June 1944. This was largely due to the Germansô ability to adopt effective counter-insurgency measures and, 
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   When Polish partisan units became active and assumed the role of protectors of the Polish civilian 

population in mid-1943, another dimension came to the fore. Conditions became more precarious still for 

the civilian population. Polish historian Michağ Gnatowski argues compellingly that Soviet partisans 

resorted to exceptionally brutal robberies which began to take on the characteristics of class and ethnic-

based retaliation directed at those suspected of supporting the Polish underground.
58

 This, alongside the 

severe reprisals undertaken by the Germans to combat anti-partisan warfare, meant that the population was 

trapped between rival terrors competing for its cooperation by whatever means.  

   In his important overview, Polandôs Holocaust,
59

 Tadeusz Piotrowski traces the major political 

developments affecting Soviet-Polish relations in that period. An appreciation of those conditions is an 

essential backdrop for any serious study of the relations between the Poles and the Jewish partisans in this 

area. Piotrowski writes: 

 

After breaking off diplomatic relations with the Polish government-in-exile (April 1943) over 

Katyn,60 Moscow orderedðon June 22, 1943, at a meeting of the Central Committee of the 

                                                                                                                                                                             
simultaneously, retain the tacit support of much of the predominantly Belorussian civilian population, who readily 

informed the police on the whereabouts of partisans. Haberer is also of the opinion that the Achillesô heel of the Soviet 

partisans throughout was the procurement by force of provisions (food, livestock, clothing, weapons and alcohol). 

These foraging operations, which often turned violent and deadly, brought them into conflict with the peasantry, who 

and were quick to report on the pillaging, beating and killing of civilians, and burning of property. The most favourite 

targets, though certainly not the most frequent, were German ñestatesò (Staatsg¿ter), that is, prewar Polish estates 

turned into state farms by the Soviet occupiers. However, any meaningful popular support for the Germans was 

eventually undermined by escalating requisitions, forced labour and recruitment for the police force in a desperate 

effort to mobilize all human and material resources to avert defeat. But even then, these were offset by the ongoing 

Soviet tactics. The peasants accommodated themselves to whoever was in charge and, more often than not, this still 

happened to be the Gendarmerie.  
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 Gnatowski, ñKontrowersje i konflikty miňdzy ZWZïAK i radzieckim podziemiem na p·ğnocno-wschodnich 

ziemiach Polski w latach 1941ï1944,ò in Liedke, Sadowska and Tyrkowski, Granice i pogranicza, vol. 2, 188. 
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 Katyn was the site of the mass grave of almost 4,500 of the 14,500 Polish officers who were taken as prisoners of 

war by the Red Army in 1939 and executed in the spring of 1940. The discovery of the mass grave by the Germans in 

April 1943 gave rise to sharp denials (the Soviets accused the Germans of perpetrating the crime) and led to the Soviet 

Union breaking off relations with the Polish government in exile on April 25, 1943. In 1989, nearly 50 years after the 

massacre, Soviet scholars revealed that it had indeed been ordered by Stalin. The topic of Katyn has a long and 

impressive bibliography. Two of the more recent, important titles are by Allen Paul: Katyn: The Untold Story of 

Stalinôs Polish Massacre (New York: Charles Scribnerôs Sons, 1991); Katyn: Massacre and the Seeds of Polish 

Resurrection (Annapolis, Maryland: Naval Institute Press, 1996). Herman Kruk, the chronicler of the Wilno ghetto, 

argues that Polish-Jewish relations took a turn for the worse after the Katyn revelation, since German propaganda 

blamed the Bolsheviks and Jews in their service for the crime. See Herman Kruk, The Last Days of the Jerusalem of 

Lithuania: Chronicles of the Vilna Ghetto and the Camps, 1939ï1945 (New Haven and London: YIVO Institute for 

Jewish Research and Yale University Press, 2002), 523ï24. Unfotunately, there is some truth to this charge. An inmate 

of Ostashkov recalled that the deputy commander of that infamous camp for massacred Polish officers was a Jew from 

Sok·ğka, a ruthless NKVD captain who was the ñterror of the entire camp.ò See the account of Jan B. in Jan Tomasz 
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Communist Party of Belorussia, Lithuania and Ukraineðthe Soviet partisans to ñcombat with 

every possible means bourgeois-nationalist units and groups [i.e., the Polish partisans].ò61 In 

Belorussia, these orders were implemented by Pantelemon Ponomarenko, the first secretary of the 

Communist Party of Belorussia and later chief of general staff of the partisan movement with 

headquarters in Moscow. In ñWestern Belorussia,ò62 the only legitimate partisan units in the 

territories ñwhich formed an integral part of the Belorussian Republicò were to be Soviet or ñthose 
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scene (Abram Borisovich and Chaim Finberg). See Jacek Trznadel, Powr·t rozstrzelanej armii: KatyŒïfakty, rewizje, 

poglŃdy (Komor·w: AntykïMarcin Dybowski, 1994), 94ï115, 336. M.P. (ñM.P.ò denotes the authorôs notes.) 
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oriented to Soviet interests.ò The Soviets, then, increased their partisan strength in ñWestern 

Belorussiaò from 11,000 to 36,800 men in 1943. 

   As a result of the above-mentioned order, the partisan unit led by Antoni BurzyŒski (ñKmicicò) 

was liquidated, at the end of August 1943, as was, later [that year], Kacper Miğaszewskiôs unit as 

well.63 The modus operandi was always the same: leaders of the Polish partisans were invited for 

talks, during which they were disarmed and their units liquidated. Similar events occurred in the 

Wilno area, in Lublin, in WoğyŒ [Volhynia], and in Eastern Galicia, including Lw·w itself, where 

the regional AK [Armia Krajowa] leaders under Lieutenant Colonel Wğadysğaw Filipkowski, as 

well as a group of members of the regional Polish Government Delegation for the Homeland, were 

arrested and sent to the USSR. 

   On February 18, 1944, Deputy Ivan Serov64 of the First Belorussian Front, the chief officer in 

charge of the mopping-up operations aimed against Polish resistance, reported to [Minister of 

Internal Affairs Lavrentii] Beria that he had arrested 5,191 Poles. On July 14, 1944, Stalin issued 

his Order No. 220145 to General [Ivan] Cherniakovsky65 of the Third Belorussian Front and to 

Serov. This new order called for an ñimmediate and energetic action against Polish armed 

underground formations.ò On July 17, Beria informed Stalin: 

  

Today, we called upon the so-called generalðmajor ñWilkò (Kulczycki) 

[Aleksander KrzyŨanowski]. We informed ñWilkò that we were interested in the 

combat abilities of Polish formations and that it would be good if our officers could 

become acquainted with these tactics. ñWilkò agreed and revealed to us six 

locations of the whereabouts of his regiments and brigades. We were also interested 

in his officers corps and proposed a meeting with all the leaders of his regiments 

and brigades, their deputies, and chiefs of staff. ñWilkò also agreed to this and gave 

corresponding orders to his liaison officer who promptly left for headquarters. 

   Later, we disarmed ñWilk.ò é 

   On the basis of the information provided by ñWilk,ò we came up with the 

following plan. é 

   [Beriaôs July 19, 1944 report:] The action lasted two days. 
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   Yesterday [July 18] é as of 4:00 P.M., we disarmed 3,500 persons, including 200 

officers and NCOs.66 

 

   That July, Beria reported to Stalin that 60,000 Polish soldiers had been disarmed, including 

15,000 AK members. Beria and Cherniakovsky then requested Stalinôs permission to hand over to 

the NKVD, the NKGB [National Commissariat for State Security], and SMERSH [Russian 

acronym for ñDeath to Spies,ò an umbrella name for three independent counter-intelligence 

agencies in the Red Army] the officers with an ñoperative valueò (i.e., potential for collaboration 

with the Soviets [and those who may have had intelligence informationðM.P.]) and to direct the 

remaining officers to various NKVD camps ñlest they undertake the organization of numerous 

Polish underground formations.ò67 

   In another report based on Serovôs field reports, Beria informed Stalin: ñIn the course of our work 

in the liberated territories of the Lithuanian SSR [i.e., the Wilno area], from July to December 20, 

1944, the NKVD and NKGB arrested 8,592 persons. 1,589 bandits were killed. From December 20, 

1944, to January 1, 1945, 3,857 persons were arrested. 985 were killed. Thus, the NKVD and 

NKGB in the Lithuanian SSR arrested 12,449 persons in all and killed 2,574 bandits as of January 

1, 1945. [Among those arrested were: é (d) 3,976 members of the Home Army.]ò 

   After these successes, Serov was sent to the Lublin area, where, under the direction of the 

NKVD, NKGB and SMERSH, further ñactionsò were carried out. In December 1944, Serov 

informed Beria that 15,000 AK members were detained in Lublin. 

   Meanwhile, on November 14, 1944, Lavrenti Tsanava (of the Second Belorussian Front and the 

Peopleôs Commissar of Internal Affairs in Belorussia) and Viktor S. Abakumov informed Beria: 

ñOn November 12, 1944, we sent a second transport (no. 84180) consisting of 1,014 active 

members of the AK and other Polish underground organizations to the NKVD camp in Ostashkov. 

During the operation, 1,044 persons in all were arrested and deported.ò 

   On January 11, 1945, Beria issued Order No. 0016 instructing his commanders to deal with 

ñhostile elements in the liberated territories.ò On January 11, 1945, Serov informed Beria that 

13,000 members of the AK and other Polish organizations had been arrested. In a report issued one 

week later, Serov told Beria of the arrest of an additional 10,000 persons, including over 5,000 

participants in the Warsaw Uprising. 
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   In April 1945, Beriaôs Order No. 00315 called for the execution of ñhostile elements.ò This order 

also specified that county officials, town and regional civil servants, editors of newspapers and 

journals, and authors of anti-Soviet publications be arrested and deported to the USSR. At the end 

of that month, Serov informed Beria that 50,000 persons had been detained in his sphere of 

operation. 

   Several of the high-ranking operatives in this territorial cleansing of anti-Soviet forces were 

Jewsðfor example, Serovôs deputy Aleksandr Vadis and Tsanava and his deputy Yakov Yedunov. 

Both Vadis and Yedunov served as chiefs of SMERSH. 

   The Soviet war against the Polish underground continued for the remainder of the war and 

beyond. According to General Leopold Okulicki, commander of the Home Army, between July and 

December of 1944, some 30,000 AK members east of the Vistula found themselves under Soviet 

arrest. (In Lublin province the number was 15,000, in Biağystok province, 12,000.) According to 

Czesğaw Ğuczak, of the 70,000 AK members who participated in Operation ñBurzaò (ñTempest,ò 

the 1944 attempt to liberate Polish territories), 5,000 were killed in action and 50,000 were 

deported to the USSR, where many more died. Meanwhile, oblivious to this treacherous turn of 

events in the summer of 1943, the Polish government-in-exile in London, and consequently the 

leadership of the AK, continued for a time to encourage the members of the Polish underground to 

cooperate with the Soviet army and partisans in the war against the Germans. It is against this 

background that one must view and assess the ñtactical collaborationò of individual AK units in 

WileŒszczyzna and Nowogr·dek.68 

 

   Thus the situation in northeastern Polandðthe Wilno and Nowogr·dek regionsðbecame increasingly 

complicated and volatile. The Home Army was late in forming in that area, coming out into the open as a 

combat force only in the spring of 1943.
69

 It was not at any time in effective control of much of that 

ethnically mixed territory, which was composed mostly of Poles and Belorussians, with pockets of 

Lithuanians along the prewar Polish-Lithuanian border, i.e., the westerly part of this region.
70

 (By then only 

tiny remnants of the Jewish population survived hiding in the forests.) The strength of the Home Army 
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depended not on the control of the forests, where the Soviet partisans were based and predominated, 

especially in the eastern parts of the Borderlands, but on the support it received from the Polish population 

in the countryside where most its members were recruited and where underground fighters often hid from 

the Germans. 

   The Home Army, the only Polish underground force in the area, was a national army which was loyal to 

the Polish government in exile and sought to protect the interests of its constituents. Unlike the Soviet 

partisans, its membership was voluntary. Its composition reflected the make-up of the local population, and 

thus consisted mainly of villagers. In the Nowogr·dek region, it is estimated that between 30 and 40 

percent of its members were Belorussians of the Orthodox faith.
71

 The Home Army also welcomed Muslim 

Tatars and Russians into its ranks,
72

 and (as we shall see) even some Jews, whom they helped much more 

frequently than they took in. Indeed, without the support of a large part of the non-Polish population, it 

would be inconceivable for the Home Army to become the force that it did in this ethnically mixed region.  

   Both numerically and especially in terms of weapons, however, the Home Army was significantly weaker 

than the Soviet partisan forces in this area.
73

 Yet despite this disadvantage, Polish partisans were known to 

stage daring attacks on German troops, convoys and outposts (e.g., Wawi·rka, Horodno, Iwieniec, Traby, 

etc.), whereas Soviet partisans engaged in low-key sabotage and diversion.
74

 The Home Army assault on 

the large German garrison in Iwieniec (consisting of about 100 German gendarmes, a Luftwaffe company, 

and 300 Belorussian policemen who were heavily infiltrated by Poles with connections to the Home 
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Army), on June 19, 1943, was a particularly spectacular accomplishment. The German forces were 

decimated in a pitched battle and the Belorussian police was disarmed. The Poles captured large quantities 

of weapons with which they armed their partisan ranks. Polish prisoners as well as about a dozen Jews were 

liberated.
75

 There were no comparable military operations of this magnitude undertaken by the Soviet 

partisans.  

   In the initial stages, the Soviet partisans consisted, for the most part, of former Soviet soldiers caught 

behind the line of the German advance in midï1941, who had hidden out in the forests and on farms or who 

had escaped from German prisoner-of-war camps. Soon they began to form small armed groups which 

lacked discipline and became known for their crimes.
76

 A large number of partisans from Soviet Belorussia 

also moved into the area. The Soviet partisan command parachuted in a significant number of men to lead, 

organize and reinforce the Soviet partisan presence. The Soviet partisan movement in this area was divided 

into three zones or regions, each headed by a recently nominated ñgeneralò: the Baranowicze region by 

ñPlaton,ò the Lida region by ñSokolov,ò and the Iwieniec region by ñDubov.ò 

   According to research carried out by historian Bogdan Musiağ in the former Soviet archives in Minsk, in 

Belarus, 

 

the Soviet guerrilla operations were initiated by the NKVD/NKGB immediately after the Nazi 

invasion of the USSR and of its occupied Polish, Baltic, and Romanian territories. On 26 June 1941 

the Soviet leadership in Belarus ordered fourteen guerrilla units into the field. They consisted of 

1,162 fighters including 539 NKGB, 623 NKVD, and the remainder the Red Army. These 

detachments were quickly wiped out or dispersed. The forests and swamps of Belarus filled up with 

tens of thousands of Soviet troops, the stragglers whose regular units had been destroyed in the 

Blitzkrieg. For the most part, these stragglers remained militarily inactive and found some 

employment with the local rural population, both Polish and Belarusan [sic]. The Germans left 

them alone until Spring 1942, when they tried to apprehend them. The stragglers fled back into the 

forest, individually and in small groups, where they established encampments and bases. Soon 

these groups were joined by the fugitive Soviet POWs and some Jews. There were also camps 

established and run exclusively by Jewish inhabitants of the area. Meanwhile, the remnants of the 

original NKVD commandos who had survived the Nazi assault of summer and fall 1941, and new 

NKVD men sent as reinforcements by Moscow, located the forest hideaways and gradually 

subordinated to themselves many of their denizens. Simultaneously, the NKVD men reestablished 

the clandestine communist party structures. By January 1944, out of 1,156 Soviet partisan units of 
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187,571 fighters, 723 units comprising 121,903 persons, or 65 percent of the total, operated in tiny 

Belarus.77 

 

   The ethnic make-up of the Soviet partisans was diverse. The core consisted of small groups formed by 

Soviet soldiers who had been cut off from their units during the hasty retreat of the Soviet army in June 

1941 and had hidden in the countryside and Soviet prisoners of war (POWs) who had escaped from 

German camps.
78

 Afterwards, beginning in the autumn of 1942, Moscow dispatched Belorussians and 

Russians from prewar Soviet territory to organize a centralized partisan movement. They included 

members of the NKVD who were sent to secure Moscowôs grip on the local partisan movement. In addition 

to a military commander, each brigade and its detachments had at its helm a commissar responsible for 

ideological control of the partisans. Jews escaping from the ghettos started to join the small groups of 

Soviets operating in the forests as they were transformed into a full-fledged partisan formation. However, 

they were not always accepted into its ranks, especially if they did not have weapons. Nor did the partisans 

accept those Jews who were not able to fight such as women, children, and old men. (Many of those Jewish 

refugees found shelter in the so-called family camps which were loosely attached to some partisan 

formations and had to provide them with services as craftsmen. It was only towards the end of 1943 that the 

Soviet partisans were instructed to accept everyone seeking shelter.) As we shall see, many Jews were 

killed by the Soviet partisans. It was only when the Germans intensified their forced labour policy and 

deported large numbers of civilians to Germany in late 1942, that thousands of Belorussian peasants joined 

the Soviet partisans. The Soviet partisans also began to actively press the local population (mostly 

Belorussians) into joining the partisans, often by force. Some of the conscripts deserted, Poles in 

particular.
79

 Those who avoided conscription met with harsh reprisals. Frol Zaitsev, the commander of the 
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Chkalov Brigade, announced that if the men were not at home with their families during partisan 

inspections, ñthe partisans would consider this an attempt at resistance. The threat did not help and 

farmsteads near the villages of Nikolayevo [Mikoğaj·w] and Malaya and Bolôshaya Chapunô [CzapuŒ] in 

Ivenets [Iwieniec] Rayon were burned down.ò
80

 Punishment directed at ñinformersò and village self-

defence (formed on German orders to fend off unwanted partisan raids) did little to win over the 

population. On September 10, 1943, Soviet partisans ñburned the village of Stavishche [Stawiszcze near 

Osipowicze] to the ground and executed the residentsðyoung and old alikeðwho did not manage to flee 

to the forest.ò
81

 When Soviet partisans pacified the village of Rudnia Nalibocka, a Jewish partisan 

murdered a villagerðin front of his familyðwho had moved into the partisanôs abandoned home after the 

Germans rounded up and killed the Jews in that village.
82

 Support for the Soviet partisans came from an 

unexpected source. Towards the end of the war, sensing that the tide was turning and fearing retribution, 

large numbers of former Nazi collaborators (mostly Belorussians, Ukrainians and Russians), who had 

served in the auxiliary police and other formations, left their posts and were accepted into the ranks of the 

Soviet partisans.
83

 Very few Poles joined the Soviet partisans (and then usually under duress); they made 

up no more than two percent of their strength in the entire region. The Soviet partisans were therefore not a 

native formation. They consisted of non-locals to a large extent, and did not reflect the ethnic composition 

of the area.
84

 

   Historian Bogdan Musiağ provides the following breakdown of the ethnic make-up for the 11,193 Soviet 

partisans in the Baranowicze district in July 1944: 6,792 Belorussians (60.7%), 2,598 Russians (23.2%), 973 

Jews (8.7%), 526 Ukrainians (4.7%), 143 Poles (1.3%), and 161 others (1.4%).
85

 Israeli historian Leonid 
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Smilovitsky gathered the following statistical informaton from Soviet archives, which confirms that few 

Poles served in the ranks of the Soviet partisan movement:  

 

In 1943ï1944 Jews fought in most of Belorussiaôs partisan formations. In Baranovichi 

[Baranowicze] Oblast alone, out of 695 fighters and commanders of the Lenin Brigade, 202 were 

Jews; in the Vpered Brigade, 579 and 106 respectively; in the Chkalov Brigade, 1,140 and 239 

respectively. Altogether, 8,493 partisans fought in 15 brigades in Baranovichi Oblast, Belorussians 

comprising 46.8 percent, Jews 12.4 percent, and Poles 1.3 percent. By the time the republic was 

liberated in July 1944, there were 4,852 partisans in the Lida partisan zone (Belorussians 

comprising 48.9 percent, Jews, 28 percent, and Poles 0.5 percent). An analysis of the sources of 

reinforcement of partisan formations is also significant. Sixty-seven people were sent from behind 

the lines; 225 came out of the encirclement; 505 escaped from captivity; 313 deserted police 

formations and crossed over to the partisans; 2,404 came from the local population; 124 from the 

forest and from private low-paying jobs; and 1,196 from ghettos. 86 

 

   Yitzhak Arad (Rudnicki) describes the composition of his otriad (also transliterated as otryad, meaning 

unit or detachment) of the Voroshilov Brigade commanded by Fedor (Fiodor) Markov, which was based in 

Koziany forest, north of Lake Narocz, as follows: 

 

The Chapayev unit had about sixty partisans. Its commander was a Red Army officer, Sidiakin, 

known as Yasnoya Moria [Iasnoie More] (ñClear Seaò). Most of the men were Red Army soldiers 

who had remained behind the enemy lines when their units disintegrated in front of the sudden 

German attack in the summer and autumn of 1941. Some of them had been taken prisoner by the 

Germans and later escaped. There were also local people who joined the partisans for a variety of 

reasons. Some had been active Communists and joined the partisans out of ideological conviction. 

Others had joined in search of adventure or to avoid being sent to work in Germany. There were 

also some sought as criminals by the German authorities who found shelter with the partisans. The 

Chapayev unit had five Jews who had escaped to the woods in the summer of 1942, when the 

ghettos in the area were liquidated.87 

 

   The number of Jews in other units was considerably higher. According to David Meltser, 
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The core of the first partisan detachments in the Belorussian forests consisted of escaped ghetto 

inmates and Red Army soldiers. Jews from the Minsk ghetto made up a significant portion of nine 

partisan detachments (the Kutuzov, Budenny, Frunze, Lazo, Parkhomenko, Shchors, 25th 

Anniversary of the Belorussian Republic, No. 106, and No. 406) and the first battalion of the 208th 

independent partisan regiment. Jews were active in many other partisan groups as well. In the 

Lenin brigade (Baranovichi [Baranowicze] district) 202 of the 695 fighters and commanders were 

Jews, in Vpered 106 of 579, in Chkalov 239 of 1,140, and in Novatory 48 of 126. Jews composed 

more than one-third of the partisans in the detachments that fought in the Lid [Lida] partisan zone. 

In the Naliboki wood [sic] 3,000 of the 20,000 partisans were Jews, many of them in positions of 

command. Incomplete data record that some 150 Jews were commanders, chiefs of staff, and 

commissars of partisan brigades and detachments.88 

 

   Soviet statistics, however, speak of a more modest contribution. At the time of their liquidation, there 

were 5,077 Jewish partisans in Belorussian partisan formations, which constituted 2.6% of the total number 

of partisans. In addition, 721 Jewish partisans had been killed (2.88% of all fatalities) and 124 were missing 

in action (1.06% of those missing). These figures may be low overall because they do not include the 1942 

period. The largest concentration of Jewish partisans was, as noted above, in the Baranowicze district 

(around 8.7%). However, at least 1,000 of these were members of family camps who did not enagae in 

partisan activity as such. Therefore, the claims of there being 15,000 or more Jewish partisans have no basis 

in fact. 

   The undivided loyalty of the Soviet partisans lay with the Soviet Union which had seized and annexed 

Polandôs eastern provinces in September 1939. Despite the outbreak of war between the Soviets and 

Germans in July 1941, the Soviet Union had no intention of renouncing the territories it had acquired from 
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Poland under the Ribbentrop-Molotov Pact. In the initial stages, Soviet partisans were essentially stragglers 

who behaved like robbers. Once organized, the Soviet partisans treated the local populationðamong whom 

they spread their network of spiesðas pawns in the war against Germany. They employed brutal measures 

against those who defied them and thus aroused resentment among the population.
89

 German field reports 

from that period attest to widespread plundering and terrorization of the population by Soviet partisans.
90

 

The rural population also suffered severely from German reprisals against anyone who assisted the 

partisans. Historian Kenneth Slepyan describes various factors that weighed heavily on relations with the 

local population: 

 

Despite the partisansô self-identification as the peopleôs avengers, their actual relationship with 

civilians was fraught with ambiguities. Partisans portrayed the movement as a demonstration of the 

peopleôs outrage against enemy invasion and their love for the rodina [i.e., motherland]. é 

   The credibility of partisans as the peopleôs avengers was complicated, however, by the nature of 

their war and the consequences of their operationsðthe almost inevitable and vicious retribution 

the enemy visited on civilians as punishment for the partisansô own actions. The leadership in the 

warôs first year showed very little concern for the fate of the people in the occupied territories, 

despite occasional references to Stalinôs supposed desire to protect them. é The message to the 

partisans was clear: conduct your operations without any regard to the losses suffered by the 

Germans and use German reprisals as an opportunity to recruit more partisans. Nor were partisans 

told via the press or through direct orders that they should make saving civilian lives part of their 

operations, until the spring of 1943 when it became state policy to protect human and material 

resources. 

   The partisansô actual attitudes toward safeguarding civilians varied é The most callous and 

cynical among them followed the leadership in regarding the populace in purely instrumental terms. 
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 Rein, The Kings and the Pawns, 279, 285ï86. Rein writes the following regarding the attitude of Belorussian 

peasants, at pp. 279 and 285: 

 

many of these [Soviet] soldiers who roamed the forests raided the surrounding villages for food, 

which did not make them particularly popular with the local inhabitants. Initially, the latter were quite 

eager to inform the [German] occupation authorities about these soldiers. As early as July 1941, the 

office of the commander of the Rear Area of the Army Group ñCenterò reported that during the 

ñpolice operationò in the [predominantly Belorussian] area of the railway Baranaviļi-Luninec 

[Baranowicze-Ğuniniec], 88 ñRussiansò (that is, stragglers) and 200 Jews who ñwere engaged in 

assisting the Russiansò were captured ñthrough the active assistance of the inhabitants.ò 

 

To obtain food, the partisans were compelled to raid the surrounding villages, a fact that made the 

peasants hate the partisans. It is no surprise, therefore, that the peasants, who originally nicknamed 

the partisans lesaviki (wood demons), were quite ready to inform the German authorities about these 

raiders. In such a state of affairs, the Germans at first had little problem fighting the partisans. 

 

Rein notes that the situation began to change at the beginning of 1942, when the Soviet partisans became better 

organized and retaliated brutally against informers and collaborators, often targeting the families of suspected 

collaborators and even entire villages. Ibid., 139ï40. 
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They ignored or even encouraged German retribution against civilians, with the justification that the 

killing of the innocent would only fuel popular outrage against the occupiers and thereby ultimately 

contribute to a stronger movement. é 

   The partisansô self-identity as the peopleôs avengers also contradicted certain realities, particularly 

their deep suspicions toward civilians in general. Especially in 1941 and early 1942 but continuing 

in some degree up to liberation, partisans always felt surrounded by spies, collaborators, and enemy 

sympathizers. Moreover, their own propensity for plundering and banditry alienated and threatened 

the peasants. Even regulated procurement operations, with their implicit threat and sometimes 

explicit use of force, must have reminded the peasants of collectivization and forced state 

procurements é91 

 

   In addition to conflict with the local population, there was a political, territorial, and ideological conflict 

between the two main partisan forces in the areaðSoviet and Polish. The fact that the Jews, with few 

exceptions, ended up joining the Soviet partisans, who generally had the upper hand and were largely 

responsible for the deteriorating relations with the Polish underground, did not augur well for future 

relations with the local population. Historian Teresa Prekerowa has taken issue with the often-repeated 

claim that the Jews escaping from the ghettos had to join the Communist partisans because they were 

turned away by the Polish underground.
92

 In fact, most of the escapees from the ghettos never had any 

intention of joining up with the Poles: their sights were set on the Soviets. Many Jews from the Eastern 

Borderlands, especially the younger generation, were pro-Soviet in their outlook, if for no other reason than 

the widely-held belief that the Soviet Union was a far more formidable force than the Poles in the struggle 

against Germany. Moreover, the territory in question, which was occupied by the Soviet Union in 1939ï

1941, was in dispute and many Jews were convinced that the Soviets would retake the region after the 

eventual defeat of Germany. Furthermore, many Jews were also ideologically committed to the Soviet 

cause. Litman Mor, who was a student at the Stefan Batory University in Wilno just before the war, 

estimated that ñabout 60 percent of the Jewish students were communists.ò
93

 According to Prekerowa, 

ñthere was no shortage either of Communists or of members of other pro-Soviet parties within the 

leadership of the Jewish resistance. é although they did not express the views of the entire Jewish 
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underground, parties sympathetic to the Soviet Union did play a major, if not a leading, role.ò
94

 Finally, by 

the time the Home Army partisan units became active, most of the Jewish escapees had joined up with the 

Soviet partisans or affiliated Jewish forest groups. 

   The notion that the Home Army could integrate the Jews who escaped to the forest or take them their 

wings, as some Jewish historians suggest, must be dismissed as highly unrealistic in the context of the 

Polish-Soviet struggle for supremacy that was unfolding in this region. The Home Army was a military 

organization, not a social relief agency, and it only accepted trusted armed fighters. As Prekerowa points 

out, the natural allies of the Jewish fugitives were the Soviet partisans in Eastern Poland and the 

Communist underground in central Poland, and not the Home Army which supported the Polish 

government exiled in London and fought for the integrity of Polandôs statehood and prewar territory. The 

basis for this relationship was founded not just in ideological considerations, but also in the enjoyment of 

mutual benefits. On the one hand, unlike the Polish partisan movement, the Soviet partisans (and 

Communist underground in central Poland) needed manpower, which the local population was reluctant to 

supply to that cause. On the other hand, participation in the armed actions of the Soviet partisans (and 

Communist underground) gave the Jews a chance to wreak revenge on the Germans, without regard to the 

consequences that befell the local population. Prekerowa concludes her penetrating analysis by noting that 

ñthe Home army had good reason to think that a part of the Jewish resistance movement was linked with 

the enemy Communist camp, and this is a view é that was widely held.ò
95

 

   Contrary to what is often claimed, as documented in Part One, a significant number of Jews were 

accepted into the Home Army. Many of them posed as Christian Poles, but some of them did not. Few of 

them, however, served in the Wilno and Nowogr·dek regions, where generally the goal of the Jews 

escaping from the ghettos was to join up with the Soviet partisans.
96

 Some Jews joined Miğaszewskiôs 
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detachment and (Antoni BurzyŒskiôs) ñKmicicò detachment.
97

 Moreover, some Jews who entered the 

Soviet partisans in Naliboki forest wanted to go over to Miğaszewskiôs unit, but Miğaszewski could not 

accept them because of an agreement with the Soviet partisans not to raid each otherôs members.
98

 Because 

of the warm reception given by a large part of the Jewish population to the invading Soviet Army, and the 

many instances of collaboration with the new regime to the detriment of Poles in the years 1939ï1941, the 

Home Army in this area was extremely leery of accepting local Jews into its ranks unless their credentials 

were impeccable. They simply did not trust the local Jews because they believed that they were more 

inclined to support Soviet rather than Polish interests.
99

 Unfortunately, this assessment proved to be 

accurate in very many cases. 

   Furthermore, like the Soviet partisans and some Jewish partisan groups, the Home Army as a rule did not 

accept unarmed men
100

 (most Jewish escapees from the ghettos fell into that category). Nor did it create 
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camps for non-partisans (many of the Jews fell into that category). In the early stages, Polish partisans were 

usually based in the countryside and in villages, and not in the forests, and the Home Army simply did not 

absorb non-partisans. Another practical consideration which militated against absorbing large numbers of 

Jews was the increased prospect of brutal German retaliations that inevitably would have been invited.
101

 

Finally, the Home Army came into its own only in midï1943, well after the Soviet partisans had 

established their bases in the forests of northeastern Poland. By that time most of the Jewish fugitives had 

joined or become attached to the Soviet partisan movement. 

   The Jews hiding in the forests, whether as partisans or forest dwellers, were preoccupied not with fighting 

the Germans but almost exclusively with their own survival. They dispatched an endless flow of armed 

groups into the villages to seize food and other belongings from the villagers. In these undertakings, they 

enjoyed the protection of those Jews who had been accepted into Soviet partisan units and were engaged in 

similar raids. These so-called ñeconomicò operations or missions assumed massive proportions,
102

 resulting 

in many skirmishes with the impoverished villagers who increasingly resented and opposed the systematic 

stripping of most of their possessions. Villages that did not cooperate were considered to be ñpro-Naziò and 

could expect harsh retaliations, as the following account from the Stoğpce area illustrates. 
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 Yitzhak Arad describes the situation thus: ñDifficult food problems arose with the swelling of the ranks, 

necessitating the assignment of large forces to óeconomic operations,ô in the course of which casualties were sustained. 

é When partisan activity mounted, several villages organized self-defence groups, which were armed by the Germans. 

The Jewish partisans in Rudniki often encountered resistance from the farmers during their óeconomicô raids.ò See 

Arad, Ghetto in Flames, 457. Lieutenant Adolf Pilch (ñG·raò) provides the following description of the activities of the 

Soviet (and Jewish) partisans in Naliboki forest: 

 

As a rule the Soviet Partisans were well supplied. The large numbers of troops were kept in the 

region mainly for political reasons. Their tasks were as follows: first, political infiltration of towns 

and villages and the finding and liquidation of ñenemies of the peopleò; second, the stripping of this 

ñbourgeois countryò of everything not possessed by Soviet citizens, and third and last, actions against 

the enemy. 

   The operations covered by the first two points were carried out very efficiently. é The country was 

stripped of everything é 

   But as to the third point of their programme, the Soviet Partisans showed a zeal of greatly 

diminished intensity. Their operations against the Germans did not go beyond trifles like tearing up 

the rails, a matter requiring no more than two hours to put right. 

 

See Poland, Home Army, The Unseen and Silent, 151ï52. 
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I met up with two Jewish partisans who were from Shverzhen [świerŨeŒ]. é Every few kilometers, 

they walked into villages in the Shverzhen region, and requisitioned all kinds of produce from the 

peasants, taking it all back to the other partisans in the woods. These two Jewish partisans were well 

armed. The peasants were afraid of them and gave them anything they asked. é 

   We walked é into another forest near the village of Kapula. When we got there, other Jews came 

out to greet us. There were around thirty of us all togetherðmen, women, and children. é The 

younger people in the group went into the nearby villages to requisition food from the peasants. The 

peasants were afraid of us. They gave us food, thinking there were many partisans in the woods, in 

whose name we came. The peasants were afraid weôd burn their village down, like the partisans did 

to many others when they were refused food.
103

 

 

   A female member of the Kirov detachment writes: ñWe went to villages and took food. If they betrayed 

us, the next day the whole village was on fire.ò
104

 A Jewish woman who joined the Soviet partisans, after 

escaping from the Gğňbokie ghetto with the aid of a Polish farmer, reported that the partisansô wrath was 

directed primarily against the local population because of their alleged collaboration with the Germans. 

 

We killed mercilessly. We killed. We used to go into villages where we knew that the people 

collaborated with the Germans. We used to kill them indiscriminately. We killed off an awful lot of 

people we knew that were against the Jews. My brother was the leader, he was very good at it é 

We used to go into villages. We used to find out where they lived, and we pulled them out one by 

one, and we killed them.105 

 

   The close association of the Jewish groups with the Soviet partisans also branded them as pro-Soviet in 

the eyes of the local population, which did not augur well since the track record of the partisans was 

increasingly marred by horrific crimes. The Soviet partisans made it clear from the outset that the lives of 

ordinary civilians counted for very little. Belorussian villages bore the brunt of their cruel retalation. 

 

Not untypical was the raid on the village of Simakovo [Simakowo] near Mir on 10 November 

1942. The partisans burned down the Schutzmannschaft outpost building, which had recently been 

abandoned, 14 houses with their outbuildings, seven barns full of produce, the village hall, the 

school and the church. One calf, six pigs and 13 sheep died in their stalls.106 
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The number of civilian casaualties in not known. On the early morning of April 14, 1943, Soviet partisans 

indiscriminately stabbed and shot to death residents of Drazhna near Slutsk and burned alive people, mostly 

women and children, after a failed attack on a nearby garrison of Belorussian police collaborators, in which 

the partisans suffered heavy casualties. The partisans burned 37 houses to the ground. Twenty-five villagers 

were slain by members of the Kutuzov detachment.
107

  

   Another reason the peasants became increasingly frightened of contacts with partisans and forest people 

was because of the punitive measures taken by the Germans. Scores of villages were burned to the ground 

for their actual or perceived support of the partisans and their inhabitants were murdered or rounded up for 

slave labour in Germany. An early punitive expedition is described by a Jew who escaped from the ghetto 

in Stoğpce and joined the Soviet partisans: 

 

On Sunday morning, January 31, 1943, we arrived in the village of Zhavolki [ŧawoğki? ŧyhağki?]. 

The people received us well. We ate, washed our clothes. Some weeks later, after weôd been long 

gone, a German retaliation squad, reinforced by Radianovôs people, came to Zhavolki. They found 

out how hospitable Zhavolki had been to the escaped Jews. As a revenge, they massed together the 

whole village, young and old, babies and gray old men, ordered them all to drop to their knees, and 

shot every one of them.108 

 

   As we shall see, German punivtive expeditions intensified in the area of Rudniki forest in the early part of 

1944. Likewise, because of an assassination of a German official or some insignificant sabotage operation 

(e.g., tearing up a railroad track that was soon rebuilt
109

), after which the Soviet partisans promptly fled, the 
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local population routinely bore the brunt of harsh German retaliations, as was the case in the vicinity of 

świňciany where at least 500 Poles were executed in May 1942 by German and Lithuanian police.
110

 

   Jewish partisans who engaged in sabotage against the Germans coldly calculated the consequences of 

their actions for themselves and for their Christian neighboursðthe proverbial ñother,ò and the latter 

inevitably lost out. Allegedly, the first mission undertaken by the Jewish underground in Wilno was the 

derailing of a train carried out by three of its members sometime between May and July 1942 (various dates 

are given), some seven or eight miles (or kilometres, according one account) southeast of Wilno, near 

Nowa Wilejka (sometimes given as the distant town of Wilejka). The incident gains particular significance 

because of the propaganda value that Jewish partisansðand historiansðhave sought to attach to it. At the 

1961 trial of Adolf Eichmann, Abba Kovner, a Wilno underground leader, testified that this was ñthe first 

German [military] train to be blown up in the entire country of Lithuania.ò He emphasized that ñno train 

had been blown up, not by the Poles, and not by the Lithuanians, and not by the Russians, but one was 

blown up by a Jewesss [Vitka Kempner], who, after she had done it, had no base to which she could return, 
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unlike any other fighter.ò
111

 Of course, that particular claim can be readily dismissed. As a result of the 

Home Armyôs blowing up a German transport train in the spring of 1942, the village of Ğogwinny near 

Szczuczyn was pacified by the Germans.
112

 According to Kovnerôs own account, 

 

In those days, the Jews [in the ghetto] would have destroyed us for fear of punishment if they had 

any hint of these activities [i.e., procuring arms]. They would have blessed us in their hearts, but 

they would not have hesitated to stone us. é 

   In June 1942, the command decided to carry out the first attack on the railwayðan idea bordering 

on madness. It was before the partisan groups had started sabotage operations around Vilna 

[Wilno]. é 

   Vitka Kempner went out for a three-day reconnaissance trip. She dyed her hair, discarded the 

yellow patch, mingled with the crowd outside the gate, and turned toward the railway that ran in the 

direction of Vileika [Nowa Wilejka]. At the same time, preparation of the mine was completed 

inside the cave [at 3 Karmelicka Street]. Without experience or tools, we prepared by ourselves a 

mechanical detonator, forged a firing pin. Zadok Gordon got some dynamite from a German 

bunker. I remember Izka [Iza Matskevich] at that time in the cave. He protested at my preparing the 

mine; he was afraid I might be killed. é 

   On June 8, Vitka, Izka, and Moshe Braus left the cave in the Ghetto in order to blow up the first 

German train. é Next day, when I got the news, I forgot all the rules of conspiracy, ran like a 

madman into Glasmanôs room, fell on his neck and kissed him: ñJosefðitôs been blown up!ò
113
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 Abba Kovner, ñA First Attempt to Tell,ò in Yehuda Bauer and Nathan Rotenstreich, eds., The Holocaust As 

Historical Experience: Essays and a Discussion (New York and London: Holmes & Meier, 1981), 83, 88. Kovner 

describes (at pp. 86 and 91) two other railway sabotage actions that are dubious or grossly exaggerated: 

 

It was Summer 1942. é On a branch line of the Borbishok [Burbiszki] Station stood a train loaded 

with ammunition. On the open trucks stood, four by four, tanks that were to be sent to the Smolensk 

front. With the help of engineer Rattner, our fighters prepared six tiny incendiary mechanisms and 

secretly introduced them into the petrol tanks. As the train went on its way, a fire broke out and the 

tanks went up in flames. 

 

I remember the first time I blew up a train [near Landwar·w station]. I went with a small group, with 

Rachel Markevitch as our guest. It was New Yearôs Eve [1942]; we were bringing the Germans a 

festival gift. The train appeared on the raised railway; a line of large, heavy-laden trucks rolled on 

toward Vilna [Wilno]. é I pulled the string with all my strength, and in that moment, before the 

thunder of the explosion echoed through the air, and twenty-one trucks full of troops hurtled down 

into the abyss, I heard Rachel cryò ñFor Ponar!ò 

 

See also Dina Porat, The Fall of a Sparrow: The Life and Times of Abba Kovner (Stanford, California: Stanford 

University Press, 2010), 94ï96. According to Rachel Margolis, the blowing up of a transport convoy was discussed at a 

conspiratorial meeting held in November 1942. See Rachel Margolis, A Partisan from Vilna (Brighton, Massachusetts: 

Academic Studies Press, 2010), 300. 
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   According to another version, the Jewish underground in Wilno had searched for an appropriate location 

to strike 

 

somewhere far from the ghetto and far from the forest camps where Jews were used as slave labor. 

The Nazis met each rebellious act with collective punishment, killing a hundred Jews for one dead 

German. The underground did not want to give the Germans reason to blame the explosion on 

Jews. é 

   A few days later, Abba [Kovner] saw the story in an underground newspaper. It said that Polish 

partisans had blown up a German train transport. Over two hundred German soldiers had been 

killed. The SS then marched into the nearest Polish town and killed sixty peasants. ñThis is not 

something I felt guilty about,ò Vitka [Kempner] later said. ñI knew that it was not me killing those 

peopleðit was the Germans. In war, it is easy to forget who is who.ò114 [emphasis added] 

 

   In 1944 Abraham Sutzkever, a member of the Jewish underground in Wilno, penned the followingð

somewhat differentðdescription of these events: 

 

It was a May night in 1942. A young man [Iza Matskevich] and woman [Vitka Kempner] crawled 

through a hole in the fence surrounding the Vilna Ghetto and entered the city. é  

   They had to hurry. It was already 8:30, and it was permitted to be on the streets only until 9:00. 

They passed Polotskaya [Poğocka] Street and headed toward the highway é 

   They had arranged to meet Brauze at 11:30 next to an old oak tree near the paper mill. é Brauze 

had the mine in safekeeping. They moved silently. They went into the woods. Matskevich and the 

girl crawled under the rails. Brauze stopped in case he might have to cover them. Matskevich dug 

under the rails with his bear hands. Into the small pit he placed some stones that Vitka had given 

him. é Having laid the mine, they covered it with sand and headed for Vileika [Nowa Wilejka]. 

They waded across a stream and stopped on a hill under the branches of a willow tree. é 

   Now the steam engine could be clearly seen emerging from the depths of the woods; behind it 

came a chain of rumbling train cars. é 

   Railroad ties, people, and iron went flying into the air é 

   Twelve train cars loaded with weapons and Germans rushing to Polotsk [Poğock] were blown to 

bits. é 

   The peasants who were forced to take away the bodies the next morning told us that they counted 

two hundred dead Germans.
115

 [emphasis added] 

 

   Yehiel Tenzer provides the following account of these events which contains even more implausible 

elements: 
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When the dawn arose on 8th July [1942] Vitka [Kempner], Isa Matzkevitz and Moshe Brause left 

the Ghetto carrying the mine. Their objective was to blow up a German train 7 kilometres south-

east of Vilna. The operation had to take place at night and they would have to back in the Ghetto by 

dawn the next day so that could go out to work as usual. 

   At the dawn Vitka reached the Ghetto, her legs torn and bleeding, but her face radiant. The mine 

had been planted and nobody had noticed them. é 

   News of the explosion arrived at 3 p.m. The train was destroyed, both engines and ammunition 

waggons. The Germans were at a loss, for this was the first operation of its kind near Vilna é 

   It was a happy day for the Fighters in the Ghetto. They laughed in the streets. é 

   Many coaches containing German soldiers and ammunition in the train which was on its way to 

Polotsk was smashed. In the morning the peasants counted about 200 bodies of soldiers, apart from 

those who were completely blown apart and could not be counted. After their census the peasants 

collected pistols, rifles, and many bullets.
116

 [emphasis added] 

 

   Isaac Kowalski, a member of the Jewish underground, also alleges that, in addition to killing more than 

200 German soldiers, the explosion of the landmine resulted in ñan even larger numberò of wounded 

soldiers. Although involved in producing underground publications, Kowalski does not say that this event 

was reported in the German newspapers. Rather, he says that a Jewish scout learned about the toll later 

from local peasants. Moreover, he insists that the three underground membersðKempner, Matskevich and 

Brauseðwere present at the time of the explosion: 

 

After they waited in hiding for two or three hours, the favorable moment arrived, with the approach 

of a large transport train rushing soldiers to the front. When the transport came near enough to the 

partisan ambush, Moshe Brause pulled the cord which set off a tremendous explosion, derailing and 

turning over dozens of cars. 

   The three partisans saw a huge burst of fire from exploding ammunition and heard the creams of 

wounded German soldiers.117 

 

   Historian Yitzhak Arad provides a more modest version of these events:  

 

In June 1942, the command decided to mine the German railroad line going to the front. The mine 

was prepared in the ghetto. After a preliminary reconnaissance of the railroad from Vilna [Wilno] 

to Vileyka, Vitka Kempner and two other F.P.O. [Fareinikte Partisaner OrganizatzieðUnited 
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Partisans Organization] members left the ghetto, and on the night of July 8, 1942, placed the mine 

on the railroad, 6 miles southeast of Vilna. The trio returned to the ghetto at dawn. The next 

morning an ammunition train hit the mine, and the engine and several wagons were damaged. 

Farmers in the vicinity were arrested in a German reprisal Aktion, but the Jews were not touched. 

The Germans had no idea it was a German operation. It was the first German train to be mined in 

the Vilna area.
118

 

 

   Another restrained version of these eventsðbut darker in its implicationsðwas provided in a 2001 

interview with Vitka Kovner (n®e Kempner), one of the participants. She maintains that only she and Iza 

Matskevich executed the deed and reports a considerably smaller toll of German victims: 

 

ñI joined the team that was responsible for terrorist attacks outside the ghetto, and my first and 

important mission, together with Yoske Maskovitz, was to detonate a bomb of the railway in order 

to damage the train that transported equipment to the war front,ò recalls Vitka. é 

   ñFinally, after months of planning, and with the help of a policeman from the ghetto, we sneaked 

out the bomb that Abba had built and detonated it. When we managed to get back into the ghetto 

[without being discovered] it was a day of celebration,ò Vitka remarks. The bomb worked as 

planned, and according to the newspapers, a great deal of damage was done to the train cars, and a 

few soldiers were killed. ñThe Germans believed in collective responsibility and had they known 

that Jews had executed the bombing they would have had us killed by the thousands.ò The 

Germans did not imagine that this was the work of Jews, and therefore, retaliated by executing all 

the residents in a nearby Polish town.119 [emphasis added] 

 

   In an interview in 1987, Kempner stated: 

 

I had to look for a place on the railroad. And the Jews work on the railroadsðcleaning, bringing 

food, digging. é I have to find a place where are no Jews, because if it will succeed and they found 

out that Jews were working there, they can exterminate the ghetto. é 

   We take the bomb, the mine, outside the ghetto and bring it to the place. We were twoðone boy 

who was a policeman é I was the other one. We went out in a group of workers. [The place] was 

15 kilometers [outside] the city. 

   We take the bomb and we put it under the rail tracks. One-thirty at night (the night of July 8, 

1942), we put the bomb. We escaped very quickly. When the train goes [over it] at two, it explodes, 

and from far away we heard the explosion. We come back to the ghetto. Six oôclock we are in the 

ghetto, [when] they let in [a group of] people who come after the nightwork.   
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LILITH: Did the Jews in the ghetto know that that this was a Jewish act of sabotage? 

  No. Jews didnôt. Nobody knew. Only us é If the Germans will know there is an underground 

they would exterminate the ghetto. é but in all our units, we stand together and we speak about it, 

and we were very proud about it.120 [emphasis added] 

 

   When, where and how exactly this event occurred, if at all, is not free from doubt.
121

 There no known 

official German reports or Polish underground reports confirming it. Moreover, during this same same 

period both the Soviet partisans and the Home Army carried out numerous train derailments.
122

 Nor do 

ghetto chronicles from that period acknowledge the news of an event of such significance. Herman Kruk, a 

meticulous chronicler of the Wilno ghetto, does not mention this event in his diary at all, even though he 

records information such as train derailments and German retaliations against villagers from various 

sources such as the underground press.
123

 Nor does Zelig Kalmanovitch, another Wilno scholar who wrote 

a wartime diary.
124

 Rachel Margolis, a member of the Communist underground in Wilno, who had met Iza 

Matskevich in Kaunas during the Soviet occupation, recalled that, at a conspiratorial meeting of the FPO 

(Fareinikte Partizaner Organizatsie, the United Partisan Organization) in November 1942, Matskevich 

suggested the blowing up of a German transport convoy, but provides no further details of such an 

occurrence.
125

 Indeed, that organizationôs main preoccupation was saving its own members from German 
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 Aviva Cantor, ñShe Fought Back: An Interview with Vilna Partisan Vitke Kempner,ò Lilith Magazine, no. 16 

(spring 1987): 23ï24. 

 
121
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Aktionen.
126

 However, this does not in any way alter how the Jewish underground calculated and weighed 

the impact of such operations: their cavalier attitude toward exposing the surrounding Christian population 

to grave risk stands in marked contrast to their preoccupation not to endanger the lives of Jews by exposing 

the ghetto population to collective punishment. It is worth noting, in this context, that it was the Polish 

community of Wilno who provided the Jewish underground with safe shelters and meeting places outside 

the ghetto, as well as couriers to maintain contact with other ghettos.
127

 

   This was not an isolated event. The Jewish Fighting Organization (ŧydowska Organizacja BojowaïŧOB) 

employed a similar strategyðdiverting German reprisals away from Jews and onto Christiansðwhen it 

staged grenade assault, in December 1942, on the Cyganeria caf® in Krak·w, which was frequented by the 

SS. However, that ruse backfired because their organization had been infiltrated by informants. 

 

To throw the vengeful Gestapo off track in the aftermath, the ZOB [ŧOB] raiders left behind 

leaflets implicating the Home Army. This, they hoped, would prevent reprisals by the angry SS on 

innocent Jewish residents of the Krakow [Krak·w] ghetto. The shirking of responsibility was a 

risky gambit that [justifiably] could have provoked the wrath of the Polish Resistance had the 

Germans retaliated against the Gentile population instead. The Nazis, however, knew full well who 

was behind the ñterroristò actions because they had two informants in the Krakow branch of the 

ZOB.128 
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   Jewish sources allege that the Home Army simply refused to cooperate with the Jewish underground in 

Wilno, and that consequently the latter had no choice but to look for contacts with the Soviets. Acording to 

Israeli historian Dina Porat, 

 

Outside [the ghetto] there was still no organization they could contact, with the exception of the 

Armia Krajowa (AK), the nationalistic Polish underground directed by the Polish government in 

exile in London. [Abba] Kovner was in contact with the AK for almost two months, especially with 

an eye to obtaining weapons. However, the AK was right-wing and anti-Semitic and regarded the 

FPO as a Communist underground, and explanations were to no avail. Not only was contact broken 

off, but later, when the Jews left the ghetto for the forests and hiding places, many were murdered 

by nationalistic Poles.129 

 

In fact, the FPO was not only led by a Communist, Yitzhak Wittenberg, but also included Communists 

groups in its ranks. As an entity, it was markedly pro-Soviet from its very inception. As Porat points, 

 

Their first meeting determined the organizationôs national commitment as well as their wish to act 

as partisans fighting in the rear and their desire to aid the Red Army in a common war against the 

Nazis, carrying out acts of sabotage behind enemy lines. Thus the national goals, which they all 

wanted to achieve, were integrated with the Communistsô commitment to be part of the Soviet 

Unionôs fighting force.130 

  

According to historian Yitzhak Arad, the FPO established its first contacts with the Soviet partisans in the 

spring of 1942. In April of that year, the commander of the Soviet partisan movement in Lithuania, 

Albertas Kunigǟnas (ñAlksnisò), reached an agreement with the Jewish resistance leadership to incorporate 

the FPO into the Lithuanian partisan movement as an autonomous branch operating inside the ghetto. They 

undertook to keep in regular contact with each other through the political commissar Witold Sienkiewicz 

(ñMargisò) and the ghetto resisters were to join up with the Soviet partisans immediately after the planned 

ghetto uprising.
131

 

   In keeping with its pro-Soviet orientation, the FPO refused to recognize Polish claims to the Wilno area, 

which the Soviets had seized from Poland in September 1939, handed over to Lithuania, and later 
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incorporated into the Soviet Union outright. In its proclamation of January 1, 1942, the FPO referred to the 

contested area as ñLithuania.ò This display of disloyalty toward Poland, and the FPOôs significant 

Communist component, understandably resulted in the Home Armyôs distrusting the Jewish underground. 

It also led to the Home Armyôs refusal to provide the FPO with weapons. As historian Teresa Prekerowa, 

who was recognized by Yad Vashem as a ñRighteous Gentile,ò points out, the Jewish underground in 

Wilno was not prepared to distance itself from its unconditional support of the Soviet Union even when 

they turned to the Home Army for arms, leaving the question of their allegiance, in the event of a Soviet 

return (which they both anticipated and welcomed), to be ñdecided at some later time.ò
132

 Unlike in 

Warsaw, where the Home Army did provide the Jewish underground with arms and military training to 

launch an uprising and where the Communists were not strong, there was no uprising either in Wilno, 

where the Communists played a significant role in the Jewish underground, or in Biağystok, where most of 

the members of the underground were Communists, despite the fact that the underground in both cities was 

well armed.
133
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(1996): 156. See also Arad, Ghetto in Flames, 248ï49, where the author downplays the FPOôs non-commital response 
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The F.P.O. succeeded in contacting the Polish underground, and negotiated with them for aid in 

procuring arms for the Jewish group. The Polish underground leaders questioned the F.P.O. on its 
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out of the ghetto in order to join the Soviet partisans in the forests. See Margolis, A Partisan from Vilna, 355, 358ï59. 

After the departure of the underground from the ghetto, the Judenrat ordered the Jewish police and informers to search 

for Jews in hideouts and to bring them out by force. ñDuring those last days of the ghetto hatred for the informers and 

police and for those who betrayed other Jews reached its height and was later manifested in the forest.ò See Porat, The 

Fall of a Sparrow, 139. On the situation in Biağystok, where the call for a revolt was rejected by the ghetto inhabitants, 

see Sara Bender, The Jews of Biağystok During World War II and the Holocaust (Waltham, Massachusetts: Brandeis 

University Press, 2008), 258ï64. 

   Contrary to what is often claimed in Holocaust literature, there is no evidence that any planned revolt in a ghetto 

failed to materialize because of a lack of Polish aid. Many Jewish authors, and even historians, however, have 

considerable difficulty in coming to terms with this harsh reality, preferring instead to lay the blame squarely on the 
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Poles. Michael Berenbaum, former director of the Research Institute at the United States Holocaust Memorial Museum, 

for example, writes: ñFor a variety of reasons, including the fact that antisemitism among some Armia Krajowa 

members, who were in positions of significance, prevented the adequate supply of arms to Jewish fighters, armed revolt 

was not carried out in many of the ghettos where Jewish resistance movements existed.ò (Letter to the Canadian Polish 

Congress, dated May 16, 1996). A survivor from Ğ·dŦ, who was deported to the ghetto in Stasz·w, ruminates: ñAs to 

why more people didnôt fight, the answer is simple: With what? We had no weapons, and the Poles around us could not 

be depended on to help. é Moreover, common sense told us that fighting the combined Germans and unfriendly Poles 

would be futile.ò See Manny Drukier, Carved in Stone: Holocaust YearsðA Boyôs Tale (Toronto: University of 

Toronto Press, 1996), 182, 216. These are bogus arguments. Jews did in fact, when they were so disposed, acquire arms 

and ammunition, albeit in limited quantities, via the black market and from other sources, in the same manner as the 

Polish underground, and staged open revolts in a number of places such as Warsaw (with the help of the Poles), 

Biağystok, Czňstochowa, NieŜwieŨ, Ğuck, etc. Needless to add, these revolts were directed at the Germans, not the 

Poles. While arms were acquired in many ghettos, very few ghettos staged revolts. Invariably, the Jewish underground 

faced major opposition from within their community which was usually spearheaded by the Jewish Council, with local 

leaders and even rabbis joining in. With little support forthcoming from the general population, the resolve of the few 

was usually thwarted. Another significant factor was the Germansô ability to recruit collaboratorsðJews who were 

promised their lives in exchange for information. As Yehuda Bauer notes, ñthe German intelligence service, which 

employed Jewish informers, was very efficient and managed to liquidate many of the underground groups.ò See 

Yehuda Bauer, The Death of the Shtetl (New Haven, Connecticut and London: Yale University Press, 2009), 150.  

   In Ejszyszki, Rabbi Shimon Rozovskyôs impassioned plea to acquire arms and ñprotect ourselves till our last breathò 

was sternly rebuffed by one faction of the Jewish Council, so the plan died. See Alufi and Barkeli, ñAishishukò; Its 

History and Its Destruction, 62; Eliach, There Once Was a World, 581. In Kurzeniec, the Judenrat warned the parents 

of underground members who were collecting weapons of the threat these activities posed to all of the townôs Jews. 

ñWhen we heard about it,ò one Jew recalled, ñwe stormed into the meeting with two drawn guns. We threatened to kill 

whoever threaten [sic] our families.ò See the account of Zalman Uri Gurevitz in A. Meyerowitz, ed., The Scroll of 

Kurzeniac, Internet: <www.jewishgen.org/yizkor/kurenets/>; translation of Megilat Kurenits: Ayara be-hayeha u-ve-

mota (Tel Aviv: Former Residents of Kurzeniec in Israel and the U.S.A., 1956). A similar situation existed in Iwie 

(Iwje) where the Judenrat warned the brother of an underground member who started to procure arms that this ñactivity 

was liable to bring about the handing over [of] my family to the gendarme.ò See the account of Meyshe Kaganovitsh in 

Kaganovich, In Memory of the Jewish Community of Ivye. In Gğňbokie, after some Jews managed to procure weapons 

from Poles outside the ghetto, ñIn the Jewish police it was decided to quietly confiscate the weapons and to, somehow, 

get rid of us é Once, while my brother was sleeping, two Jewish policemen came, took him to the Judenrat cellar, beat 

him and demanded he give the weapons. é I was called to present myself. I let it be known that I would not come and 

that if, indeed, they tried to arrest me, I have in my possession a hand grenade é The Judenrat men were scared the 

Germans would find out about the weapons and backed off. So, except for the Germans, the Judenrat and the Jewish 

police also became our enemies. They interfered and threatened at any attempt to revolt or escape from the ghetto.ò See 

Dov Katzovitch, ñWith the Partisans and in the Red Army,ò in Shtokfish, Book in Memory of Dokszitz-Parafianow, 

Chapter 4. (A revolt was eventually staged in Gğňbokie when the Germans entered the ghetto on August 20, 1942.) In 

Krasne near Moğodeczno, the Judenrat dispatched Jewish police to investigate and break up an underground 

organization that smuggled men and arms to the forest. See Kowalski, Anthology on Armed Jewish Resistance, 1939ï

1945, vol. 4 (1991), 473. The Brasğaw memorial book confirms that, even though arms and ammunition were available 

from outside sources, a planned revolt did not take place for three reasons: (1) the Jews were worn down by the 

Germans; (2) the eternal hope that the German plans would not materialize; and most importantly, (3) the opposition of 

the Jewish Council to the plan. See Machnes and Klinov, Darkness and Desolation, 597ï98. Two groups were 

established in BrzeŜĺ at the beginning of 1942 as preparations were made for a revolt. Weapons were acquired from 

various sources (purchases from Italian soldiers, thefts from warehouses of booty) including rifles, several pistols, hand 

grenades, and ten machine guns. The underground had a printing press and possessed a radio. Contacts were 

established with the Soviet underground. The plan was to open fire on the Germans with all their firepower on the first 

day that they came to liquidate the ghetto, and to ignite homes and warehouses, and to break out and flee to the forests. 

At the beginning of October 1942, the Polish underground informed the Jewish underground that extermination units 

had assembled in the city consisting of German, Ukrainian and Lithuanian policemen. Yet the Jewish underground 

proved incapable of mobilizing its members and mounting a revolt, and only a a small number of Jews managed to 

escape to the forest. The Germans, probably tipped off by informers, surrounded the hiding place of the printing press 

and radio and blew them up, along with the people there. See ñBrestò in Shmuel Spector, ed., Pinkas Hakehillot: Polin, 

vol. 5 (Jerusalem: Yad Vashem, 1990), 226ï37; English translation: Encyclopedia of Jewish Communities in Poland, 

vol. V, Internet: <http://www.jewishgen.org/yizkor/pinkas_poland/pol5_00226.html>. The opposition of the Judenrat 

and the Jewish ghetto population, among other internal obstacles, also effectively squelched planned revolts in PiŒsk, 

PruŨana and świňciany, even though weapons and ammunition had been gathered for this purpose. See respectively: 

Wolf Zeev Rabinowitsch, ed., PinskðHistorical Volume: The Story of the Jews of Pinsk 1506ï1942 (Tel Aviv: The 

Association of the Jews of Pinsk in Israel, 1977), 118ï20; Joseph Friedlaender, ed., Pinkas Pruzôany and its Vicinity 

(Bereze, Malch, Shershev, Seltz and Lineve) (Tel Aviv: The United Pruziner and Vicinity Relief Committee in New 



 59 

                                                                                                                                                                             
York and Philadelphia and the Pruzôana Landshaft Association in Israel, 1983), 100ï102; and Arad, The Partisan, 68ï

78. When a delegation from a Jewish forest group arrived in PruŨana to speak to the head of the Jewish council, they 

were betrayed to the Gestapo. As elsewhere, the Jewish police actively assisted in the round-up and deportation of the 

Jews to the death camps. See Israel Berestizki, Run For Your Life, My Child! The Life Story of a Partisan and Soldier 

(Israel: n.p., 2011?), 78, 86. No revolt took place in Baranowicze where the underground amassed 70 rifles, two 

machine guns, 40 handguns, 15,000 bullets, 500 hand grenades, and a few sticks of dynamite. Two members of the 

Judenrat threatened to hand the members of the underground to the Germans, and a squad of policemen was sent to 

arrest them. Other underground members stormed the Judenrat building and threatened to kill its members if the 

detainees were handed over to the Gestapo. The local rabbi, in the company of an entourage, cautioned the 

underground against revolt: ñóDo you realise what a bad and dangerous path you are following? I am the spiritual 

leader of our community and responsible for its fate. You and a few youngsters are jeopardising us all by attempting to 

take up arms against the Germans. And what use are a few rifles against their infernal war-machines? Worst of all, you 

seem to have forgotten that we are a nation of the book, not the sword. How do you think we have survived 2000 years 

of pogroms and persecution? Not by fighting, not by killing, but by our unshakable belief in God. é We are in a 

desperate situation now but there is a God in heaven and the miracle will happen.ô I looked at the Rabbi in shock and 

dismay; this was religious zeal carried beyond all sense.ò Many ghetto residents were also opposed to insurrection and 

even wanted to apprehend a Jewish arms smuggler and hand him over to the Germans. See Yehuda Bauer, ñJewish 

Baranowicze in the Holocaust,ò Yad Vashem Studies, vol. 31 (2003): 132ï36; Berk, Destined to Live, 77ï78. 

   A similar combination of opposition on the part of Jewish leaders and widespread apathy, despair and fear of reprisals 

prevailed in most of the ghettos in the Generalgouvernement and in the Eastern Territories. When a young Jew arrived 

in StepaŒ, Volhynia, ñwith the purpose of organizing the Jews to flee or to rebel. He brought news of the organization 

and joining of young men from the ghettos of different towns to the partisans. He told us of the acts of killing of Jews 

in the Volyn ghettos. The fellowôs activity in the Stapan ghetto did not last too long as in a few days he was arrested by 

the Jewish police by order of the Judenrat and he disappeared.ò See Account of J. Peri, in Yitzhak Ganuz, ed., 

Ayaratenu Stepan (Tel Aviv: Stepan Society, 1977), 213 ff., Our Town Stepan, Internet: 

<http://www.jewishgen.org/yizkor/stepan/Stepan.html>. The situation in the Jewish villages of Trochenbrot-Ignatovka 

(Ignat·wka TroŜciaŒska), Volhynia, is described thus: ñI suggested é that we should take young people into the forest 

and form big groups é I must admit that the local Jewish population was strongly against us. They said, óFirst of all, 

the Germans are not killing. And what would the Germans want with us?ô é Many times we would quietly gather the 

young people. But the community leaders found out and came after us with sticks, remonstrating, óBecause of you we 

will suffer. You have nothing to loseðyouôre homeless, youôre refugees, youôre displaced personsðbut we have our 

houses, our fields, our property. We have a lot to lose!ô So I didnôt accomplish very much with these clandestine 

gatherings.ò See Nahum Kohn and Howard Roiter, A Voice from the Forest: Memoirs of a Jewish Partisan (New York: 

Holocaust Library, 1980), 29. As noted earlier, the opposition of the local Jewish leaders was often supported by the 

community at large. For the typical ghetto resident, the answer to the question ñWhy didnôt they resist the Nazis?ò was 

readily apparent without recourse to the cruel ruse that the Poles were somehow to blame: ñAnybody showing the 

slightest resistance endangered not only himself but also his family and the whole community. In addition, right up to 

the last moment, people refused to believe in the wholesale extermination of the Jewish population. In view of this, 

nobody dared to do anything which might bring down disaster on the heads of his family and his community.ò See 

Miriam Bergerôs testimony, ñThe War,ò in Yosef Kariv, ed., Horchiv Memorial Book (Tel Aviv: Horchiv Committee in 

Israel, 1966), 44. Why should Poles be held up to a higher standard of heroism? Writing about the situation in Eastern 

Poland, where he adjudged conditions for resistance and guerrilla movements to be favourable, historian Shmuel 

Spector concluded: ñBecause of German threats of collective punishment é the Judenrªte did not sympathise with the 

resistance activities. é Most of the Judenrªte did not want to take part in the resistance and sometimes even opposed 

or disturbed activities. é Only in places where the Juderªte approved of the resistance, or where leaders of the 

underground were eager to resist, could organisation of resistance be planned.ò See Shmuel Spector, ñJewish 

Resistance in Small Towns of Eastern Poland,ò in Jews in Eastern Poland and the USSR, 1939ï46, 140ï41. On the 

other hand, there are historians such as Yitzhak Arad who, contrary to the preponderance of the evidence, maintain just 

the opposite: ñmost of the Judenrªte did not in principle oppose the existence of an armed underground inside the 

ghetto. é Neither did the councils assist the Nazis in combating the underground movements.ò See Yitzhak Arad, ñThe 

Armed Jewish Resistance in Eastern Europe: Its Unique Conditions and Its Relations with the Jewish Councils 

(Judenrªte) in the Ghettos,ò in Michael Berenbaum and Abraham J. Peck, eds., The Holocaust and History: The 

Known, the Unknown, the Disputed, and the Reexamined (Bloomington and Indianopolis: Indiana University Press, 

1998), 596, 599.  

   The Jewish police and Gestapo agents and informers were particularly effective in eliminating the fledgling Jewish 

underground. When the Peopleôs Guard attempted to provide arms to the ghetto in MiŒsk Mazowiecki they were 

warned by the commander of the Jewish police to desist or face a denunciation to the Germans. See Bartoszewski and 

Lewin·wna, Ten jest z ojczyzny mojej, 285. Conditions in Sosnowiec are described as follows: ñUnder the leadership of 

Zvi Dunsky, Lippa Mintz, Heller Schnitzer, and Joseph Kosak, the Sosnowiec [underground] group aimed at a genuine 

resistance, maintaining communications with Warsaw. They printed circulars é and posted on walls, manifestos 

against the regime and the Judenrat. They even plotted to kill [its president] Moshe Merin. Merin was busy too. He set 



 60 

 

Soviet Designs 

   The Soviet partisan command adopted a similar strategy in relation to the Polish underground and the 

civilian population. In January 1943, General Ponomarenko outlined the following course of action: 

 

It is imperative that we ignite partisan warfare in Poland. Apart from military results, it will result 

in justifiable losses among the Polish population in the struggle against the German occupier and 

will prevent them from saving up all their forces for later.134 

                                                                                                                                                                             
up a network of spies, who infiltrated the organization and reported back to him. As soon as he had enough names, he 

made his move. He rounded up all the resistance people and had them transferred to camps in Germany. Thus our first 

attempt to organize an uprising locally was shattered in its inception. Now the Jews were too numb to care.ò See Chava 

Kwinta, Iôm Still Living (Toronto: Simon & Pierre Publishing Company, 1974), 136. In Krak·w, the Jewish 

underground established contact with the Polish underground and was thus able to procure weapons, yet there too the 

possibility of revolt was thwarted. Shlomo Schein explains the obstacle they faced: ñOur boys were falling into the 

hands of the Gestapo one by one é The Jewish policemen sniffed after us, fearing that they would be blamed for 

aiding the fighters.ò See Arieh L. Bauminger, The Fighters of the Cracow Ghetto (Jerusalem: Keter Press, 1986), 85. 

So, too, in Zğocz·w, a planned revolt was stifled by spies inside the ghetto, even though arms had been procured with 

the assistance of Poles: ñIn spite of the secrecy and precaution, there had been somebody spying on the planners who 

betrayed the five leaders on the eve of the enterprise. The informer was a boy from Lwow [Lw·w] é The five leaders 

were arrested.ò See I. M. Lask, ed., The City of Zloczow (Tel Aviv: Zloczower Relief Verband of America, 1967), 

column 133. A similar situation prevailed in Mir, where a planned escape of Jews to the forest was foiled ñby a Jew 

from the Mir zamek ghetto named Stanislawski. é If [Oswald] Rufeisen had not been betrayed [by him] é Our 

ambush would have been a unique event é Perhaps the life of the Mir ghetto itself could have been prolonged by 

wiping out the gendarmerie stationed in the town. But instead, the traitor Stanislawski brought ruin upon himself and 

the entire ghetto.ò See Sutin, Jack and Rochelle, 59ï60. According to another source, ñA Jew named Stanislavski 

[Stanisğawski] worked with horses at the gendarmerie. The chief promised to let him live and give him special 

privileges if he informed him from where the Jews had gotten the guns, and who told them about the planned roundup. 

Stanislavski, believing he could save himself through this betrayal, agreed to the Kommandantôs conditions. He told 

him he heard say ñOswaldò [Rufeisen] had given the guns to the Jews and had planned their dispersal with them.ò See 

the account of B.A. in Trunk, Jewish Responses to Nazi Persecution, 295. See also the account of Szloma Charchas 

(Szlomo Charches) in Ajzensztajn, Ruch podziemny w ghettach i obozach, 116, and in Michağ Grynberg and Maria 

Kotowska, comp. and eds., ŧycie i zagğada ŧyd·w polskich 1939ï1945: Relacje Ŝwiadk·w (Warsaw: Oficyna 

Naukowa, 2003), 514. On orders of the Judenrat, Jewish police in Nowogr·dek arrested Jews who smuggled guns into 

the ghetto. See George Lubow, Escape: Against All Odds: A Survivorôs Story (New York: iUniverse, 2004), 29. The 

well-armed underground in Baranowicze ultimately failed to stage a planned revolt because of the deception of the 

Germans during the second Aktion. There too the Germans were aware of the existence of an underground in the ghetto 

and employed Jewish spies to acquire information about it. A Jewish teenager from Ğ·dŦ betrayed a group of Jews who 

attempted to escape from the Luftwaffe base and informed the German commander about the underground group. An 

underground group organized in the forced labour camp in Stara Wilejka near Moğodeczno was betrayed by a Jew 

named Schulzinger from Szczuczyn; only a small number of Jews were able to escape, and all those left in the camp 

were killed. See Yehuda Bauer, ñJewish Baranowicze in the Holocaust,ò Yad Vashem Studies, vol. 31 (2003): 121, 

132ï38. A clandestine youth group in RadzyŒ, composed of members of the Hashomer Hatzair and other Zionist 

organizations, who sought to arrange for Jews to flee to the forests and set up fighting units, gained the support of the 

Hasidic Rabbi Shmuel Shlomo Leiner. In June 1942, the Gestapo learned of this through informers and executed the 

rabbi in the square in front of the synagogue. See ñRadzyn,ò in Abraham Wein, ed., Pinkas Hakehillot: Polin, vol. 7 

(Jerusalem: Yad Vashem, 1999), 543ï47; English translation: Encyclopedia of Jewish Communities in Poland, vol. 

VII, Internet: <http://www.jewishgen.org/yizkor/pinkas_poland/pol7_00543.html>. 
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 This excerpt from a ñtop secretò memorandum from Ponomarenko to Stalin, Molotov, Beria and others, dated 

January 20, 1943, is found in Ivan Bilas, Represyvno-karalôna systema v Ukraini 1917ï1953: Suspilôno-politychnyi ta 

istoryko-pravovyi analiz (Kiev: LibidïViisko Ukrainy, 1994), vol. 2, 361. The full memorandum can be found in 

Bogdan Musiağ, ñMemorandum Pantelejmona Ponomarienki z 20 stycznia 1943 r.: óO zachowaniu siň Polak·w i 

niekt·rych naszych zadaniach,ôò Pamiňci SprawiedliwoŜĺ, vol. 8 (2006, no. 1): 379ï85. See also Piotr Gontarczyk, 

Polska Partia Robotnicza: Droga do wğadzy 1941ï1944 (Warsaw: Fronda, 2003), 207ï208. Concurrently, 

Ponomarenko issued instructions to send trained ñagentsò into the field to agitate among the Polish population. 
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   Directives aimed at provoking German attacks against the Polish underground were formulated at a 

meeting of the Central Committee Bureau of the Communist Party of Belorussia held on June 24, 1943. 

While continuing to engage in talks with Polish delegations about joint operations against the Germans, 

General Ponomarenko instructed: 

 

Concurrently é we must direct our partisan units and party organizations to use whatever means to 

detect and expose to assaults by the German occupiers all local Polish organizations and groups 

that emerge. The Germans wonôt hesitate to shoot them if they find out that they are organizers of 

Polish partisan groups or other combat organizations. é Donôt be constrained by any scruples in 

choosing your means. These measures should be undertaken on a broad scale and organized in such 

a way that it all proceeds smoothly.135 

 

   The Soviets unleashed what historian Marek Jan Chodakiewicz has aptly called ñrevolutionary 

banditry.ò
136

 Moreover, their goalðwhich was cast in a duplicitous webðwas to eliminate any 
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 This document is reproduced in its entirety in Gnatowski, ñDokumenty o stosunku radzieckiego kierownictwa do 

polskiej konspiracji niepodlegğoŜciowej na p·ğnocno-wschodnich Kresach Rzeczypospolitej w latach 1943ï1944,ò 

Studia Podlaskie, no. 5 (1995): 233ï45 (in Russian), here at 243, and also in part (in Polish) in Boradyn, Niemenïrzeka 

niezgody, 244ï45, and Gontarczyk, Polska Partia Robotnicza, 208ï209.  
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 ñRevolutionary banditryò entails a two-pronged phenomenon which historian Marek Jan Chodakiewicz identified 

and defined in the following terms: (1) robbing the civilian population of their food and possessions with the aim of 

depriving them of a normal livelihood and causing them to flee their stripped villages to join the Communist partisans 

in the forests; and (2) radicalizing the civilian population by provoking the Germans to employ terror toward it in 

retaliation for low level assaults carried out by the Communists against German personnel and interests for this very 

purpose. For a discussion of this topic see Chodakiewicz, Tajne oblicze GL-AL i PPR, vol. 1 (1997), 13ï36; 

Chodakiewicz, Narodowe Siğy Zbrojne, 69ï88; and Chodakiewicz, ŧydzi i Polacy 1918ï1955, 111ï18, 327ï34. Other 

historians have drawn the distinction between the goals of Soviet and non-Soviet resistance movements in somewhat 

different terms, which are not incomapatible with the foregoing. 

 

Consequently, some resistance movements sought to encourage the population into supporting them, 

rather than coerce it. This was a common characteristic among resistance movements in Western 

Europe, in the Czech lands and in Poland. A covert ósecret armyô approach to resistance employed the 

kinds of actions that were less likely to provoke fearsome Axis retaliation. Such resistance 

movements favoured this approach partly because they feared that particularly ferocious retaliation 

from the occupiers might seriously disrupt the sabotage, intelligence-gathering and other important 

activities in which they were engaged. Yet it was also because they feared what such ferocity might 

do to the population in whose name they were ostensibly resisting. é 

   Soviet partisans, in particular, very often presented a considerably different picture. As the 

instruments of a ruthless regime, they were far from averse to brutally coercing the population into 

aiding them. They operated in large areas often very far from their own regions of origin, amid 

communities with whom they felt no particular affinity. Their callous, sometimes murderous 

treatment of civilians also reflected the often chronic state of discipline within their own units. 

 

See Philip Cooke and Ben H. Shepherd, eds., European Resistance in the Second World War (Barnsley, South 

Yorkshire: Praetorian Press/Pen & Sword, 2013), 9ï10. Recent research in the Soviet archives has corroborated this 

stark portrayal of the Soviet partisans. In his book Stalinôs Commandos: Ukrainian Partisans on the Eastern Front 

(London and New York: I.B. Tauris, 2016), Alexander Gogun presents copious evidence that the Nazi atrocities in 

Ukraine were often matched by partisan brutality such as the indiscriminate use of scorched-earth tactics, the 

destruction of their own villages, partisan-generated Nazi reprisals against civilians, and the daily incidents of robbery, 

drunkenness, rape and bloody internal conflicts that were reported to be widespread among the partisans. He shows that 

all these practices were not a product of the culture of warfare nor a spontaneous ñpeopleôs responseò to the unremitting 
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independent Polish underground in the area. In fact, the Soviets would not even tolerate the existence of 

Polish units within the Soviet partisan structures. The various secret directives issued by the Soviet 

leadership thus show that Polish fears were not based on paranoia or blind hatred of foreigners on their soil, 

as some commentators argue, but grounded in a brutal realityðone the Poles had experienced on a daily 

basis since the Soviet invasion of Poland on September 17, 1939. Their suspicion and mistrust of the 

Soviets was therefore fully justified and spilled over naturally to the Soviet partisan forces and their allies.  

   Behind-the-scenes collaboration between the Gestapo and the NKVD was nothing new and had started 

well before the war. These two agencies established close contacts in Danzig (GdaŒsk) as early as 1935 and 

together plotted the dismemberment of Poland,
137

 which was formally sanctioned under the terms of a 

Secret Supplementary Protocol to the German-Soviet Frontier and Friendship Treaty of September 28, 

1939. Contacts between the two organizations intensified and meetings were called to discuss how best to 

combat Polish resistance and eradicate Polish national existence. A joint instructional centre for officers of 

the NKVD and the Gestapo was opened at Zakopane in December 1939. Nor did the Soviets did not shun 

cooperation with the Gestapo, when it suited their purpose, after being turned on by their erstwhile Nazi 

allies. By the end of 1941, the Soviets were parachuting agentsðsuch as Paweğ (Pinkus) Finder, who was 

appointed First Secretary of the Soviet-controlled Polish Workersô Party, and Stanisğaw (Solomon) 

Kurlandðinto German-occupied Poland to destabilize the Home Army. One way of doing this was by 

denouncing Home Army members to the Nazis.
138

 The Communist underground infiltrated the archives of 

the Warsaw office of the delegate of the Polish government in exile and turned over secret files to the 

Gestapo. In February 1942, together with operatives from the Communist underground, the Gestapo raided 

the delegateôs premises seizing more than a dozen people who were later killed. The documents found there 

were shared by the Gestapo and Communist underground.
139

 The zealousness of pro-Soviet operatives 

knew no bounds. In Febraury 1944, a Communist agent betrayed two rival underground printing houses in 

                                                                                                                                                                             
brutality of Nazi rule but a specific feature of Stalinôs total war strategy. 
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Ludowa,ò in Encyklopedia ñBiağych Plamò (Radom: Polskie Wydawnictwo Encyklopedyczne, 2002), vol. 7, 190; 

Gontarczyk, Polska Partia Robotnicza, 206ï207, 209ï214, 343, 377ï80; ñSpod czerwonej gwiazdy: O podziemiu 

komunistycznym. Z Piotrem Gontarczykiem, Mariuszem KrzystofiŒskim i Januszem Marszalcem rozmawia Barbara 

Polak,ò Biuletyn Instytutu Pamiňci Narodowej, nos. 3ï4 (MarchïApril 2006): 19ï21. See also Kazimierz Krajewski 

and Tomasz Ğabuszewski, ñZwyczajnyò resort: Studia o aparacie bezpieczeŒstwa 1944ï1956 (Warsaw: Instytut 
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we were murdering Poles and Jews. But we were told that the battle with the reactionary forces [Home Army] and 
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Warsaw.
140

 Yet when the citizens of Warsaw rose up against the German occupiers in August 1944ð

something Soviet propaganda had urged them to do, the Soviet Army, who had reached the suburb of Praga 

across the Vistula River, refused pleas for help as some 150,000 Poles perished during the 63-day 

onslaught. Their local proxiesðthe Polish Workersô Party and the Peopleôs Armyðlaid plans (as yet 

premature) to eliminate the leadership and ñuncooperativeò elements of the Home Army with Soviet 

help.
141

 Characteristically, German Communists were the most privileged group of prisoners in Nazi 

concentration camps and were notorious for collaborating with the camp authorities.
142

 This long tradition 

of collaboration survived the defeat of Nazi Germany. It was not out of keeping that Heinrich Kassner (Jan 

Kaszubowski), a former Gestapo agent who had infiltrated the Home Army in Pomerania, became an 

NKVD agent and joined the security office after the war
143

; that Izydor Reisler (Jerzy Sawicki) sat on the 

Lawyerôs Council in Soviet-occupied Lw·w, where he persecuted its Polish members, then became a 

Gestapo agent in the Lw·w ghetto, and finally emerged as a prosecutor of the Supreme National Tribunal 

and Supreme Court in Stalinist Poland, where he oversaw the prosecution of war criminals
144

; or that 

Danek Redlich followed the same path as, successively, a Bolshevik agent in Soviet-occupied Lw·w, a 

Gestapo agent in German-occupied Krak·w, where he denounced Stanisğaw Taubenschlag, a scion of a 

prominent Jewish family (his father, Rafağ Taubenschlag, was dean of the Jagiellonian University), while 

on a mission for the Polish underground, and as an employee of the security office in Stalinist Poland.
145
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   From the outset, the Soviet partisans operating in northeastern Poland, especially those with direct links to 

the NKVD, had as their task the undermining and destruction of the non-Communist underground in that 

area. To accomplish this they resorted to passing on to the Germans lists of members of the Polish 

underground and engaged in other forms of behind-the-scenes collaboration with the Gestapo, German 

gendarmerie and local police.
146

 A special unit of the Kirov Brigade operating in the WoğoŨyn area, posing 

as a Belorussian self-defence organization, provided to the Gebietskommissar in Lida a list of 33 Home 

Army members in the fall of 1943. Their aim was twofold: to denounce Polish activists and to incite 

animosity between Poles and Belorussians.
147

 Soviet partisans in northeastern Poland proved not to be an 

ally in the fight against the Germans, but an enemy whose real and increasingly overt aim was the 

destruction of the Polish independentist underground and the renewed takeover of these lands. 

   This reality was not lost on those who, for whatever reason and sometimes for want of any other option, 

aligned themselves with the Soviets. Indeed, many Jewsðformer Polish citizens who had witnessed the 

wholesale destruction of Jewish communal life and institutions during the first Soviet occupation of Eastern 

Poland in 1939ï1941ðbecame intensely loyal to the Soviet Union, even if they were not personally 

committed to the Communist ideology. Tuvia Bielski, for example, vividly recalled a speech he delivered 

to Jewish partisans as commander of the Zhukov unit: ñMoreover, if you are a true Soviet citizen you must 

know that our Motherland requires that we struggle together against the German-fascist enemy.ò
148

 They 

should not, therefore, feign surprise that they found themselves on a collision course with the Polish 

population and its underground authorities who remained loyal to Polandôs government in exile. 

 

The Spiral Begins 

   Already in midï1942, Soviet partisans were sporadically murdering members of the Polish elite, 

including the landed gentry and intelligentsia. The scale of these murders grew to include Home Army 

delegates sent to meet with the Soviets as well as hundreds of family members of Home Army men and 
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women.
149

 Ordinary civilians also fell victim to atrocities, revenge actions, and deceitful tactics at the hands 

of Soviet partisans, as demonstrated by the following characteristic cases described by Jewish partisans. 

   After escaping to the Naliboki forest, Abraham Meyer Shmulivitz joined the Stalin Brigade. The leader of 

his detachment and the sergeant who was second in command were Russian POWs who had escaped from 

a German prison camp. One night in January or February 1943, they went to dynamite a railway junction 

near Iwie (Iwje) but found it heavily guarded by Germans. The leader said he knew of a nearby Polish 

farmer with two beautiful daughters and took his troop there. While the detachment waited outside the farm 

house, the leader and sergeant spent an hour raping the farmerôs daughters. The detachment then moved to 

another farm to wait until they could mount their attack on the junction again. They left footprints in the 

snow but didnôt worry because the abused girls had been warned they would be killed if they told the 

Germans. One of the girls did not heed this warning and, quite understandably, reported what had 

happened. Equipped with skis and white camouflage, the Germans pursued the partisan detachment, caught 

up with them and killed most of them. The remnants made their way back to the partisan base where the 

leader reported that a farmer had betrayed them, without disclosing why. The partisan command ordered 

that the family be killed in reprisal for betraying the partisans. And so the Soviet partisans murdered the 

entire family of ñcollaboratorsò and burned down their farmhouse.
150

 

   Abother member of the Stalin Brigade, Rubin or Boris Segalowicz (later Segal), recounts his activities 

both as part of a smaller Jewish group operating in the Nowogr·dek area and as part of the Stalin Brigade. 

 

[In] 1942, when he was separated from the bigger partisan brigade and was just with a group of 

fourteen [Jews]. They went into a village looking for Germans. One of the villages said that there 

were none, but the Germans were actually in hiding and ended up wounding many of the partisans. 

A few weeks later, the partisans returned to the village and burned half of it. 

 

The partisans took whatever they wanted from people who [allegedly] cooperated with the Germans 

(he says they did not take anything from those who did not). They would take food, clothing, 

horses, ammunition, and pigs; they took whatever they saw.151 

 

     Moshe Yudewitz (later Moris Sorid), the deputy commander of the Malenkov detachment of the 

Chapayev Brigade which was active near KobryŒ, in Polesie (Polesia), recalled the fear that ordinary 

villagers felt when their villages were raided by Soviet partisans. 
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The boys began their work of gathering items of needed food, and I entered the house where Paukôs 

aunt lived with her family. The woman was scared to death, when she saw three armed partisans. 

Although the farmers were always afraid of the Germans, they were sometimes afraid of the 

partisans, too. In many cases, é partisans didnôt behave politely. They could be brutal, not only 

demanding food or clothes, but also misbehaving sexually and abusively.152 

 

   Harold Zissman (Hersh Cukierman) belonged to a Soviet partisan unit that forayed south of Grodno 

masquerading as the Home Army. Their plan was to rob the farmers and thereby incite them against the 

Polish underground. 

 

We would be impersonating White Poles, and to that end we were outfitted in Polish Army 

uniforms. é  

   Each group was also to ñbombò the farm of a local collaborator [sic]ðthat is, raid his house for 

clothing and other supplies for the entire group. é 

   I was with Sergey, Valodya, the two local Jewish fighters, and a few other local men. é When 

carrying out ñbombings,ò we impersonated Polish Underground fighters, the point being to 

discredit the White Poles with the farmers. From the farms, besides food and clothing, we took 

naphtha, saws, and axesðthe farmers would miss these things most of all.153 

 

   One of the most heinous episodes was the ñpacificationò of town of Naliboki, located in Naliboki forest 

(Puszcza Nalibocka). The fate of inhabitants of this town, caught between the Germans and Soviets, was 

particularly tragic. On June 9, 1942, the Stalin Brigade mounted a successful ambush on a German 

commando that passed through Naliboki while carrying out operations directed against Jews in the area. 

Nineteen German policemen and Lithuanian and Belorussian auxiliaries were killed, some of them 

captured and subjected to torture, while the Soviets incurred no losses. In retaliation, the Germans executed 

a number of townspeople and pacified some surrounding villages suspected of supporting the partisans. The 

Germans dispatched a large force of soldiers to Naliboki to clear the area of partisans. The Soviet partisans 

attacked the German forces in Naliboki on July 24 but were repelled, suffering heavy losses (some 30ï35 

Soviet partisans were killed). During the clash a church and several other buildings were destroyed in the 

town.
154

 

   Israeli historian Shalom Cholawsky, a former partisan with the Zhukov battalion, states that a group of 

fugitives from the Nowogr·dek ghetto was charged with the task of seizing the police headquarters during 
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an assault on Naliboki, likely the one in July 1942 described above. Cholawsky puts the following spin on 

that episode: 

 

In the partisan attack on Naliboky [Naliboki], in which the Jewish unit was given the task of taking 

the police headquarters, all its members fell in battle because they received no assistance or support 

from the other units participating in the battle.155 

 

Other hagiographic Jewish accounts, however, present significantly different variations on seemingly the 

same assault, which are not consistent with Soviet and German sources.
156
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 According to Yehoshua Yofe, ñJewish Bravery,ò in Eliezer Yerushalmi, ed., Navaredok Memorial Book, Internet: 

<www.jewishgen.org/yizkor/Novogrudok/Novogrudok.html>, 354ff.; translation of Pinkas Navaredok (Tel Aviv: 
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Isrolik from Iveniec [Iwieniec] was 18 years old. é his township was surrounded by forests. The 

village houses stood in the forests. The Germans never came there. There were no made roads in the 

vicinity. The peasants were friendly toward the Jews and were hostile to the Germans, who were 

aiming to conquer the world. In the forests there were already Russian partisans. é [Isrolik 

convinced about twenty young Jews to escape from the ghetto in Nowgr·dek to the forest where they 

met up with the Soviet partisans.] 

   They were planning, together with the Russian partisans, to attack the German police post in 

Naliboki. The murderers of the Jews from the townships were stationed there and the partisans were 

eager to revenge their deaths. The policemen were barricaded in the local church. The township was 

occupied by the partisans, but they could not get into the church. The partisans attacked from two 

sidesðthe Russians from one side and the Jews from the other. They were shooting at the policemen 

from the trenches. Suddenly the policemen stopped shooting, as if they had run out of bullets. The 

partisans were told to attack and get into the church. The Jewish boys were waiting for this. They 

aimed to capture the policemen alive, capture them and ask them why they were killing local Jews, 

who were in the past their neighbours and friends. Suddenly they heard the sound of approaching 

trucks, which were driven at great speed. The trucks arrived in Naliboki and the Germans started 

shooting. The bullets rained down on the partisans, who left the trenches and were about to enter the 

church. They did not realise that the Russian partisans escaped from the township and had left them 

behind. The policemen in the church suddenly started firing. And then the shooting stopped. The 

Germans announced through a megaphone: ólay down your arms and we will not kill you, we will 

take you back to the Novogrudok [Nowogr·dek] Ghettoô. The Germans were certain that the Jews 

would surrender. They did not believe that Ghetto Jews were able to fight. They must be frightened 

and would give up the fight. But the Jews had other ideas, though they saw death approaching. They 

escaped from the Ghetto to avoid death. To go back to the Ghetto to be killed there did not make 

sense. It was better to die fighting. It was better to see some Germans die. They started to shoot at the 

enemy. Some German trucks were destroyed. The Jews continued shooting. They were shooting, 

were silenced and silently they died. Their enemy was manifold [sic]. The partisans ran out of 

ammunition and died knowing that they did not surrender. The story of the fight had become known 

among the partisans: some twenty Jews have opposed hundreds of Germans and they did not 

surrender. They fought to the lastðthe fight for freedom and justice. 

 

The Nowogr·dek memorial book also lists Mordechi (Meme) Cherny as having fallen at the beginning of 1942 while 

fighting German guards in the town of Naliboki. Ibid., 357ff. 
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   The following year, in May 1943, it was the Soviet partisansô turn to pacify Naliboki. The purpose of that 

operation was to eliminate a nascent Home Army outpost in that town. Acting on German orders, the 

residents had formed a self-defence group to fend off marauders. Gradually, the group was transformed into 

a clandestine organization with connections to the Polish underground. In Soviet eyes, their chief ñcrimeò 

was that they had rebuffed overtures from the Soviet partisan command to fall into line.
157

 The surprise 

                                                                                                                                                                             
   Another sourceðBen-Ir, ñThe First Partisan from Karelitz,ò based on the Korelitz (or Korelicze) Memorial Book and 

reproduced in Kowalski, Anthology on Armed Jewish Resistance, 1939ï1945, vol. 2 (1985), 588ðstates: 

 

A group of partisan Jews and non-Jews, among them David Lipshitz [from Korelicze], and his friend 

Moyshke Funt from Ivenitz [Iwieniec] took over the town of Nalibocki [Naliboki]. Their goal was to 

take over the police station. The Germans from Ivenitz were tipped off and surrounded Nalibocki. 

The partisans fortified themselves in the church. They fought heroically to the last bullet, and did not 

surrender to the Germans. David Lipshitz and Moyshke Funt fell in battle. 

 

Entries for Dawid Lipszyc (David Lipshitz) of the Stalin battalion and Mosze Funt (Moyshke Funt) of the Chapaev 

batttalion are found in the website of the Partisans, Ghetto Fighters and Jewish Undergrounds in Israel, Internet: 

<http://www.partisans.org.il>. 

   According to a 1996 interview with Rubin Segal, then a member of the Stalin Brigade known as Boris Segalowicz, 

found in the United States Holocaust Memorial Museum Archives, 

 

When he joined the group, there were about 85ï90 men, 40 of whom were Jewish. The commander 

was a Jew from Minsk. é One time they ambushed a town called Naliboki. The commander called 

all the Jews in the group and told them to do the best they could when they went to fight because if 

they did well, they might be able to get more Jews to join the partisans. The Jews entered the town 

first and began fighting the Germans. The other partisans did not join the fight because they got a 

report that a lot of Germans were coming from Naliboki. The other partisans left but the Jews 

continued to fight. All but two of them were killed. The two who survived were taken captive. The 

two men who were captured alive were cut to pieces by the Germans. Boris, Josh [Starkman] and 

seven other Jews were lucky to be alive because they had stayed behind in camp during the mission 

because they had all been bitten by a lot of mosquitoes. 
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Soviet assault on Naliboki occurred in the early morning hours of May 8, 1943. One hundred and thirty (or 

128 by some counts) innocent civilians, among them women and children, were butchered in a pogrom 

which lasted several hours. Some residents were killed in their beds, others were dragged out of their 

homes and executed individually or in groups. Buildings were ransacked and set on fire throughout the 

town. 

   There is no question that there were many Jews among the large Soviet forces that attacked Naliboki. A 

Soviet document (dated June 2, 1943) states that Iosif Shimanovich (Szymonowicz), who hailed from the 

town of Naliboki, was to lead a group of partisans from the Dzerzhinsky detachment of the Stalin Brigade 

to the town for the assault.
158

 Another Jewish accountðgrossly exaggerated and inaccurate (no Germans 

were present in Naliboki at the time)ðstates: 

 

After one battle, after killing hundreds of Poles and Germans, the partisans took three Germans and 

ten Poles captive. The partisans took all their ammunition and food from the village. The 

commander had Boris [Rubin Segalowicz, later Segal, a member of the Stalin Brigade] speak to the 

Germans (since he could speak Yiddish). He said to them, ñIôll do to you what you have done to 

me.ò He took his knife and cut one of their arms and put salt on it. The German begged Boris to kill 

him. Eventually all the prisoners were killed.159 

 

What is in dispute is whether members of the Bielski group were among the assailants. Confusion about 

this matter was unavoidable in the circumstances. A number of Jewish fugitives from Naliboki had joined 

the Soviet partisans, among them: Boris Rubin (Rubizhewski), Izaak (Itsek) Rubizhewski, Israel Kesler, 

Iosif Shimanovich (Szymonowicz), Akiva or Kiva Szymonowicz (Shimanovich), Mikhail or Michel 

Makhlis (Michal Mechlis), Abraham Viner (Avram Wajner), Avram Kibovich, Chaim Szlusberg 

(Shlesberg), Israel Shlesberg, Pnina Szlusberg Szmidt (Perla Shlesberg), Israel Bolotnicki, Tevel 

Bolotnicki, Aizik Bunimovich, Abram Shmuilovich, Leah Shmuilovich, Choina Shklut, and Chona 

Pressman.
160

 However, it was not clear to the local population what detachment they belonged to at any 
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given time, although most of them eventually became part of the Bielski group. Some of them did take part 

on the assault on Naliboki. It is understandable, therefore, that the residents of the town who survived the 

massacre by hiding could not identify them by name when questioned sixty years after the events, but 

simply considered them to be Bielski partisans. After all, the assailants did not leave calling cards. 

   According to Wacğaw Nowicki, who lived through those events, the formations that did most of the 

pillaging and murdering were the ñPobedaò detachment
161

 and the Bielski partisans, who later established 

their base and family camp, known as ñJerusalem,ò in Naliboki forest. 

 

It was 4:30, perhaps five at night. I was awoken by a powerful boom. A long burst of shots from an 

automatic rifle blanketed the cottage. Bullets pierced the beams through and flew above our beds. 

A bullet lodged in the wall a few centimetres above my head. I heard screams. We barricaded 

ourselves in the house, but the assailants ran further towards the centre of Naliboki. é  

   What we saw when the partisans left was beyond human comprehension. Burned down buildings. 

Piles of corpses. Mostly rifle-shot wounds, smashed heads, lifeless eyes staring in horror. Among 

those killed I noticed a schoolmate. é  

   Jews who lived among us before the war stood out among the assailants. They knew perfectly 

well where everyone lived and who was who. é 

   This was a group of degenerate bandits, and not any partisans. Their main occupation was 

robbery and murder. Often they also committed rapes. They raped one of my neighbours. Her 

father, whom they forced to watch this at gunpoint, was told: ñDonôt worry, after the war we will 

come and get married.ò During an assault they shot Antoni KorŨenko, my godfatherôs brother, 

when he did not want to hand over his horses.162 

 

Everyone was in tears. The plunderers did not omit a single homestead. Something was taken from 

everyone. Because he resisted, they killed the father of my schoolmate and cousin, Marysia 

Grygorcewicz. The ñsoldiers of Pobedaò and ñJerusalemitesò took with them the pigs and chickens 

which they shot, flour, as well as other provisions. They wanted to live! But they took the lives of 

others. They did not come to fight. é 

   In the space of almost two hours, 128 innocent people died, the majority of them, as eyewitnesses 

later testified, at the hands of the Bielski and ñPobedaò assassins.163 
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   Residents of Naliboki who survived the attack make it clear that the assailants did not simply target the 

organizers of the local self-defence, who were few in number, but also the civilian population and burned 

down half the town in the process. Wacğaw Chilicki states: ñThey followed their noses and burst into 

cottages. Everyone they came across along the way they killed in cold blood. No one was shown mercy.ò 

Bolesğaw Chmara, then 15 years old, recalled: ñThey summoned my brother, who was three years older 

than me, out to the porch. He came out. There was a woman among them. She raised her rifle and shot him 

right in the chest. It was a dumdum bullet that ripped his entire arm off. She shrugged her shoulders, turned 

around on her heel, and they moved on. They robbed what they could and reduced the cottage to ashes.ò
164

 

The presence of women is a strong indication that there were Jews among the assailants, since there were 

very few non-Jewish women in the Soviet partisan movement in this area. 

   Maria Chilicka (n®e Grygorcewicz) described the events as follows: 

 

Neither my father nor our tenant nor our neighbours were organizers [of the self-defence]. They 

robbed us first. They told my father to harness his horse to his wagon and then told him to load 

onto it whatever was in the granary: flour, buckwheat, lard, smoked and raw meat. While my father 

was loading the wagon one of them struck him with the butt of a gun so that he would load faster. 

When the wagon was loaded they told my father to stand by the wall of the granary and they 

wanted to shoot him. We started to plead with them. At this time our tenant came out of the house 

so they told my father to remove his shoes. They led our tenant, Albert Farbatka, from the 

courtyard to the street and shot him near the gate. The bullet did not go through his forehead but 

pierced his cheeks and he fell to the ground. I canôt say exactly why they didnôt finish him off since 

I ran to rescue our cows because our cowshed was already on fire. Our pigsty with our pigs was 

burning down completely. When I was chasing the cows into the field one of the men with a torch 

went to set fire to the barn, and afterwards set fire to the granary and houses. They also killed our 

neighbour and burned his property. His body was also charred because there was no one to pull him 

away from his house. He left behind six children between the ages of twelve and one. The bandits 

just kept yelling ñkill the belak [White Pole] and let him rot,ò and they didnôt spare anyone. é 

   Before the self-defence group [was formed] armed intruders would enter homes in broad daylight 

and take clothing as well. A female intruder told my sister to open her wardrobe and took whatever 

she wanted. é If anyone would try not to give it to them then they would take what they wanted 

and destroy the rest so that nothing remained. They spared no one and nothing. é I do not know 

why they exacted such revenge on us. Perhaps because we fed them? Our family helped to hide a 

Jew from Mir named Kaplan. He didnôt stay in our house, but we provided him with food. é After 

they burned us down and we ourselves had nothing to eat, he went to the partisans. é Another Jew, 

a dentist who used to work in our hospital, stayed with us for three months. é Once the Germans 

came to us and demanded a bicycle and started to search our buildings. My mother was really 

afraid that they would enter our house and asked him to leave the house for a while. But he didnôt 

leave, and simply moved from one end of the house to the other é When my mother saw him she 
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got upset and told him to leave a little more abruptly. He left right away. When the Germans left he 

came and took his documents and left é If they had found him in our house they wouldôve shot all 

eight of us é 

   They [the Soviet partisans] came mostly to the farmers to rob. The worst was when they came or 

rather assaulted us accompanied by women, then they plundered everything, and when there wasnôt 

what she wanted, they smashed dishes, mirrors, and broke whatever came into their hands. Only 

once did a Russian come from the forest and not take [things] himself but told us to give him clean 

undergarments and food. é Not only did they rob but they also killed é Not one of our buildings 

remained. They took our horse and wagon. é Every family buried their victims. é They killed my 

16-year-old cousin Jan Ğukaszewicz in 1942 while he was watching his cows é Some Jews took 

another of my cousins from his home on May 8, 1943 and killed him. They also killed my cousinôs 

husband. They would have killed my father too had our tenant not come out of the house é 

   The Germans came during the day and carried out round-ups for labour in Germany. é In July 

there were many Germans and the partisans were afraid of them. They hid deep in the forest. They 

[the partisans] were heroes [when dealing] with the defenceless population. The Germans deported 

us on August 6, 1943. é They took us to camps like bandits because the real bandits had hidden in 

the forest.165 

 

   The head of the Soviet partisans in the Baranowicze district, Vasilii Chernyshev or Chernishov [ɺʘʩʠʣʠʡ 

ɺʘʩʠʣʴʝʚʠʯ ʏʝʨʥʳʰʸʚ], known by his nom de guerre Major General Platon,
166

 dispatched the following 

report after the assault on Naliboki, in which he grossly exaggerated the accomplishments of the Soviet 

partisans: 

 

On the night of May 8, 1943, the partisan detachments ñDzerzhinskiiò (commander Shashkin, 

commissar comrade Lakhov), ñBolshevikò (commander Makaev, commissar comrade 

Khmelevskii), ñSuvorovò (commander Surkev, commissar comrade Klevko) under the command of 

comrade [Pavel] Gulevich, the commander of the ñStalinò Brigade, and its commissar comrade 

Muratov as well as the representative of the Iwieniec interregional peace centre, comrade 

Vasilevich, by surprise destroyed the German garrison of the ñself-defenceò of the small town of 

Naliboki. As a result of two-and-a-half hours of fighting 250 members of the self-defence [referred 

to by its Belorussian name of ñsamookhovaò, actually spelled samaakhova in BelorussianðM.P.] 

group were killed. We took 4 heavy machine-guns, 15 light machine guns, 4 mortars, 10 automatic 

pistols, 13 rifles, and more than 20,000 rounds of ammunition (for rifles), and a lot of mines and 
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 Correspondence from Maria Chilicka, dated March 3, 2004 and February 6, 2005 (in the authorôs possession). The 

reference to women partisans undoubtedly refers to Jewish women since there were very few non-Jewish women in the 

Soviet partisan movement in this area. 
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 Vasilii Chernyshev (or Chernyshov), a Communist Party apparatchik, was nominated the leader of the Soviet 

partisans in the Baranowicze district by General Panteleimon Ponomarenko, the first secretary of the Communist Party 

of Belorussia and later chief of general staff of the partisan movement in Western Belarus. Neither Chernyshev nor 

Ponomarenko had a military background prior to their appointments to those positions. Chernyshov adopted the nom de 

guerre of Major General Platon, a military rank he never actually held. 
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grenades. We burned down the electrical station, sawmill, barracks, and county office. We took 100 

cows and 78 horses. é 

   I order the leaders of the brigade and partisan detachments to present those distinguished in this 

battle for state awards. 

   In this battle our units lost six dead and six wounded. Praise to our brave partisansðpatriots of 

the Fatherland.167 

 

Later Soviet reports about the assault on Naliboki added further embellishments. In fact, there was no 

German garrison in Naliboki and the local self-defence group had 26 rifles and two light machine guns.
168

 

   Polandôs Institute of National Remembrance arrived at the following preliminary findings after launching 

an investigation into these events: 

 

Despite a concluded agreement [of mutual cooperation], in the early morning of May 8, 1943 the 

Soviet partisans attacked [the town of] Naliboki. They pulled out of houses men who were actual 

members of the self-defence as well as those who were suspected of belonging to that formation, 

and shot them near their homes individually or in groups of several or a dozen or more. A portion 

of the buildings was set on fire and practically everything was taken from the housesðclothing, 

boots, foodðand from the farmsðhorses and cattle. They [the Soviet partisans] also burned down 

the church, along with the parish records, school, county seat, post office, and coach house. The 

attack lasted two to three hours. In total 128 people were killed, mostly men, but the victims also 
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 This report from May 10, 1943 is reproduced, in Polish translation, in Gasztold, ñSowietyzacja i rusyfikacja 

WileŒszczyzny i Nowogr·dczyzny w dziağalnoŜci partyzantki sowieckiej w latach 1941ï1944,ò in Sudoğ, Sowietyzacja 

Kres·w Wschodnich II Rzeczypospolitej po 17 wrzeŜnia 1939, 281ï82. See also Boradyn, Niemenïrzeka niezgody, 88. 

The local Home Army commander, Eugeniusz Klimowicz, was charged with various crimes in Stalinist Poland 

directed at ñFascist-Nazi criminals,ò among them with the murder of Soviet partisans. He was brought to trial before a 

military tribunal in Warsaw in October 1951 and sentenced to death. His death sentence was commuted to life 

imprisonment. In 1957, after the death of Stalin, his conviction was overturned and the proceeding against him was 

eventually discontinued for lack of evidence. Klimowicz described the events leading up to the pacification of Naliboki 

in a petition for clemency, dated May 30, 1956, forwarded to the head of the Supreme Military Tribunal. See letter to: 

Ob. Prezesa NajwyŨszego SŃdu Wojskowego w Warszawie, sygnatura Akt Sr 749/51. In his petition, Klimowicz 

mentions that Jews detained in Naliboki were all released unharmed after brief interrogations, including one Chaja 

Szymonowicz, who had denounced Klimowicz during the Soviet occupation. The reality was that any Polish partisan 

suspected of conspiring against or engaging in armed confrontation with Soviet partisans during the German 

occupation was branded a Nazi collaborator in the postwar Stalinist period and libel to put on trial and sentenced to 

death or a long term of imprisonment for that reason alone. See, for example, Borodziewicz, Sz·sta WileŒska Brygada 

AK, 104 n.7, 194 n.6, 200, 260. 

   Klimowiczôs testimony about the conduct of some local Jews during that period is borne out by other witnesses. A 

rabble of pro-Soviet Jews and Belorussians came to arrest the Catholic pastor of Naliboki, Rev. J·zef Bajko, in 

September 1939, intending either to hand him over to the Soviet authorities or to possibly lynch him (as had been done 

in other localities). A large gathering of parishioners foiled these plans, allowing Rev. Bajko to escape before the 

arrival of the NKVD. See Wierzbicki, Polacy i Biağorusini w zaborze sowieckim, 115. When the Germans invaded the 

Soviet Union in June 1941, reportedly an unnamed priest, who allegedly was known as a notorious anti-Semite, 

intervened on behalf of Jews in Naliboki who were beset by local bands. See Cholawsky, The Jews of Bielorussia 

during World War II, 272. Rev. Bajko assisted Jews in other ways during the German occupation and he and his vicar, 

Rev. J·zef Baradyn, were locked in a barn and burned alive in August 1943 on suspicion of helping Jews and partisans. 

See Wacğaw ZajŃczkowski, Martyrs of Charity, Part One (Washington, D.C.: St. Maximilian Kolbe Foundation, 1987), 

Entry 378. 
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 Boradyn, Niemenïrzeka niezgody, 89. 
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included three women, a teenage boy, and a ten-year-old child. Those killed were buried in the 

local cemetery. Some members of the self-defence, who were taken by surprise by the attack, 

attempted to fight and killed a few Soviet partisans, but seeing no chance of success withdrew into 

the forest. It must be especially underscored that the vast majority of the victims were killed in 

executions, deliberately and with premeditation, and not by accident. é 

   Soviet partisans from the Second Concentration of the Iwieniec zone, commanded by Grigorii 

Sidoruk [nom de guerre General] ñDubov,ò were active in the region of the Naliboki forest. That 

concentration formed part of the Baranowicze Partisan Concentration. 

   Soviet partisans from the following detachments took part in the assault on Naliboki: 

ñDzerzhinskii,ò ñBolshevik,ò and ñSuvorov,ò commanded by Pavel Gulevich, the commander of 

the Stalin Brigade, and Major Rafail Vasilevich. Jewish partisans from the unit commanded by 

Tuvia Bielski were among the assailants.169 

 

   Oddly, these exploits are missing from testimonies of the Bielski group and academic and popular 

writings about them.
170

 The only Jewish accounts that may describe these events (as there was no other 
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 The Naliboki massacre is under investigation by the Commission for the Prosecution of Crimes against the Polish 

Nation of the Institute of National Remembrance. Anna Gağkiewicz, the prosecutor heading the investigation in the 

Regional Commission in Ğ·dŦ, issued summary reports of the investigation on September 5, 2002 and May 15, 2003, 

titled respectively, ñśledztwo w sprawie zbrodni popeğnionych przez partyzant·w radzieckich na Ũoğnierzach Armii 

Krajowej i ludnoŜci cywilnej na terenie powiat·w Stoğpce i WoğoŨynò and ñOm·wienie dotychczasowych ustaleŒ w 

Ŝledztwach w sprawach o zbrodnie w Nalibokach i Koniuchach.ò These reports are posted online at 

<http://www.ipn.gov.pl>. The quotation in the text is taken from the more recent of these reports. See also Anna 

Surowiec, ñPotrzebni sŃ Ŝwiadkowie,ò Nasz Dziennik, January 21, 2002; ñInformacja o dziağalnoŜci Instytutu Pamiňci 

NarodowejïKomisja ścigania Zbrodni przeciwko Narodowi Polskiemu w okresie 1 lipca 2003 r.ï30 czerwca 2004 r.,ò 

Warsaw, January 2005 (Ğ·dŦ sygnatura akt S 17/01/Zk); Oddziağowa Komisja ścigania Zbrodni przeciwko Narodowi 

Polskiemu w Ğodzi, ñKomunikat dot. Ŝledztwa w sprawie zbrodni popeğnionych przez partyzant·w sowieckich w 

latach 1942ï1944 na terenie byğego wojew·dztwa nowogr·dzkiego,ò June 19, 2008 (which appears to distance itself 

from their original position that partisans from the Bielski group participated in the assault). According to a recent 

statement by a spokesperson for the Institute of National Memory, the surviving villagers could not identify the 

assailants by name, nor were there any archival documents that the Bielski group took part. See PAP, ñRzecznik IPN 

nt. Zbrodni w Nalibokach i braci Bielskich,ò Gazeta Wyborcza, July 14, 2009. On the other hand, journalists from that 

same paper reported that members of the Bielski group did take part in the assault on Naliboki. See, for example, Jacek 

Szczerba, ñNazywam siň Bielski, Tewje Bielski,ò Gazeta Wyborcza, January 22, 2009. The most recent update of the 

Institute of National Remembrance investigation, however, confirms that Jewish partisans did take part in the massacre 

and that some of them are known by name. See Oddziağowa Komisja ścigania Zbrodni przeciwko Narodowi Polskiemu 

w Ğodzi, ñśledztwo w sprawie zbrodni popeğnionych przez partyzant·w radzieckich na Ũoğnierzach Armii Krajowej i 

ludnoŜci cywilnej na terenie powiat·w Stoğpce i WoğoŨyn,ò December 21, 2009, Internet: 

<http://www.ipn.gov.pl/portal.php?serwis=pl&dzial=742&id=11583&search=39074>. 
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 According to information from former Soviet-Jewish partisans, it was widely held that the Bielski group took part in 

the massacre. See Jacek Hugo-Bader, ñA rewolucja to przecieŨ miağa byĺ przyjemnoŜĺ,ò Gazeta Wyborcza, Magazyn 

Gazety (Warsaw), November 15, 1996. Recently, however, Nechama Tec has dismissed allegations connecting the 

partisans to the massacre as ñtotal lies.ò Those allegations, she said, ñunderline the antisemitic tendencies of the writers 

and the distortion of history.ò Robert Bielski, Tuvia Bielskiôs son, was even more blunt, and characteristic, in his anti-

Polish venom: ñThe Bielskis were not in Naliboki in May of ô43. But even if it were true, which I know itôs not, the 

128 people are in no way close to the millions of people that the Polish people herded towards the Germans so they 

could be extinguished. I believe itôs just a consistent Polish antisemitism and the Poles are sloughing off their own 

crimes of being an enemy of the Jews during World War II.ò See Marissa Brostoff, ñPolish Investigators Tie Partisans 

to Massacre,ò Forward (New York), August 7, 2008; reprinted under the heading ñWere Jewish Partisans Depicted in 

New Hollywood Movie Murderers or Heroes?ò Haaertz, August 10, 2008. On the other hand, Zvi Bielski, the son of 

Zus (Zizel) Bielski, Tuviaôs bother, confided: ñThe Bielskis, if they had to, would wipe out an entire village as an 

example not to kill Jews. é these guys were vicious killers when they had to be.ò See James M. Glass, Jewish 

Resistance during the Holocaust: Moral Uses of Violence and Will (Houndmills, Basingstoke, Hampshire and New 
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comparable massacre in that area), though in manner that is almost beyond recognition, are those of Sulia 

and Boris Rubin (Rubizhewski). The Rubins claim that it was Boris Rubinôs group, under the command of 

Israel Kesler, who actually masterminded an assault similar in scope to that of Naliboki, on an unnamed 

locality in rather bizarre circumstances.
171

 Keslerôs group had been incorporated into Tuvia Bielskiôs much 

                                                                                                                                                                             
York: Palgrave Macmillan, 2004), 10. At the time, the Bielski group (consisting of some 400 Jews, including about 100 

fighters) had their camps in the forests near the villages of Brzoz·wka (Stara Huta) and Jasionowo, west of Wsielub 

and northwest of the town of Nowogr·dek, about 50 kilometres west of Naliboki. However, the armed men, which 

were organized into fighting squads of eight to ten men each and included a cavalry reconnaissance team, were 

mobilized for various military tasks as required by the Soviet commanders. See ñHistory of the Formation of the M.I. 

Kalinin Partisan Detachment,ò ñJewish Units in the Soviet Partisan Movement: Selected Documents,ò Yad Vashem 

Studies, vol. 23 (1993): 404ï5; Tec, Defiance, 104; Duffy, The Bielski Brothers, 148ï49. Tellingly, over the years, no 

one has come forward to dispute Boris Rubinôs claim of participating in a massacre similar in scope to that of Naliboki, 

which was aired in the documentary film The Bielsky Brothers: The Unknown Partisans already in 1993. This massacre 

has thus been effectively appropriated by the Bielski partisans. 
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 Sulia Wolozhinski Rubin, who was Boris Rubinôs mistress at the time, recorded the following rendition of these 

events in a memoir which she began to write in the 1960s: ñThere was a village not far from the ghetto [in Dworzec?] 

which escaping Jews would have to pass on the way to the forest, or partisans would pass on the way from the woods. 

These villagers would signal with bells and beat copper pots to alert other villages around. Peasants would run out with 

axes, sicklesðanything that could killðand would slaughter everybody and then divide among themselves whatever 

the unfortunate had had. Borisô [Rubizhewski] group decided to stop this once and for all. They sent a few people into 

the village and lay in ambush on all the roads. Soon enough signaling began and the peasants ran out with their 

weapons to kill the ólousy Jewsô. Well, the barrage started and they were mown down on all sides. Caskets were made 

for three days and more than 130 bodies buried. Never again were Jews or partisans killed on those roads.ò See Sulia 

Wolozhinski Rubin, Against the Tide: The Story of an Unknown Partisan (Jerusalem: Posner & Sons, 1980), 126ï27. 

Sulia Rubinôs account is replete with lapses, contains obvious concoctions and lacks important detail (place name, date, 

chronology, etc.), which is surprising given that her husband, Boris Rubin, hails from Naliboki and would thus have 

taken part in the massacre of his former neighbours. The reason she gives for the assault is also highly dubious, since 

there would have been no compelling reason for anyone to have to pass through the isolated town of Naliboki, other 

than to forage. Moreover, as Soviet sources make quite clear, the decision to launch the assault on Naliboki was not 

Boris Rubinôs or Israel Keslerôs, but was entirely in the hands of the Soviet partisan command. 

   Sulia Rubin gives a markedly different version of those events in the documentary film The Bielsky Brothers: The 

Unknown Partisans, produced by David Herman (Soma Productions, 1993; reissued in 1996 by Films for the 

Humanities & Sciences). Interviewed with her husband Boris Rubin by her side, she then claimed that the assault on 

Naliboki was carried out by her husband after he had learned about the alleged gruesome fate of his father at the hands 

of the villagers: ñHis father Shlomko é was crucified on a tree é Boris found out. That village doesnôt exist anymore. 

é 130 people they buried that day.ò Curiously, Sulia Rubin appears to have forgotten that, in her detailed memoir 

published in 1980, she maintained that Borisôs father, Solomon Rubizhewski, had been killed by the Nazis when they 

liquidated the ghetto in Dworzec, where the Jews from Naliboki were taken by the Germans: ñThe rest of the people 

were chased to the ghetto where the Nazis killed Solomon Rubizhewski and his son, Shimon.ò See Rubin, Against the 

Tide, 123ï24. What this documentary film does inadvertently underscore, however, is the true source of the conflict 

with the local population. As one of the Jewish partisans (interviewed in the film) put it, ñThe biggest problem was é 

feeding so many people. Groups of 10 to 12 partisans used to go out for a march of 80 to 90 kilometres, rob the 

villages, and bring food to the partisans.ò Sulia Rubinôs memoir confirms that the Rubizhewski brothers were engaged 

in forays in the countryside quite frequently. See Rubin, Against the Tide, 111ï20, 136ï37, 143. Soviet reports refer to 

a partisan from the Bielski group by the name of Itsek RubezhevskiiðBoris (Rubin) Rubizhewskiôs older brotherðas a 

rapacious plunderer who was caught repeatedly in the act. In response to such activities, the leader of the Frunze 

Brigade issued a warning that anyone caught robbing in Soviet partisan territory would be executed on the spot. See 

Boradyn, Niemenïrzeka niezgody, 85ï86. 

   In an interview videotaped for the Shoah Foundation Institute for Visual History and Education, University of 

Southern California, Los Angeles, Interview code 5800, George Rubin (born Boruch Rubizhewski, later known as 

Boris) provided more details about these events. Apparently, the events took place in a small village near the Zhetel 

(Zdziňcioğ?) concentration (labour?) camp. The Germans had taken all the strong people of the village to work in the 

camp and killed everyone else. The Jewish partisans went to the village to get ammunition. The person they were to 

meet with ran away and told other villagers about the partisans, who were able to avoid capture by hiding in the forest. 

The ñgoyim blew the hornò (sent out an alarm) and gathered people from three or four villages to ñCatch the Jews.ò 

The partisans laid in wait and let the villagers get close and then opened fire on them. In the end, 130 villagers were 

killed and were buried on top of one another. It took the partisans two days to bury everyone. The partisans used all 
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larger forest group around December 1942, and also included Borisôs brother Izaak (or Itsek) Rubizhewski. 

Both the Rubin brothers and Israel Kesler (about whom there is more in Part Three) were natives of 

Naliboki.
172

 Therefore, their participation in the assault on Naliboki would be consistent with Polish 

eyewitness accounts which mention Jewish residents of Naliboki among the assailants. 

   Ironically, a few months after the Naliboki massacre, from July 13 to August 8, 1943, as part of a massive 

anti-partisan sweep known as Operation Hermann, some 60,000 German troops, with the assistance of 

various auxiliary forces (Lithuanian, Latvian, and Ukrainian) and the Belorussian police, rounded up the 

                                                                                                                                                                             
their ammunition during this attack. Seemingly, this all took place under Keslerôs leadership, before they joined the 

Bielski group. Afterwards, people were scared of the partisans; they were now able to walk around whenever they 

wanted without fear of being reported to authorities. Rubin mentions that his father was executed in a concentration 

camp, and does not allege that he was put to death by villagers like his wife does in the earlier documentary film. This 

latest testimony is as baffling as the earlier versions. There is no independent information about such a large-scale 

murder in the area (apart from Naliboki), and none is mentioned in the detailed entry for ñZdziňcioğ (Zhetel)ò in Dean, 

Encyclopedia of Camps and Ghettos, 1933ï1945, vol. 2, Part B, 1307ï9. Besides, why would Jewish partisans spend 

two days burying 130 villagers whom they had just murdered, thereby exposing themselves to more attacks or being 

denounced to the German authorities? 

   Sulia Wolozhinski came from a well-to-do family in Nowogr·dek; her mother was a dentist who obtained lucrative, 

and much sought after, contracts from the Polish army. Nechama Tec describes some episodes from the courting of 

Sulia Wolozhinski: ñBoris Rubierzewicki [sic], a brave partisan, a scout, and a regular food collector, would be a good 

choice. é Boris was interested. As proof of his intentions, he presented her with a fur coat, confiscated during a 

mission [i.e., a raid on a village]. Sulia notes that after she took up with Boris, óRight away I was dressed. Right away, I 

got a pair of boots. I had a fur.ôò See Tec, Resilience and Courage, 316ï17; Tec, Defiance, 161 (Borisôs surname is 

given as Rubierzewski). As for the alleged hostility of the local population, Sulia Wolozhinski mentions that, when she 

fell sick, she was sheltered by villagers in nearby Kleciszcze for three weeks until she recovered her strength: 

ñKletishtche [Kleciszcze] was a planlessly scattered, muddy village laid between two deep forests. The houses were 

wooden and primitive, but as clean as possible and the local peasants were good people.ò See Rubin, Against the Tide, 

134ï35. A Polish source indicates that when the Jewish residents of Naliboki were seized by the Germans and confined 

in the ghetto in RubieŨewicze, villagers from Naliboki brought them food. See Jozef Lojko [J·zef Ğojko], The Wound 

That Never Healed (Kidderminster, Worcestershire: n.p., 1999), 123. After the ñliberation,ò Boris Rubizhewski 

followed his commissar to Lida, where he obtained a position in the militia along with other Jewish partisans. These 

positions kept them out of the army and saved them from being sent to the front. Sulia Wolozhinski became a ñdirector 

of cadresò of the railroad. Although she used the knowledge she acquired in her position to help fellow Jews, the couple 

was betrayed to the NKVD by a Jew when they decided to leave for Poland illegally. Once they finally arrived in the 

United States and settled in the Bronx, the Rubins would often find a swastika chalked on their door or mail box and 

their American-born daughter was terrorized by a young anti-Semitic ruffian. See Rubin, Against the Tide, 167, 171, 

174, 181ï82, 184, 220, 230. 
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 Boris Rubin was one of several Jews from Naliboki who joined Keslerôs small group. They occupied themselves 

solely with robbing farmers in the area. This group was incorporated into Bielskiôs larger group around December 1942 

or perhaps in early 1943, and soon grew to about 50 members. They maintained a separate camp and enjoyed a measure 

of autonomy. By the fall of 1943, their number grew to about 150 members and Tuvia Bielski did not appear to 

exercise any real control over them. Keslerôs group was notorious for its plundering even among the Bielski group. See 

Tec, Defiance, 76, 112, 123, 128ï29, 178ï79; Duffy, The Bielski Brothers, 183ï85, 187, 206; Rubin, Against the Tide, 

126ï27, 133, 139ï41; Musial, Sowjetische Partisanen in WeiÇruÇland, 201ï2 (Itsek Rubezhevskii), 203ï5, 214 

(Kesler). As described later, a few of members of Keslerôs group, including Izaak (Itsek) Rubizhewski, were caught 

plundering by Polish partisans, but released on Sulia Rubinôs intervention after receiving a thrashing. Eventually, the 

Rubizhewski brothers and Sulia Wolozhinski returned to Bielskiôs main group. See Rubin, Against the Tide, 142ï44. 

Kesler denounced Tuvia Bielski to General Dubov for financial mismanagement (misappropriation of gold, jewelry and 

money) and asked for permission to form a separate detachment. When Tuvia Bielski found out about this, he arrested 

Kesler and then executed him. Afterwards he denounced Kesler to the Soviet command as a ñmarauderò and ñbandit.ò 

Kesler was reportedly a thief and arsonist and ran a brothel in Naliboki before the war. After Hitlerôs attack on Stalin in 

the summer of 1941, he allegedly denounced Communists, including Jewish party activists, to the Nazis. See Tec, 

Defiance, 179ï80, 182ï84; Duffy, The Bielski Brothers, 235ï37, 243ï45; Rubin, Against the Tide, 158; Musial, 

Sowjetische Partisanen in WeiÇruÇland, 203ï5, 214; testimony of Estera Gorodejska, dated August 9, 1945, Archive of 

the Jewish Historical Institute (Warsaw), no. 301/568. 
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population of scores of villages within a 15-kilometre radius of Naliboki forest suspected of supporting the 

partisans and burned down their homesteads. In total, 60 villages were razed and more than 20,000 

villagers were deported to the Reich for slave labour. Hundreds of partisans and around 5,000 villagers 

were killed as a result of this operation.
173

 A number of Catholic priests were executed on suspicion of 

aiding partisans and Jews: Rev. J·zef Bajko and Rev. J·zef Baradyn of Naliboki, Rev. Paweğ DoğŨyk of 

Derewno (or Derewna), Rev. Leopold Aulich and Rev. Kazimierz Rybağtowski of KamieŒ,
174

 and Father 

Achilles (J·zef Puchağa) and Father Herman (Karol StňpieŒ) of Pierszaje. This operation is vividly recalled 

by Tuvia Bielski and other Jewish partisans. 

 

One night I sent Akiva [Shimanovich] and several others to the village of Kletishtza [Kleciszcze], 

thinking they might be able to get a little food. When they neared the village, they clearly saw 

several German military units. The village was ablaze with the bright headlights of military cars. 

   Akiva returned empty-handed, but the news he brought was important. Later, the farmers told us 

that that night there were thousands of Germans in that village. é 

   The news came back to us that the Germans had gathered together all the farmers in the 

neighborhood of the village of Kletishtza, had taken them to safety in cars, and then had set the 

village afire. The farmers were finally taken to Germany; only a few dozen escaped. The cattle that 

the Germans couldnôt take with them, they shot; any left behind were lost, of course, in the fire. 

Thus the Germans burned to the ground 17 villages and hundreds of farmhouses and estates. 
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 Boradyn, ñStosunki Armii Krajowej z partyzantkŃ sowieckŃ na Nowogr·dczyŦnie,ò in Boradyn, ed., Armia 

Krajowa na Nowogr·dczyŦnie i WileŒszczyŦnie (1941ï1945), 112; Boradyn, Niemenïrzeka niezgody, 130ï31; 

Krajewski, Na Ziemi Nowogr·dzkiej, 44, 405ï410; Dean, Collaboration in the Holocaust, 131ï33. Other 

ñpacificationsò carried out by the Germans on a massive scale in this part of Poland are described in Krajewski, Na 

Ziemi Nowogr·dzkiej, 43ï45; Maria WardzyŒska, ñRadziecki ruch partyzancki i jego zwalczanie w Generalnym 

Komisariacie Biağorusi,ò Pamiňĺ i SprawiedliwoŜĺ: Biuletyn Gğ·wnej Komisji Badania Zbrodni przeciwko Narodowi 

PolskiemuïInstytutu Pamiňci Narodowej, no. 39 (1996): 46ï50. WardzyŒska points out that the armed Soviet partisans 

would flee the area leaving the defenceless local population to fend for itself. The Germans perpetrated heinous crimes 

against the local population during these operations, such as herding villagers into barns and setting them on fire (for 

example, in Ğapice). The German forces were assisted in these ñpacificationò actions by indigenous police forces 

consisting of 19 Schutzmannschaften. Of these, 17 were assigned to the SS and Police Leader for Belorussia in Minsk. 

Four were Lithuanian, two Latvian, three Belorussian, seven Ukrainian, and oneðSS unit ñDruzhinaòðconsisted of 

2,000 Russians and Ukrainians. See Frank Buscher, ñInvestigating Nazi Crimes in Byelorussia: Challenges and 

Lessons,ò posted on the Internet at: <http://muweb.millersville.edu/~holo-con/buscher.html>. The role of the local 

Belorussian order police, which included some Poles in its ranks, was for the most part passive. According to German 

sources, some 345,000 civilians are reckoned to have died as a result of punitive operations directed against the civilian 

population of Belorussia, which included prewar Polish territories, together with perhaps 30,000 partisans. See 

Christian Gerlach, Kalkulierte Morde: Die deutsche Wirtschafts- und Vernichtungspolitik in WeiÇruÇland 1941 bis 

1944 (Hamburg: Hamburger Edition, 1999), 884ff. According to Polish sources, non-Jewish losses, both Belorussians 

and Poles, in the territory of interwar Poland that became ñWestern Belorussiaò were in the range of 150,000ï200,000, 

including some 70ï80,000 civilian victims of anti-partisan warfare. See Grzegorz Hryciuk, ñRepresje niemieckie na 

Kresach II Rzeczypospolitej 1941ï1944, Pamiňĺ i SprawiedliwoŜĺ, no. 12 (2008): 94, 96.  

 
174

 Mieczysğaw Suwağa, ñóBoŨe, coŜ Polskňô w Puszczy Nalibockiej,ò in Julian HumeŒski, ed., Udziağ kapelan·w 
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   The city of Naliboki was also consumed by fire. The intention of the Germans, as our agents 

explained to us later, was to destroy the villages that were close to the forest, so that the Partisans 

could not use them as a source of food or find shelter in them.175 

 

However, as Tuvia Bielski recalls, the hardship of the villagers did not end there: 

 

One of the tall men said he could see a woman in the distance walking around among the trees. The 

guards caught her, and sent to ask me what, according to the rules and regulations, should be done 

with her. We investigated to find out what she was doing. ñIôm searching for my family, they ran 

away from Kletishtza [Kleciszcze],ò (a border village about six kilometers away) [that had been razed 

by the Germans]. 

   She was soaking wet. I was sure that she was a spy and knew what she was doing; but then again it 

could be that she would give us away without knowing she was going it. The farmers knew that 

Partisans were using the forests for cover and they were forbidden to come near them. Both the 

Russian Partisans and ourselves were forced for security reasons to kill any suspicious person, and so 

it was that this woman also had to be shot.176  

 

   Paradoxically, Operation Hermann turned out to be a godsend for the Jewish partisans, who returned to 

Naliboki forest after the operation and were now free to strip the homes of the depopulated villages of their 

contents without hindrance: 

 

é they could seize the food and supplies that the Germans were unable to cart away. And it was 

quite a bounty. 

   In the ruined towns the partisans found chickens, pigs, and cows ambling everywhere. They 

raided beehives for honeycombs and rooted through cellars for potatoes. They discovered 

vegetables in the gardens ripe for picking and wheat in the fields ready for harvesting. Wagons, 

sewing machines, cobblerôs tools, and threshing machines were theirs for the taking. é 

   Over the course of several days, everything was taken é177 

 

For many months, the people from the Bielski camp went into those settlements, and to the ruins of 

Naliboki and Derevna [Derewna], which were close by é to collect anything that could be of use. 

From Naliboki and Derevna we brought whole parts of buildings, which could be useful to us, and 
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also complete windows, heaters, boilers, barrels and kitchen utensils. é In September 1943 the 

camp people still went out every day in carts, dug the fields, collected potatoes in sacks, loaded 

them, and brought them to the camouflages stores, to be kept for the winter months.
178

 

 

The Kesler group, who hid in Naliboki forest during the operation, became ever more aggressive and 

ñwould ransack peasant homes for jewelry, watches, and other valuables.ò
179

 The Soviet (Russian) partisans 

also used this opportunity to strike at Jewish stragglers. As one Bielski partisan recalls, ñBecause we were 

split into many small groups some Russian fighters took advantage and attacked us. é They forced my 

friend to take off his boots and made him give up his shotgun.ò
180

 The Jews experienced no such problems 

at the hands of Polish partisans.
181

 Despite strict orders not to raid the villagers who managed to survive 

Operation Hermann, five drunken partisans from the Bielski fightersô Ordzhonikidze detachment, led by 

Kiva (Akiva) Shimanovich, stripped four families of virtually all their food supplies and cow, necessitating 

a reprimand from the Soviet brigade commissar.
182

 A few weeks later, a group of 18 partisans including the 

same Shimanovich robbed a famer in Naliboki, killed his last pig, and beat up his elderly mother.
183

 

   Even before the Bielski partisans settled in Naliboki forest, the relatively small group of armed men in 

their ranks had become known for their raids on villagers. One of their members wrote candidly: 

 

The number of people under Bielski grew to 450. é They faced extraordinary difficulties with food 

needed to maintain such a large group because the villages could no longer voluntarily supply such 

large quantities of provisions. Conflicts arose with local Russian partisan units as well as with main 

leadership of the partisan movement, which stated quite accurately that the local population was 

becoming hostile toward the partisans because of excessive confiscation of food. Especially since 

there among us those who abused and even took from villagers who were well disposed [toward the 

partisans] luxury articles such as chickens, butter, and honey, despite the clear order that such 

articles could only be confiscated only in distant, hostile villages located near cities and at the 

services of the Belorussian police.
184
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Once encamped in Naliboki forest, the Bielski partisans did not engage in any true partisan or military 

activity. The men taken for the Ordzhonikidze fighting unit had been severed off from the main body of the 

Bielski group, leaving some 120ï150 armed men to guard and supply the large family camp. Their 

problems with the villagers, Home Army, and local Belorussian authorities all stemmed from the frequent 

ñmissionsò, that is, food-gathering expeditions, they carried out in numerous villages. One Bielski partisan 

recalls: 

 

We carried out all kinds of missions. é  

   The unit numbered 1,200 people, all Jews. There was little to eat and there were also few armed 

men because most of the armed men were placed in Ordzhenikidzeôs [Ordzhonikidzeôs] unit. The 

majority were women, older men. There were in all 120ï150 partisans with guns. We were in the 

Nalibok [Naliboki] forest where there were many units. It was very hard to get food. Besides, we 

werenôt allowed to take anything around our section. We had to go to outlying places, closer to the 

Germans. 

   We went into Ogrodnik [Ogrodniki] (a village) one or one and a half km from Korelitz 

[Korelicze]. We immediately noticed the [Orthodox] priest and the veterinarian. Our men, who 

were standing outside, didnôt think anything was wrong. They took wagons and loaded them up 

with whatever they could. As we left with 10 wagons full, the [Belorussian] police in the yard 

began shooting at us. We hardly escaped alive, and we left everything there.  

   On the way back, we went into villages because we were ashamed to return to our unit empty 

handed. We brought back a great wealth of provisions. When we got back, we told Bielski what had 

happened. He admired our heroism and was glad that we managed to get away safely.  

   Besides partisans, there were also White Poles in the Nalibok forest.  

   The Germans set up a blockade and I received an order from Bielski to go and see who was in the 

area. We were always in contact with Christians who would give us news. I went out with Chaim 

Kravetz and Barke Rubizhevski. We rode slowly and came to a Christian. Before entering a village, 

we would stop at the first house and find out whether there were any Germans in the village. The 

Christian told us that everything was quiet in the village and that there were no Germans. We went 

in further and we were suddenly caught in a storm of bullets. This killed the White Poles.
185

 

 

   Occasionally, the Jews in the Ordzhonikidze partisan detachment, under the command of a Soviet 

commander, and, informally, Zus Bielski, were called on for various tasks of a military nature and were 
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involved in a few confrontations with the Home Army. The only ñface to faceò confrontations with the 

Germans that Tuvia Bielski describes in his memoirs (published in 1946) occurred in the early stages of 

their formation, in September and October 1942, near Nowogr·dek, and those were undertaken together 

with a Soviet partisan detachment led by Lieutenant Viktor Panchenkov. The first incident was an ambush 

on a truck carrying provisions requisitioned in the village of Radziuki; the second, a failed attempt to 

destroy a small rural train station in Jacuki probably staffed by two railroad police.
186

 

   In the Radziuki incident, twenty-five men from the Bielski group armed with rifles and an equal number 

from the Soviet group fired at the supply truck and brought it to a halt. Some of the eight Germans and 

Belorussian policemen who alighted from the truck were hit by bullets as they fled. The partisans 

confiscated some weapons including two machine guns and four rifles, ammunition, and food provisions. 

They then fired bullets into the gas tank of the vehicle and it exploded.
187

 According to Bielskiôs 1943 

report on the Ordzhonikidze detachment, allegedly ñmany Germans were killedò in this incident.
188

 Over 

time, the Jacuki incident grew into a bloody battle. According to Tuvia Bielskiôs report of September 16, 

1944, four Germans were killed and seven wounded.
189

 In his postwar memoirs, he claims that seven to 

eight Germans were killed.
190

 According to one candid participant, however, there were no casualties, 

either German or Soviet. Pinchas Boldo, a partisan from the Bielski group, stated: ñThe enemy had realized 

that they were being attacked and they opened fire on us é not one German was killed é None of us died. 

But we did not succeed.ò
191

 In the Nowogr·dek memorial book these two episodes take on even bigger 

proportions: 

 

In November 1942 the Bielskiôs [sic] with Victor Panchenkaôs [sic] Russian partisans, ambushed 

German military convoys on the Novoyelna-Novogrudok [Nowojelnia-Nowogr·dek] road. Asael 

[Bielski] was the commander of the Jewish unit. Scores of Germans were killed, and many weapons 

were captured on that occasion. The weapons were used to equip the fighters from the Novogrudok 

Ghetto.  
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   There was a second battle in November under Asaelôs command, at the railway station Naziki 

[Jacuki], on the Neman [Niemen]-Lida line. It was a fierce battle with the Germans, who were dug-in 

in a bunker that guarded the station. It ended successfully.192 

 

   Another assault described by Bielski, also a joint operation with Panchenkovôs detachment in March 

1943, was an ambush directed against a Lithuanian police battalion in the village of Draczyğowo east of 

Nowog·dek. Allegedly, 15 policemen were killed or wounded.
193

 The assaults on Filonowce and Biskupce, 

in March and April 1944, for which the Soviet partisans conscripted Bielskiôs combatants, are described 

later on. Two additional assaults in which some of Bielskiôs combatants participated was an attack on 

KamieŒ in May 1944, in which the settlement was burned to the ground and 23 Home Army soldiers and 

more than 20 civilians were killed, and an attack on the Belorussian villages of Kupisk LubczaŒski, Kupisk 

Pierwszy and Kupisk Kazionny, on June 13, 1944, where hundreds of farmsteads were set on fire and an 

unknown number of civilians were killed in retaliation for the activities of the small self-defence group 

which tried to protect the villagers from unwanted raids.
194

 

   Once they settled in Naliboki forest, where a permanent camp was set up in the fall of 1943, the Bielski 

group did not engage in armed confrontations with the Germans. The following candid account describes 

the one and only planned battle which fell through. 

 

The plan was to fight a nearby German unit. We learned from the Russians that the Germans were 

in retreat and were trying to kill as many of us as they could in a final burst of rage as they were 

driven away. 

   However, even with Russian and Jewish partisans together, we were no match for the well-trained 

German army, and we had to go deeper in the forest. We crossed treacherous swamps, laying down 

logs and branches as we went along é Once past the swamp, we fled through more thick forest. 

    The Russian and German armies crossed paths that day, and shot at us as we ran through their 

crossfire. We had to duck to avoid the bullets. We yelled in Russian, ñWeôre partisans, donôt shot!ò 

The Russian soldiers would stop, but the German soldiers continued to attack. 

   I was not hit, but other members of our group were not so lucky. One small boy from my town 

and none men from the Bielski partisans were killed that day, and one woman, the mother of a 

friend of mine, was followed into a bunker, cornered, and shot.195 
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The scenes of Tuvia Bielski and his partisans attacking German tanks found in the film Defiance are 

nothing but sheer Hollywood inventions and myth-building fantasy. 

   For the most part, however, the Bielski group simply robbed in the countryside. Dov Zalmanovicz, one of 

a group of twenty-four escapees from the Nowogr·dek ghetto who joined the Bielski group, recalled: 

 

When we got out of the forest and found ourselves in the open, we ran into two people on horses, 

wearing civilian clothes. They asked us if we had escaped from the ghetto. Even though we didnôt 

know who they were, we told them that we had. They took us on their horses to the nearest village. 

They told the peasants that they would come back for us in two weeks, and they instructed them not 

to harm us. Exactly two weeks later, they appeared in a wagon, and only then did they reveal to us 

that they were partisans. They told us that there was a special unit of Jewish partisans, among them 

people from our town, and they suggested that we join them. Naturally, we chose to be in that unit, 

where there were Jews and people we knew. We went into the forest with them. When we got there 

we couldnôt believe what we saw. There was a real town in the middle of the forest. Little huts had 

been built one next to the other. We were taken into an office and interrogated at length, because we 

were the first two of the twenty-four survivors who had managed to escape the ghetto through the 

tunnel and reach the partisans.  

   The first question was whether we had any money in our possession in order to buy weapons, 

because the custom was that each person bought his own weapon, with his own money. We had no 

money, of course, but after a few months, the situation changed altogether. 

   Planes appeared in the sky and dropped weapons in large quantities, to a point where an ordinary 

revolver no longer had any value because we were using automatic weapons. The two of us also 

received a weapon. I remained all the time with the friend who had escaped with me from the 

ghetto. We did not take part in real combat per se, but we went to the neighboring villages to get 

food. Sometimes, we ran into bandits and robbers, and we simply killed them.196  

 

   The irony of using words such as ñbanditsò and ñrobbersò apparently escapes this witness whose main 

activity was robbing the surrounding villages. According to a report filed by a cleric from Wilno in June 

1943, bandit attacks on Polish peasants by Jews hiding in the forests and murders of entire Polish families 

by Soviet and Jewish partisans were becoming alarmingly frequent.
197

 This report is amply borne out by 

many accounts that are found later in this work. Soviet archival sources also confirm that banditry among 

Soviet partisans was widespread: 

 

a Soviet informer accused Bielski himself of embezzling gold; no serious consequences followed, 

however. Charges of robbery were also levied at Jewish partisans by their Soviet comrades. 
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According to the report of 28 May 1943, ñsome groups, among them the Jewish ones, preoccupy 

themselves not with struggle but with capturing supplies. Some persons in them, who had fled from 

a camp, carry out banditry (plundering, drunkenness, and rape).ò 

   The complaints about these alleged transgressions sound disingenuous, coming as they do from 

the Soviet sources. The Soviet-allied guerrillas routinely engaged in plundering peasants. 

Documents show that partisan activity often amounted to banditry, rape, pillage, and murder. 

Occasionally individual transgressors were punished. On the whole, however, the leadership of the 

Soviet irregular forces considered robbery to be a legitimate modus operandi. Since they largely 

lacked popular support, the Soviet guerrillas raided villages and manors for supplies. As a top 

Soviet commander put it, ñMost partisan units feed, clothe, and arm themselves at the expense of 

the local population and not by capturing booty in the struggle against fascism. That arouses in the 

people a feeling of hostility, and they say, óThe Germans take everything away and one must also 

give something to the partisans.ôò
198

 

 

As we shall see, raids on the civilian population took precedence over military activities.  

 

Acting on Orders to Eliminate the Polish Partisans 

   Even after the massacre in Naliboki, at the behest of the Home Army supreme command, the Polish 

underground in the Nowogr·dek and Wilno regions continued to maintain good relations and cooperate 

with the Soviet partisans, despite disturbing occurrences not far away. In the province of Polesie (Polesia), 

to the south of Nowogr·dek, Soviet partisans made contact with Polish partisans. Accepting an invitation to 

discuss cooperation, nine Polish partisans (ñSikorshchikiò, i.e., Poles loyal to the Polish government in 

exile headed by General Sikorski) were treacherously killed near Ğuniniec on May 9, 1943.
199

 General 

Ponomarenko was immediately advised of the ñsuccessò of this operation and passed the news on to Stalin. 

On June 14, 1943, he met with Stalin in the Kremlin; Molotov and Beria were also in attendance. 

   As mentioned earlier, pursuant to instructions from the top echelons, the Central Committee of the 

Communist Party of Belorussia had charted a course for the future of Polish-Soviet relations. On June 22, 

1943, General Ponomarenko issued the following instructions in a circular to the district Communist party 

committees in the field: 

 

In those regions that are under the influence of our partisan units and party centres do not allow 

activities of Polish groups formed by the reactionary nationalist circles [i.e., the Home Army]. The 
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leaders are to be eliminated in a manner that is not noticeable. The [Polish] units are to be 

disbanded and their arms depots are to be appropriated or, if it is possible, take those units under 

your secure influence. Use them by directing them to active combat against the Germans. Regroup 

and break them up in an appropriate way. You should do away with their significance [as] 

independent military units and attach them to large [Soviet] units, after which you are to carry out 

quietly an appropriate cleansing of hostile elements.200 

 

Because of Operation ñHermann,ò the strike on Miğaszewskiôs detachment in the Naliboki forest had to be 

put on hold. Instead, the Soviet partisans turned their attention to a Polish partisan detachment based near 

Lake Narocz, to the north of Naliboki forest. On August 16, 1943, the local Soviet commander, Fedor 

Markov, turned to General Ponomarenko for permission to ñdisarmò the ñKmicicò detachment, which was 

granted on August 21, 1943.
201

 The task was accomplished five days later. 

   The unprovoked murder of Home Army Second Lieutenant Antoni BurzyŒski (nom de guerre ñKmicicò) 

and some eighty members of his unit, the so-called Polish Legion, is illustrative of the pattern of deceit and 

treachery that characterized relations with the Soviet partisans, and indeed with the Soviet Union, 

throughout the war and afterwards.
202

 In June 1943, Fedor Markov, the commander of the Voroshilov 

Brigade, had reached an understanding with BurzyŒskiôs fledgling detachment of 300 men, and, on the 

surface, relations appeared to be cordial. One of the terms agreed to was that Jews would refrain from 

carrying out robberies during provision-gathering expeditions, which often entailed brutal mistreatment of 

the villagers.
203

 Indeed, such charges were mentioned frequently in reports from that period
204

 and, as we 
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shall see, are corroborated by Jewish sources. The Poles and their underground were ardent opponents of 

the German occupiers. Early in August 1943, Polish partisans staged daring assaults on German garrisons 

in Duniğowicze and ŧodziszki.
205

 These military operations eclipsed anything the Soviet partisans had 

undertaken in the area. 

   While ostensibly cooperting with the Polish underground against the Germans, as he made clear in a 

report to General Ponomarenko, Markov was intent on subordinating the Polish partisans and had 

dispatched agents to infiltrate and secretly undermine their detachment.
206

 As a counterforce, Markov 

established a Polish-Soviet detachment under the command of Wincenty Mroczkowski, named after 

Bartosz Gğowacki. The decisive blow came on August 26, 1943, when BurzyŒski together with other Polish 

officers were invited to the Soviet camp on the pretext of finalizing a joint assault on a German outpost in 

Miadzioğ. Not suspecting foul play, the Poles fell into a carefully laid trap. The Polish delegation was 

arrested and, according to some reports, BurzyŒski was tortured before being put to death.
207

 A large 

                                                                                                                                                                             
ñProtok·ğ spisany dn. 8 czerwca 43 r. przez Delegata Sztabu Gğ·wnego partyzant·w polskich-Wsch·d oraz Komendy 

LeniŒskiej partyzanckiej brygady sowieckiej,ò (attachment to no. Cy 345), in the Archives of the Wojskowy Instytut 

Historyczny in Warsaw, sygnatura III/32/10, k. 1ï3. Similar complaints about Jewish marauders were made in 

meetings with Soviet delegations in other regions. See, for example, Krajewski, Na Ziemi Nowogr·dzkiej, 163; 

Boradyn, Niemenïrzeka niezgody, 116ï18. 
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 Marauding by Soviet partisans was one of the primary matters raised in discussions with Captain Viktor Manokhin, 

commander of the Gastello Brigade, in November 1943. The Polish record of this meeting cites cases of use of force 

(armed robbery, murders, rapes) and theft of valuables (gold, watches), clothing (blouses, childrenôs clothes), and other 

items that Soviet partisans simply did not need for survival. The Soviet representatives did not deny these occurrences, 

and in fact Manokhinôs own report confirms them. See Woğkonowski, Okrňg WileŒski ZwiŃzku Walki Zbrojnej Armii 

Krajowej w latach 1939ï1945, 155, 157ï58; Boradyn, ed., Armia Krajowa na Nowogr·dczyŦnie i WileŒszczyŦnie 

(1942ï1944) w Ŝwietle dokument·w sowieckich, 92. A Soviet summary report of a meeting with Home Army 

representatives in Syrowatki, on December 14, 1943, also recognized the problem of drunkenness and robberies that 

plagued the Soviet partisans. See Boradyn, ed., Armia Krajowa na Nowogr·dczyŦnie i WileŒszczyŦnie (1942ï1944) w 

Ŝwietle dokument·w sowieckich, 109. Soviet sources make it clear, however, that the complaints were not taken 

seriously and these meetings were often treated by the Soviet side as little more than intelligence gathering missions. 

See Boradyn, Niemenïrzeka niezgody, 119. The Soviets were reluctant to reach any real compromise in an atmosphere 

in which bounties were being put on the heads of Polish partisan leaders. See Borodziewicz, Sz·sta WileŒska Brygada 

AK, 112. Jewish sources, however, continue to tow the Soviet propaganda line on this issue and lay the blame for the 

failed negotiations on the Polish side. See Lazar, Destruction and Resistance, 194ï95.  
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 Woğkonowski, Okrňg WileŒski ZwiŃzku Walki Zbrojnej Armii Krajowej w latach 1939ï1945, 126ï27. 

 
206

 A. Chackiewicz, ñO rozbrojeniu formacji AK w Nalibockiej i NaroczaŒskiej puszczach w latach 1943ï1944,ò in 

Woğkonowski, Sympozjum historyczne ñRok 1944 na WileŒszczyŦnie,ò 73; Andrzej Chmielarz, ñóSojusznik naszych 

sojusznik·wô: Stosunek ZSRR do Armii Krajowej,ò in ibid., 187; Woğkonowski, Okrňg WileŒski ZwiŃzku Walki 

Zbrojnej Armii Krajowej w latach 1939ï1945, 130; Musial, Sowjetische Partisanen 1941ï1944, 421. The Soviets 

recruited local residents to infiltrate Polish partisan units. One such person was Nina Pankova Zelkhefer, a Jewish 

woman from Vitebsk, who was recruited in September 1943. She resided in Wilno since 1921, where she had 

established contacts with the Poles. See Lietuvos ypatingasis archyvas, Lietuvos TSR Valstybǟs saugumo komitetas 

(KGB), SSSR NKVD 4 valdybos lietuviȎ operatyvinǟ grupǟ, F. nr. K-1 mikrofilmo nr. 605, Ap. nr. 3, Saug. nr. 7, 

Korrespondentsiia s No 277 Berom, Partizanskii spetsotriad ñDruziaò v tylu u nemtsev na territorii Belorussii i Litvy, 

C. 34, 19.9.1943 g.  

 
207

 According to an account attributed to a Jew who served in the Markov Brigade, BurzyŒski was suspended from a 

tree with his arms tied behind his back; his heels were burned with fire and pieces of skin were ripped from his flesh. 

See Banasikowski, Na zew Ziemi WileŒskiej, 79; Woğkonowski, Okrňg WileŒski ZwiŃzku Walki Zbrojnej Armii 

Krajowej w latach 1939ï1945, 129. Banasikowski deals with the destruction of ñKmicicôsò unit on pages 75ï83, 

Woğkonowski on pages, 126ï32. It is worth noting that Markov, as well as several Soviet prisoners of war, had been 

rescued from the Germans by Helena Borowicz, a Polish woman who worked in a Wilno hospital. 
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contingent of Soviet partisans from the Voroshilov and Rokossovsky Brigades was then dispatched to 

surround the Polish partisansô camps near Lake Narocz in Narocz forest (Puszcza NaroczaŒska). Some 200 

Polish partisans were disarmed and captured. Around 100 Polish partisans who outside the camp at the time 

escaped this treacherous fate. (Afterwards, they joined the detachment of Lieutenant Zygmunt Szendzialarz 

(ñĞupaszkoò).) The rest of the story can be found in a report authored by Markov himself and sent to 

General Ponomarenko, who had given the green light for this operation: 

 

Tovarishch ñBerò [NKVD Major Jonas VildģiȊnas], the leader of the operational group which 

conducted the investigation, segregated the disarmed and arrested Polish brigade into three groups. 

The first group, consisting of 50 men, together with the brigade leaders [among them Antoni 

BurzyŒski (ñKmicicò)], was shot. The second group, consisting of 80 men, was disarmed and 

released. The third group, consisting of 70 men, was sent to a [Soviet-formed] partisan group 

headed by [Wincenty] Mroczkowski. é Sending these 70 people to Mroczkowskiôs unit was a 

mistake. They should have been shot, but we were worried that it might be used against us by the 

Germans and Poles as propaganda about a second Katyn. é 

   During my absence Mroczkowski learned of the execution [of ñKmicicôsò men] and, for that 

reason, went over to the Polish nationalists taking 60 Poles with him. é The 30 remaining Poles 

got arms from us and planned to go over to the Polish side. We had these 30 shot. In total, we shot 

80 men from the Polish legion. 

   Groups from the Polish legion are now openly attacking Soviet partisans, especially my brigade. 

é 

   We are using every means to liquidate the armed Polish bandit groups in the field. 

1. We are sending agents to every Polish group in order to undermine them. 

2. We are sending large numbers of agents (80 people) to every area where there are Polish 

partisans in order to learn of their movements, bases and activities and to inform headquarters. 

3. We are currently distributing pamphlets informing about the situation on the front and the bandit 

activities of the Poles. 

4. We issued an order to all our partisans to disarm any Poles who are encountered and to liquidate 

their leaders and members of the Polish Military Organization [i.e., Home Army]. 

5. We will clear the area of this vile garbage.208 
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 Markovôs full report, dated October 15, 1943, is reproduced in WardzyŒska, ñMord popeğniony latem 1943 r. przez 

partyzant·w sowieckich na Ũoğnierzach AK z oddziağu óKmicica,ôò Pamiňĺ i SprawiedliwoŜĺ: Biuletyn Gğ·wnej 

Komisji Badania Zbrodni przeciwko Narodowi PolskiemuïInstytutu Pamiňci Narodowej, no. 39 (1996): 141ï46; 

Boradyn, ed., Armia Krajowa na Nowogr·dczyŦnie i WileŒszczyŦnie (1942ï1944) w Ŝwietle dokument·w sowieckich, 

56ï59; Woğkonowski, Okrňg WileŒski ZwiŃzku Walki Zbrojnej Armii Krajowej w latach 1939ï1945, 127ï30. Another 

report, authored by General Dubov (Grigorii Sidoruk), who headed the Soviet regional partisan centre in Iwieniec, is 

found in Boradyn, ed., Armia Krajowa na Nowogr·dczyŦnie i WileŒszczyŦnie (1942ï1944) w Ŝwietle dokument·w 

sowieckich, 95ï96. See also Henryk Piskunowicz, ñDziağalnoŜĺ zbrojna Armii Krajowej na WileŒszczyŦnie w latach 

1942ï1944,ò in Boradyn, ed., Armia Krajowa na Nowogr·dczyŦnie i WileŒszczyŦnie (1941ï1945), 23ï25; 

Chackiewicz, ñO rozbrojeniu formacji AK w Nalibockiej i NaroczaŒskiej puszczach w latach 1943ï1944,ò in 

Woğkonowski, Sympozjum historyczne ñRok 1944 na WileŒszczyŦnie,ò 73ï74; Chmielarz, ñóSojusznik naszych 

sojusznik·wô: Stosunek ZSRR do Armii Krajowej,ò in ibid., 186ï87; Wiaczesğaw Nosewicz, ñPrzeglŃd dokument·w 

Narodowego Archiwum Republiki BiağoruŜ o dziağalnoŜci formacji Armii Krajowej w okresie II wojny Ŝwiatowej,ò in 

ibid., 224ï26. For an early account see Ğopalewski, Miňdzy Niemnem a DŦwinŃ, 244. According to one of the Poles 
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After the assault on BurzyŒskiôs unit, Markov dispatched his men to destroy its active remnants,
209

 

murdering at least twenty members of the Polish underground network in the vicinity.
210

 Reorganized under 

the command of Lieutenant Zygmunt Szendzielarz (ñĞupaszkoò), the Polish partisans struck back at the 

Voroshilov Brigade. On September 11, they attacked Soviet partisans near Niedroszla. The following day 

they attacked a Soviet unit plundering the village of Chojeckowszczyzna.
211

 The Soviet assault on the Poles 

surpassed in scope any anti-German activity carried out by the Soviet partisans and took on a distinctly 

ethnic dimension.212 Rachel Margolis, a member of the Jewish underground in Wilno who arrived in the 

                                                                                                                                                                             
apprehended in this raid, the eighty partisans who were reportedly ñdisarmed and releasedò had in fact escaped. 

Apparently, Markov did not wish to acknowledge this shortcoming in his report. See the statement of Janina 

SmoleŒska, in in Woğkonowski, Sympozjum historyczne ñRok 1944 na WileŒszczyŦnie,ò 127ï28. Markovôs strike at the 

Polish partisans was criticized by Captain Viktor Manokhin, commander of the Gastello Brigade, as ñpremature, ill-

conceived, and sanctioned é on the basis of false information.ò Moreover, as Manokhin noted, it had allowed the 

Polish partisans near Wilno to escape a similar fate and turned the Belorussian Catholic population against the Soviet 

partisans. See WardzyŒska, ñMord popeğniony latem 1943 r. przez partyzant·w sowieckich na Ũoğnierzach AK z 

oddziağu óKmicica,ôò Pamiňĺ i SprawiedliwoŜĺ: Biuletyn Gğ·wnej Komisji Badania Zbrodni przeciwko Narodowi 

PolskiemuïInstytutu Pamiňci Narodowej, no. 39 (1996): 147; Woğkonowski, Okrňg WileŒski ZwiŃzku Walki Zbrojnej 

Armii Krajowej w latach 1939ï1945, 130. The charge that the Poles executed local Soviet activists in Duniğowicze and 

were compiling further lists of activists to be eliminated, which allegedly served as the pretext for the liquidation of 

BurzyŒskiôs unit, has never been substantiated. See WardzyŒska, ñMord popeğniony latem 1943 r. przez partyzant·w 

sowieckich na Ũoğnierzach AK z oddziağu óKmicica,ôò Pamiňĺ i SprawiedliwoŜĺ: Biuletyn Gğ·wnej Komisji Badania 

Zbrodni przeciwko Narodowi PolskiemuïInstytutu Pamiňci Narodowej, no. 39 (1996): 147; Woğkonowski, Okrňg 

WileŒski ZwiŃzku Walki Zbrojnej Armii Krajowej w latach 1939ï1945, 139; Woğkonowski, Okrňg WileŒski ZwiŃzku 

Walki Zbrojnej Armii Krajowej w latach 1939ï1945, 131; Boradyn, Niemenïrzeka niezgody, 292. 
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 Henryk Piskunowicz, ñDziağalnoŜĺ zbrojna Armii Krajowej na WileŒszczyŦnie w latach 1942ï1944,ò in Boradyn, 

ed., Armia Krajowa na Nowogr·dczyŦnie i WileŒszczyŦnie (1941ï1945), 25. 
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 WardzyŒska, ñMord popeğniony latem 1943 r. przez partyzant·w sowieckich na Ũoğnierzach AK z oddziağu 

óKmicica,ôò Pamiňĺ i SprawiedliwoŜĺ: Biuletyn Gğ·wnej Komisji Badania Zbrodni przeciwko Narodowi Polskiemuï

Instytutu Pamiňci Narodowej, no. 39 (1996): 139. 
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 Bohdan Urbankowski, ñAntysowieckie powstania: Polska,ò in Encyklopedia ñBiağych Plamò (Radom: Polskie 

Wydawnictwo Encyklopedyczne, 2000), vol. 1, 226ï27. 

 
212 Historian Alexander Prusin, however, advances a markedly differently assessment of the outcome of the assault on 

BurzyŒskiôs unitðone that has not been substantiated. Allegedly, it was the Polish underground who terrorized the 

countryside: ñThe AK retaliated by carrying out ópacificationsô of the Byelorussian villages in Navahrudak 

[Nowogr·dek] district, burning houses and killing residents suspected of collaboration with the Soviets. The AK units 

also executed Soviet captives, including prisoners of war who had escaped from German camps.ò See Prusin, The 

Lands Between, 189. In support of this claim, Prusin cites a general article by K.I. Kozak, ñGermanskie okkupatsionnye 

voennye i grazhdanskie organy v Belarusi 1941ï1944 gg.: Analiz i itogi poter,ò in V.F. Balakirau and K.I. Kozak, eds., 

Pershaia i druhaia sysvetnyia voiny: Akupatsyia i iae nastupstvy na Belarusi (Minsk: Histarychnaia maisternia, 2006). 

However, as other studies have shown, Germans and Soviet partisans were primarily responsible for reprisal massacres 

and killings which took tens of thousands of civilian lives. See, for example, Hans-Heinrich Nolte, ñPartisan War in 

Belorussia, 1941ï1944,ò in Roger Chickering, Stig Fºrster, and Bernd Greiner, eds., A World at Total War: Global 

Conflict and the Politics of Destruction, 1937ï1945 (Washington, D.C.: German Historical Institute; Cambridge: 

Cambridge University Press, 2005), 261ï76: ñFrom the spring of 1942 until the spring of 1943, Germans resorted to 

larger-scale operations, encircling territories held by partisans and murdering the civilian population in them. é after 

the spring of 1943, when the Germans began to create ódead zonesô from which all inhabitants were evacuatedðeither 

to forced labor in Germany orðthose unable to workðto special settlements in other districts, where many of them 

starved to death.ò The Soviet partisans retaliated by killing thousands of Belorussian policemen, members of the civil 

administration (petty officials such village elders and mayors of small towns, schoolteachers, professionals) and other 

civilian collaborators, real or imagined, often along with their families. Prisoners were not taken as a rule by either side. 

Punishing entire families was an accepted practice of both the Germans and Soviet partisans. Nolte sums up as follows: 

ñPartisan war in the Soviet Union was total on both sides. Both employed unrestricted violence against civilians, but 
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Narocz forest in September 1943, recalled that one of the senior officers in Markovôs brigade even went so 

far as to harass Jewish partisans for speaking in Polish among themselves.
213

  

 

The AK retaliated by carrying out ópacificationsô of the Byelorussian villages in Navahrudak 

[Nowogr·dek] district, burning houses and killing residents suspected of collaboration with the 

                                                                                                                                                                             
the Germans were more indiscriminate in their practices. They used violence systematically against entire regions. 

They enslaved captured partisans. And they undertook the wholesale murder of villagers. The partisansô violence 

against noncombatants was directed against the family members of collaborators, while the Germans attacked entire 

villages.ò However, in some cases the Soviet partisans did destroy entire villages suspected of collaboration with the 

Germans. The actions of the Polish underground against collaborators do not come close to this type of unrestricted, 

indiscriminate bloodshed meted out by the Germans and the Soviet partisans. As Timothy Snyder points out, German 

pacification operations were actually designed to kill civilians. Edward Westermann describes the fate of three villages 

in southwestern Polesia (Polesie): 

 

é on 22 and 23 September 1942, Order Police Battalion 310 was dispatched to destroy three villages 

for ostensible connections to the partisans, At the first village, Borki, the police apprehended the 

entire population, marched the men, women, and children seven hundred meters, and then handed out 

shovels so that people could dig their own graves. The policemen shot the Belarusian peasants 

without a break from 9:00 in the morning until 6:00 in the evening, killing 203 men, 372 women, and 

130 children. The Order Police spared 104 people classified as ñreliable,ò é The battalion reached 

the next village, Zabloitse [Zabğocie], at 2:00 in the morning, and surrounded it at 5:30. They forced 

all of the inhabitants into the local school, and then shot 284 men, women, and children. At the third 

village, Borysovka [Borys·wka], the battalion reported killing 169 men, women, and children.  

 

See Edward B. Westermann, ñóOrdinary Menô or óIdeological Soldiersô? Police Battalion 310 in Russia, 1942,ò 

German Studies Review, vol. 21, no. 1 (February 1998): 41ï68, at 53ï55, as cited in Snyder, Bloodlands, 240ï41. In 

October 1942, Hermann Gºring issued an extraordinary directive not to shoot Belorussian men in villages suspected of 

supporting the partisans but rather to send them to Germany as forced labourers; however, this did not preclude bloody 

reprisals from continuing. In May 1943, in Operation Cottbus, the Germans sought to clear all partisans from an area 

about 140 kilometres north of Minsk. Their forces destroyed village after village by herding populations into barns and 

then burning the barns to the ground. The official count was 6,087 dead, but the Dirlewager Brigade alone reported 

14,000 killed in this operation. About 6,000 men were sent to Germany as labourers. See Snyder, Bloodlands, 244ï46. 

In 1942 and 1943, Wilhelm Kube, the head of the General Commissariat of Belorussia, offered concessions to 

Belorussians such as schools, advisory councils, and militias, and even reversed the collectivization of agriculture, 

decreeing that peasants could own their own land. However, these attempts to reverse some of the basic principles of 

German colonialism in the hope of rallying the population to resist the Red Army were largely unsuccessful, since the 

Germans continued their economic exploitation of the countryside and showed little respect for the lives of the 

peasants. See Snyder, Bloodlands, 248ï49. Timothy Snyder sums up the impact of the German ñanti-partisanò warfare 

and Soviet ñretributionò on the civilian population as follows (at pp. 250ï51): 

 

German policies, in practice, were little more than mass murder. In one Wehrmacht report, 10,431 

partisans were reported shot, but only ninety guns were reported taken. That means that almost all of 

those killed were in fact civilians. As it inflicted its first fifteen thousand mortal casualties, the Special 

Commando Dirlewanger lost only ninety-two menðmany of them, no doubt, to friendly fire and 

alcoholic accidents. A ratio such as that was possible only when the victims were unarmed civilians. 

Under the cover of anti-partisan operations, the Germans murdered Belarusian (or Jewish, or Polish, 

or Russian) civilians in 5,295 different localities in occupied Soviet Belarus. Several hundred of these 

villages and towns were burned to the ground. All in all, the Germans killed about 350,000 people in 

their anti-partisan campaign, at the very least ninety percent of them unarmed. é 

   The Soviet partisans also contributed to the total number of fatalities. They reported killing 17,431 

people as traitors on the terrain of Soviet Belarus by 1 January 1944: this figure does not include 

civilians whom they killed for other reasons, or civilians they killed in the following months. In all, 

tens of thousands of people in Belarus were killed by the partisans in their own retribution actions (or, 

in the western regions taken from Poland, as class enemies).  
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 Margolis, A Partisan from Vilna, 429.  
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Soviets. The AK units also executed Soviet captives, including prisoners of war who had escaped 

from German camps. 

 

   The massacre near Lake Narocz was not the first such incident, nor was it the last. Individual Poles 

connected to the underground had already been killed in 1942,
214

 and by mid-1943 the Soviets were quietly 

eliminating small groups of Polish partisans and those suspected of cooperating with the Polish 

underground. A delegation of Polish partisans was murdered near Szczuczyn in May 1943, after accepting 

an invitition to attend a meeting with the Soviets.
215

 Tadeusz Korsak of the Wilejka-Moğodeczno circuit 

command of the Wilno District of the Home Army was abducted by the Chkalov Brigade in September 

1943. He was murdered after an interrogation lasting several weeks for refusing to become an informer.
216

 

(Tadeusz Korsakôs rescue efforts on behalf of Jews is described later.) Many Poles with Home Army 

connections were also executed.
217

 Yet despite all these betrayals, not fathoming the depths of Soviet 

perfidy, the Polish partisan leadership still attempted to come to an understanding with the Soviet 

partisans.
218

 However, ceasefires were broken repeatedly by the Soviet side. 

   On the surface, relations between the Polish and Soviet partisans in the area of Naliboki forest also 

appeared to be proper and promising. Although they had agreed to a joint escape strategy during Operation 

Hermann, which was unleashed by the Germans in Naliboki forest in July and August 1943, this did not 

prevent the Soviets from skirting any military engagement with the Germans and leaving the Poles in the 

lurch to fend for themselves. The Poles suffered more than a hundred casualties.
219

 The leaders of Stoğpce 

Battalion (Batalion Stoğpecki, later Zgrupowanie Stoğpeckie or Stoğpce Concentration) of the Home Army, 

then under the command of Major Wacğaw Peğka (ñWacğawò),
220

 had no qualms about accepting an 
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 See, for example, the murders perpetrated in the Szczuczyn area described in Krajewski, Na Ziemi Nowogr·dzkiej, 

202ï203. 
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 Kazimierz Krajewski, ñNowogr·dzki Okrňg Armii Krajowej,ò in Woğkonowski, Sympozjum historyczne ñRok 1944 

na WileŒszczyŦnie,ò 57. 
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 Boradyn, Niemenïrzeka niezgody, 144.  
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 Ibid., 149, 153, and the partial list of victims at pp. 275ï81. See also Krajewski, Na Ziemi Nowogr·dzkiej, 144ï45. 

Poles were also killed by Soviet partisans during robberies and drunken orgies. Ibid., 143 (Borki); Boradyn, Niemenð

rzeka niezgody, 99 (Borowikowszczyzna). 
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 For example, ñĞupaszkoôsò Home Army unit entered into negotiations with Soviet delegations in November and 

December 1943. See Henryk Piskunowicz, ñDziağalnoŜĺ zbrojna Armii Krajowej na WileŒszczyŦnie w latach 1942ï

1944,ò in Boradyn, ed., Armia Krajowa na Nowgr·dczyŦnie i WileŒszczyŦnie (1941ï1945), 26. 
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 Prawdzic-Szlaski, Nowogr·dczyzna w walce 1940ï1945, 99, 204; Boradyn, ñStosunki Armii Krajowej z 

partyzantkŃ sowieckŃ na Nowogr·dczyŦnie,ò in Boradyn, ed., Armia Krajowa na Nowogr·dczyŦnie i WileŒszczyŦnie 

(1941ï1945), 112; Boradyn, Niemenïrzeka niezgody, 130ï31. 
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 At the beginning of November 1943 Major Peğka was sent by the supreme command of the Home Army in Warsaw 

to take control of the Stoğpce Battalion, which was previously under the command of Lieutenant Adolf Pilch (ñG·raò) 

from September 9, 1943, when the latter had replaced Kacper Miğaszewski (ñLewaldò). Pilch was one of several 

paratroopers dispatched from England (known as cichociemni, ñthe silent and unseen onesò) to reinforce the field. See 

Krajewski, Na Ziemi Nowogr·dzkiej, 109ï10, 118, 412, 414, 419.  
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invitation to meet with General Dubov (Grigorii Sidoruk) at the Soviet base on December 1, 1943, not 

suspecting what lay in store for them. 

   The Soviet action plan had been approved at the highest level and was carefully and stealthily executed. 

Permission to carry out this operation had been sought on November 4, 1943, by General Platon, who 

headed the Soviet partisan supreme command in ñWestern Belorussiaò, and was granted on November 14, 

1943, by General Ponomarenko, the first secretary of the Belorussian Communist Party and chief of general 

staff of the partisan movement.
221

 General Platon had claimed falsely that the Poles did not want to fight 

the Germans, and that Polish partisans were terrorizing the local population and attacking small groups of 

Soviet partisans.222 On November 22, 1943, General Ponomarenko sent a report to Stalin proposing a 

change of strategy from isolated altercations to a full-scale assault on the Polish underground in order to 

ñdestroyò hostile Polish partisans active in ñWestern Belorussia,ò to ñdiscredit, disarm and scatterò those 

who allegedly adopted a wait-and-see attitude (toward the Germans), and to ñliquidateò their leadership.
223

 

   Around the same time, the Home Army Command took a position diametrically opposed to that of the 

Sovietsô. On November 20, 1943 General Tadeusz Komorowski (ñB·rò), the commander in chief of the 

Home Army, issued his Order 1300/III, which contained a basic outline of Operation Tempest (ñBurzaò). 

He instructed the field to cooperate with the Soviet forces, to welcome them as ñallies of alliesò and to 

stress their partnership in the common fight against Nazi Germany. Much latitude was left to the judgment 

of local commanders. 
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 See Boradyn, ñStosunki Armii Krajowej z partyzantkŃ sowieckŃ na Nowogr·dczyŦnie,ò in Boradyn, ed., Armia 

Krajowa na Nowogr·dczyŦnie i WileŒszczyŦnie (1941ï1945), 120ï24; Boradyn, Niemenïrzeka niezgody, 152ï54, 295ï

96. The relevant Soviet order (Ponomarenkoôs) for this operation, with specific instructions to shoot on the spot any 

Poles who resisted, is reproduced in PeğczyŒski, et al., Armia Krajowa w dokumentach 1939ï1945, vol. 3: 292ï93 (see 

also 343ï44); Prawdzic-Szlaski, Nowogr·dczyzna w walce 1940ï1945, 111ï12 (see also 110ï12, 210ï11); Erdman, 

Droga do Ostrej Bramy, 242ï43; Boradyn, Niemenïrzeka niezgody, 157. The order had fallen into Polish hands in 
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detachment. The document was sent immediately to the Home Army supreme command in Warsaw (who questioned 
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I have ordered the commanders and units which are to participate in fighting the retreating 

Germans to reveal themselves to in-coming Russians. Their task at this stage will be to assert the 

existence of the Polish Republic. é 

   All our war preparations are aimed at armed action against the Germans. In no circumstances can 

they result in armed action against the [Soviets] who are entering our territories in hot pursuit of the 

Germans é The exception is in essential acts of self-defence, which is the right of every human 

being.224 

 

Clashes with Soviet partisan units should be avoided. As far as the regular Red Army units are 

concerned, when they arrive, the Polish commander, after having fought off the retreating 

Germans, is to appear openly before them and present himself as in charge of the area. With regard 

to the wishes of the Soviet army commanders, it should be stressed that the legal authorities are 

Polish and not Russian, and the nature and extent of Soviet activities should for the Polish citizens 

be determined by the legal Polish authority.
225

 

 

Thus, confrontations with Soviet partisans were to be avoided. Polish partisan formations which, because of 

past altercations, could not ensure proper relations with Soviet partisans were to be removed.
226

 General 

Komorowski continued to urge cooperation with the Soviet partisans even after the events described below 

unfolded and reiterated his instructions on January 8, 1944.
227

 This strategy turned out to be a blueprint for 

disaster, since it was the Soviets intention at all times to prevent the Poles from regaining their 

independence and reclaiming territory seized by the Soviet Union in September 1939. Once they had 

revealed themselves, the Polish partisans were earmarked for destruction. As the far drew to a close, many 

of them were captured by the Soviets and imprisoned or murdered.  

   After surrounding and disarming the Polish delegation consisting of about 25 men as they made their way 

to the Soviet base on December 1, 1943 (this was done by a unit led by Major Rafail Vasilevich), the 

Soviets struck what they hoped would be a final blow to the Polish partisans. Surprise attacks by the Stalin 

and Frunze Brigades were launched on the Polish partisan base in Drewiczna on Lake KromaŒ, where 

Miğaszewskiôs unit was stationed (by then Miğaszewskiôs unit had been transformed, as mentioned earlier, 

into a full-fledged Home Army battalion, Batalion Stoğpecki), and on another Polish partisan camp in 

Derewno (or Derewna). Caught off guard, some 230 Poles were ñdisarmed.ò Anyone showing the least 

resistance was shot on the spot, in accordance with Soviet orders. The Polish camps were thoroughly 
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plundered by the undisciplined Soviet partisans.
228

 According to Soviet reports, ten Polish partisans were 

killed and eight injured in the ensuing melee in Derewno, in which two Soviet partisans were also 

wounded. Anti-Soviet elements were, according to orders from General Platon, to be ñexecuted quietly, so 

that no one would know.ò
229

 After a month-long interrogation, which resulted in death sentences being 

passed against them, five captured Polish underground leaders (including Miğaszewski and Peğka) were 

transported by plane to Moscow and interned in the Lubianka prison, where some of them perished; the 

remaining partisan leaders were executed locally.
230

 Some Polish partisans were released after signing 

ñdeclarations of loyalty.ò The remaining captured Polish partisans (about 135) were inducted into Soviet 

partisan units. More than thirty of them (and perhaps as many as 50) were executed when they attempted to 

ñdesert.ò
231

 In actual fact, many of them were executed surreptitiously. (This is confirmed by Oswald 

Rufeisen, whose account is cited later.) 

   After this assault, the Soviet partisans embarked on a wide-scale ñcleansingò operation directed at family 

members and supporters of the Home Army in the area.
232

 Entire families were murdered, their property 

was plundered, and hamlets such as BabiŒsk, Izabelin, Olszaniec, and Szczepki were burned to the 
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ground.
233

 As could be expected, Polish retaliations followed.
234

 From that point, there was open war 

between the Soviet and Polish partisans in the Nowogr·dek districtðone that the Soviets had brought into 

being. Surprisingly, even after this juncture, from time to time the Polish partisan command attempted to 

negotiate a modus vivendi with the Soviets, and even to coordinate joint military actions against the 

Germans, but these overtures were repeatedly rebuffed.
235

 It was abundantly clear that unsobordinated 

partisan units would not be tolerated. 

   The following eyewitness account by Lieutenant Adolf Pilch (ñG·raò), penned not long after the war, 

describes vividly how the disarming unfolded, its prelude, and its impact on the Polish partisans in that 

region. 

 

Our relations with the Soviets deteriorated sharply after the 11th November 1943. That day our 

units went to Mass in Derewno [or Derewna], and held a ceremonial parade there to celebrate 

Independence Day. A great number of people from Derewno and the surrounding country came to 

take part in the proceedings, and although we had great fears of German intervention, they did not 

materialise, and everything went off as arranged. The Soviets were very far from pleased with this 

observance of our National Day, and what angered them most was the speech of the Home Army 

Regional Commander, Second Lieutenant Swir [Aleksander Warakomski (ñświrò)], who stressed 

that Poland was indivisible and that the nation would not allow any bargaining over the Republicôs 

territory. 

   From that time, open talk among the Soviets that we were Fascists and reactionaries became 

current, and spying on, and in, our units was intensified. In that same month the commander of our 

cavalry squadron was approached with the proposition that he should take his detachment over to 
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the Soviets. Warrant Officer Noc [Zdzisğaw Nurkiewicz (ñNocò)], who was promised the rank of a 

Soviet major, refused indignantly, saying that he would rather spend his life cleaning the boots of a 

Polish major than become a Soviet one. 

   A few days later, his deputy, Sergeant Dab [Jan Jakubowski (ñDŃbò)], was approached with the 

same proposition, though with a very stylish addition, that he was to shoot his commander first. He 

was to receive the rank of captain. His reaction was similar to that of Warrant Officer Noc. Well 

before that, in October, a new officer had arrived to join our unit. He was Major ñWaclawò 

[Wacğaw Peğka], and in the first days of November he assumed command of the battalion. I then 

became second-in-command. Lieutenants Klin [Julian Bobrownicki (ñKlinò)] and Zator [Maciej 

Rzewuski (ñZatorò)], as well as Officer-Cadet Junosza, arrived with Waclaw. On 27th November, 

about a fortnight after the change of command, Waclaw and a few more officers received an 

invitation, signed by Dubow [General Dubov], from the Command of the United Soviet Brigades of 

the Iwieniec region, asking them to come to a war council to be held on the 30th of the month. As 

almost all those officers were away with various widely scattered detachments and outposts, and it 

was not possible to get them back at short notice, we sent a despatch rider with a message that our 

officers would arrive on 1st December 1943 at noon. 

   The officers designated for the talks arrived on the evening of the 30th. They were Lieutenants 

Lewald [Kacper Miğaszewski (ñLewaldò)], Ikwa [Ezechiel ĞoŜ (ñIkwaò)], and Waldan [Walenty 

Parchimowicz (ñWaldanò)]. They had not the least desire to go, and only consented to accompany 

the commander after the latter expressed a wish not far removed from a command. Eleven men 

from the cavalry squadron were to provide the escort. 

   The party was to leave at 6 a.m. on 1st December. 

   I woke up very early that morning. Hearing people move about outside, I began dressing in the 

darkness. I was almost ready when the major popped his head in through the door. ñAre you up?ò 

he asked. I answered that I was just coming out. When I came out the officers were ready; Waclaw 

swung himself into the saddle, and they rode off. 

   I remained outside and watched them disappear down the narrow path through the forest. A 

moment later I could only hear the sound of ice breaking under the horsesô hooves. é 

   The quartermaster, Lieutenant Ludek [Ludwik Wierszyğowski (ñLudekò)], came out of my hut, 

where he had been looking for me. He had prepared breakfast for those who had just gone, and had 

been up before me. Now he came to ask me to come to breakfast. We went into his hut. We had 

hardly finished our coffee and a slice of black bread, when the officer on duty, Officer-Cadet Mita, 

came in and reported that a Soviet patrol of five men on horseback had just arrived and requested to 

see someone in authority. I said that I would come out; but I was in no hurry. It was less dark when 

I came out. I started looking for the Soviet patrol and couldnôt see it anywhere, so I just stood and 

watched the camp around me, 

   All the men were still asleep, that is, the eighty of them that were in camp at that time. The 

second company had its camp about a mile away, while the first company, almost the entire cavalry 

squadron, and a few more patrolsðaltogether about two hundred and fifty menðwere away on 

various duties out in the country. 
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   I turned around suddenly with a strange presentiment. 

   Three men were walking towards me along the path up which our officers had gone half an hour 

before. It was not light enough to see their faces, and only when I heard Major Wasiliewiczôs 

[Rafail Vasilevich, the leader of the May 8, 1943 assault on the town of NalibokiðM.P.] voice did 

I realise that they were Russians. 

   ñWell now, you, assemble your units for us!ò 

   Lewald [Miğaszewski], unarmed and without his belt, his fur jerkin unbuttoned, stood between 

Wasiliewicz, who was armed with a sub-machine-gun, and another man similarly armed, both their 

weapons at the ready. It was to Lewald that Wasiliewicz had spoken. 

   At once I understood everything. Already, the sound of many footsteps in the snow was heard 

from the path, and several dense ranks of men, all with automatic weapons, emerged into the 

clearing. ñThatôs probably the N.K.V.D.,ò I thought to myself. Just at that moment Janek Orlina, 

the chief clerk of the battalionôs office, passed me a little way off. I called to him to run to 

Lieutenant Gromôs [Lech Rydzewski (ñGromò)] company to report that the officers invited to the 

war council had been disarmed and that the Soviets were already in the camp, 

   Meanwhile, Lewald was explaining something to Wasiliewicz, but the creaking of the snow 

drowned their voices. I stood behind a bush, unnoticed by anybody: then, somehow, quite 

automatically, I followed Orlina to Gromôs company. A few minutes later, a little before seven, we 

were in their camp. In a short time everybody was ready. 

   I gathered the officers and explained the situation to them. As I saw two alternatives before us, I 

asked for their answers to two questions; were we to attempt to liberate our comrades in the camp 

that had been overpowered, or were we to profit from our freedom and escape from the forest 

alone? With one accord they all opted for the march on the occupied camp. 

   For a fortnight, we had been playing hosts to a small Partisan unit from the Vilna [Wilno] district, 

who had already built themselves two huts. There were only about twenty of them, but they were 

ready for anything and everything, and had had quite a useful experience. 

   I decided that our guests, who had volunteered to join us, should attack the camp from the right, 

and the rest of the company, about seventy men, rather young and not yet well co-ordinated, from 

the left. We were to go into action at an agreed upon time, or at the first shots. I went out with our 

boys, right on ahead, with the advance guard. When we were halfway to the camp, we already had 

Soviet units in our rear, but we carried on just the same. 

   We got near enough to see a part of the camp between the branches. Our comrades were standing, 

unarmed, in three ranks in the small clearing. In front of them stood a row of Soviet Partisans with 

sub-machine-guns at the ready, and a machine-gun, trained on them, stood at each flank. 

   We had been noticed, and someone shouted that at the first shot from us they would open fire on 

our comrades. 

   In the face of this threat I could not bring myself to start the engagement. I left my companions 

and walked to the camp. 

   I soon reached the hut which was our headquarters, and looked round me. Our camp was a sight: 

I had never seen so many people there. The Soviets were plundering everywhere, looking for 

papers, documents, gold and treasures, but most of all, watches. They pulled legs out of the walls 

and tore out door and window frames. The place was crawling with them, every one of them 
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looking for something to grab and steal. There seemed to be no one in authority. The only place 

where there was order was among those guarding our men. I stood at the side with a few of our 

officers: it didnôt seem as if we were being watched. I turned to the Regional Commander, Swir, 

whom ill luck had brought to us on a visit the day before. 

   ñYou must get away.ò ñYes, but how?ò At the moment a few shots rang out from the direction 

whence the party of Partisans from Vilna was supposed to approach. The three ranks of men 

flattened themselves on the ground, while their guards fired a few bursts over their heads. 

   Behind the barracks, Lieutenant Grom was struggling valiantly not to be disarmed, but finally he 

was brutally overwhelmed, and succumbed. 

   I estimated the number of Soviets in our camp at about one thousand five hundred [an 

overestimateðM.P.], but this wasnôt the lot, as a considerable number were posed outside as cover 

and sentries. 

   Among the Soviets I recognised our former ñfriendsò, together with Marusia, the wife of the 

commander of the Frunze Brigade. They had often been our visitors and guests, though they must 

have been preparing this attack for quite some time. Two of our own men, Private Wankowicz 

[Czesw WaŒkowicz] and Lance Corporal [Antoni] Tararaj, were conspicuous among the Soviets; 

they were both armed. We had suspected them for a long time, but had no clear proof that they 

were working for the Soviets. Fortune, however, is a capricious lady. A few weeks later Tararaj fell 

into our hands.236 

   Now and again there were single shots from the forest; those were our guests from Vilna giving 

signs of life. 

   Major Wasiliewicz came out before the men on the ground, told them to get up, and added 

whether anyone would go and tell those sons of bitches in the wood that there was no sense in 

further fighting, and ask them to surrender. 

   The three ranks stood in dead silence for a long while, then Przywara [Tadeusz Maszewski 

(ñPrzywaraò) came forward, followed by Corporal Zbik [ŧbik]. As they passed me, on an impulse I 

joined in and walked on between the two of them. Fortunately no one took any notice of this, as 

there were swarms of soldiers milling around everywhere. Only at the brook, still inside the camp, 

we were stopped by a slant-eyed creature, probably a sentry. Przywara had to use all his eloquence 

to explain our mission to him, producing a dirty handkerchief tied on a stick as evidence. We were 

stopped a few more times after that; at one of these checks the Soviet sentry was curious to know 

why I was still armed, but Przywara managed to explain that, too. 

   In the first clearing we came to we found one of the boys from Vilna, who was wounded. Zbik 

stayed with him and Przywara and I went on. Finally we reached our men. Lieutenant Adam, the 

second-in-command of the detachment, was wounded in the leg. 

   No one, of course, thought of surrendering. Straight away we started on our way out of the 

woods. As was to be expected, all the roads out of the forest were well guarded, and our march was 

rendered even more difficult. It took us seven hours to cross less than three miles of swamp. We 

took turns to carry Adam. 
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   I walked first, holding a thick and long stick in my hand. The bog was covered by a layer of ice 

about an inch and a half thick, which gave way under our feet. With every step there was the 

illusion that the ice would hold, and with every step there was the disappointment when oneôs feet 

plunged into the icy much underneath. We got stuck up to a little above our knees on the average, 

but at one time I was plunged up to my armpits, and my companions only just managed to pull me 

out. Every fifty steps we stopped for a short rest. As we got more and more tired the distance 

between rests was reduced to twenty steps, and then to ten. 

   With the exception of myself no one had eaten anything that day. Our clothing, soaked in the 

mud, kept freezing. Whenever we stopped, we found after a minute that we could not bend our 

legs, as our trousers and underclothes had frozen solid. A sweetish stench exuded from the bog and 

made me feel thoroughly sick. It was particularly obnoxious near streams and small rivulet. Dead 

tired myself, I admired the untiring energy with which our nurse Irka tended Adamôs wounds every 

time we stopped. It was getting dark as we got to the end of the swamp: what a joy it was to put 

oneôs feet on really firm ground! But although the ground was easier, we walked even more slowly. 

We had come out of the swamp with hardly anything left of our boot, and with our clothing torn to 

shreds. We could not follow the roads or paths as they were all held by the Soviets, and we had to 

force our way through the undergrowth. Fortunately, while crossing a strip of young saplings, we 

came upon some huts and shanties where a handful of people from the burned-out belt [i.e., the area 

cleared by the Germans in the summer of 1943 during Operation HermannðM.P.] had made their 

homes. These people, who up to a short time before had lived in their own houses on their own 

land, now lived in indescribable misery, but nevertheless they shared with us all they had. 

   It wasnôt until Iôd had a rest and swallowed a few potatoes and some spoonfuls of soup that I felt 

myself going to pieces. Physically I had reached the limit of my endurance, and my mental state 

was even worse than my physical. I thought of all my comrades taken prisoner, and wondered 

whether they were still alive. 

   Before midnight we got to the first houses beyond the burned belt, in a village called Brodek. 

There we learned of the tragic fate which had befallen our first company, stationed at Derewno. 

That morning they had been treacherously attacked by one of the Soviet brigades; and after some of 

our men had taken to arms, ten of them were put against the wall and shot. The few who were 

wounded were finished off, but not before they had been hideously tortured. Some were kicked to 

death, others had their fingers and ears cut off. The rest, with Lieutenant Jar [Jarosğaw GŃsiewski 

(ñJarò)], were taken to the forest under escort. 

   A few days later we came upon Warrant Officer Noc, who had been out on a patrol with his 

squadron, collecting those who had escaped from the Soviets. 

   The first news began to reach us from the forest. Frolow [Frolov], a Soviet citizen married to a 

Polish girl, who had earlier refused to join the Soviets and had remained with us, had been hanged. 

The brothers Skrodzki had been killed in an appalling fashion. Their ears, cut off while they were 

still alive, were fried, and men were forced to eat this ñdishò. It sickens me to write about such 

things, but they cannot be passed over in silence. 

   In the spring, after the snows had melted, half-decomposed bodies were often found in and 

around the forest, and families and friends recognised them for those of their dear ones. According 

to unconfirmed reports half of our officers had been shot somewhere in the centre of the forest. 
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   And this was only 1st December 1943. The front line was till some five hundred miles to the east, 

while here the fight was being waged, not against the Germansðno, they were not touchedðbut 

against the owners of the country, whose only fault was that they were Poles. And at the same time 

[the Polish authorities in] London instructed by radio: ñUnits of the Home Army are to reveal 

themselves to the Soviet front-line commanders.ò 

   After the lesson I received that fateful day I no longer bothered to obey these instructions, and I 

know that I thereby earned the gratitude of the men under my command, who, being on the spot, 

had a better opportunity of correctly assessing the situation than had the statesmen in London.237  

  

   After the attack on the Stoğpce battalion, there was an open state of war between the Polish and Soviet 

partisans in northeastern Poland.
238

 The Soviet partisans mounted formidable assaults on the poorly armed 

Polish partisans, targeting especially those units that had emerged from the remnants of the disarmed Polish 

partisans, namely, the Fifth Brigade of the 14
th
 Home Army Division under the command of Lieutenant 

Zygmunt Szendzielarz (nom de guerre ñĞupaszkoòðñLupashkaò in Soviet documents) and a detachment 

of the Stoğpce battalion under the command of Lieutenant Adolf Pilch (ñG·raò).
239

 In midïDecember 1943, 

two weeks after the assault on the Stoğpce battalion, Andrzej Kutznerôs unit, stationed in the village of 

Duszkowo near Rak·w, was attacked by Soviet partisans and suffered heavy losses. On February 2, 1944, 

after a pitched battle with the Germans in Worziany that resulted in scores of casualties, the Fifth Brigade 

of the 14
th
 Home Army Division under the command of Zygmunt Szendzielarz (ñĞupaszkoò) was attacked 

by the combined forces of the Gastello, Voroshilov and Rokossovsky Brigades near the village of 

Radziusze.
240

 This attack, which is described in more detail later, occurred the day after the Poles had been 

invited to a meeting with the Soviet leadership.
241

 Dismayed by their unsuccessful assault on the Polish 

forces, the Soviet partisans vowed to wipe out the families of Home Army members
242

; they took to 

ñpacifyingò scores of Polish villages suspected of supporting the Home Army.
243
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   As historian Michağ Gnatowski points out, in the majority of cases it was the Soviet side that was the 

aggressor; Poles engaged in sporadic retaliatory operations and shot back when fired at by Soviet partisans 

in chance encounters.
244

 Gnatowski has argued compellingly that the principal goal of the Soviet partisans 

was not to fight the Germans, but to to seize control of the area and eliminate the Polish underground.
245

 

The net outcome was that this new battle front undermined the effectiveness of the Polish underground 

struggle against the Germans. Although the Soviets themselves created this state of affairs, Soviet 

propaganda then exploited the situation by blaming the Polish underground and tarring them as Nazi 

collaborators. The effects of this propaganda linger to this day in historical writings, both post-Soviet and 

Western, most notably in Jewish historiography.  

   Aware of the fate of ill-equipped Polish partisans, who were being hunted down ruthlessly by Soviet 

partisans, the Germans attempted to turn this to their advantage. In mid-December 1943, the German 

gendarmerie in Iwieniec proposed a temporary ceasefire to a Home Army unit under the command of 

Lieutenant J·zef świda (ñLechò), in exchange for weapons. No conditions were atttached other than to 

continue to continue to battle with the Soviet partisans, which at that point had become both a reality and a 

necessity given the Soviet actions. The Germans would leave supplies of arms and ammunition at lightly 

staffed outposts, and the Poles would then seize them. (Since the Home Army did not receive military 

supplies from the Home Army supreme command, it had to acquire weapons on its own, both on the black 

market and from individual German soldiers.) This informal arrangement allowed Poles to defend 

themselves more effectively from relentless Soviet attacks. The Germans believed that they would also 

benefit from fighting between the Soviet and Polish partisans, as both the Soviets and Poles were less likely 

to attack German outposts. However, the Polish partisans never subordinated themselves to the Germans, 

nor did they participate in any joint military operations with the Germans against the Soviet forces.
246

 

Moreover, as German reports make clear, only two Polish units in the Nowogr·dek District participated in 

these dealings. (As mentioned earlier, in addition to świda, the Germans also approached Lieutenant Adolf 

Pilch (ñG·raò), the head of the Stoğpce Battalion.) Polish partisans continued to carry out attacks on 

                                                                                                                                                                             
January 1944, a reconnaissance group from the Chapaiev unit killed the family of an AK member in the village of 

Zabrodzie near Iwieniec. There were many such incidents which took the lives of thousands of civilians. 
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German garrisons and other positions.
247

 Indeed, such attacks were more frequent than those carried out by 

the Soviet partisans. The Germans eventually regretted having entered into negotiations with the Poles as 

the Home Army managed to strengthen its position in relation to the Germans, and ultimately the 

arrangement caused more harm to the German side than the potential benefit they had hoped to gain.
248

 As 

mentioned earlier, these dealings, which were kept secret, were entered into with the Germans by local 

Home Army commanders without authorization from the Home Army command. In fact, not fully 

appreciating the predicament of the Home Army in the Nowogr·dek region, the Home Army supreme 

command as well as the Polish government in exile condemned these arrangements. A death sentence was 

even passed against świda, one of the local Home Army commanders, which fortunately was not carried 

out.
249

 

   That individual units of the Polish underground occasionally accepted German overtures should not be 

surprising given the repeated acts of treachery on the part of the Soviets, and the relentless hunt for the 

remnants of the Polish partisans after their units were ñdisarmedò by the Soviets. By the end of 1943, the 

Red Army approaching the borders of Poland and the Soviet partisans were rightly regarded as enemies 

more dangerous than the retreating Germans. It is important to note that these arrangements were not 

broad-based but local in nature, and were undertaken out of necessity in response to Soviet aggression. 

They constituted a tactical, short-lived strategy entered into purely for self-defence, with no political 

dimension regarding German-Polish relations.
250

 Moreover, they provided the Polish underground with an 

opportunity to rebuild its strength. Afterwards, Polish forces in this area engaged the Germans in a pitched 

battle for Wilno. The temporary ceasefire did not turn the Poles into political or ideological allies of the 

Nazis, nor did it signify the type of collaboration the Soviet Union and Nazi Germany engaged in openly 

from 1939 to 1941, and the Soviets continued to be guilty of throughout much of the war. During the 

Warsaw Uprising of August 1944, the Soviet Union again became a de facto ally of Nazi Germany as 

Soviet forces stood by idly while the Germans crushed the Polesô pro-independentist insurgency, a goal that 

the Soviets espoused in equal measure with the Nazis. 

   It is an open question to what extent the conduct of the Soviet and Jewish partisans in this region 

impacted on relations between Poles and Soviet and Jewish partisans in other parts Poland. News of the 

assaults on Polish partisans in northeastern Poland soon spread to central Poland and further soured Polish-
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Soviet (as well as Polish-Jewish) relations.
251

 How do the Jews who served with the Soviet partisans see 

these same events? Their testimonies follow the overview of Jewish historiography on this topic. 

 

Jewish Historiography 

   Traditional Jewish historiography has difficulty distancing itself from wartime Soviet propaganda, and is 

generally oblivious to the fate of the Poles. Jewish historians accuse the Polish underground of provoking 

the quarrel with the Soviets and, especially, targeting Jewish partisans. Whether because of the actions of 

local commanders or following ñordersò from the Polish government in exile, the Polish underround is 

blamed for the bad relations with the Soviet partisans. Rarely, if ever, do Jewish historians refer to Soviet 

archival materials that discredit this interpretation. Jewish nationalist historians even justify the massacre of 

Polish partisans in which Jews took part. 

   Without offering any evidence of the existence of such an order, Shalom Cholawski, a former partisan 

turned historian, claims in typical fashion: 

 

In the beginning of September 1943, Polish units received orders to hit Russian and Jewish partisan 

units. We were now waging war against the Poles and the Germans, and it was not long before 

fighters in our brigade had an encounter with the new enemy. Harkavi and his group, while on an 

operation [most likely an ñeconomicò oneðM.P.] in the Naliboki region, were attacked by a band 

of armed Poles. é The news of the battle and the Polish betrayal spread quickly through the 

Naliboki forests.252 

 

The assessment proffered by Israeli historian Dov Levin, also a former partisan, is rather similar: 

 

As the front approached Lithuania, the hostile activity of the Polish underground forces, which 

were connected with the Polish government-in-exile in London and were known as the AK (Armia 

Krajowa), increased sharply. In that area, the AK was nicknamed ñWhite Poles,ò and one of their 

aims was to take control of the Vilna area [i.e., the prewar Polish province of WilnoðM.P.] after 

the Germansô retreat, in order to create a situation that would facilitate de facto the Polish 

annexation [sic] of the area after the war. Despite attempts to negotiate [sic] with them, the Poles in 

eastern Lithuania became dangerous and cruel adversaries of Soviet partisans in general, and of the 

Jews among them in particular.253 
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   Shmuel Krakowski, a specialist on partisan affairs at Yad Vashem, takes an even more strident view, 

purveying baseless claims that are in keeping with the crudest form of Soviet wartime propaganda. 

 

The main Polish underground forces, subordinated to the Delegatura [i.e., the civilian 

administration of the Home Delegate of the Polish government in exileðM.P.] and supported by 

the right-wing groups [i.e., virtually everyone but the Communist fringe], strove to ensure the 

reestablishment of Poland in its prewar eastern frontiers. To reach this goal, a bitter struggle was 

launched against Soviet partisans in the east é254 

 

Other academicsðsuch as Yehuda Bauer, who does so ad nauseam in a recent studyðattribute the 

problem largely to endemic Polish anti-Semitism: 

  

Polish nationalist guerrillas in the north engaged in killings of Jews é
255

 

 

after a while the Polish AK established its underground organization there, and the AK was against 

Jews and actively killed them é For the Jews, the Soviet partisans were the only hope for survival, 

and they fought with the Soviets against the AK. Polish anti-Semitism and the political situation 

combined to make bitter enmity between the AK and the Jews. 

   é so called-White Poles, members of AK detachments, regularly disarmed and murdered Jews in 

the forests of western Belorussia and the Vilno [Wilno] region.
256

 

 

the ñofficialò Polish Polish underground, the one connected with the Polish government-in-exile, 

was motivated both by political considerations and also by virulent anti-Semitism, which expressed 

itself, especially in 1943ï1944, in murderous attacks by Polish guerilla units against Jews.
257
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In the Belorussian areas, the official Polish underground of the Armia Krajowa murdered Jews, 

especially in the latter stages of the war. This was because the Armia Krajowaôs main opponent was 

the Soviets, and the Jews fought in the Soviet units; but the special venom with which Jews were 

sought out to be killed shows the deep-seated Polish anti-Semitism in these areas.
258

 

 

   Leonid Smilovitsky, an emigr® from the former Soviet Union, belongs to the new wave of Israeli 

historians who maintain that the lack of access to Soviet archives did not enable scholars in the West to 

write objectively about what transpired in ñWestern Belorussia.ò He therefore undertook a scientific study 

to accomplish this long overdue task. However, the conclusions he arrives at do not differ substantially 

from the ones noted above. In his view, the Poles were clearly the culprits and responsible for the 

worsening relations between the Soviet and Polish partisans. Smilovitsky ignores pivotal events such the 

massacre of some 130 Poles in Naliboki in May 1943. He attributes the hostilities in the area to the actions 

of the Polish government in exile who, allegedly, unilaterally declared the USSR to be the enemy of Poland 

after the breakdown in diplomatic relations between the two countries in the wake of the discovery of the 

mass graves of Polish officers in Katyn. Without providing any meaningful chronolgy, Smilovitsky alleges 

that Polish partisans ñterrorizedò the civilian population, attacked Soviet partisans and perpetrated 

ñatrocitiesò against them, and, as begets vicious anti-Semites, they methodically murdered Jews. In fact, it 

was Stalin who broke off diplomatic relations with the Polish government in exile in April 1943. 

Henceforth, Soviet partisan propaganda dubbed the Polish Prime Minister General Wğadysğaw Sikorskiôs 

policy as ñcriminal and hostile to the people.ò According to a propaganda directive, one was to talk ñabout 

Polish Legionaries [the Home Army] as the prot®g®s of the Gestapo.ò The language of propaganda 

pervaded the military correspondence as well. A Soviet commander wrote about ñthe archenemy of our 

Fatherland: the German occupiers and their Polish lackeys.ò Polish guerrilla groups were described as 

ñhostile toward Soviet powerò and allegedly included ñnotorious fascists.ò A top secret order of May 1943 

proclaimed: ñPoles fighting against the [Soviet] partisans are German agents and enemies of the Polish 

people.ò On June 24, 1943, the Soviet partisan leadership authorized the denunciation of the Polish 

underground to the Nazis. Later, orders went out to ñshoot the [Polish] leadersò and ñdiscredit, disarm, and 

dissolveò their units. On December 5, 1943, it was resolved that ñthe [NKVD] Chkalov Brigade should 

commence the cleansing of the area from the White Polish bands é The band, especially policemen, 

landlords, and settlers, are to be shot. But no one is allowed to learn about this.ò
259

 Feigning friendship, the 

Soviets lured at least two sizable Polish partisan detachments to their destruction. At first the Poles sought 

reconciliation. Later, they fought back. By fall 1943, a full-fledged local Soviet-Polish war raged in the 

northeastern Borderlands. 

   In a display of unseemly chauvinism unworthy of a serious scholar, Smilovitsky claims that the Soviet 

partisans simply ñborrowed the fighting methods of their enemy.ò While acknowledging in passing the 
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ñdisarmingò of Polish partisans of BurzyŒski and Miğaszewski, Smilovitsky does not bother to mention that 

the Soviets actually murdered scores of those whom they ñdisarmedò and situates these events out of 

context, as justified retaliation. He accuses the ñextremistò Home Army supreme command and its local 

representatives of cooperating with the Nazis against the Soviets (the Germansô erstwhile allies). He 

charges the Polish underground with displaying ñgreat crueltyò toward the civilian population suspected of 

sympathizing with the Soviet partisans. According to Smilovitsky, when the Polish side finally came to its 

senses and expressed an intention ñto abandon confrontation and to move toward interactionò with the 

Soviet partisans, it was too late. Needless to add, ñAnti-Semitism was widespread among the fighters of 

Armia Krajowa and of the grouping National Armed Forces,ò even though the latter were not active in this 

area. According to Smilovitskyôs simplistic narrative, ñJews were regarded as a ópro-Soviet elementôðthey 

were persecuted and killed.ò
260

 

   If that was the entire story, however, one would be hard-pressed to account for rescue efforts on behalf of 

Jews undertaken by members of the Polish underground. The following biographies simply do not fit the 

stereotypical mould pushed by Holocaust historians. The Perewoski family from Wilno took refuge in an 

area located between the towns of Gr·dek (or Horodek) and Radoszkowice, near the prewar Polish-Soviet 

border. A number of Poles who were declared to be Righteous Gentiles by Yad Vashem, including Home 

Army members and the local priest, came to their assistance. One of them, Tadeusz Korsak, an organizer 

and senior member of the Polish underground, was executed by the Chkalov Brigade on October 8, 1943.
261

 

 

When war broke out, Shmuel and Dora Perewoski were living in Vilna [Wilno] with their two small 

children, Eli (Leszek) (b. 1935) and Celina (b. 1939). The family owned a lumber business. After 

the first wave of killings, Shmuel realized the hopelessness of the situation and in early 1942 

decided to smuggle his family out of the ghetto. Tadeusz Korsak, a prewar business acquaintance, 

offered to help. The first to be taken out of the ghetto was Eli. Shmuel, who was employed in forced 

labor outside the ghetto, took his son out of the ghetto with him in the morning, concealing him 

among the lines of Jews marching to their work place. The childrenôs former nanny, a non-Jew, was 

waiting at a pre-appointed place on the street, and took Eli to a temporary hiding place. Soon his 

mother and sister joined him. Then the nanny took them in a horse-drawn cart to Korsakôs home in 

the village of Balcery (today in Belarus). Sometime later, Shmuel escaped from the ghetto and 

arrived in Balcery. The reunited family lived in the basement of the Korsak home under the guise of 

a Polish family. Young Eli even served in the local church as altar boy. [Probably to Rev. Stanisğaw 

Budnik, the pastor of Gr·dekðM.P.] 

   The danger for both familiesðthe Jews and their rescuersðwas very high. In addition to possibly 

being detected by the Germans, they were threatened by the pervasive enmity between ethnic 

groups in the region as well as political struggles between the Polish national underground and the 
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Soviet-oriented partisans. One day in the summer of 1943, Shmuel was captured by Soviet 

partisans. The following day his body was found in the fields, riddled with bullets. Eight-year-old 

Eli, his mother and Tadeusz Korsak identified the body and secretly buried it. Many years later, Eli 

tried in vain to relocate the burial place.  

   Locals began to grow more and more suspicious of the family living with the Korsaks, and the 

situation became very precarious. Eli and Dora escaped to the forests and joined the partisans. 

Three-year-old Celina stayed with the Korsaks, who promised to take good care of her until the war 

was over. However, the Korsak family, too, fell victim to the turbulent times. A few months after 

the death of Shmuel Perewoski, Tadeusz Korsak and his two daughters were also murdered by 

Soviet partisans. Wğadysğawa, who had lost her entire family, took Celina and fled to her relatives, 

Jan and Maria Michağowski, who lived in the small village of Jerozolimka. Although the 

Michağowskis had five children of their own, they took in Celina and cared for her until liberation, 

when her mother and brother came to collect her. 262 

 

   The fate of Teresa Doğňga-Wrzosek, a native of Warsaw who lived in Stoğowicze, near Baranowicze, 

during the occupation, is equally telling. Doğňga-Wrzoszek was a liaison officer for the Home Army who 

carried messages between Home Army units stationed in Naliboki forest and the Soviet partisans. Before 

the liquidation of the ghetto in Stoğowicze she was entrusted with the care of a Jewish boy named Rysiek, 

whose parents also hailed from Warsaw. Doğňga-Wrzoszek also took in a Jewish girl named Zita who was 

hidden in a barn, but her presence was detected and Zita was executed by an SS-man who came for her 

with two Belorussian policemen. Miraculously, Doğňga-Wrzosek was spared when her young daughter 

threw herself on her mother to protect her from being shot. Young Rysiek survived the ordeal, hidden in the 

family house. He was joined by an abandoned, several-months-old Jewish baby who was found in a field. 

This child also survived the war. Doğňga-Wroszek was recognized posthumously as a Righteous Gentile by 

Yad Vashem. She too fell afoul of the Soviet partisans, as had Tadeusz Korsak and many other Poles. They 

denounced her to the Germans in March 1944. She was arrested together with six other Home Army 

members and imprisoned in Koğdyszewo, where she was tortured to disclose her underground network. 

Because the Germans were then in retreat, she managed to survive, only to be rearrested by the NKVD for 

allegedly collaborating with the Germans. After being interrogated for several months she was released in a 

very poor state of health and died soon after.
263

 

   The memoirs of Pola Wawer (n®e Komaj), a Jewish doctor from Wilno, also attest to extensive assistance 

from many Poles, including members of the Home Army, in the Wilno area where she and her mother 

survived the war. While residing in Szyrwinty (Ġirvintos) with Emilia and Wojciech Pogorzelski, who were 

both doctors and active in the Home Army, protection was extended to her by Franciszek Burdynowski, the 
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Home Army organizer in the Wiğkomierz (Ukmergǟ) region. Her principal benefactors, the Pogorzelskis, 

were honoured by Yad Vashem.
264

 Another local Home Army Commmander who sheltered and protected 

Jews was Bronisğaw KrzyŨanowski. He too was recognized as a Righteous Gentile,
265

 as was Helena 

Sztutkowska of Wilno, a lawyer and active member of the Home Army who used her contacts to obtain 

false documents and shelters for Jews in the countryside.
266

 

   Emanuela and Stanisğaw Cunge, natives of Ğ·dŦ who took refuge in Wilno at the beginning of the war 

and converted to Catholicism, passed as Poles in the vicinity of ŧodziszki near Smorgonie. They mixed in 

the company of many friendly and helpful Polish and Belorussian landowners, professionals and Catholic 

priests who were supporters of the Home Army. Although some of these people knew of their Jewish 

background and others suspected it, the Cunges did not encounter any anti-Semitism. When friends of 

theirs, the Holcmans, who were sheltered by Polish landowners near Oszmiana, were denounced to the 

Germans, the Home Army passed a death sentence on the denouncer and executed him. Emanuela Cungeôs 

life was also threatened, though not by Poles but by Soviet partisans who robbed and set fire to the estate of 

the Mierzejewski family in Ruskie Sioğo where she was staying with her son. After murdering the Polish 

landlord and a Soviet prisoner of war who worked there, the partisans wanted to kill Emanuela Cunge, 

whom they mistook for the landlordôs wife who happened to be away, and her young son. After pleading 

with her assailant, she and her child were spared (the partisan fired his gun into the air to avoid the 

suspicion of his fellow partisans, among them a woman) but were left in the burning manor and narrowly 

escaped death. Soviet partisans also robbed an estate in nearby Tupalszczyzna where Emanuela Cunge was 

to rlocate, killing Hilary Gğuszka. Cunge mentions the daring and successful Home Army assault on the 

German gendarmes and Belorussian police in ŧodziszki and confirms that Belorussians of the Orthodox 

faith who sheltered her willingly joined the Polish Home Army.
267

 

   Indeed, if one were to relyðas most Holocaust historians doðexclusively on Jewish anecdotal literature 

such as the accounts set out below, which are highly selective and succumb to denial, one would be left 

with a terribly skewed picture of Polish-Jewish relations. 
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 Pola Wawer, Poza gettem i obozem (Warsaw: Volumen, 1993), especially at pp. 97ï100; Michağ Grynberg, Ksiňga 

sprawiedliwych (Warsaw: Wydawnictwo Naukowe PWN, 1993), 421ï23; Gutman and Bender, The Encyclopedia of 

the Righteous Among the Nations, vol. 5: Poland, Part 2, 626ï27. 
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 Gutman and Bender, The Encyclopedia of the Righteous Among the Nations, vol. 4: Poland, Part 1, 411ï12. 

Bronisğaw KrzyŨanowski and his wife Helena sheltered Guta Baran and her son Zeev, as well as her relatives Sofi 

Rachel and Gegory Baran. For additional examples of assistance provided to Jews by members of the Home Army see 

Krajewski, Na Ziemi Nowogr·dzkiej, 38. 
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 Gutman and Bender, The Encyclopedia of the Righteous Among the Nations, vol. 5: Poland, Part 2, 793ï94. 
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 Emanuela Cunge, Uciec przed Holocaustem (Ğ·dŦ: Oficyna Bibliofil·w, 1997), 182ï307, especially 216ï21, 239, 

247, 253, 261, 274, 282, 290ï92, 302. After the ñliberationò the Cunges obtained good positions in Wilno. They 

became part of the privileged Soviet elite who had access to goods not readily available to the general population. Ibid., 

305ï307. 
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At first, recalled Jacob Greenstein, AK [Armia Krajowa] partisans in the Naliboki Forest were 

willing to work side by side with Jewish and Soviet fighters. Then, in December, 1943, the Poles 

received an order from London ñto get rid of the Red partisans, especially the Jews.ò268 

 

The Polish partisans were all the time our allies until the Soviets started winning and moving 

towards the former Polish borders. They didnôt want them on their land, knowing, from experience, 

once they stepped in they would seldom leave. Well, they decided, first of all, to wage a war 

against the Jewish partisans. What else? Logical, wasnôt it?269 

 

Soon we were faced with a plague of White Poles,ðthat was the worst of all the plagues. They 

announced total war and destruction on the Bolshevik and Soviet partisans and upon all Jews. A 

Jew who fell into the hands of the White Poles never lived to tell about it é 

   The White Poles were very well armed. Their ammunition came by plane from abroad [sic]. 

Behind them were the English in London. é All the Poles were on their side and among the 

Byelorussians (White Russians) there were farmers who prefarred [sic] Poles to Russians.270 

 

In June of 1943, fourteen thousand Polish officers were found slain in the forests of Katyn, near 

Smolensk. They were soldiersðtrained officersðcaptured by the Russians in 1939, isolated in 

camps. In June of 1941, they were recaptured in the German Blitz offensive. All of them had been 

shot in the back of the head, their hands bound with wire, and German arms and bullets were found 

in their graves and bodies. So reported the International Red Cross.271 

 

   Even more analytical Holocaust scholarship does not depart markedly from the accepted schema. 

American sociologist Nechama Tec, for example, repeats the standard clich® that Polish partisans in this 

area received orders to wage war on Soviet and Jewish partisans. Specifically, she lays blame on a group of 

officers, some of whom were allegedly Fascists, sent by the Polish government in exile ñwith instructions 

to undermine and contain the Soviet power in this area,ò for ñdisturb[ing] the existing Polish-Russian 

equilibrium.ò She alleges, without offering proof, that Polish partisans roamed the countryside attacking 

Jews: ñWhite Poles were using Jews as shooting targets.ò
272

 These charges have found their way into works 
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 Based on a Yad Vashem deposition cited in Allan Levine, Fugitives of the Forest: The Heroic Story of Jewish 

Resistance and Survival during the Second World War (Toronto: Stoddart, 1998), 191. 
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 Rubin, Against the Tide, 142. Sulia Wolozhinski Rubin from Nowogr·dek was a member of Bielskiôs group. 

 
270

 Account of Zussya Dolsky, a member of the ñOrgani Keyserò company, in Kowalski, Anthology on Armed Jewish 

Resistance, 1939ï1945, vol. 4 (1991), 447. 

 
271

 Yehuda Adelman, Heroes Without Medals (New York: Vantage Press, 1983), viii. The author, a native of Horodek 

and member of the Soviet partisans, was employed by Smersh as a counter-intelligence officer. 
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 Tec, Defiance, 151ï53; Nechama Tec, In the Lionôs Den: The Life of Oswald Rufeisen (New York: Oxford 

University Press, 1990), 182ï83. Tec is correct, however, when she writes that what particularly irked the Soviet 

underground was the arrival of emissaries and trained professional officers (paratroopers) sent by the Home Army 

supreme command. See Krajewski, Uderzeniowe Bataliony Kadrowe 1942ï1944, 381ï83. These contacts were, for the 

Soviets, a sign of the lack of subordination of the Polish partisans, and this they could not tolerate. But it was merely a 
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of non-Jewish historians who rely on Jewish sources uncritically, with scant, if any, regard for Polish and 

Soviet sources.
273

 

   This interpretation simply overlooks a mass of crucial evidence to the contrary and treats Soviet wartime 

policies with respect to the Poles as being ñneutral,ò or even ñdefensive.ò
274

 Indeed, it is surprising that 

such views, which are premised on the ñbenign intentionsò of the authors of the Gulag and Katyn, are still 

being put forward by historians (and others), to the detriment of the Poles, long after Stalinôs sinister ways 

have been amply exposed. As British historian Norman Davies argues compellingly, 

                                                                                                                                                                             
pretext, and Polish actions had little to do with disturbing the Soviet-Polish ñequilibrium,ò which the Soviets never 

intended to respect in any event, since the course of those relations was already cast. See Gnatowski, ñKontrowersje i 

konflikty miňdzy ZWZïAK i radzieckim podziemiem na p·ğnocno-wschodnich ziemiach Polski w latach 1941ï1944,ò 

in Liedke, Sadowska and Tyrkowski, Granice i pogranicza, vol. 2, 188ï89; Boradyn, Niemenïrzeka niezgody, 151, 155 

n.240. Notwithstanding, seemingly friendly relations between the Polish and Soviet partisans continued. The latter were 

invited to the Polish Independence Day celebrations in Derewno (Derewna) on Novermber 11, 1943, with which they 

were visibly displeased. See Poland, Home Army, The Unseen and Silent, 152; Polskie Siğy Zbrojne, Armia Krajowa, 

Drogi cichociemnych, 142. However, it was the publication in the bulletin of the Home Army district command of 

information about the discovery of the mass graves of Polish officers in Katyn, which had resulted in the breaking of 

diplomatic relations between the Soviet Union and the Polish government in London, that particularly incensed the 

Soviet partisan command when a copy of the bulletin fell into its hands. See Woğkonowski, Okrňg WileŒski ZwiŃzku 

Walki Zbrojnej Armii Krajowej w latach 1939ï1945, 126. Additionally, there was a history of conflict stemming from 

the continuous plundering of local villages by Soviet partisans, which resulted in interventions by Polish units from 

time to time. For a summary of some of these activities see Bohdan Urbankowski, ñAntysowieckie powstania: Polska,ò 

in Encyklopedia ñBiağych Plamò, vol. 1, 227. According to Soviet sources, some Soviet partisans (intruders) were 

killed by Polish partisans. See Smilovitskii, Katastrofa evreev v Belorussii 1941ï1944 gg., 139. 
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 Both American historian Martin Dean and German historian Bernhard Chiari, for example, appear to accept Tecôs 

interpretation in their rather superficial treatment of the topic which scarcely acknowledges Polish sources. See Dean, 

Collaboration in the Holocaust, 143ï44; Chiari, Alltag hinter der Front, 283ï84. Belorussian historians still generally 

adhere to the traditional Soviet point of view but attempt to put a Belorussian spin on the Soviet partisan movement in 

that area. See Viktor I. Ermolovich and Sergei V. Zhumar, Ognem i mechom: Khronika polskogo natsionalisticheskogo 

podpolia v Belorussii (1939ï1953 gg.) (Minsk: Belorusskii nauchno-issledovatelskii tsentr dokumentovedeniia, 

arkheografii i arkhivnogo dela, 1994), 33; Ivan P. Krenô, ñDer Einsatz der Armia Krajowa auf dem Territorium 

WeiÇrusslands aud weiÇrussischer Sicht: Versuch einer Ortsbestimmung,ò in Chiari, Die polnische Heimatarmee: 585ï

98. See also the rebuttal by Sigizmund P. Borodin (Zygmunt Boradyn), ñDie weiÇrussische Geschichtsschreibung und 

Publizistik und die Heimatarmee in den nordºstlichen Gebieten der Republik Polen 1939 bis 1945,ò in ibid. (Chiari), 

599ï616; and the overviews by Kazimierz Krajewski, ñDer Bezirk Nowogr·dek der Heimatarmee: 

Nationalitªtenkonflikte und polnische Verhªltnisse 1939ï1945,ò in ibid. (Chiari), 563ï84 and by Piotr NiwiŒski, ñDie 

nationale Frage im Wilnagebiet,ò in ibid. (Chiari), 617ï34. Recently Russian nationalist historians have revived the old 

Soviet stereotypes with a vengeance depicting the Polish underground as a negligible anti-German force that somehow 

managed to murder more Soviets and Belorussians than the Nazis. See, for example, Elena Viktorovna Iakovleva, 

Polsha protiv SSSR 1939ï1950 (Moscow: Izdatelskii dom ñVecheò, 2007), especially 195ï96. A minority of liberal 

Russian historians reject these primitive views. See, for example, Boris Sokolov, Okkupatsiia: Prawdy i mify (Moscow: 

Izd. Ast-Press Kniga, 2002). 
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 This interpretation conveniently ignores salient facts such as the following: the Polish government in exile, and 

consequently the Home Army supreme command, continued to advocate cooperation with the Soviet partisans and 

Polish partisan units repeatedly attempted to come to an agreement with the Soviet partisans operating in the Wilno and 

Nowogr·dek regions; the Soviet leadership had issued directives already in January 1943 aimed at the destruction of 

any independent Polish underground movement; the Soviet partisans carried out treacherous massacres of the Polish 

underground in Naliboki in May 1943 and BurzyŒskiôs partisan unit in Narocz forest in August 1943 (neither of which 

Tec and like-minded authors care to mention); finally, Soviet partisans conducted incessant and brutal ñeconomicò 

operations against the civilian population. Moreover, Tecôs position falsely assumes that the Soviets were prepared to 

share power in this area, but as Zygmunt Boradyn argues compellingly in his study Niemenïrzeka niezgody, which is 

based largely on Soviet archival documents, they were not. The charge, found in Soviet reports from this time, that the 

Polish underground was planning an assault on the Soviet partisans is patently false. See, for example, Markovôs report 

dated October 15, 1943, in Boradyn, ed., Armia Krajowa na Nowogr·dczyŦnie i WileŒszczyŦnie (1942ï1943), 57. 
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One has to remember that the Soviet Union under Stalin had adopted a stance of extreme, 

formalized hostility towards everything outside its borders or beyond its control. Unless instructed 

otherwise, all Soviet organizations routinely treated all foreigners, including pro-Communist 

sympathizers, as suspects or enemies. They routinely arrested and eliminated any Soviet citizens, 

including prisoners of war, who had been abroad without permission or had been in unauthorized 

contact with non-Soviet persons. In this state of affairs, which was well known to the USSRôs 

neighbours, there was no possibility whatsoever that the Polish Underground could have reached a 

modus vivendi with the Soviet Army of its own accord.275 

 

   Remarkably, two decades after the release of Soviet archival documents that clearly show that on June 

22, 1943, General Ponomarenko ordered the subversion of the Polish underground, followed by the August 

24, 1943 assault on BurzyŒskiôs partisan unit, which, according to Fedor Markovôs field report, resulted in 

the execution of the Polish delegation and some 80 Polish partisans, Israeli historian Sara Bender, relying 

exclusively on Jewish testimonies, continues to propagate the concotedðand thoroughly discreditedð

Stalinist narrative that blames the Polish victims for their own fate by instigating the conflict. (Bender 

advances the concocted claim that the Poles were planning a hostile operation against the Soviet partisan 

headquarters, something that would have been in violation of the instructions of the Home Army 

headquarters not to enter into a conflict with the Soviet partisans, whereas Markovôs attack on the Polish 

unit was entirely consistent with earlier instructions of the Soviet partisan command to eliminate the Polish 

partisans.) She does, however, confirm the participation of the Jewish ñRevengeò detachment (Nekama in 

Hebrew, MesŠ in Russian) in the assault on BurzyŒskiôs detachment. 

 

In September 1943 fighters of the Neqama Battalion took part in an organized operation against the 

ñWhite Poles.ò Markov decided to undertake the operation after learning that the AK (Armia 

KrajowaðArmy of the Homeland, the underground in occupied Poland) forces, with which he had 

signed a cooperation agreement, were in contact with the Polish government-in-exile in London and 

were planning a hostile operation against the headquarters of the Belarusian brigade. Markov 

invited the AK staff to a meeting at his headquarters, and meanwhile summoned partisan fighters of 

the units under his command, including Jewish fighters of the [Jewish] Neqama Battalion. Upon 

arrival at the headquarters, the AK men were disarmed and returned to their base accompanied by 

Soviet commanders. The AK base was surrounded, and as Markovôs partisans burst into it they 

apprehended the AK men and executed 15 of the command staff.276 

 

As Bender goes on to demonstrate, the now defunct Soviet (Stalinist) narrative about the Polish 
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 Davies, Rising ô44, 626. 

 
276 Sara Bender, ñLife Stories as Testament and Memorial: The Short Life of the Neqama Battalion, an Independent 

Jewish Partisan Unit Operating During the Second World War in the Narocz Forest, Belarus,ò East European Jewish 

Affairs, vol. 42, no. 1 (April 2012): 1ï24, here at 10. 
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underground converges with the Jewish nationalist narrative: 

 

The majority of Polish fighters were attached to Russian platoons, but over time they escaped and 

formed platoons of their own, which fought against the Russian partisans, murdered Jewish 

partisans and collaborated with the Germans.277 

 

The longevity and prevalence of this ethno-nationalist narrative in Jewish historiography is truly 

remarkable.  A backgrounder to the Jewish Partisans in Belarus 1941ï1944 database states: 

 

Jews face extreme dangers from the Polish partisan detachments that operated in Western Belarus. 

The Polish home army (AK and NSZ) were militant nationalists and anti Semitesðassaults 

beatings, robberies and murders of Jews were common.278 

 

   Unfortunately, Jewish historiography has been unable to come to terms with the harsh reality of the close 

association of Jews with the Soviet partisans who declared war on the Polish underground. The most 

moderate and informed position is found in the recent writings of Israeli historian Yitzhak Arad. In The 

Holocaust in the Soviet Union (2009), Aradôs treatment is still rather muddled, as he conflates the earlier 

conflict between the Soviet and Polish partisans with the later operation ñBurza.ò Arad writes: 

 

Following the discovery of the murder of thousands of Polish officers in Katynðfor which the 

Germans accused the Soviet Union (an accusation which later turned out to be true)ðdiplomatic 

relation were severed between the Polish government-in-exile and the Soviet Union. With the 

approach of the Soviet army to the pre-September 1939 Polish borders, the Polish government-in-

exile decided to take control of the areas of former eastern Poland. This operation was coined 

ñBuzhaò [Burza] (storm) and caused incessant clashes between the AK and Soviet partisans in the 

forests and rural areas of west Belorussia.279 

 

   Aradôs 2010 study In the Shadow of the Red Banner
280

 represents a significant improvement on the sorry 

state of Jewish historiography regarding the conflict between Soviet and Polish partisans. He recognizes, 

implicitly at least at one point, that in the struggle between the Soviet and Polish partisans, Jews fell 

primarily as combatants on the side of the Soviets, and not as victims of anti-Semitism: 
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 Jewish Partisans in Belarus 1941ï1944, Introduction by Jenni Buch, Internet: 

<http://www.jewishgen.org/databases/holocaust/0218_Belarus_partisans.html>. As pointed out earlier, there were no 

NSZ forces in this area, but historical accuracy is not a strong point of the Jewish narrative.  
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 Arad, The Holocaust in the Soviet Union, 591, n.6. 
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 Yitzhak Arad, In the Shadow of the Red Banner: Soviet Jews in the War against Nazi Germany (Jerusalem and New 

York: Gefen, in association with Yad Vashem, The International Institute for Holocaust Reseach, 2010). 
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Soviet partisans and the AK fought one another, and neither avoided murdering civilians suspected 

of supporting the other side. As part of the Soviet partisans, the Jewish partisans participated in 

clashes with the AK and also sustained losses in the battles.281 

 

Arad is the first Jewish historian who makes a serious effort, albeit belatedly, to consider some of the Polish 

historical writings on this subject, which set out recently released Soviet archival documents on the genesis 

of the conflict. (Arad has not actually done research in those archives himself.) However, this study 

exhibits serious shortcomings, such as omissions of important events and selective treatment of certain 

issues, in addition to its somewhat incoherent presentation of how the conflict between the Soviets and 

Polish ñnationalistsò unfolded.  

   Arad misses two opportunities to point out that it was the Soviet Union that unilaterally severed 

diplomatic relations with the Polish government-in-exile in the wake of the exposure of the Katyn massacre 

in April 1943. Arad does cite the circular issued by the Central Committee of the Belorussian Communist 

Party on June 22, 1943, which instructed the Soviet partisan leadership in the field ñto use every measure 

possible against óthe bourgeois-nationalist Polish units and groups.ôò
282

 However, he indicates that the 

Soviet partisan leadership (Chernyshev) waited patiently until December 1, 1943 to act on those orders, 

after some Jewish partisans who were robbing villagers in Dubniki faced aggression from Polish partisans. 

Arad thus overlooks pivotal events that transpired in Narocz forest already on August 26, 1943, when 

Markov ñdisarmedò BurzyŒskiôs partisan unit, killing 80 partisans in the process, in which the Jewish 

ñRevengeò (MesŠ) detachment took part. Nor does he acknowledge the actual extent of the casualties of the 

December 1, 1943 assault, delayed because of Operation Hermann, which took the lives of about 50 Polish 

partisans. Such omissions are really inexcusable, either for a historian or for a former partisan who served 

under Markov (as Arad did). While noting two attacks on Jewish marauders,
283

 Arad avoids mentioning 

ñproblematicò events like the massacre of some 130 Poles in Naliboki on May 8, 1943 or the massacre of 

some 40 Poles in the village of Koniuchy on January 29, 1944. The former involved some Jewish partisan 

from Naliboki forest, whereas the latter was perpetrated in large part by Jewish partisans from Rudniki 

forest. In short, we are presented with a Jewish nationalist perspective with a decidedly pro-Soviet bias.  

   American historian Joshua Zimmermanôs treatment of the Polish-Jewish relations in northeastern Poland 

in his 2015 study The Polish Underground and the Jews, 1939ï1945
284

 is particularly problematic, even 

shoddy. Albeit uneven, Zimmermanôs study represents a marked improvement over the usual Jewish 
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 Arad, In the Shadow of the Red Banner, 291. Arad gives a different perspective, however, at pp. 193 and 342.  

 
282 Arad, In the Shadow of the Red Banner, 303. These documents were published in Polish in 1994 and in English in 

1998.  
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284 Joshua D. Zimmerman, The Polish Underground and the Jews, 1939ï1945 (New York: Cambridge University 

Press, 2015). While labeling parts of Zimmermanôs scholarship as ñshoddyò may seem harsh, it is certainly more 

respectful that his outright dismissal of important scholarship on the spurious ground that its authors are ñnationalistò 

historians. This matter is addressed in the following footnote. 
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narrative presented by nationalist historians such as Reuben Ainsztein and Shmuel Krakowski. Some parts 

of the bookðsuch as the presence of Jews in Home Army units and the assistance provided to Jews by the 

Home Army and its individual members (the Hanacz·w rescue story stands out)ðare indeed eye-opening 

for English-speaking readers. Generally, Zimmerman strives to take a nuanced approach with regard to a 

number of contentious matters. Notably, he discards an often-repeated claim that has become a staple of 

Holocaust historiography, namely, that General Tadeusz Komorowski (ñB·rò), the commander of the 

Home Army, issued an order (which Jewish sources misidentify) instructing Home Army members to 

liquidate Jewish partisans and forest groups. Citing historians Stanislaus Blejwas and John Lowell 

Armstrong, Zimmerman acknowledges that Order 116 of September 15, 1943 on banditry did no such 

thing; in fact, it did not even mention Jews. (There is more on Order 116 in Part Three of this study.) 

Unfortunately, as we shall see, Zimmerman revives this claim in relation to the Nowogr·dek District of the 

Home Army. 

   Although Zimmerman canvases a large body of archival documents and incorporates much new 

information not found in the one-sided English-language literature on this topic, one of the main 

shortcomings of his book is the selective use of sources. This, in turn, leads Zimmerman to overlook or 

ignore important facts and events that undermine his findings and conclusions. While decrying Polish 

ñnationalistò historians whose respective expertise is greater than his own, and using that pretext to dismiss 

their important scholarship,
285

 Zimmerman assures his readers that he is undertaking a ñcomprehensive re-

                                                           
285 Of the four major Polish scholars on the Home Army and Soviet partisans in this area, Zimmerman refers to 

Zygmunt Boradyn and Kazimierz Krajewski very selectively, and not at all to the important scholarship of Jarosğaw 

Woğkonowski and Bogdan Musiağ. Other important historians Zimmerman ignores are Marek Wierzbicki, Marek Jan 

Chodakiewicz, Piotr Gontarczyk, Tadeusz Piotrowski, and Alexander Brakel. Zimermanôs uncritical acceptance of 

Joanna Michlicôs categorization of Marek Jan Chodakiewicz, Bogdad (sic) Musiağ, Tomasz Strzembosz, and Marek 

Wierzbicki as ñnationalistsò is particularly disquieting. See Zimmerman, The Polish Underground and the Jews, 1939ï

1945, 7 n.31. These scholars are acknowledged experts in their fields. In his review in Yad Vashem Studies (vol. 38, no. 

2), Israel historian Yehuda Bauer recognizes Musialôs book Sowjetische Partisanen: Mythos und Wirklichkeit ña most 

important contributionò to the history of the war, the Soviet partisans, and Polish-Jewish partisan relations in 

Belorussia. Wierzbicki has published in Polin and in collective volume edited by Timothy Snyder. Chodakieiwicz does 

not fit this mould as his views are best described as classical or even paleoconservative, and he is quite critical of 

ethnonationalism. Joanna Michlic herself espouses a Jewish ethnonationalist agenda, and Zimmerman even exposes her 

own pronounced bias on an important matter. Michlicôs take on General Roweckiôs radiogram of September 5, 1941 is 

rather typical of her highly subjective methodology of sniffing out alleged anti-Semites at every possible turn (ibid., 

103ï104): 

 

Joanna Michlic maintained that the document was proof of Roweckiôs negative views toward the 

Jews. ñThe language of the report,ò she wrote, ñreflects the emotive distance of its author toward the 

subject he describes. There is a glaring lack of reference to the Jews as members of the same society 

as Polish citizens; Jews are simply presented as óthey,ô not óusô.ò The radiogram was thus proof of 

Roweckiôs ñanti-Jewish prejudices.ò Jan T. Gross derived an entirely different interpretation. 

ñRowecki,ò Gross wrote regarding the above-cited radiogram, ñwas not a politician, he did not speak 

on behalf of a party program, and he did not advocate an ideological point. He was a well-respected, 

unprejudiced, moderate, very well informed, dedicated public servant advising his government on a 

matter of public interest. And it was his best judgment that the government should stay away from 

anything that could be construed as advocacy on behalf of the Jews.ò Rowecki, Gross concluded, 

ñwas by no stretch of the imagination an anti-Semite.ò The basis for Grossôs claim was a personal 

one. His mother, Halina SzumaŒska Gross, was a member of the Home Armyôs Burueau [sic] of 

Information and Propaganda during the war and had known Rowecki personally. She, along with 

others who knew him, told Gross that Rowecki had never demonstrated any anti-Jewish tendencies. 
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examinationò of the topic of relations between the Polish underground and the Jews and that ñ[c]ritical to 

this study is an absolute commitment to strive for impartiality, including the careful and critical evaluation 

of all sources.ò
286

 Clearly, the author does not live up to this commitment. This is especially evident in 

Chapter 10 of his book, ominously titled ñWhen the Home Army Turned Its Guns on the Jews,ò which 

deals with conditions in northeastern Poland. 

   While dwelling on minutiae, subjective impressions and hearsay from anecdotal sources (for example, his 

overreliance on Abraham Melezinôs testimony, while ignoring Jewish sources that do not bear out 

Melezinôs claims
287

) and ignoring credible evidence from Soviet archives and Polish sources, Zimmerman 

                                                                                                                                                                             
Among the historians Zimmerman likes to cite is ĠarȊnas Liekis, who is no expert in this area and whose writings 

display a pronounced anti-Polish bias. Liekis attempts to equate the Home Army with murderous Lithuanian Nazi 

collaborators and the Soviet partisans. Liekis and Michlic are prime representatives of a school of historians who thrive 

on preaching to making crude generalizations about Poles without any consideration of the behaviour and attitudes of 

Lithuanians or Jews toward Poles. Rather than expose alleged Polish ñnationalism,ò which is their goal, they 

underscore their own nationalistic proclivities.  

 
286 Zimmerman, The Polish Underground and the Jews, 1939ï1945, 7, 10 (emphasis added). This unfortunate 

shortcoming is characteristic of the school of historians, centred around the Polish Centre for Holocaust Research 

(Centrum BadaŒ nad ZagğadŃ), which Zimmerman champions. 

 
287 Abraham Melezinôs testimony is woven into the narrative (and at times overtakes the narrative to its detriment), in 

an attempt to diminish Soviet blame for the conflict with the Polish underground and to bolster Zimmermanôs argument 

that anti-Semitism was the driving force behind the behaviour of the Polish underground. In his Shoah Foundation 

interview (Shoah Foundation Institute for Visual History and Education, University of Southern California, Los 

Angeles, Interview code 3382), Abraham Melezin, who went by the name of Adam MielŨyŒski (spelled incorrectly by 

Zimmerman as MelzyŒski) during his stint with the Home Army, discredits himself as an objective witness. The only 

villain he perceives is ubiquitous Polish anti-Semitism. Almost all the Poles Melezin encountered were allegedly 

ñhighly anti-Semitic.ò Although ostensibly a ñloyalò member of the Home Army, Melezin, remarkably, is unaware of 

any hostilities by Soviet partisans directed at the Home Army, the civilian population, or even Jewish fugitives hiding 

in the forests. Can someone who fails to notice the massacre of 80 partisans by Soviet and Jewish partisans in August 

1943 be considered an informed and impartial source of information? Rather, Melezin alleges that it was Home Army, 

incited by their local commanders, that initiated attacks against Soviets partisans and Jews for no apparent reason other 

than their own anti-Communism and anti-Semitism, and did so repeatedly. Despite his claim that he processed or 

screened all new recruits in the Lida subdistrict, Melezin is not mentioned in any of the many publications on the Home 

Army in the Nowogr·dek District, nor is his superior, Captain Eustachy Chrzanowski. Melezin claims that he and 

Chrzanowski met Lieutenant Adolf Pilch (code name ñG·raò) in Lida in the spring of 1943 and debriefed him on local 

conditions. Melezin also claims that, despite his lowly rank, he felt compelled to lecture Pilch on his role when Pilch 

allegedly stated that his first and foremost ñduty is to fight the ŧydokumuna [Judeo-Communism].ò See Zimmerman, 

The Polish Underground and the Jews, 1939ï1945, 282. In all likelihood, Melezin never met Pilch. Pilch did not arrive 

in the Nowogr·dek area until the end of August 1943, at which time Melezin, according to his own testimony, had been 

arrested by the Germans. After being parachuted into Poland in February 1943 as part of the Polish special forces, Pilch 

remained in Warsaw and was assigned to the Nowogr·dek District only in July 1943. He was debriefed in Warsaw at 

the end of that month by Second Lieutenant Stanisğaw Sňdziak (code name ñWartaò), the chief of staff of the 

Nowogr·dek District in Lida. Pilch did not leave Warsaw until the middle of August 1943. He arrived at the Home 

Army base in Naliboki forest on September 6, 1943, and assumed command of the Stoğpce Battalion on an interim 

basis on September 9, until the arrival of Major Wacğaw Peğka at the beginning of November 1943. On the way there, 

Pilch stayed in several towns and had a very brief stopover in Lida where he met up with Sňdziak. See Adolf Pilch, 

Partyzanci trzech puszcz (Krak·w: Mireki, 2013), 73, 79, 82. In Lida, Pilch was again debriefed by Sňdziak and 

Second Lieutenant Aleksander Warakomski (ñświrò), the commander of the Stoğpce subdistrict. See Marian 

Podg·reczny, ñG·raò, ñDolinaòðpartyzant niepokonany: Wywiad rzeka z cichociemnym Adolfem Pilchem: 

Wspomnienia cichociemnego (Warsaw: Askon, 2014); Marian Podg·reczny, Zgrupowanie Stoğpecko-Nalibockie Armii 

Krajowej: Oszczerstwa i fakty: Wywiad z dow·dcŃ Zgrupowania, cichociemnym, mjr Adolfem Pilchem ps. ñG·raò, 

ĂDolinaò, Internet: <http://www.iwieniec.eu/AK/ZSN_AK-fakty.pdf>. 

   Zimmerman cites Pilchôs memoir several times to build his ñcaseò against Pilch, but ignores critical information that 

undermines his case and, in particular, his ñstarò witness, Melezin. While emphasizing Pilchôs exclusion of Jews, 

Zimmerman ignores the fact that Pilch took in Dr. Antoni Banis (code name ñKleszczykò), as well as a few other local 

Jews, and, after his unit moved to the Kampinos forest near Warsaw the following year, Pilch accepted a number of 
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manages to avoidðand thus attempts to erase from the historical recordðpivotal facts that undermine his 

thesis that the Home Army in the Nowogr·dek District, whose story is inextricably linked to events in the 

adjacent Wilno District, was driven by an anti-Soviet agenda and innate anti-Semitism to unilaterally target 

Soviet partisans and Jews who escaped from the ghettos and hid in the forests. Zimmerman makes no 

mention of any of the following key events that shed a completely different light on this story: General 

Ponomarenkoôs instructions of June 22, 1943 to eliminate Polish partisans operating in this area
288

 (instead 

Zimmerman shifts the blame for the deteriorating relations and initiation of open hostilities between the 

Soviet and Polish partisans onto the Polish underground); the unprovoked slaughter of eighty of 

BurzyŒskiôs partisans near Lake Narocz (in the Wilno District) on August 24, 1943, in which Jewish 

partisans participated as members of both mixed Soviet detachments and the Jewish Nekama unit (a fact 

acknowledged by Israeli historian Sara Bender289); the true extent of the ñdisarmingò of Miğaszewskiôs 

partisans on December 1, 1943 (Zimmerman cites a Jewish participant who alleges there were no casualties 

among the Polish partisans,290 while ignoring Soviet instructions to eliminate resisters as well as Soviet and 

                                                                                                                                                                             
Hungarian Jews into his unit, among them Istv§n Gamari. In a postwar interview, Gamari expressed nothing but praise 

for Pilch as a leader. See Zimmerman, The Polish Underground and the Jews, 1939ï1945, 259, 305, 315ï19. 

Zimmerman also does not mention the reason Pilch gave for the friction with the Soviet partisans and Jewish forest 

groups, namely, the increasingly aggressive behaviour of the Soviet partisans and the incessant pillaging by both 

groups. Zimmerman then goes on to misstate the date of the entry in Pilchôs log regarding the killing of a group of 

Jewish marauders by some Polish partisans, which actually occurred in the morning hours of November 18, 1943. 

Advancing the date by two months, to September 17, Zimmerman then argues that, within days of his arrival in 

Naliboki forest, Pilch embarked on a policy of engaging the Soviet and Jewish partisans, who we are led to believe had 

been friendly toward the Polish partisans and population. Ibid., 275ï76. This matter is discussed further in the main 

text. 

 
288 General Ponomarenkoôs circular to the district Communist party committees in the field read: 

 

In those regions that are under the influence of our partisan units and party centres do not allow 

activities of Polish groups formed by the reactionary nationalist circles [i.e., the Home Army]. The 

leaders are to be eliminated in a manner that is not noticeable. The [Polish] units are to be disbanded 

and their arms depots are to be appropriated or, if it is possible, take those units under your secure 

influence. Use them by directing them to active combat against the Germans. Regroup and break 

them up in an appropriate way. You should do away with their significance [as] independent military 

units and attach them to large [Soviet] units, after which you are to carry out quietly an appropriate 

cleansing of hostile elements. 

 

See Boradyn, ed., Armia Krajowa na Nowogr·dczyŦnie i WileŒszczyŦnie (1942ï1944) w Ŝwietle dokument·w 

sowieckich, 41ï42; Boradyn, Niemenïrzeka niezgody, 243. 

 
289 Sara Bender, ñLife Stories as Testament and Memorial: The Short Life of the Neqama Battalion, an Independent 

Jewish Partisan Unit Operating During the Second World War in the Narocz Forest, Belarus,ò East European Jewish 

Affairs, vol. 42, no. 1 (April 2012): 1ï24. Soviet archival documents describing this massacre were published already in 

the mid-1990s so there is no excuse for not knowing them. Peter Smuszkowicz, a Jewish partisan whose testimony is 

cited in this study, recalled the attack and its inevitable consequence as follows: ñThere were many Jewish boys in the 

Markov Brigade. é At this time the Jews and Polish partisans were still friendly. é The leaders of a unit of Polish 

partisans of the AK (Army-Krojowa) [sic] Land Army had been arrested by Soviet partisans on orders from Moscow. 

é Their partisans had been separated and assigned to several Soviet detachments. They kept their weapons, but their 

commanders were arrested and though some may have escaped the rest were shot. é At the first chance they got, the 

Polish partisans deserted the Soviet brigades and reformed their own AK units. They were now our enemies.ò See 

Silverman, From Victims to Victors, 253.  

 
290 According to Zimmerman: ñWithout a single shot, the Polish partisans were disarmed and taken as prisoners. 

According to Greenstein, none were physically harmed. While the rank-and-file either merged with the Soviets (by 
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Polish reports describing the killing of Polish partisans found in Zygmunt Boradynôs Niemenðrzeka 

niezgody, which Zimmerman lists in his bibliography); the actual and very real conflation of Jewish 

fugitives and Soviet partisans in this area (the Soviet partisan movement did not tolerate the existence of 

independent partisan units and also disarmed and dispersed its only Jewish unit, Nekama; moreover, Soviet 

partisans killed hundreds of Jewish fugitives); the brutal banditry directed at the civilian population 

practiced by Soviet partisans, among them Jews (although described in many Jewish testimonies, 

Zimmerman manages to overlook this widespread phenomenon and cites those sources only for alleged 

Polish hostilities against Jews without providing any context for them, as in the case of Nacza forest,
291

 

which is examined in this study; Zimmerman cursorily dismisses the rapacious foraging of the Soviet and 

                                                                                                                                                                             
force) or got away, the officers were taken away.ò See Zimmerman, The Polish Underground and the Jews, 1939ï

1945, 276. General Ponomarenkoôs report to Stalin, based on a report filed by General Dubov on December 4, 1943, 

referred to the ñdisarmingò of 230 partisans and stated that, in the town of Derewno, ña group of Poles put up armed 

resistance, and as a result 10 Poles were killed and 8 wounded.ò Subsequently, the Soviet partisans embarked on a 

widescale ñcleansingò operation directed at family members and supporters of the Home Army in the area. Polish 

partisans that had been absorbed into their units were murdered surreptitiously. See Boradyn, Niemenïrzeka niezgody, 

163ï64, 301ï302. The actual unfolding of events is detailed in this study. 

 
291 Zimmerman claims that the mere appearance of Jewish fugitives in the forests in areas where Soviet partisans 

predominated created the Home Armyôs (false) perception of Jews as hostile, Soviet elements. Allegedly, the Home 

Army lashed out at those Jews and Soviets without distinction, and without any discernible cause. See Zimmerman, 

The Polish Underground and the Jews, 1939ï1945, 271. The ñsupportingò Home Army documents Zimmerman cites 

selectively spell out what the primary reason for conflict was (apart from Soviet designs to take control of the entire 

territory), namely, incessant and ruthless plundering, but Zimmerman neglects to mention that and carry out an 

objective analysis of local conditions. See Krajewski, Nowogr·dzki Okrňg AK w dokumentach, 202, 203, 267ï68, 397. 

(Zimmerman also ignores Krajewskiôs expert commentaries on the text passages Zimmerman cites, e.g., pp. 188 n44, 

200 n83.) Essentially, Zimmerman overlooks the behaviour of the Soviet partisans and Jewish forest groups, which 

finds confirmation in Jewish testimonies as well, and thus whitewashes it. Zimmerman cites the example of Nacza 

forest near Lida. After a German raid that destroyed the Jewish family camp in Nacza forest in June or July 1943, the 

Jews that remained in the area formed part of the heavily Jewish Lenin Komsomol Brigade of the Soviet partisans. 

Their activities consisted primarily of raiding villages for supplies, often accompanied by threats and violence. The 

Home Army was compelled to respond to calls by the victimized villagers for protection and tried to deter plunderers 

caught in the act. The testimonies of the Jewish members of that detachment speak for themselves: 

 

Here there was no problem of obtaining food, which was plentiful, nor did we lack clothing. When on 

a mission, we would take off our ragged and dirty clothes and change them for others at the homes of 

farmers. 

 

Among us Jews there were also those who behaved like wolves; those wild men took from the 

villagers more food than was allowed. They also took clothing and other objects which were not 

necessary for our people. In those cases, our commander [Stankevich] had to draw this especially to 

my attention, demanding that I not permit such behaviour. For such behaviour he once put those 

greedy Jews to account; they were Pesach Manes, Zelman Mednicki and Berl Miler. Thanks to my 

intervention they were let off, but their weapons were taken from them. 

 

The days when we would load a horse and wagon with provisions to be taken to the ancient forest 

were over. Not because of the possible danger from the Germans but because of the White Poles, who 

were lying in wait for us é Now, on returning to the forest, we packed a knapsack bursting at the 

seams with food supplies, bearing it on our backs together with the weapon each of us held in his 

hand. In addition to individual knapsacks, there were also heavier kitbags, which we took turns to 

carry. 

 

See Aviel, A Village Named Dowgalishok, 208; Testimony of Lejb Rajzer, dated 1945, Archive of the Jewish Historical 

Institute (Warsaw), no. 301/555; Aviel, A Village Named Dowgalishok, 270. The foregoing is but a small but 

representative selection. 
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Jewish partisans as a ñnecessityò without considering its impact on the victimized population); and the 

massacre of some 130 Polish civilians in Naliboki on May 8, 1943 and at least 40 Polish civilians in 

Koniuchy on January 29, 1944, in which Jewish partisans also took part. 

   These important omissions alone are more than sufficient reason to discredit Zimmermanôs treatment of 

this topic. Moreover, they undermine his thesis that Polish anti-Communism, rather than Soviet aggression, 

was the root cause of the hostility. German historian Alexander Brakel detects the latter, while Zimmerman 

is virtually oblivious to it, as a comparison of their underlying premises show: 

 

After the German defeats at Stalingrad and Kursk, when it became clear that Soviet victory was 

only a matter of time, Soviet partisan officials lost interest in further cooperation and stopped 

negotiations [with the Home Army]. They now regarded their main duty as the cleansing of the 

occupied territories of óhostile elementsô. With the Red Army dealing effectively with the Germans, 

the main opponent was now the Polish underground; in November 1943 Chernyshev ordered the 

disarming of the Polish units [in Nowogr·dek District]. This was the beginning of guerrilla warfare 

between two underground movements.292 

 

It is in the Nowogr·dek region in the second half of 1943 that the Polish-Soviet contest over control 

of the eastern borderlands began to be waged, dubbed by one historian as a ñmini war.ò The 

combination in April 1943 of the Katyn affair and Stalinôs break in diplomatic relations with the 

Polish government added further to Polish mistrust of the Russians. The result was that Home Army 

divisions here often regarded the Soviets as a greater threat than the Germans.293 

 

Since Zimmermanôs sympathies clearly lie with the Jewish and Soviet partisans (regarding whom he 

expresses little, if any, criticism), he is untroubled by the murder of Polish partisans and civilians and is 

unable to appreciate the compelling and legitimate need for self-defence on the part of the Poles. Instead, 

he accuses the Home Army of initiating the conflict by unilaterally attacking and murdering Jews and 

Soviet partisans. To bolster his argument Zimmerman advances by two months the well-known Home 

Army reprisal by against a group of marauding Jewish partisans in Dubniki on November 17, 1943, 

claiming that this ñprecipitatingò event took place a mere eleven days after Lieutenant Adolf Pilch took 

command of the Stoğpce Battalion on September 6, 1943, and allegedly instructed his men to attack Soviet 

and Jewish partisans.
294

 In fact, Lieutenant Pilch disapproved of that reprisal, calling it ñan unfortunate 

incidentò (przykry wypadek), and agreed to convening a joint Soviet-Polish committee to investigate the 

incident. Moreover, well before the events in Dubniki, in the early part of October 1943, Jewish partisans 

from the Stalin Brigade and Chkalov Brigade were actively hunting down and eliminating members of the 

                                                           
292
Alexander Brakel, ñThe Relationship between Soviet Partisans and the Civilian Population in Belorussia under 

German Occupation, 1941ï4,ò in Shepherd and Pattinson, War in a Twilight World, 92 

 
293

 Zimmerman, The Polish Underground and the Jews, 1939ï1945, 271. 

 
294 Zimmerman, The Polish Underground and the Jews, 1939ï1945, 275. 
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Polish underground in that area.
295

 Zimmerman the cites an excerpt from a report by Pilch in which Pilch 

states that his unit had to limit its activities, for the time being, to protecting the population from pillaging 

by Soviet partisans and Jewish bands.296 Yet he omits to mention the important commentary by Kazimierz 

Krajewski, the scholar who compiled these documents, that takes issue with Pilchôs report and sets out a 

whole series of engagements with the German forces.297 Zimmerman concludes his treatment of this topic 

with the following skewed assessment: ñattacks of the Nowogr·dek District Home Army subdistrict 

commanders on Jewish partisans were sanctioned not only by the Nowogr·dek District Home Army 

commander, Col. Szlaski [Lieutenant-Colonel Janusz Szlaski (ñPrawdzicò)], but also by Gen. Komorowski 

himself.ò
298

 The fact is, however, that General Komorowski never issued instructions to strike at Jews, or 

                                                           
295 Walczak, 13. Brygada Armii Krajowej Okrňgu WileŒskiego, 54ï55. 

 
296

 Zimmerman, The Polish Underground and the Jews, 1939ï1945, 276. 

 
297

 Krajewski, Nowogr·dzki Okrňg AK w dokumentach, 266 n5. 

 
298 Zimmerman, The Polish Underground and the Jews, 1939ï1945, 281. Other variations of this charge, repeated ad 

nauseam, can be found throughout Zimmermanôs book: 

 

the Home Army commander [i.e., General Komorowski] ordered two units in Nowogr·dek to attack 

ñSoviet-Jewish bandsò whom he believed to be fighting alongside Soviet partisansò (p. 7) 

 

Lt. Adolf Pilch, commander of the First Battalion of the 77th Home Army Infantry Regiment in 

Nowogr·dek. In his postwar memoirs, Lt. Pilch openly acknowledged that he did not accept Jews into 

his partisan unit. The reason, he maintained, was due to the alleged pro-Soviet orientation of the Jews 

in the region. Missing from his account, however, is the fact that Lt. Pilch ordered his men to attack 

Jewish partisans (a point we shall discuss later). Testimonies of Jewish partisans suggest that Lt. 

Pilchôs case was the rule rather than the exception in the Nowogr·dek District Home Army. (p. 259) 

 

The emphasis of the new Home Army commanderðGen. Komorowskiðon combating banditry in 

the second half of 1943 was interpreted by some district and subdistrict commanders as permission to 

attack Jewish partisans. (p. 267) 

 

There is also evidence that Gen. Komorowski sanctioned the use of Piaseckiôs and Pilchôs units to 

strike at Jewish partisans. In Gen. Komorowskiôs Organizational Report No. 240 covering the period 

September 1, 1943ï February 29, 1944, he wrote the following comments on the Nowogr·dek 

District Home Army: ñThe highest priority in the Nowogr·dek district is the display of self-defense in 

the face of hostile Soviet partisans and Jewish-communist bands.ò Komorowski continued that ñto 

achieve this goal our units have been mobilized and grouped into three battalions: in the 77th Infantry 

Regimentðthe ZaniemeŒski and Cadre Strike Battalionðand in the 78th Infantry Regimentðthe 

Stoğpce Battalion.ò The same groups, the report continued, had crossed over to the left bank of the 

Niemen River ñand as a result the regions of Lida, Szczuczyn, WoğoŨyn and other parts of 

Nowogr·dek have been cleared of Soviet bands.ò The report concluded that Polish partisans were 

being subjected to frequent Soviet assaults. But he acknowledged that the attacks were partly ñin 

retaliation for the liquidation by our division of a Jewish band [of 12?] people who had robbed Polish 

people.ò This document clearly suggests that attacks of the Nowogr·dek District Home Army 

subdistrict commanders on Jewish partisans were sanctioned not only by the Nowogr·dek District 

Home Army commander, Col. Szlaski, but also by Gen. Komorowski himself. (pp. 280ï81) 

 

The records demonstrate that the commanders of the Biağystok District Home Army, Col. Wğadysğaw 

Liniarski, and of the Nowogr·dek District Home Army, Col. Janusz Szlaski, ordered their soldiers to 

murder Jewish partisans and civilians hiding in the forests. (p. 297) 

 

In the second half of 1943, a stark difference within the Polish Underground emerged along 

geographic lines with regard to the Jews. It was during this time, as demonstrated in Chapter 10, that 

the Home Army district commanders of Nowogr·dek and Biağystok instructed their officers to 
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Soviet partisans, as such, and Zimmerman is hard-pressed to identify such an order. Since there were no 

autonomous Jewish partisan units operating in the area by the summer of 1943, local Home Army reports 

did not single out Jews, but rather referred to the activities of both Soviet and Jewish groups. As Jewish 

testimonies acknowledge, Jewish partisans participated in assaults on Polish partisans and Jewish partisans 

as well as members of Jewish family camps attached to the Soviet partisans carried out numerous, often 

violent, supply-gathering expeditions. This matter had already been raised by General Stefan Rowecki, 

General Komorowskiôs predecessor, in a report from March 15, 1943, which referred to ñassaults by 

Soviet-Jewish bandsò in the Wilno province.
299

 General Roweckiôs attitude would doubtless have only 

hardened in the face of subsequent Soviet massacres of Polish partisans. Moreover, there is no reason to 

believe that General Komorowski reversed the Home Armyôs longstanding instructions not to engage in 

combat with Soviet partisans. As mentioned earlier, General Komorowski instructed his partisans to 

cooperate with the Soviet forces, to welcome them as ñallies of allies,ò and to stress their partnership in the 

common fight against Nazi Germany. However, to these instructions he addedðentirely understandably 

and reasonablyðthat Polish partisans have a right to defend themselves if attacked. General Komorowskiôs 

Order 1300/III, issued on November 20, 1943, states: 

 

                                                                                                                                                                             
ñliquidateò Jewish partisans. (p. 299) 

 

As the tide of the war turned inexorably in favor of the Soviets, and it became clear that liberation 

would come from the east, the Home Army in northeastern Poland increasingly identified local Jews 

as hostile, pro-Soviet elements. This led to several cases of local Home Army commanders waging 

battles against Jewish partisans who were desperately trying to survive in the forests but who were 

being defined as ñBolshevik-Jewish bands. (p. 416) 

 

[Komorowski] approved battling Jewish partisans in the eastern borderlands whom he regarded as 

pro-Soviet. This abrupt policy reversal resulted in the death and injury of numerous Jewish partisans 

in the Nowogr·dek, Biağystok, and Vilna districts. (p. 418) 

 

The charges leveled against Lieutenant-Colonel Wğadysğaw Liniarski (ñMŜcisğawò), the commander of the Biağystok 

District Home Army, are also skewed. As shown by his order of July 30, 1943, cited on p. 268, Liniarski did not target 

escaped Soviet POWs or Jews as such, but rather Communist-Jewish groups involved in banditry (bandy 

komunistyczno-Ũydowskie), as well as Polish collaborators (ñspies and informersò) and those that threatened the security 

of the Home Army. That Communist and Jewish bands were involved in banditry that often took on violent forms is 

beyond question, as Jewish accounts cited in Part 3 of this study amply confirm. Moreover, in practice, the victims of 

Home Army measures were primarily ethnic Poles, not Jews. See Chodakiewicz, Narodowe Siğy Zbrojne, 88; Dariusz 

Libionka, ñZWZ-AK i Delegatura RzŃdu RP wobec eksterminacji ŧyd·w polskich,ò in ŧbikowski, Polacy i ŧydzi pod 

okupacjŃ niemieckŃ 1939ï1945, 117. In his review of Zimmermanôs book in Yad Vashem Studies, vol. 43, no, 2 

(2015): 223, Antony Polonsky edits out the references to Polish collaborators, the principal target group, in Liniarskiôs 

order, thus following in the footsteps of Communist historian Ryszard Nazarewicz, whose manipulative treatment of 

Liniarskiôs order Libionka holds out for well-deserved rebuke. See ŧbikowski, Polacy i ŧydzi pod okupacjŃ niemieckŃ 

1939ï1945, 117, n.577. 

 
299 Zimmerman, The Polish Underground and the Jews, 1939ï1945, 189. Zimmerman mentions this report in Chapter 

7, but does not acknowledge it in his discussion in Chapter 10, nor does he reconcile that report with the claim that the 

sole culprit was alleged Polish anti-Semitism. An example of a murder in the Nowogr·dek District of a member of the 

Polish underground and his family, as well as one of the Jews he was sheltering, is that of Tadeusz Korsak, whose 

home in Balcery was attacked by partisans from the Chkalov Brigade in September 1943. This incident is described in 

more detail in the text. 
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All our war preparations are aimed at armed action against the Germans. In no circumstances can 

they result in armed action against the [Soviets] who are entering our territories in hot pursuit of the 

Germans é The exception is in essential acts of self-defence, which is the right of every human 

being.300 

 

It is important to remember that this order was issued after Warsaw had received credible reports of Soviet 

attacks on Polish partisans and civilians, and well after the massacre by Soviet and Jewish partisans of 

eighty Polish partisans near Lake Narocz on August 24, 1943. Thus, belatedly, General Komorowski 

authorized acts of self-defence in response to the open hostilities initiated by the Soviet underground. 

Organizational Report 240 (for the period September 1, 1943 to February 29, 1944), which Zimmerman 

cites, merely acknowledged the reality that, in the Nowogr·dek District, ñthe main task became self-

defence in the face of the hostile Soviet partisan movement and Jewish-Communist bands.ò This was by no 

means an order to ñliquidateò Jewish or Soviet partisans as such. As late as July 1944, General 

Komorowski explicitly stated that ñcombat with the Soviets is an unwelcome last resort, with respect to 

both regular and partisan Soviet units.ò
301

 Furthermore, it was only in the face of the life-and-death struggle 

for their very existence that the Polish partisans in this area that local commanders were compelled to strike 

back at the Soviet partisans. To interpret this as a unilateral declaration of war by the Home Army against 

Jewish and Soviet partisans is simply perverse. As Zimmerman himself notes, Komorowski continued to 

express strong disapproval of attacks on Jews and Soviet partisans in other contexts (that is, non-self-

defence) well after that period, as late as June 1944,
302

 even though the Communist underground staged 

                                                           
300 Komisja Historyczna Polskiego Sztabu Gğ·wnego w Londynie, Polskie Siğy Zbrojne w drugiej wojnie Ŝwiatowej, 

vol. 3: Armia Krajowa, 209ï210, as cited in Davies, Rising ô44, 206ï207. The attempts to paint the Nowogr·dek local 

commander Lieutenant Adolf Pilch (ñG·raò) and General Komorowski as anti-Semites flies in the face of their 

demonstrated positive attitude toward Jews in other contexts. When Pilch evacuated his partisans from the Nowogr·dek 

region to the Kampinos forest near Warsaw, in September 1944 he took into his ranks a group of Hungarian Jews who 

had escaped from a German labour force. It was under Komorowskiôs leadership of the Home Army that the 

underground resolved, in September 1943, to pursue and punish blackmailers of Jews. In September 1944, 

Komorowski personally decorated two Jewish Peopleôs Army (Armia Ludowa) officersðJan Szelubski, the 

commander of a unit with many Jewish members, and Edwin Rozğubirski, the deputy commander of a battalionðwith 

the Silver Cross of the Order of Virtuti Militari for their valour during the Warsaw Uprising. See Engelking and 

Libionka, ŧydzi w powstaŒczej Warszawie, 147 n281, 29, 150ï51 (respectively). Stefan KorboŒski and Henryk 

WoliŒski, two high-ranking members of the Polish undeground decorated by Yad Vashem, both dismissed the charges 

of Komorowskiôs alleged anti-Semitism, as did Lidia Cioğkosz, the Jewish wife of of the Polish Socialist leader, Adam 

Cioğkosz. See Lukas, The Forgotten Holocaust, 78ï79, 241 n61. There is no actual evidence that Komorowski was 

involved in any anti-Semitic activities or even that he harboured any anti-Jewish animus. Thus, the case against 

Komorowski, and his alleged departure from General Roweckiôs ñneutral to sympathetic attitude toward the Jewsò in 

favour of hostility, seems to be contrived. Zimmermanôs criticism of Komorowski is also rather muddled in another 

important respect. On the one hand, Zimmerman faults Komorowski for his ñextreme anti-Soviet and anti-Communist 

views, which he attributes to his ñnationalist orientationò (pp. 250ï51); on the other hand, Zimmerman later in effect 

concedes that Komorowskiôs fear of Stalinôs intentions was well founded. For the record, history proved Komorowski 

to be correct in his assessment. 

 
301 Janusz Marszalec, ñPolskie PaŒstwo Podziemne wobec komunist·w polskich 1939ï1944,ò in Tomasz ChinciŒski, 

ed., Przemoc i dzieŒ powszedni w okupowanej Polsce (GdaŒsk: Muzeum II Wojny światowej; Oskar, 2011), 418. 

Marszalec cites General Komorowskiôs report number 243, dated July 14, 1944, reproduced in volume 3 of Armia 

Krajowa w dokumentach 1939ï1945. 

 
302 Zimmerman, The Polish Underground and the Jews, 1939ï1945, 372. 
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increasingly hostile attacks on the Home Army like the massacre by the Peopleôs Army, on May 4, 1944, of 

some twenty members of a Home Army unit in Owczarnia near Opole Lubelskie.
303

 Zimmermanôs views, it 

must be noted, are strikingly at odds with historian Yisrael Gutmanôs astute assessment of the reality of 

local conditions: 

 

One should not close oneôs eyes to the fact that Home Army units in the Wilno area were fighting 

against the Soviet partisans for the liberation of Poland. And that is why the Jews who found 

themselves on the opposing side perished at the hands of Home Army soldiersðas enemies of 

Poland, and not as Jews.304 

 

   For Zimmerman, however, everything is reduced to one single overriding factor: Polish anti-Semitism. In 

his relentless pursuit of any traces of anti-Semitism, Zimmerman fails to notice the bigger picture. Contrary 

to his assertion, there is no room for context, dynamics and the unique local conditions that prevailed in 

northeastern Poland. Although Zimmerman compares northeastern Poland unfavourably with southwestern 

Poland (Eastern Galicia), attributing this to alleged heightened anti-Semitism in the Wilno area,305 he 

neglects to take into account the entirely different conditions that prevailed in the Lw·w area, notably the 

lack of Soviet partisans with whom Jews could align themselves and a common enemy, namely, hostile 

Ukrainian nationalist partisans. Moreover, Jews in northeastern Poland had experienced Polish statehood 

for less than twenty years and, apart from a small number of assimilated Jews (far fewer than in 

southwestern Poland where the Polish language had official status under Austrian rule prior World War I), 

overwhelmingly regarded themselves exclusively as Jews, and not as Poles. Most of them did not identify 

with the Polish state and its destruction was a matter of indifference to them, as they demonstrated in 

September 1939 when the Soviet Union invaded Easter Poland, and afterwards. Although not Communists, 

their leanings were pro-Soviet rather than pro-Polish. They gravitated toward the Soviets mostly for 

pragmatic reasons: the Soviet partisan movement was a stronger and better equipped than the Polish 

underground; the Soviet Union was a formidable power; and there was a strong likelihood that the area 

would again come under Soviet control. Since the Soviet partisans had little support among the local 

population, whether Polish or Belorussian, they took in all armed men, including many Jews, who came 

their way. Zimmermanôs treatment of other important matters, especially his selective use of documents, is 

equally problematic.306 Can such writing be taken as serious scholarship that meets Zimmermanôs own self-

                                                           
303 Gontarczyk, Polska Partia Robotnicza, 336ï37. Some sources give the date of the massacre in Owczarnia as May 4, 

1944. See Rafağ Drabik, ñMord pod OwczarniŃ i Stafan·wkŃ,ò Kombatant, no. 11ï12 (nos. 216ï216, Novemberï

December 2008): 6ï8. 

 
304

 Israel Gutman, ñUczmy siň byĺ razem,ò Znak (Krak·w), June 2000: 66. 

 
305 Zimmerman does not reconcile this claim of heightened anti-Semitism in the Wilno area with reports he cites earlier 

on that attest to the opposite. See Zimmerman, The Polish Underground and the Jews, 1939ï1945, 101. 

 
306 The following are some additional examples of the shortcomings of Zimmermanôs book (apart from frequent 

typographical errors). Given Zimmermanôs treatment of these various sources and documents, can we have any 

confidence in his treatment of other sources and documents without verifying their content and the context?  
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(1) With regard to the January 1934 German-Polish Non-Aggression Pact, Zimmerman neglects to mention that Poland 

had earlier signed a similar pact with the Soviet Union in 1932, and renewed that pact in May 1934. The purpose of 

Piğsudskiôs pact with Germany was not to legitimize Hitlerôs ascent to power, as Zimmerman suggests (p. 14), but to 

legitimize Polandôs contested boundaries and to prevent an invasion of Poland by Germany. It was thus a counterpoint 

to the non-aggression treaty with the USSR. As Timothy Snyder points out, ñThis initiative was timely. Piğsudski had 

tried (and failed) to arouse interest in Europe for a preemptive action against Hitler. é In January 1934, Berlin and 

Warsaw signed a declaration of nonaggression, agreeing that their common border would not be changed by force. For 

Polish leaders in 1933 and 1934, facing the rise of both Hitler and Stalin, preserving the status quo was an end in 

itself.ò See Timothy Snyder, Black Earth: The Holocaust as History and Warning (New York: Tom Duggan Books, 

2015), 55ï56. 

(2) Zimmermanôs claim that the National Party (Endek) ñpioneered a new method of political agitation: the anti-Jewish 

economic boycottò (pp. 23ï24) is baseless. Economic boycotts employed to strengthen oneôs own groupôs economic 

position relative to other groups had been in existence in other countries since the 19th century, for example, against the 

Chinese by the White population in the United States, against the English in Ireland, and against the Germans and Jews 

by Czechs in Bohemia and Moravia. On the last of these, see See Livia Rothkirchen, The Jews of Bohemia and 

Moravia: Facing the Holocaust (Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press, and Jerusalem: Yad Vashem, 2005), 17. Jews 

also engaged in such practices at various times. 

(3) Zimmerman cites the diary of Chaim Kaplan rather selectively (p. 39). He mentions the September 3, 1939 entry 

that describes the elation of the Poles at the news of England and Franceôs declaration of war on Germany, but fails to 

mention the earlier entry of September 1, 1939, where Kaplan writes disparagingly of Poland and the Poles: ñThis war 

will indeed bring destruction upon human civilization. But this is a civilization which merits annihilation and 

destruction. é now the Poles themselves will receive our revenge through the hands of our cruel enemy. é Each side 

accuses the other of every abominable act in the world. Each side considers itself to be righteous and the other 

murderous, destructive, and bent on plunder. This time, as an exception to the general rule, both speak the truth. Verily 

it is soðboth sides are murderers, destroyers, and plunderers, ready to commit any abomination in the world.ò See 

Abraham I. Katsh, ed., Scroll of Agony: The Warsaw Diary of Chaim A. Kaplan (New York: Macmillan; and London: 

Collier-Macmillan, 1965), 19ï21. Kaplan also peppers his wartime diary with anti-Christian remarks directed at the 

Poles. Ibid., 47, 133. 

(4) While noting that over 100 resistance organizations to oppose German rule had come into being in the German-

occupied zone in the first months of the occupation (p. 47), Zimmerman fails to mention that there were no Jewish 

organizations among them and to draw appropriate conclusions as to the level of support among Jews for Polish 

statehood. Similarly, in the Soviet zone, attempts by the Polish conspiratorial organization in Wilno (ZwiŃzek Walki 

ZbrojnejðUnion for Armed Struggle), in the second half of 1940, to reach a cooperative agreement with Jewish 

underground groups were fruitless because of the latterôs lack of interest in anti-Soviet agitation. See Rafağ Wnuk, ñThe 

Polish Underground under Soviet Occupation, 1939ï1941,ò in Timothy Snyder and Ray Brandon, eds., Stalin and 

Europe: Imitation and Domination, 1928ï1953 (New York: Oxford University Press, 2014), 105. Given this state of 

affairs, it is not surprising that the Polish undergroundôs main focus was ethnic Poles, as they were not only the 

countryôs largest and core group, but also created and manned the underground resistance structures that fought to 

restore Polish statehood both under both the German and Soviet occupation. The national minoritiesðUkrainians, 

Belorussians, Germans, and Lithuaniansðgravitated toward their own ethnic structures, which were in opposition to 

the Polish state, while most Jews preferred not to be engaged in a struggle they did not regard as their own. 

(5) Zimmerman claims that Home Army commander Stefan Rowecki reported, on November 15, 1940, that ñthe 

underground forces of the National Party é were battling against [sic] the ZWZ-ZWZ-Home Army in some districtsò 

(p. 81). In fact, the report in question, which is actually dated November 21, 1940, does not refer to armed clashes, but 

rather to poltical rivalry. See Tadeusz PeğczyŒski, Halina Czarnocka, J·zef GarliŒski, Kazimierz Iranek-Osmecki, and 

Wğodzimierz Otocki, eds., Armia Krajowa w dokumentach 1939ï1945, vol. 1: WrzesieŒ 1939ïczerwiec 1941 (London: 

Studium Polski Podziemnej, 1970), 338ï45, here at 342 and 343. 

(6) Zimmerman ignores the extensive credible evidence of Jewish collaboration in Soviet-occupied Eastern Poland in 

1939ï1941 described in important studies by Marek Wierzbicki, Ben-Cion Pinchuk, Dov Levin, Krzysztof Jasiewicz, 

and other historians. These sources attest to frequent assaults on Polish soldiers, armed revolts, the spontaneous 

creation of Red militias and revolutionary committees in virtually every town, the apprehension of Polish officials and 

handing them over to the Soviet authorities, widespread denunciations, etc. Zimmerman imputes anti-Semitism to 

Polish underground reports that refer to this well-documented collaboration. He also purges a key passage from a report 

by underground courier Jan Karski that corroborates the extent of Jewish collaboration with the Soviets in 1939 (p. 74), 

a topic that Zimmerman downplays to the fullest. The unpurged passage in question reads: ñThe Jews have taken over 

the majority of the political and administrative positions. But what is worse, they are denouncing Poles, especially 

students and politicians (to the secret police), are directing the work of the (communist) militia from behind the scenes, 

are unjustly denigrating conditions in Poland before the war. Unfortunately, one must say that these incidents are very 

frequent, and more common than incidents which demonstrate loyalty toward Poles or sentiment toward Poland.ò 

(Emphasis added.) Instead, Zimmerman gives prominence to those parts of Karskiôs report that are clearly speculative 

(for example, the prospect of future ñrepayment in bloodò by Poles, which never materialized in Lw·w, the area Karski 
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visited in 1939) or that contain sweeping generalizations about Polish attitudes that cannot readily be gauged with any 

degree of certainty, while ignoring important evidence attesting to widespread Polish assistance and sympathy for Jews 

in the early years of the occupation, such as the Jewish testimonies found in the Ringelblum archives and General 

Johannes Blaskowitzôs report of February 6, 1940, which are cited in Part Three of this study. Such attitudes were more 

common in the early part of the occupation, before the Germans imposed the death penalty for extending any form of 

help to Jews. While discounting generalizations about Jewish behaviour or attitudes, Zimmerman has no such qualms 

about reports that describe the behaviour or attitudes of Poles in a stereotypical manner, as if Polish society were a 

monolith. Gauging attitudes is an inherently difficult and rather elusive task to begin with. It is compounded by the fact 

that underground reports contain a myriad of often conflicting opinions based simply on the authorôs own subjective 

impressions. Therefore, great caution is required when relying on them. Unfortunately, Zimmerman is not always up to 

the task. For example, he mistranslates General Roweckiôs radiogram of September 25, 1941 as ñthe overwhelming 

majority of the country is of an anti-Semitic orientationò (p. 103). Norman Daviesôs incisive analysis of that report, and 

his polemical remarks directed at his critics, is set out earlier in this study. An example of summarily discounting 

problematic Polish reports regarding Jewish attitudes can be found under the heading ñThe ŧydokomuna (Judeo-

Communism) Motif Raises Its Ugly Head in the Home Army,ò where Zimmerman bemoans that ñthe theme of an 

alleged pro-Soviet orientation of Polish Jewry resurfaced in underground reports in the spring of 1942ò (p. 139), as if 

that charge had no basis in fact. 

(7) Zimmerman ignores problematic evidence of pro-Soviet leanings of the Jewish underground, notably in the 

Warsaw, Biağystok and Wilno ghettos, and reduces this problem to the Polesô alleged conflation of Jewish support for 

liberation by the Soviets with alleged Jewish ideological affinity for Communism. However, the matter cannot be 

viewed in such simplistic terms. Not only did the Jewish underground in Wilno and Biağystok include strong 

Communist elements, but when they turned to the Home Army for arms their leadership declined to declare their 

support for the territorial integrity of the Polish state, thus leaving as an open question their loyalty to a future Poland 

free of Soviet domination. The Home Army leadership was therefore rather astute in its assessment that many Jews, 

including the Jewish underground, would favour the Soviet Union in the event of a Polish-Soviet conflict. Later 

developments proved them correct. Zimmerman, however, reduces the decision not to provide the Jewish underground 

with arms as ñlikely due to the anti-Jewish orientation of the Biağystok District Home Army leadershipò, inspired by in 

part by voices hostile to Jews coming out of the Home Armyôs new section devoted to anti-Communist propaganda, 

later called ñAntyk,ò which allegedly conflated communists with Jews. (P. 208.) In fact, the matter of the pro-Soviet 

orientation of a significant part of the Jewish underground was addressed by historian Teresa Prekerowa in her article, 

ñThe Jewish Underground and the Polish Underground,ò published two decades ago. Although Zimmerman cites this 

important article for other reasons, he omits some of its key findings and conclusions. After surveying the Jewish 

underground press published in the Warsaw ghetto, Prekerowa noted that certain Zionist factions displayed strong pro-

Soviet sentiments in Polandôs capital city as well. Leftist Zionists saw their future linked with the Communists, whom 

most Poles considered to be an enemy on par with the Nazis. Their loyalty was to the Soviet Union rather than Poland, 

which they often referred to as ñformer Polandò in their publications. The Hashomer Hatzaôir faction regarded the 

Soviet-German Non-Aggression Pact of August 1939, which partitioned Poland between those two invaders, to be a 

ñwise and justified move.ò Mordechai Anielewicz, who became the commander of the Jewish Fighting Organization 

(ŧydowska Organizacja Bojowa), was the editor of a periodical, Neged Hazerem, that openly embraced Communism 

over capitalism and the Soviet Union over Poland. Prekerowa concludes by stating: ñthere was no shortage either of 

Communists or of members of other pro-Soviet parties within the leadership of the Jewish resistance. é although they 

did not express the views of the entire Jewish underground, parties sympathetic to the Soviet Union did play a major, if 

not a leading, role. é the Home army had good reason to think that a part of the Jewish resistance movement was 

linked with the enemy Communist camp, and this is a view é that was widely held.ò See Teresa Prekerowa, ñThe 

Jewish Underground and the Polish Underground,ò in Polin: Studies in Polish Jewry, volume 9, Poles, Jews, Socialists: 

The Failure of an Ideal (London: The Littman Library of Jewish Civilization, 1996), 151ï53, translated from the Polish 

ñPodziemie polskie a Ũydowskie,ò Odra (Wrocğaw), no. 4 (April 1991): 30ï35. See also Teresa Prekerowa, ñPrasa 

getta warszawskiego jako Ŧr·dğo do badaŒ stosunk·w polsko-Ũydowskich,ò Kwartalnik Historii ŧyd·w, no. 3 (2009): 

347ï55. In a similar vein, Emanuel Ringelblum wrote the following about the Jewish underground in his wartime 

chronicles: ñHashomer Hatsaôir [leftist Zionists] had a pro-Soviet orientation and believed in the victory of the Soviet 

Union and its heroic army. The other Jewish party that had an identical political position was Poale Zion-Left. Because 

of their political orientation, the Hashomers organized partisan groups along with others, established close contact with 

the [Communist] Polish Workersô Party, and generally were prepared to do everything possible for the victory of the 

Soviet Union and the heroic Red Army.ò See Emanuel Ringelblum, Kronika getta warszawskiego: WrzesieŒ 1939ï

styczeŒ 1943 (Warsaw: Czytelnik, 1983), 498ï99. As historian Timothy Snyder has observed, ñSome Home Army 

commanders feared that arming Polish Jews would ease the spread of Soviet power. é the concern was not entirely 

unjustified.ò See Timothy Snyder, ñJews, Poles & Nazis: The Terrible History,ò The New York Review of Books, June 

24, 2010. The truth of the matter is that many Jewish underground activists opted in favour of the Soviet Union, 

thereby reinforcing Polish suspicions of their disloyalty, and then reproached the Polish underground for not assisting 

them or turning them away. See also Roman T. Gerlach, ñAni niedŦwiedzi, ani lasu, ani nic: Tragedia getta 

warszawskiego,ò Zeszyty Historyczne (Paris), no. 115 (1996): 3ï21. After the April 1943 revolt in the Warsaw ghetto, 
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the leadership of what remained of the Jewish Fighting Organization continued to have dealings with the Communists, 

as did Adolf Berman, the Jewish representative within the Polish government department charged with rescuing Jews, 

and the former ended up joining the Communist underground in August 1944. See Engelking and Libionka, ŧydzi w 

powstaŒczej Warszawie, 41, 50. However, Zimmerman, appears to be incapable of saying anything critical about the 

behaviour of the Jewish underground and its role in worsening relations with the Polish underground. In this regard, his 

writing is characteristic of the Jewish nationalist historiography he purportedly decries. 

(8) Zimmerman turns the Home Armyôs decision not to accept Jewish partisan units into an outright refusal to accept 

Jews into its ranks. In doing so, he misreads the relevant archival documents. Zimmerman writes (at p. 258): 

 

While there was no such policy under General Roweckiôs leadership, archival sources reveal that a 

position was adopted in JulyïAugust 1943 immediately after Gen. Komorowski became Home Army 

chief. The new policy, outlined in a document from August 26, 1943, maintained that due to the 

shortage of arms, and what Gen. Komorowski claimed was the Polish populationôs overwhelming 

opposition to sharing these arms with Jews, the Home Army was for the time being to exclude Jews 

from entry into its ranks. While Gen. Komorowski unambiguously denied after the war that any such 

policy had been adopted, the documentation is unmistakable. 

 

In support, Zimmerman cites a communiqu® from Rejent (Jan Rzepecki, the head of the Home Armyôs Bureau of 

Information and Propaganda), Warsaw, to Malicki (Jerzy Makowiecki), Warsaw, August 26, 1943, found in the Ghetto 

Fightersô House Archive, Adolf Berman Collection, file 3946. That document, which is accessible online (Letters from 

the Abraham Berman collection, Ghetto Fighters House Archives, catalog no. 5946, registry no. 11283collect) and 

deals with Jewish participation in partisan combat, clearly refers to the incorporation of ñJewish units,ò not individuals. 

It states, in part: ñas the [local] population manifests hostility toward armed Jews, [the partisans] cannot assume 

responsibility for the security of the Jewish units, and therefore recommends to the Jews that they concentrate their 

efforts towards surviving while in hiding; when the combat becomes overt, a place will be found for [the Jews] among 

the ranks of the army, side by side with the loyal citizens of the state.ò (Emphasis added.) The Polish text reads: 

 

W sprawie udziağu ŧyd·w w walce partyzanckiej przekazuje Wam nast. decyzjň Komendanta: 

Realizacja rozkazu KG z dn. 10.XI.42 i p·Ŧniejszych trafiğa na trudnoŜci nie do przezwyciňŨenia. 

Nastr·j w stos. do uzbrojonych ŧyd·w jest tak powszechnie wrogi, Ũe nie moŨemy przy ograniczonej 

moŨliwoŜci oddziağywania w konspiracji wziŃĺ na siebie odpowiedzialnoŜci za bezpieczeŒstwo 

oddziağ·w Ũydowskich w terenie. Dziağa tu antagonizm, wynikajŃcy z postawy ŧyd·w wobec 

ludnoŜci polskiej pod okupacjŃ sow. i z zachowania siň obecnego uzbrojonych grup Ũydowskich, 

dajŃcych siň we znaki ludnoŜci rabunkami i okrucieŒstwem. Ponadto dziağa cağy nacisk 

propagandowy i policyjny okupanta. W zwiŃzku z tym ludnoŜĺ czňsto nie rozr·Ũnia ŧyd·w wobec 

Polski lojalnych i wrogich. Wobec tego moŨemy tylko zaleciĺ ŧydom w ich wğasnym interesie, by 

cağy sw·j wysiğek skierowali na przetrwanie w rozproszeniu i ukryciu. Z chwilŃ, gdy przejdziemy do 

otwartej walki powstaŒczej znajdzie siň dla nich miejsce w szeregach wojska nar·wni z wszystkimi 

lojalnymi obywatelami Rzpltej. 

 

As this report confirms, part of the reason for the hostility toward armed Jews was the cruel behaviour of armed Jewish 

groups toward the Polish population, regarding which there are ample credible testimonies of both Poles and Jews. (See 

Part 3 of this study.)  

(9) The same issue of group vs. individual admission of Jews was to reemerge during the Warsaw Uprising of 1944 

when the leadership of the remnants of the Jewish Fighting Organization asked to be admitted into the Home Army. 

Once again Zimmerman disregards evidence that undermines his claim that the Home Army calously rejected a 

genuine and sincere offer to join their ranks. (P. 387.) Yitzhak Zuckerman states in his memoir: ñI negotiated with the 

AK and they put me off with hemming and hawing,ò without specifying regarding what was at stake or giving any time 

frame. Yet elsewhere Zuckerman makes it clear that, when he carried on these negotiations, ñI knew I would fight in 

the ranks of the Communist Armia Ludowa.ò See Yitzhak Zuckerman (ñAntekò), A Surplus of Memory: Chronicle of 

the Warsaw Ghetto Uprising (Berkeley: University of California Press, 1993), 523, 534. Zimmerman cites the first 

statement but overlooks the latter. He accepts, at face value, Simha Rotemôs claim that the Jewish Fighting 

Organization joined the Peopleôs Army (Armia Ludowa) ñnot out of ideological affinity to communism,ò even though 

the pro-Soviet orientation of some of its leaders is a matter of record, but because the Home Army allegedly ñtreated 

the Jews badly.ò Zimmerman ignores the nuanced discussion of this issue found in Engelking and Libionka, ŧydzi w 

powstaŒczej Warszawie, 46, 50, 57, and, more importantly, the testimony of Marysia Warman (n®e Bronisğawa or 

Bronka Feinmesser), a liaison officer of the Jewish Fighting Organization, who recalled: ñWhen the Polish uprising 

broke out, Antek [Zuckerman] and Marek [Edelman] went to the higher officers in the Polish army [Home Army] and 

asked them to take us as a group, as the Jewish Fighting Organization. They refused. óIndividually, please come, but 

not as a group; we wonôt give you any commander.ô So they went to the Armia Ludowa, and they took us as a group. 

They gave us a commanding officer.ò See Brana Gurewitsch, ed., Mothers, Sisters, Resisters: Oral Histories of Women 
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Who Survived the Holocaust (Tuscaloosa and London: The University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa and London, 

1998), 288. 

(10) Zimmermanôs accolades for Michağ Cichyôs 1994 article ñPolacyðŧydzi: Czarne karty powstaniaò (pp. 404ï5) 

ignore the serious reservations that historians have expressed about the merits of that article, in particular, Andrzej 

Paczkowski and Teresa Prekerowa, who, according to Zimmerman, allegedly endorsed Cichyôs findings. As historian 

Janusz Marszalec and others have pointed out, the undisciplined Home Army group (who belonged to Captain Wacğaw 

Stykowskiôs unit) that killed a group of Jews was motivated not by anti-Semitism but by robbery, and they also robbed 

Christian Poles. Cichyôs egregious charge that a National Armed Forces unit killed 30 Jews on Dğuga Street during the 

Warsaw Uprising has been overwhelmingly discredited by leading historians. See Engelking and Libionka, ŧydzi w 

powstaŒczej Warszawie, 188, 191. Zimmerman also claims that the transit camp in Pruszk·w was an extremely 

dangerous place for Jews (p. 410), whereas historian Gunnar Paulsson, an expert in this area, states that ñin general the 

Warsaw natives were protective towards the Jewsò and concludes that ñno Jews seem to have been betrayed at 

Pruszk·w.ò See Paulsson, Secret City, 236. 

(11) Zimmermanôs treatment of many other issues is also questionable. For example, Zimmerman uses discredited 

estimates of the number of victims of the 1941 Jedwabne massacre, namely, ñclose to 1,000 deathsò (p. 94), a figure 

that is considerably higher than the number of Jews in that town and not borne out by the investigation conducted by 

the Institute of National Remembrance, which placed the toll at several hundred. Zimmerman uses discredited wartime 

estimates of the proportion of Jews among the Soviet deportees from Eastern Poland in 1940ï1941, namely, up to 30%, 

with Poles making up 52% and Belorussians and Ukrainians comprising 18 percent. (P. 88.) Soviet archival sources 

show that the Jewish share was in fact closer to 20%, and the Polish share around 60%. See Snyder, Black Earth, 121. 

Zimmerman does not verify, and debunk, the exaggerated Home Army reports of hundreds of Germans killed by the 

Warsaw ghetto insurgents (p. 222), whereas historian Raul Hilberg supports the modest numbers given in German 

reports, or the reports of resistance in the Biağystok and Wilno ghettos (p. 265), whereas in fact there was virtually very 

little or no resistance in those ghettos. See Bender, The Jews of Biağystok During World War II and the Holocaust, 

258ï64 (on Biağystok), and Porat, The Fall of a Sparrow, 139 (on Wilno). While decrying the conduct of some of the 

Polish ñblueò police toward Jews (without noting that their treatment of fellow Poles was at times equally as bad), 

Zimmerman neglects to mention that the Polish police did not take part in the liquidation of any of the larger ghettos, 

such as Warsaw, Ğ·dŦ, Lw·w, Wilno, Biağystok, Lublin, Sosnowiec, Bňdzin, Krak·w (Cracow), Kielce, Piotrk·w 

Trybunalski, Radom, Czňstochowa, Grodno. Nor does he mention the far more lethal, even pivotal, role played by the 

Jewish police in liquidating those ghettos. Moreover, Zimmerman does not acknowledge that that the Jewish police 

could be used against Poles as well. 

(12) The Home Armyôs reluctance to engage in combat with the Germans during the liquidation of the ghettos in 1942ï

1943, as if it were in any position to challenge the Germans militarily at that time, coupled with musings that if Poles 

were subjected to such treatment the Home Army would strike against the Germans, is reduced to the skewed charge 

that the Home Army regarded only ethnic Poles as falling within the sphere of their moral and political obligation. 

Zimmerman cites General Roweckiôs order of November 10, 1942, limiting underground combat activity to specific, 

long-term military objectives, as proof that, contrary to its stated goal of defending all citizens, the Home Armyôs 

position was that the resources of the underground military were to be used for the defence of ethnic Poles only. 

Zimmerman qualifies this charge by stating that the order represented Roweckiôs view as ñat a particular time and in a 

specific phase of relations,ò and that a change in policy came in the winter of 1942ï1943. (Pp. 167ï68.) Yet in that 

report Rowecki is merely speculating about a possible reaction in the event of a mass genocide of Christian Poles, 

namely, resistance in extremis, where one undertakes a doomed struggle as a last resort and against all odds because 

there is nothing to lose. In other words, a mass uprising would be contemplated only when there was absolutely no 

other alternative. This proverbial ñlast standò was bereft of military value or any concrete life-saving goals. It was a 

hypothetical scenario whose aim was not to attain victory and whose chances of ever being undertaken were slim to 

none. At the time of the Warsaw ghetto revolt, it was generally viewed as senseless, and suicidal, for the Home Army 

or the population at large to engage in direct combat with the Germans, as there was absolutely no chance of success. 

The same view was shared by the mass of Warsawôs Jewish population as well as its leadership during the Great 

Deportation in summer of 1942, even though news of the liquidation of ghettos in eastern Poland and the large Lublin 

ghetto in central Poland had reached them, and afterwards during the revolt in the Warsaw ghetto revolt in April 1943. 

Rather than prepare for defiance (albeit futile), the vast majority of Jews either complied with German orders to 

surrender themselves, hoping thereby to prolong their lives, or went into hiding, hoping to avoid detection. Any 

concerted intervention by Home Army at that time would not only have been of no significance militarily and saved no 

Jewish lives, it would have likely led to a tremendous loss of Polish lives and a strong Jewish condemnation of the 

ñirresponsibleò behaviour of the Polish underground. (Historian Marcin Urynowicz also shares this view. See Marcin 

Urynowicz, ñStosunki polsko-Ũydowskie w Warszawie w okresie okupacji hitlerowskiej,ò in ŧbikowski, Polacy i ŧydzi 

pod okupacjŃ niemieckŃ 1939ï1945, 607ï8.) As Adam Puğawski points out in his article, ñPolityka informacyjna 

Polskiego PaŒstwa Podziemnego w odniesieniu do Zagğady,ò in ChinciŒski, Przemoc i dzieŒ powszedni w okupowanej 

Polsce, at pp. 382ï85, the fact that the liquidation of the large ghettos was carried out with the cooperation of the 

Jewish councils and police was a dire warning and harsh realization for Poles that they should not facilitate similar 

German designs, should they face that eventuality. However, in addition to strength in numbers, this also would require 
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imposed lofty standards? There are just too many problems with Zimmermanôs book to treat it as 

authoritative. 

 

Jewish Partisans Join in Soviet Operations Against Polish Partisans  

   What was the role of Jewish partisans in these pivotal actions? The truth of the matter is that Jews in the 

Soviet partisan movement collaborated in the planned destruction of the Home Army. Indeed, a compelling 

argument could be made that it was the Jewish partisans who first declared war on the Polish partisans. 

                                                                                                                                                                             
active military engagement (self-defence) on the part of each Pole, so it was essentially a pipe dream. Zimmerman cites 

historian Antony Polonsky to the effect that any action to defend the Jews ñwas not to be taken if it endangered other 

AK objectivesò. But as Adam Puğawski argues persuasively, this hard reality applied equally to the defence of the lives 

of Christian Poles. General Roweckiôs standing order of November 10, 1942, which called for targeted military 

engagement rather than a general uprising (the latter being reserved for a later stage in the anti-German struggle when 

the country was on the verge of liberation), was not altered by ethnic cleansing operations directed against the Polish 

population. The Home Army did not start an all-out war to prevent the expulsion of more than 100,000 Poles from the 

ZamoŜĺ area (despite some strikes against the German forces by the Polish underground), nor did it take effective 

measures to protect the Polish population of Volhynia from being massacred by the Ukrainian nationalist underground 

in the summer of 1943. The Polish population of Volhynia had to organize its own futile and ultimately doomed self-

defence, just as the Jews in the Warsaw ghetto did, with very little outside assistance. After noting the report of General 

J¿rgen Stroop, the SS commander who quelled the revolt in the Warsaw ghetto, that his soldiers ñhave been repeatedly 

shot at from outside the ghetto,ò historian Istv§n De§k asked rhetorically: ñI wonder whether anyone fired a shot 

elsewhere in Europe on behalf of persecuted Jews.ò See Istv§n De§k, ñThe Incomprehensible Holocaust,ò The New 

York Review of Books, September 28, 1989. 

(13) Zimmerman downplays the extent and impact on the civilian population of banditry by Jewish forest groups and 

partisans, although he does cite several Polish underground reports that mention that phenomenon in a general way 

together with some scattered examples. (Chapters 6, 7, 9, 10.) Most of the Jewish partisans eventually joined up with 

the Soviet partisans or with the Communist Peopleôs Guard (Gwardia Ludowa), later the Peopleôs Army (Armia 

Ludowa), despite those formationsô all-too-frequent lethal activities vis- -̈vis Jewish fugitives and partisans. Atrocities 

committed by the Soviet partisans against Jews in northeastern and central Poland are well documented in Jewish 

testimonies cited in Parts Two and Three of this study. Some of the atrocities against Jews committed by the Peopleôs 

Guard and Peopleôs Army are described in those formationsô own reports, which can be found in the three-volume 

book Tajne oblicze GL-AL i PPR: Dokumenty, edited by Marek J. Chodakiewicz, Piotr Gontarczyk and Leszek 

ŧebrowski, and in Piotr Gontarczykôs monograph, Polska Partia Robotnicza: Droga do wğadzy 1941ï1944 (Warsaw: 

Fronda, 2003). Zimmerman ignores this problematic evidence altogether, while citing inflated figures regarding the 

membership of those formations. (P. 119). However, he goes out of his way to condemn the National Armed Forces 

(Narodowe Siğy Zbrojne) for attacking Jews and Communist partisans, without any mention of the latter formationsô 

murderous activities such as the massacre in Drzewica on January 20, 1943, where National Armed Forces members 

and supporters were killed by a Peopleôs Guard unit led by Izrael Ajzenman (Israel Eisenman), which preceded the 

retaliatory attacks by the National Armed Forces noted by Zimmerman. (P. 372.) As shown in Part Three of this study, 

many of the charges levelled at the National Armed Forces have proven to be false and its reputation requires careful 

re-consideration.  

(14) Zimmerman also ignores evidence of betrayal of their Polish benefactors by Jews who fell into German hands. 

Unfortunately, that was a fairly frequent occurrence that led to death of scores of Poles, and its impact on the growing 

reluctance of Poles to shelter or assist Jews cannot be discounted. In addition to the relatively small number of Home 

Army members Zimmerman identifies as having helped Jews (although this is one of the better treatments in his book), 

survivor testimonies found in the Yad Vashem archives, which are relied on in the Encyclopedia of the Righteous 

Among Nations, contain scores of additional examples that are worthy of mention. Decorated local Home Army 

commanders who accepted Jews include J·zef Kulpa in the Lubacz·w area and Wğadysğaw Szelka in the Sanok area. 

Decorated Home Army members from the Nowogr·dek area who came to the assistance of Jews include Tadeusz 

Korsak, who was executed by Soviet partisans, and Teresa Doğňga-Wrzosek, who was denounced to the Germans by 

the Soviets. During the German occupation, Alina Colle worked in a medical laboratory in Baranowicze which was 

supervised by Franciszek Kudelski, a Pole, who was a member of the Home Army. After her escape from a German 

round-up in the ghetto, Colle turned to Kudelski for assistance and received help from him and a number of other Poles. 

She joined a Home Army unit near Lida posing as a Pole; even after her identity was discovered, she was allowed to 

remain in the unit. See the testimony of Alina Colle, dated December 15, 1947, Archive of the Jewish Historical 

Institute (Warsaw), no. 301/4009. All of these sources are indispensable for a proper assessment of the attitude of the 

Home Army and the Polish population. 
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   There is no question that Jewish partisans took part in unprovoked, murderous attacks on Polish partisans, 

at a time when there the latter were not involved in hostlities directed against either the Soviets or the Jews. 

The following rather laconic description of the ñdisarmingò of BurzyŒskiôs unit near Lake Narocz in 

August 1943 was penned by Shalom Yoran (then Selim Sznycer), a member of ñRevengeò or ñVengeanceò 

(MesŠ in Russian, Nekama in Hebrew), a partisan unit composed exclusively of Jews within the Vorshilov 

Brigade commanded by Markov.307 

 

Brigade Commander Markov decided to rid the area of the AK [Armia Krajowa] menace. Our 

entire brigade was moved to the region close to the AK bases. We surrounded and attacked them. 

After three days of fighting, the entire area was free of the AK. Many of them were killed, many 

were taken prisoner, and the rest ran away to the areas close to Vilna [Wilno], where another AK 

brigade was located.308 

 

   Other Jewish partisans, however, attempt to justify their participation in Markovôs attack on the Polish 

partisans by advancing bogus claims that the Home Army were Nazi collaborators and incorrigible ñJew 

killers.ò These partisans are oblivious to the repercussions of these assaults for Polish-Jewish relations, 

preferring instead to skew the evidence and lay all the blame on the Poles. The following account by 

Alexander or Shura Bogen (Katzenbogen), a member of the Jewish ñRevengeò detachment, is characteristic 

of that sentiment. 

 

One morning, a messenger arrived from the brigade headquarters with an order: The division of 

Nekama [Hebrew for ñRevengeò] had to get ready for a mission. All the fighters had to go with a 

weapon to a forest thicket a few kilometers away, taking position in a frontal line and then waiting 

for orders. Nobody knew exactly what the orders would be. We lay between the tall pine trees and 

waited impatiently for instructions. We knew something important was to occur. We could see 

from all sides of us that many Russian divisions came and held position. Messengers ran from one 

place to another to transfer orders from the headquarters of the brigade. We lay there with our 

weapons drawn toward an opening in the forest and waited for the order to open fire, but no order 

came. All of a sudden, we saw a large camp of partisans walking toward the direction of the 

                                                                                                                                                                             
 
307 The Jewish ñNekamaò detachment was shortlived. It was formed and the beginning of August 1943 and disbanded 

by the Soviet command towards the end of September, 1943, with its members being stripped of their weapons, 

valuables, and even boots. Left to their own devices, over half of its 250 members perished in the German blockade of 

the Soviet partisans in Narocz forest launched on September 24, 1943. See Sara Bender, ñLife Stories as Testament and 

Memorial: The Short Life of the Neqama Battalion, an Independent Jewish Partisan Unit Operating During the Second 

World War in the Narocz Forest, Belarus,ò East European Jewish Affairs, vol. 42, no. 1 (April 2012): 1ï24; Arad, In 

the Shadow of the Red Banner, 280ï82. 

 
308

 Yoran, The Defiant, 173ï74. Yoran claims that Markovôs assault on the Home Army was precipitated by the latterôs 

attacks on Soviet partisans while ñon their way to missions,ò but neglects to point out that these all-too-frequent 

ñmissionsò were so-called economic operations, i.e., robbing farmers. He also claims, without citing any proof, that the 

Home Army was ñsystematically searching out Jews hiding in the villages and forests in their areas of operation.ò Ibid., 

173. 
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clearing. We were very surprised to see that all of these people were without weaponsðthey 

looked devastated and downcast, walking in groups of four. I lay down with my drawn weapon and 

examined the rows of advancing people. Externally, they looked like any other partisans. I could 

not figure out what had happened. 

   All of a sudden, one of them looked at me. Our eyes met, and I yelled, ñJank [Janek], what is 

happening here?ò I had studied with Jank in high school. He was the only Polish kid in the Jewish-

Polish gymnasium in Vilna [Wilno]. He was a good-looking guy, tall and splendidly built, very 

friendly and liked by everyone. Now he was walking here among the lines of Polish partisans 

without weapons. They were POWs being taken to their deaths! I could not exchange any words 

with him, and he disappeared as if it had all been a dream. I could not imagine that Jank, who was 

so good-hearted, could belong to a group of anti-Semites who killed Jews. They were the Armia 

Krajowa (AK). Only a short time passed before we heard shots from the directions of the clearing. 

Then a deathly quiet descended.  

   é the headquarters of the Soviet partisan movement in Belarus and Lithuania received orders 

from Moscow to get rid of the AK. Colonel Markov, the head of the Voroshilov Brigade, had sent 

an order to all divisions in the Naroch [Narocz] Forest to get rid of the Polish brigade that still had 

some ties with Russian partisans. On this day, all the fighters that belonged to the Polish brigade 

were ordered to come, without weapons, to this clearing in the forest and meet their Russian 

comrades. When the Polish brigade arrived, the Soviets put fifteen of the commanders in a line and, 

after they [the Soviets] read what [the commanders] were guilty of, which was resistance to the 

Soviet rulers, they were killed on the spot. 

   Only the leaders were killed. Most of the Polish fighters were added to different Soviet regiments. 

As time passed, they escaped and organized their own unit. They started fighting the Russian 

partisans and killing Jews, collaborating with the SS. After the punishment, I saw hundreds of 

Polish resistance soldiers returning from this execution that took place in the clearing. They 

appeared very shaken; I looked for Jank, my classmate, but could not find him among the 

returnees.309 

 

   Another Jewish partisan, Peter Smuszkowicz, is much more straighforward. He signals the direct and 

foreseeable consequences of that assault on relations between the Soviet and Polish partisans: relations that 

had been favourable up to that time turned hostile overnight. 

 

During the summer of 1943, Yacov and I were members of a Soviet partisan brigade named after 

its commander Ponnomarenko [sic]. A large group of partisan detachments, including the Markov 

Brigade [actually the Voroshilov Brigade led by MarkovðM.P.] were assembled in the forest. The 

Markov Brigade was a strong force and had steady contact with Moscow, both through radio 

connections and airplane (Kukuruznik) drops. Nearby was a Polish partisan base known as Kmicic 
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 Alexander (Shura) Bogen, originally Katzenbogen, ñThe Onset of the Partisan Units in the Forest of Naroch,ò in 

Moshe Kalcheim, ed., With Proud Bearing, 1939ï1945: Chapters in the History of Jewish Fighting in the Naroch 

Forests (Tel Aviv: Organization of Partisans, Underground Fighters, and Ghetto Rebels in Israel, 1991), Internet: 

<http://www.shtetlinks.jewishgen.org/Svencionys/naroch_partisans.html>. 

 




